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Burford had a splendid 2024. We achieved record-breaking cash realizations with returns well above our 
historical averages as well as strong growth in new business. We were also added to the Russell indices and 
cemented our transition to reporting as a US domestic issuer.

After a period of strong pre-pandemic growth followed by frustrating pandemic court delays, 2024 felt like a 
turning point.1 On the balance sheet:

• We brought in $699 million in cash, much more than ever before (and well over a billion dollars 
group-wide)

• We produced $641 million of realizations and $327 million of realized gains, up 75% from 2023, our 
highest previous level

• Our returns on matters that concluded in 2024 bounced up to 108%, almost double the 2023 level and 
well above our lifetime performance of 87%

With 2024’s activity, we blew past the $3 billion mark of cash recovered just for the balance sheet since 
inception. All of these achievements demonstrate that this is a sustainable, repeatable business over time—at 
least the way we do it at Burford.2  

To be sure, not every year will be like 2024 (or 2023, when we won the YPF case). But we have an enormous 
$7.4 billion group-wide portfolio, with more than a billion dollars of undrawn commitments waiting to go out 
the door. We feel very good about the future.

We’re not just resting on our laurels and harvesting cash. We have a proven origination engine and we are 
putting it to good use. We have been building our data analytics and quantitative analysis capability since 
2017, and we now have a dozen people engaged in coding and analytics. Our asset modeling, backed by our 
proprietary data, is a core part of our business – so much so that we now express goals for our people in 
terms of modeled target realizations as opposed to return-agnostic metrics of commitments and 
deployments, which do not tell the whole story.  

On a target realization basis, the level of new business written in 2024 was also splendid – up significantly 
from 2023 and the highest we have seen since we started tracking it. We will have more to say about that 
and our metrics at our forthcoming Investor Day in April, which we hope you will attend live or virtually. We 
put considerable effort into providing fresh, valuable content, and we hope that after listening to the array 
of team members you’ll meet at our Investor Day you will understand our enthusiasm for Burford’s future.
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1 All numbers in this letter are on a 2024 fiscal year Total Segments or Burford-only basis unless otherwise noted, and all comparisons are 
to the 2023 fiscal year. See our detailed earnings presentation furnished to the US Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on a 
Current Report on Form 8-K on March 3, 2025 and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 to be filed with 
the SEC for more information on terminology. See Annex A for the most comparable measures calculated in accordance with US GAAP 
and related reconciliations.
2 We can’t help but note that the three other public legal finance businesses that are sometimes pointed to as “comps” all have market 
caps of less than 10% of ours, two of them far less than that, and the third with a more than 65% share price decline over the past two 
years, a period during which our stock is up more than 90%.



We continue to face some realities of being in a nascent asset class. While we have made headway, the 
accounting principles for this asset class have yet to be perfected (which even the accountants concede3). 
Instead, we continue to manage and evaluate the business on a cash basis. Our accounting numbers move 
around based on interest rates, changes in duration and the achievement of litigation milestones, but cash is 
what we watch and use as the basis to pay our people. So when we see periods like the fourth quarter of 
2024, which showed an accounting loss in the face of $253 million in realizations, including a $106 million 
settlement on December 31 against a $36 million deployment, we shrug our shoulders and go back to 
counting the cash.

To save some powder for our Investor Day and avoid repeating the themes of last year’s detailed letter, we 
will keep this letter purposefully short. However, we did want to comment on some of the questions we get 
most frequently.

Q: Despite positive results, the share price was, bizarrely, down 18% in 2024. What do you make of that?

A: It is obviously disappointing and a deep frustration to the Burford team that the share price declined in a 
year of strong momentum around portfolio activity and performance and when other positive non-financial 
things were occurring, like being added to the Russell indices. However, we do understand that a number of 
our longstanding shareholders have been sitting on significant gains which some have chosen to realize. We 
have invested a substantial amount of effort into promoting the investment case to both current and 
prospective shareholders, but the Burford investment case is complicated and unique, requiring a 
commitment of time from prospective investors that can be difficult to garner in the near-term. We are 
optimistic about the success of our investor relations efforts over time.

Q: So, faced with a share price you think is undervalued, a lot of cash on hand and an implied value for YPF 
well below any realistic outcome other than a complete loss, why don’t you buy back stock in quantity? Isn’t 
that the best investment you could make?

A: We have been proud to be entrusted with shareholders’ capital for the last sixteen years and we believe 
we have demonstrated prudence and success in our approach to capital allocation. When faced with a share 
price we think is low and a portfolio we think has substantial future value, we have of course considered the 
question of a share buyback as a way of increasing fundamental asset value per share. We are not dogmatic 
about this; we think it is entirely appropriate to consistently re-examine our approach here. However, we 
also believe that there is a wider context than just a simple corporate finance analysis. Legal finance is a 
growing business, and we continue to see opportunities to deploy cash into new opportunities at attractive 
returns and to continue to grow the business and maintain our strong market position. Moreover, buying back 
stock cuts off the potential compounding of capital, which is both undesirable for investors and means that 
to grow the business beyond replacement cost we would need to raise incremental debt or equity capital.  

It is also prudent to reserve some cash against about $350 million in debt coming due from the UK market in 
two separate issues over the next 21 months, including $129 million due in August 2025. We also need to 
maintain cash liquidity to meet operating expenses, interest payments and to meet draws on our $774 million 
of undrawn definitive commitments.

Q: You have announced an intention to expand beyond pure litigation finance into other parts of the legal 
ecosystem, such as law firm equity, the alternative delivery of legal services and technology. All those 
things are likely to have lower returns than your core litigation finance business. Why would you do that?

A: We believe strongly in risk-weighted returns. And having built a preeminent brand and presence in the 
legal market, we also believe it would be a mistake not to take advantage of the myriad opportunities that 
offers. We believe we have proved that we are disciplined capital allocators - with management as the 
largest shareholders in this business - and our goal is to grow and create incremental shareholder value. We 
continue to expand our portfolio of high-octane legal finance assets, but they are not the only path to 
expansion; we think we can deliver desirable risk-adjusted returns that enhance ROE through a wider variety 
of investment and business opportunities in the legal space.

Q: You say you’re growing well but the traditional metrics of commitments and deployments don’t show 
that. What’s the disconnect?

A:  Those were our defining metrics some years ago, but we have largely retired them internally, principally 
because they do not account for the wide variety of risks and returns in the assets we finance. In other 
words, it is no longer meaningfully predictive to look at our deployments and impute some average return to 
every dollar we deploy.
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3 See FASB’s ongoing consultation: Proposed Accounting Standards Update, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815) and Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Derivatives Scope Refinements and Scope Clarification for a Share-Based Payment from a 
Customer in a Revenue Contract.



Inside the business today, the principal metric for our team is target realizations; that is how we set goals 
and evaluate performance. We augment that metric with a look at definitive commitments to ensure that we 
are doing deals where our capital will actually be deployed.

The issue is really that different parts of the business now generate very different return profiles.  For 
example, our patent business has comparatively small commitments and deployments for the returns it 
generates; that is because those assets are high risk and of unpredictable duration. On the other hand, our 
US commercial business regularly makes very large commitments and deployments, but because the assets 
are lower risk and of shorter and more predictable duration, the returns are lower.

In our view, the right answer is to take every opportunity to leverage our brand and expertise to realize 
returns from a wide variety of legal assets.

We look forward to seeing you live or online at our upcoming Investor Day, when we will go into the business 
and our future plans in detail and engage with your questions. 

We are grateful for the support of our shareholders and other stakeholders, and we look forward to the years 
ahead as we continue to grow this business in the many ways we see possible.

John Sievwright
Chair

Christopher Halmy
Vice Chair

Christopher Bogart
Chief Executive Officer

Jonathan Molot
Chief Investment Officer
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Annex A

Non-GAAP financial measures
This shareholder letter contains non-GAAP financial measures. These non-GAAP financial measures should not 
be considered in isolation from, as substitutes for, or superior to, financial measures calculated in 
accordance with the generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“US GAAP”). The table 
below sets forth the non-GAAP financial measures contained in this shareholder letter, the most comparable 
measures calculated in accordance with US GAAP and related reconciliations. 

Description

 
 
 
 

Non-GAAP 
financial measure

 
 
 
 

GAAP financial 
measure

 
 
 
 

Reconciliations

Cash receipts for the year ended December 31, 2024 $699 million $1,024 million See schedule 1 item 1

Group-wide cash receipts for the year ended December 31, 2024 $1,236 million $1,024 million See schedule 1 item 2

Realizations for the year ended December 31, 2024 $641 million $907 million See schedule 1 item 3

Net realized gains/(losses) for the year ended December 31, 2024 $327 million $440 million See schedule 1 item 4

Net realized gains/(losses) for the year ended December 31, 2023 $187 million $252 million See schedule 1 item 4

Realizations since inception through the year ended December 31, 
2024 $3 billion $4 billion See schedule 1 item 3

Undrawn commitments for the year ended December 31, 2024 $1.6 billion $2.0 billion See schedule 1 item 5

Realizations for the three months ended December 31, 2024 $253 million $348 million See schedule 1 item 3

Definitive undrawn commitments for the year ended December 31, 
2024 $774 million $963 million See schedule 1 item 5
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Schedule 1

1. Reconciliation of consolidated cash receipts to Burford-only cash receipts, for the period indicated

($ in thousands)
For the year ended 
December 31, 2024

Consolidated proceeds from capital provision assets $ 991,292 

Less: Third-party interests  (340,232) 

Total segments (Burford-only) proceeds from capital provision assets  651,060 

Plus: Loss on financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  (2,583) 

Burford-only proceeds from capital provision assets  648,477 

Consolidated asset management income  8,340 

Plus: Eliminated income from funds  36,287 

Total segments (Burford-only) asset management income  44,627 

Less: Non-cash adjustments(1)  (18,136) 

Burford-only proceeds from asset management income  26,491 

Burford-only proceeds from marketable securities interest and dividends  20,554 

Burford-only proceeds from other income  3,625 

Burford-only proceeds from other items  24,179 

Cash receipts  699,147 
1. Adjustments for the change in asset management receivables accrued during the applicable period but not yet received as of the end of such period.

2. Reconciliation of consolidated cash receipts to group-wide cash receipts, for the period indicated

($ in thousands) Consolidated

Non-consolidated 
private funds 

interests Group-wide
Cash receipts for the year ended December 31, 2024  1,023,901  211,753  1,235,654 

3. Reconciliation of consolidated realizations to total segments (Burford-only) realizations, for the 
periods indicated

($ in thousands, except otherwise indicated) Consolidated

Elimination of 
third-party 

interests and 
adjustments

Total segments 
(Burford-only)

Realizations for the three months ended December 31, 2024  348,023  (94,598)  253,425 

Realizations for the year ended December 31, 2024 907,042  (265,918) 641,124

Realizations since inception through the year ended December 31, 
2024 ($ in millions)  3,617  (286)  3,331 

4. Reconciliation of consolidated net realized gains/(losses) to total segments (Burford-only) net 
realized gains/(losses), for the period indicated

($ in thousands) Consolidated

Elimination of 
third-party 

interests
Total segments 
(Burford-only)

Net realized gains/(losses) for the year ended December 31, 2024  439,665  (112,491)  327,174 

Net realized gains/(losses) for the year ended December 31, 2023  251,618  (64,242)  187,376 
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5. Reconciliation of consolidated capital provision undrawn commitments to total segments (Burford-
only) capital provision undrawn commitments, as of the date indicated

December 31, 2024

($ in thousands) Consolidated

Elimination of 
third-party 

interests
Total segments 
(Burford-only)

Definitive $ 962,808 $ (189,135) $ 773,673 

Discretionary  1,032,433  (214,568)  817,865 

Legal risk (definitive)  41,318  —  41,318 

Total capital provision undrawn commitments  2,036,559  (403,703)  1,632,856 
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Annual general meeting of shareholders
Shareholders of Burford Capital Limited are cordially invited to attend the annual general meeting of 
shareholders scheduled to be held on May 14, 2025 at 09:00 a.m. British Summer Time.
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United States of America
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Nominated adviser and joint broker Advisor on US law
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United Kingdom

Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP 
Two Manhattan West
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United States of America

Joint broker Joint broker
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60 Threadneedle Street
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United Kingdom
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London EC2N 4JL
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Registrar and transfer agent Administrator and company secretary
Computershare Investor Services (UK)
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Bridgwater Road
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United Kingdom
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Providence, Rhode Island 02940
United States of America

Registered office
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Hirzel Street 
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Guernsey GY1 2NP
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Forward-looking statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 (this “2024 Form 10-K”) contains 
“forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the US Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the US Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the 
“Exchange Act”), that are intended to be covered by the safe harbor provided for under these sections. In 
some cases, words such as “aim”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “continue”, “could”, “estimate”, “expect”, 
“forecast”, “guidance”, “intend”, “may”, “plan”, “potential”, “predict”, “projected”, “should” or “will”, or 
the negative of such terms or other comparable terminology, are intended to identify forward-looking 
statements. Although we believe that the assumptions, expectations, projections, intentions and beliefs 
about future results and events reflected in forward-looking statements have a reasonable basis and are 
expressed in good faith, forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and 
other factors, which could cause our actual results and events to differ materially from (and be more 
negative than) future results and events expressed, projected or implied by these forward-looking 
statements. Factors that might cause future results and events to differ include, among others, the 
following:

▪ Adverse litigation outcomes and timing of resolution of litigation matters
▪ Our ability to identify and select suitable legal finance assets
▪ Improper use or disclosure of, or access to, privileged information under our control due to 

cybersecurity breaches, unauthorized use or theft
▪ Inaccuracy or failure of the probabilistic model and decision science tools, including machine learning 

technology and generative artificial intelligence (collectively, “AI technologies”), we use to predict 
the returns on our legal finance assets and in our operations

▪ Changes and uncertainty in laws, regulations and rules relating to the legal finance industry, 
including those relating to privileged information and/or disclosure and enforceability of legal 
finance arrangements

▪ Inadequacies in our due diligence process or unforeseen developments
▪ Credit risk and concentration risk relating to our legal finance assets
▪ Lack of liquidity of our legal finance assets and commitments in excess of our available capital 
▪ Our ability to obtain attractive external capital, refinance our outstanding indebtedness or raise 

capital to meet our liquidity needs
▪ Competitive factors and demand for our services and capital
▪ Failure of lawyers to prosecute and/or defend claims which we have financed with necessary skill and 

care or misalignment of their clients' interests with ours
▪ Poor performance by the commitments we make on behalf of our private funds
▪ Negative publicity or public perception of the legal finance industry or us

▪ Valuation uncertainty with respect to the fair value of our capital provision assets  
▪ Current and future legal, political and economic factors, including uncertainty surrounding the 

effects, severity and duration of public health threats and/or military actions
▪ Developments in AI technologies and expectations relating to environmental, social and governance 

(“ESG”) considerations
▪ Potential liability from litigation and legal proceedings against us
▪ Our ability to hire and retain key personnel
▪ Risks relating to our international operations as a result of differing legal and regulatory 

requirements, political, social and economic conditions and unforeseeable developments
▪ Exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations
▪ Uncertainty relating to the tax treatment of our financing arrangements
▪ Cybersecurity risks and improper functioning of our information systems or those of our third-party 

service providers
▪ Failure of our third-party service providers to fulfill their obligations or misconduct by our third-party 

service providers
▪ Failure by us to maintain the privacy and security of personal information and comply with applicable 

data privacy and protection laws and regulations



▪ Failure by us to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting or effective disclosure 
controls and procedures

▪ Failure by us to comply with the requirements of being a US domestic public company and the costs 
associated therewith

▪ Certain risks relating to our incorporation in Guernsey
▪ Other factors discussed under “Risk factors”

These factors should not be construed as exhaustive and should be read in conjunction with the other 
cautionary statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K and other periodic and current reports that we file 
with or furnish to the US Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). Many of these factors are beyond 
our ability to control or predict, and new factors emerge from time to time. Furthermore, we cannot assess 
the impact of each such factor on our business or the extent to which any factor or combination of factors 
may cause actual results and events to be materially different from those contained in any forward-looking 
statement. Given these uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on our forward-
looking statements. 

All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or to persons acting on our 
behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by these cautionary statements. The forward-looking 
statements speak only as of the date of this 2024 Form 10-K and, except as required by applicable law, we 
undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise.

Glossary

In this 2024 Form 10-K, references to “Burford”, “we”, “us” or “our” refer to Burford Capital Limited and its 
subsidiaries, unless the context requires otherwise. 

Certain additional terms used in this 2024 Form 10-K are set forth below: 

Advantage Fund
Burford Advantage Master Fund LP, a private fund focused on pre-settlement litigation strategies where 
litigation risk remains, but where the overall risk return profile is generally lower than assets funded directly 
by our balance sheet. Investors in the Advantage Fund include third parties as well as Burford’s balance 
sheet. Assets held by the Advantage Fund are recorded as capital provision assets. 

Asset management
Includes our activities administering the private funds we manage for third-party investors.

Asset Management and Other Services segment 
One of our two reportable segments. Asset Management and Other Services includes the management of legal 
finance assets on behalf of third-party investors through private funds, and provides other services to the 
legal industry.

Asset recovery
Pursuit of enforcement of an unpaid legal judgment, which may include our financing of the cost of such 
pursuit and/or judgment enforcement.

BAIF
Burford Alternative Income Fund LP, a private fund focused on post-settlement matters.

BAIF II
Burford Alternative Income Fund II LP, a private fund focused on post-settlement matters.

BCIM
Burford Capital Investment Management LLC, a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of Burford Capital Limited, 
serves as the investment adviser to all of our private funds and is registered under the US Investment 
Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Advisers Act”).

BOF
Burford Opportunity Fund LP, a private fund focused on pre-settlement legal finance matters.

BOF-C
Burford Opportunity Fund C LP, a private fund through which a sovereign wealth fund invests in pre-
settlement legal finance matters under the sovereign wealth fund arrangement.



Burford-only (non-GAAP) 
A basis of presentation that refers to assets, liabilities and activities that pertain only to Burford on a 
proprietary basis, excluding any third-party interests and the portions of jointly owned entities owned by 
others. 

Capital provision assets
Financial instruments that relate to the provision of capital in connection with legal finance.

Claimant or plaintiff
The party asserting a right or title in a legal proceeding.

Colorado
Colorado Investments Limited, an exempted company that was established for the secondary sale of some of 
our entitlement in the YPF-related Petersen matter. 

COLP
BCIM Credit Opportunities, LP, a private fund focused on post-settlement matters.

Consolidated funds
Certain of our private funds in which, because of our investment in and/or control of such private funds, we 
are required under the generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“US GAAP”) to 
consolidate the minority limited partner’s interests in such private funds and include the full financial results 
of such private funds within our consolidated financial statements. As of the date of this 2024 Form 10-K, 
BOF-C and the Advantage Fund are consolidated funds. 

Defendant or respondent 
The party against whom a civil action is brought in a legal proceeding. 

Deployment
Financing provided for an asset, which adds to our deployed cost in such asset. 

Definitive commitments
Commitments where we are contractually obligated to advance incremental capital and failure to do so 
would typically result in adverse contractual consequences (such as a dilution in our returns or the loss of our 
deployed capital in a case).

Discretionary commitments
Commitments where we are not contractually obligated to advance capital and generally would not suffer 
adverse financial consequences from not doing so.

Fair value adjustment
The amount of unrealized gain or loss recognized in our consolidated statements of operations in the relevant 
period and added to or subtracted from, as applicable, the asset or liability value in our consolidated 
statements of financial condition.

Group-wide
A basis of presentation which refers to the totality of assets managed by us, which includes assets financed 
by our balance sheet through our Principal Finance segment and assets financed by third-party capital 
through our Asset Management and Other Services segment.

Judgment debtor
A party against whom there is a final adverse court award.

Judgment enforcement
The activity of using legal and financial strategies to force a judgment debtor to pay an adverse award made 
by a court. 

Legal finance
The provision of capital against the underlying value of litigation and legal assets.

Legal risk management
Relates to matters where we provide some form of legal risk arrangement, such as an indemnity or insurance 
for adverse legal costs. These services are typically provided in conjunction with the financing of a legal 
finance asset.



Litigation
We use the term litigation colloquially to refer to any type of matter involved in the litigation, arbitration or 
regulatory process and the costs and legal fees associated therewith.

LTIP
The Burford Capital 2016 Long Term Incentive Plan, as amended and renewed from time to time, or any 
successor plan thereto.

Monetization
The acceleration of a portion of the expected value of a litigation or arbitration matter prior to resolution of 
such matter, which permits a client to convert an intangible claim or award into tangible cash on a non-
recourse basis.

NED Plan

The Burford Capital Limited 2021 Non-Employee Directors’ Share Plan, as amended from time to time.

Net realized gain or loss
The sum of realized gains and realized losses.

Non-consolidated funds
Certain of our private funds that we are not required to include within our consolidated financial statements 
but include within group-wide data. As of the date of this 2024 Form 10-K, (i) BCIM Partners II, LP, (ii) BCIM 
Partners III, LP, (iii) COLP, (iv) BOF, (v) BAIF and (vi) BAIF II and any “sidecar” funds are non-consolidated 
funds. 

NQDC Plan
The Burford Capital Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended from time to time.

Portfolio 
The sum of the fair value of capital provision assets and the undrawn commitments.

Post-Settlement 
Includes our financing of legal-related assets in situations where litigation has been resolved, such as 
financing of settlements and law firm receivables. At the date of this annual report, our post settlement 
activity occurs primarily in COLP, BAIF and BAIF II.

Principal Finance segment
One of our two reportable segments. Principal Finance includes the allocation of capital to legal finance 
assets from our balance sheet, primarily as capital provision assets, and in limited scope through interests in 
private funds managed by Burford. 

Privileged information 
Confidential information that is protected from disclosure due to the application of a legal privilege or other 
doctrine, including attorney work product, depending on the laws of the relevant jurisdiction.

PSUs
Performance share units awarded to employees under the LTIP.

Realization
A legal finance asset is realized when the asset is concluded (i.e., when litigation risk has been resolved). A 
realization will result in us receiving cash or, occasionally, non-cash assets, or recognizing a due from 
settlement receivable, reflecting what we are owed on the asset. 

Realized gain or loss 
Reflects the total amount of gain or loss, relative to cost, generated by a legal finance asset when it is 
realized, calculated as realized proceeds less deployed cost, without regard for any previously recognized 
fair value adjustment.  

RSUs
Restricted share units awarded to employees under the LTIP.

Share-based awards 
The total of RSUs and PSUs awarded to employees under the LTIP.



Strategic Value Fund 
BCIM Strategic Value Master Fund, LP, a private fund that deployed capital in certain complex strategies 
assets. Investors in the Strategic Value Fund included third parties as well as Burford’s balance sheet. Assets 
held by the Strategic Value Fund were recorded as capital provision assets, and the Strategic Value Fund was 
a consolidated fund. As of December 31, 2023, all assets held at the Strategic Value Fund have concluded, 
and the Strategic Value Fund was liquidated.

Sovereign wealth fund arrangement
The agreement we have entered into with a sovereign wealth fund pursuant to which it provides financing for 
a portion of our legal finance assets through BOF-C. Under this agreement, we (in our capacity as the 
appointed investment adviser) receive reimbursement of expenses from BOF-C up to a certain level before 
we or the sovereign wealth fund, as applicable, receive a return of capital. After the repayment of capital, 
we then receive a portion of the return generated from the assets held by BOF-C, which is reported as profit 
sharing income from private funds. 

Total segments 
Refers to the sum of our two reportable segments, (i) Principal Finance and (ii) Asset Management and Other 
Services, and is presented on a Burford-only basis. 

Unrealized gain or loss
Represents the fair value of our legal finance assets over or under their deployed cost, as determined in 
accordance with the requirements of the applicable US GAAP standards, for the relevant financial reporting 
period (consolidated statements of operations) or cumulatively (consolidated statements of financial 
condition).

Vintage
Refers to the calendar year in which a legal finance commitment is initially made.

YPF-related assets
Refers to our Petersen and Eton Park legal finance assets, which are two claims relating to the Republic of 
Argentina’s nationalization of YPF S.A., the Argentine energy company.

Notes on changes to reporting framework
Burford has always focused on providing disclosure that represents what shareholders actually own, which is 
reflected in the “Burford-only” basis of financial reporting. “Burford-only” reporting removes the impact of 
private fund entities that must be consolidated under accounting standards, even though economic ownership 
resides with a third party.

Beginning with our reporting for the year ended December 31, 2024, the Burford-only disclosure is enhanced 
with a more prominent use of segment reporting through two reportable segments: (i) “Principal 
Finance” (which captures the financial impact of the legal finance portfolio funded by Burford’s balance 
sheet) and (ii) “Asset Management and Other Services” (which captures fee income from Burford’s private 
funds funded by third-party capital and income earned from other service-related operations). Under US 
reporting standards, the use of segment reporting allows for more efficient and helpful disclosure on the key 
metrics that illuminate how Burford generates shareholder value in each segment.

The sum of Burford’s two reportable segments is referenced as “Total segments” in certain disclosure 
schedules, which is consistent and identical to reporting on an aggregate “Burford-only” basis.

The Principal Finance segment reporting is further simplified by discontinuing the use of the labels “capital 
provision-direct” or “core portfolio” (which described direct funding of legal finance assets by Burford’s 
balance sheet) and “capital provision-indirect” (which described indirect funding of legal finance assets 
through commitments made by Burford’s balance sheet to private funds). Performance track record measures 
such as return on invested capital (ROIC) and internal rate of return (IRR) is entirely consistent with prior 
reporting and reflect direct funding by the balance sheet (formerly referred to as “capital provision-direct” 
or “core portfolio”), excluding the impact of any balance sheet commitments to private funds.



Part I

Item 1. Business

Introduction

Burford is the world’s largest dedicated provider of capital, based on portfolio size, against the underlying 
value of litigation and legal assets, which we colloquially call legal finance. 

We are a global firm that serves the industry of law by providing an array of financial products and services. 
Our largest business is providing capital to clients engaged in ongoing legal disputes, which they can use to 
pay the legal fees and expenses associated with disputes, to monetize the expected future value of disputes 
or to do both. Our focus is on large, complex disputes, not on small-scale litigation typically pursued by 
consumers or small businesses. We rarely engage in transactions in which we are providing less than $5.0 
million in capital, and we frequently provide multiples of that amount up to hundreds of millions of dollars. 
Since our inception in 2009, we made commitments of more than $11.2 billion into legal finance assets on a 
group-wide basis.

Our clients are a wide range of litigants including a number of the world’s largest law firms and businesses. 
Legal finance allows law firm clients to obtain cash to operate their businesses and pay the salaries of their 
lawyers even when they have taken a case on a contingent fee or alternative fee basis. It also allows law 
firms that prefer to operate on an hourly basis to compete for contingency or alternative fee work. We have 
received financing inquiries from 94 of the 100 largest US law firms by revenue according to the 2024 
rankings by The American Lawyer and 92 of the 100 largest global law firms by revenue according to the 2024 
rankings by The American Lawyer as well as large regional firms and litigation boutiques. Legal finance allows 
litigants to hire law firms that generally work on an hourly fee basis without incurring those fees, and 
potentially to accelerate a portion of an expected recovery on the business's preferred schedule. Further, 
legal finance may enable clients to avoid incurring legal fees as an operating expense, and thus improve net 
income metrics, as well as boost liquidity by obtaining cash through upfront monetization of legal assets that 
otherwise would not be reflected in their financial statements.

We fund our legal finance portfolio primarily from our balance sheet using modest leverage, with the aim of 
re-investing proceeds to grow and compound returns. Our principal financing activities are supplemented by 
the use of third-party capital through private funds, from which we earn asset management income.

Today, we manage a group-wide legal finance portfolio of $7.4 billion. Our portfolio is diversified by 
geography and type of legal claim and is, we believe, the largest of its kind globally. Over the last 15 years, 
it has grown by a multiple of more than 50x when compared to $130 million raised at our inception. 

In an industry that continues to grow and evolve, we believe we enjoy a substantial competitive advantage, 
given our lifetime track record of generating strong returns, our growing proprietary data set drawn from 
thousands of cases that guides optimal underwriting decisions, our balance sheet scale, our diversity of 
funding, our quality of team and our brand recognition.

In addition to legal finance, we see opportunity and potential growth for our company in providing certain 
additional service offerings within the business of law. 

History and development

We are composed of our parent company, Burford Capital Limited, and numerous wholly owned subsidiaries 
in various jurisdictions through which our operations are conducted and our capital is deployed. Burford 
Capital LLC is a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of Burford Capital Limited and our primary operating 
company in the United States, and Burford Capital (UK) Limited is a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of 
Burford Capital Limited and our primary operating company in the United Kingdom. These two entities 
provide various corporate and investment advisory services to other group companies. Our parent company, 
Burford Capital Limited, does not have any operations or employees. See “—Organizational structure” for 
additional information with respect to our organizational structure.

In 2009, our founders launched Burford with a shared vision of an entity supported by permanent capital that 
could provide bespoke financing to help businesses and law firms address the significant economic challenges 
they faced in managing legal costs. At the time, the few capital providers addressing this investment 
proposition were generally domiciled in the United Kingdom, where prior judicial system reforms had 
permitted the entry of third-party capital into the delivery of a range of legal services. Thus, despite the 
investment adviser’s team being based in the United States, Burford Capital Limited was incorporated in the 
Bailiwick of Guernsey (“Guernsey”) as a closed-end fund company limited by shares on September 11, 2009 
with a view to list the vehicle on the London Stock Exchange through an offering of new shares. Following 
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that initial public offering, Burford’s ordinary shares, under the symbol “BUR”, were admitted to trading on 
AIM, a market operated by the London Stock Exchange (“AIM”), on October 21, 2009.

Increased demand for our capital proposition soon meant the closed-end fund structure was insufficient to 
address the market opportunity. In 2012, our shareholders voted in support of a proposal to reconstitute 
Burford as a unitary, specialty finance operating company. The reconstitution permitted more debt capital to 
be raised to fund growth than was possible under the closed-end fund vehicle and, between 2014 and 2018, 
we raised $693.0 million through the sale of bonds listed on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange, 
and the fair value of our capital provision assets grew by more than 6x. Outgrowing the UK bond market’s 
capacity to provide the US dollar funding needed to match the principal currency denomination of our legal 
finance assets, we sought credit ratings to facilitate access to the US private debt market and we duly 
obtained a maiden corporate family rating from Moody’s in October 2019 and a long-term debt rating from 
Standard & Poor’s in November 2019.

We have also made a few strategic acquisitions to support inorganic growth. Our acquisition in 2011 of 
Firstassist Legal Expenses Insurance, a leading provider of litigation expenses insurance in the United 
Kingdom, provided footprint in London and was the basis of our legacy adverse cost insurance business. Our 
acquisition in 2015 of a business intelligence firm Focus Intelligence Ltd enabled us to provide clients 
judgment enforcement services for their funded disputes. Our acquisition in 2016 of GKC Holdings, LLC, a 
law-focused asset manager registered as an investment adviser with the SEC, formed the initial core of our 
asset management business as well as expanded our US footprint and our ability to finance patent disputes.

To support further development of our standing in US capital markets, in 2020, Burford Capital Limited 
registered with the SEC as a “foreign private issuer”, which, among other things, allowed us to issue annual 
consolidated financial statements on Form 20-F and interim condensed consolidated financial statements on 
Form 6-K and exempted us from certain provisions applicable to US domestic public companies. We secured 
the admission of our ordinary shares on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) on October 19, 2020, also 
under the symbol “BUR”. Subsequently, our subsidiaries issued $1.4 billion of debt securities through private 
placement transactions under Rule 144A and Regulation S under the Securities Act. See note 12 (Debt) to our 
consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K for additional information with respect to 
our debt securities.

Upon determining that the majority of our ordinary shares were held in the United States as of June 30, 
2024, we no longer qualified as a “foreign private issuer” effective as of January 1, 2025. We are now subject 
to the same disclosure and financial reporting requirements as most US domestic public companies listed on 
the NYSE. 

We maintain our registered address at Oak House, Hirzel Street, St. Peter Port, Guernsey GY1 2NP. Our 
telephone number at our registered address is +44 1481 723 450. 

Our industry
Since our launch, the legal finance industry has experienced significant growth due to factors including 
increased visibility and normalization, greatly expanded use cases and regulatory and other developments 
that have fueled its practice in more jurisdictions. In our early days, our clients were often businesses that 
were unable or unwilling to pay their law firms’ hourly fees, and our financing served to bridge the gap 
between the needs of legal departments for risk-sharing and the reality that as cash partnerships many law 
firms have limited capacity to take on the substantial multi-year risk of working on a contingent fee basis. 
But the legal finance industry has grown considerably beyond this initial emphasis on simple cost and risk 
management for single claims. Law firms now use legal finance, in particular multi-case portfolios, to pursue 
new business and build books of high-value contingent claims. Equally if not more important, businesses 
including very large companies now use legal finance as a form of corporate finance for the legal department 
that allows them to accelerate high-value recoveries and preserve their working capital for revenue-
generating activities. Increasingly, both law firms and businesses embrace legal finance as a tool for growth.

We believe our addressable market in legal finance to be focused on three areas of legal activity: (i) the 
underlying asset value of litigation claims and the enforcement of settlements, judgments and awards; (ii) 
the amount paid to law firms as legal fees and expenses; and (iii) the value of assets affected by litigation. 
We believe that each of these areas is of significant size, that their size is much greater than the supply of 
capital available and that we remain at an early stage of market development. In 2023, for instance, the 
most recent year of available industry data, the value of the largest 100 US verdicts was $23 billion4 and the 
value of pending arbitration cases before the International Chamber of Commerce's International Court of 
Arbitration was $255 billion5. Alternatively, annualized global legal fees were $819 billion6, of which $404 
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billion was in the United States, while estimated revenue of the largest 200 US law firms was $165 billion7. 
We continuously look for new opportunities to capitalize on deploying capital into, or otherwise generating 
returns from, the legal finance sector.

In addition to the legal finance market, the market for legal services, including not only legal fees but all of 
the other costs and expenses associated with litigation (including, among others, the costs of expert 
witnesses, jury consultants, court reporters, trial graphics, settlement administrators and electronic 
discovery vendors), is substantial and growing. 

Segments 

We provide a variety of legal finance services to our clients through our two segments: (i) Principal Finance 
and (ii) Asset Management and Other Services. 
Principal Finance

Our Principal Finance segment allocates capital to legal finance assets from our balance sheet, primarily as 
capital provision assets and in limited scope through interests in private funds managed by us. These balance 
sheet capital provision assets and private fund interests generate capital provision income, which is the most 
significant driver of our total revenues. 

Funding our legal finance portfolio predominantly using our own capital allows us, we believe, to maximize 
earnings and cash flow capacity for shareholders, compound our book value per share at a higher rate and 
achieve the most efficient financing strategy for the higher risk/return profile of this asset class. We utilize 
access to debt capital markets to modestly leverage the Principal Finance segment portfolio at an attractive 
cost of capital relative to our target returns and maintain a laddered debt maturity structure with an average 
maturity in excess of the expected average life of our portfolio assets.

We predominantly provide capital to clients, and in that capacity we remain passive investors without control 
of litigation. In limited instances we may purchase a claim and have greater rights over litigation decision-
making but remain a third party to the litigation. In other instances, we may make an investment in which an 
asset's value is impacted by litigation but we are the principal and have no client.

The scope of our Principal Finance portfolio is broad and encompasses a wide variety of structures, risk levels 
and anticipated returns. We provide capital against the underlying value of high-value single or multiple 
litigation and arbitration matters at any stage of the process, from before filing to after a final judgment has 
been entered. In some instances, we provide capital to a law firm that has agreed to take a case on a 
contingent fee or alternative fee basis. In other instances, we provide capital directly to the client. Our 
provision of capital may finance the costs of the fees and/or expenses needed to take the matter forward, or 
it may monetize some of the potential future value of a claim by providing an upfront cash payment to the 
client. In return, we receive our contractually agreed entitlement from the ultimate settlement, judgment or 
award on the claim and, if the claim does not produce any cash proceeds or other value, we generally lose 
our capital. At times we provide capital for multiple cases for the same client in cross-collateralized 
portfolios with terms that recognize the lower risk of loss generally associated with such diversified 
portfolios. Portfolios allow us to originate larger volumes of assets with greater efficiency, as well as to 
provide clients financing for cases that could otherwise be difficult to finance. We also deploy capital in 
other ways to express a view about litigation outcomes, such as by purchasing securities whose future value 
may be affected by litigation outcomes or by acquiring assets that are or can be the basis for legal claims.

We also provide legal risk management services to help protect clients against certain adverse litigation 
outcomes, including the risk of being held liable for adverse costs. In many legal jurisdictions (although 
generally not in the United States), the loser in a litigation must pay the winner’s legal expenses, creating 
adverse legal cost risk. Adverse legal cost risk can be a significant obstacle for clients, especially in the kind 
of larger complex litigation that is the focus of our core legal finance business. Burford Worldwide Insurance 
Limited, our wholly owned Guernsey licensed insurer, offers adverse legal cost insurance globally in litigation 
and arbitration cases that we are financing as part of our Principal Finance business, providing a further 
impetus for clients to work with us.

Asset Management and Other Services

Our Asset Management and Other Services segment manages legal finance assets on behalf of third-party 
investors and provides other services to the legal industry. We receive fees for both of these types of 
activities. As of December 31, 2024, we operated eight private funds and three “sidecar” funds as an 
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investment adviser registered with and regulated by the SEC. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, our total 
assets under management (“AUM”) were $3.5 billion and $3.4 billion, respectively. We believe that we are 
the largest investment manager focused solely on the legal finance sector by a considerable margin. 

Over the course of our history, we have used private fund capital to finance our portfolio across the risk / 
return spectrum and acquired in 2016 a fund management business to enhance our access to third-party 
capital. While currently we expect to prioritize the favorable economics of allocating capital from our 
balance sheet, we maintain a sizable asset management portfolio. Our most recently raised private funds 
focused on allocating to assets with a lower overall risk/return profile compared to our balance sheet, and 
our strategic sovereign wealth fund partner has invested alongside the balance sheet.

See “Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations—Segments—Asset 
Management and Other Services segment—Private funds” for additional information with respect to the key 
statistics for each of our private funds.

Legal finance capital allocation

We allocate legal finance assets to different pools of capital based on their overall risk / return profile, 
which encompasses a range of characteristics, including, among others:

▪ Expected yield and range of potential yield outcomes 
▪ Risk of capital loss and ability to contractually protect principal 
▪ Expected duration, including duration risk
▪ Currency risk
▪ Stage of legal process (merits risk and appeal risk)
▪ Collection risk (counterparty creditworthiness and enforcement)

There are generally three pools of capital from which we currently or have historically funded legal finance 
assets:

▪ Our balance sheet
▪ Our sovereign wealth fund arrangement (BOF-C)
▪ Various private funds managed by us (in some cases, including allocations from our balance sheet as a 

limited partner)

Our capital allocation policy for the legal finance portfolio, at any given point in time, has set clear 
parameters to determine allocation of capital to new legal finance assets based on a combination of the 
risk / return characteristics noted above. We have always maintained a disciplined policy framework that 
avoids conflicts of interest between our balance sheet and our third-party capital providers. When our 
balance sheet and third-party capital providers co-invest in a deal, we typically apportion the new legal 
finance asset based on a formulaic allocation policy to each capital provider. Over time, the composition and 
investment objectives of our third-party capital providers have evolved alongside broader market dynamics. 
We continually seek to maximize the operational efficiency of our platform to deliver attractive economics to 
our shareholders and, as a result, our capital allocation framework for the legal finance portfolio has evolved 
over time as well.

In general terms, our balance sheet has historically allocated to legal finance assets with a higher overall 
risk / return profile, supplemented at varying levels over time by BOF-C, our sovereign wealth fund 
arrangement, and certain private funds for which the investment period has now concluded. These private 
funds include BCIM Partners II, LP, BCIM Partners III, LP and BOF.

BOF-C’s fund commitment was fully utilized by September 2024 and thus BOF-C did not participate in further 
new commitments following that date through December 31, 2024, the end date of the BOF-C investment 
period. Burford and BOF-C are in active discussions about extending the investment period and expanding 
BOF-C’s commitment.

Our other private funds have generally allocated to legal finance assets with a lower overall risk / return 
profile, which can be generally addressed in two categories:

▪ First, we offer our clients the ability to monetize post-settlement and other legal receivables, where 
little or no litigation risk remains. These assets are underwritten to target returns more similar to 
fixed income investments, and we have historically funded them with third-party capital through 
COLP and its successor private funds BAIF and BAIF II. While the investment periods for COLP and 
BAIF concluded in 2019 and 2022, respectively, the investment period for BAIF II extends to 
September 2025.
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▪ Second, driven by an era of sustained low interest rates, we launched the Advantage Fund in 2022 to 
allocate capital to legal finance assets that (i) were pre-judgment or pre-settlement and (ii) 
presented an overall risk / return profile that was generally lower than those allocated to our 
balance sheet, but generally higher than our post-settlement strategies. The investment period for 
the Advantage Fund concluded in December 2024, and our balance sheet holds a 17% stake in the 
Advantage Fund.

Currently, we are pursuing a deliberate strategy to prioritize the allocation of capital from our balance 
sheet, as we believe capital provision income offers more attractive return economics for our shareholders 
compared to asset management fees. At the same time, a higher interest rate environment has altered the 
market appeal of private fund products like the Advantage Fund, and we believe it would be challenging to 
raise a successor private fund at this time at pricing terms that we would find attractive.

Consistent with this strategic evolution, our Principal Finance segment will selectively evaluate a wider range 
of legal finance opportunities with a diversified mix of risk / return characteristics. Our market opportunity is 
not static as this emerging alternative asset class continues to evolve and grow.

Operating processes

Origination and underwriting

Our origination and underwriting teams generate new opportunities to commit capital to legal finance assets, 
to be deployed over a period of time and/or upfront against those assets, both from our balance sheet and 
our private funds.

We engage in extensive marketing and origination activities. Upon receipt of inbound inquiries, we undertake 
an initial screening process that is intended to filter investable opportunities into our pipeline. Once a 
potential opportunity progresses into our pipeline, it is assigned to individual underwriters to conduct 
extensive in-house due diligence with input from our global team, including comprehensive legal and factual 
analysis. In addition, we undertake quantitative probabilistic modeling using proprietary analytical tools that 
rely on third-party data as well as a significant proprietary dataset we have developed since our inception in 
2009. 

Opportunities that satisfy the requirements of our in-house due diligence are then presented for review by 
our dedicated Commitments Committee, which is comprised of certain members of the management 
committee (the “Management Committee”) and senior members of the underwriting team (the 
“Commitments Committee”). All commitments of capital must be approved by the Commitments 
Committee, which considers legal and factual merits and risks, reasonably recoverable damages, proposed 
budget, proposed terms, collection issues and enforceability. If the Commitments Committee approves the 
opportunity, our underwriters negotiate terms with the goal of closing a transaction to provide the 
committed capital against the asset. 

The manner in which we provide financing on a commitment varies widely. Some financing agreements 
require us to provide financing over a period of time, whereas other financing agreements require us to 
finance the total commitment upfront. In addition, our undrawn commitments are either discretionary or 
definitive. Discretionary commitments provide a framework and partnership through which to finance a client 
portfolio, but with funding ultimately subject to further case-level underwriting. Definitive commitments are 
those in which we are contractually obligated to advance incremental capital and where failure to do so 
would typically result in adverse contractual consequences (such as a dilution in our returns or the loss of our 
deployed capital in a case).

While the use of true artificial generative intelligence such that it could replace the human legal judgment 
required in our business remains in its infancy, we expect that ongoing development could continue to grow 
in benefit for our business, including by augmenting and enhancing our origination and underwriting. The 
legal industry in general and our business in particular have made increasing use of technological innovations 
over the past decade. We believe that we are well positioned relative to current market players or potential 
market entrants in the use of AI technologies in legal finance given our extensive database of dispute 
economics and outcomes. 

Pricing and returns 

We use a wide range of economic structures for our assets, and our returns can have several components. 
The terms of each asset are bespoke, which we believe offers an attractive degree of flexibility to serve our 
clients. In a basic single-case financing transaction, we pay some or all of the claimant’s costs in bringing a 
litigation matter. In such transactions, we typically use an economic structure that provides that, upon 
conclusion of a successful claim, we would receive the return of our deployed capital, plus one or a 
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combination of the following: (i) a time-based return, such as an interest rate; (ii) a multiple of our deployed 
capital that may increase over time; and (iii) an entitlement to some percentage of the net realization that 
may increase or decrease over time or may depend on the size of the total resolution amount. Moreover, the 
larger or more complex a matter, the more likely we will be to use an individually designed transactional 
structure that aligns interests, incentivizes rational economic behavior and accommodates the needs of the 
client and potentially multiple parties with different economic interests.

We also engage in transactions in which we seek to reduce the risk of loss, typically by using a portfolio or 
multi-case structure, but occasionally through a variety of other structures, such as interest-bearing recourse 
debt (sometimes with a premium based on net realizations) or the purchase of equity or debt assets that 
underlie the relevant litigation or arbitration claims.

We price our assets commensurate with the risks we identify and quantify as part of our in-house due 
diligence process, which relies on, among other things, our probabilistic modeling to evaluate each potential 
asset considered by the Commitments Committee.

Asset monitoring and realizations

Although most legal jurisdictions and our capital provision agreements generally stipulate that as a passive 
investor in legal finance assets we may not directly control or litigate cases, we invest substantial time and 
resources to actively advising our clients in the management of our legal finance assets. We maintain a team 
devoted to the oversight of those assets with a dedicated in-house legal professional assigned to monitor 
developments in each asset and its relevant underlying cases. In addition to receiving reports from counsel, 
we proactively monitor case developments, including receiving docket alerts and reviewing court documents 
filed. Our engagement varies depending on the circumstances of each individual matter, including not only 
the individual matter’s litigation dynamics, but also the experience and sophistication of our counterparties. 
We routinely consult on litigation strategy, participate in choosing arbitrators and expert witnesses, 
comment on draft pleadings, assist in the creation of the damages theory and consult on potential 
settlement, management of spending and performance against budget.

We devote meaningful resources to managing our legal finance assets and working collaboratively with clients 
to maximize their value. While our clients are generally not obliged to follow our advice, our clear alignment 
of interests makes our advice valuable and worthy of serious consideration, and we believe that many clients 
not only welcome our perspective but welcome our expertise as a reason to work with us. Thus, although we 
generally lack decision making authority in a contractual sense such that we could veto a decision by a 
counterparty, our active engagement and case management make us a valued and influential advisor to our 
clients and their respective litigation teams. On occasion, there are certain exceptions when we have 
specifically contracted to assume some control of a litigation matter or the underlying asset. In those 
instances, we have control over the conduct of the litigation matter subject to whatever contractual terms 
have been agreed. 

We also conduct risk reviews on a regular basis and provide monthly and quarterly reporting on the portfolio 
and its risk profile to senior management and our board of directors (the “Board of Directors”). Further, we 
conduct an extensive review of every asset for valuation purposes following the occurrence of certain 
qualifying events in accordance with our valuation policy. 

The matters underlying our assets resolve in various ways consistent with the typical course of litigation. 
Most matters reach a negotiated resolution (i.e., a settlement) between the litigants either before or after 
going to trial. Others do not resolve through settlement and proceed through the formal dispute resolution 
process, including trial and appeal(s). The timing of their outcomes varies widely depending on the 
complexity of the matter and the schedule of the relevant court or tribunal. In a small number of matters 
where we are permitted to do so, we have made a secondary sale of all or a portion of an asset prior to its 
conclusion.

In many instances, our clients receive their entire cash payment at the time of resolution of the legal dispute 
against which we have deployed our capital. However, in other instances, payments are delayed by 
agreement (i.e., when a settlement is paid in installments over time) or because the parties agree on an 
entitlement that includes non-cash value that must be monetized over time. Because our clients give up 
valuable leverage through the pendency of the litigation process by agreeing to a resolution, clients tend not 
to do so unless payment is reasonably certain. In our experience, defaults in connection with such payments 
are rare, but in instances where the adverse party loses and refuses to pay, enforcement efforts may be 
needed.

Privileged information
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Our underwriting and ongoing asset monitoring require that we receive privileged information from our 
clients. Such privileged information can lose its protection and become accessible to a litigation opponent if 
it is disclosed (a concept called “waiver” in the United States), which could have detrimental consequences 
for the litigant. We are entitled to receive such privileged information but are under a strict obligation to 
protect it to minimize the risk of waiver. Among other things, this obligation requires us to tightly restrict 
access to the privileged information itself and conclusions drawn from it. As a result, we do not release asset 
valuations of ongoing matters underlying our assets, including partially concluded matters, and we are 
similarly unable to provide other asset-specific information about our portfolio unless such information 
becomes publicly available through other means. 

Competition

The legal finance industry is highly competitive and evolving as new competitors enter the market, which has 
affected and could affect our competitiveness in the future. We compete both globally and on the basis of 
region, industry and type of dispute based on factors including performance of our legal finance assets, 
transaction execution, access to capital, access to and retention of qualified personnel, reputation, range of 
products and services, innovation and pricing. Furthermore, we compete to finance assets primarily with 
pure-play legal finance companies and multi-strategy firms that engage in legal finance as one of many 
investment strategies.

Information concerning our competitors is limited as most participants in the legal finance industry either do 
not publish information publicly or, in the case of multi-strategy firms that engage in legal finance, do not 
publish information specific to their legal finance strategies. However, despite limited available information 
regarding our competitors, we believe that we are well-positioned competitively in the legal finance 
industry. We believe that we are more visible than our competitive set in legal and business publications. For 
example, according to “share of voice” calculations using Muck Rack, a provider of public relations tracking 
software, we were featured in over half of the total articles that discussed the legal finance industry and 
that mentioned other pure play legal finance providers during the year ended December 31, 2024. In 
addition, according to the interviews conducted in the second quarter of 2023 by an independent researcher 
commissioned by us, Burford is the most recognized brand in the legal finance industry and is the first or only 
legal finance provider to be named by the overwhelming majority of law firm and in-house lawyers able to 
name any legal finance provider in response to the question “With which legal finance providers are you most 
familiar?”.

Seasonality

While the litigation process is not driven by seasonality by nature, we have historically closed and financed a 
disproportionate amount of our new business in the fourth quarter, primarily driven by the behavior of our 
corporate and law firm clients. While realizations have also historically been higher in the fourth quarter, 
there can be meaningful variation in the timing of the resolution of our legal finance assets, so the timing of 
realizations may be different in the future, especially if a single large legal finance asset resolves in the first, 
second or third quarter of a year. 

Regulatory and compliance matters

Our operations are subject to regulation and supervision in a number of jurisdictions. The level of regulation 
and supervision to which we are subject varies from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and is based on the type of 
activity involved. We, in conjunction with our outside advisors and counsel, seek to manage our operations in 
compliance with such regulation and supervision. There are a number of legislative and regulatory initiatives 
in the United States, the United Kingdom and the other jurisdictions in which we operate. The regulatory 
frameworks applicable to us and our operations are very detailed and technical. Accordingly, the discussion 
below is general in nature, does not purport to be complete and is current only as of the date of this 2024 
Form 10-K. 

United States
As a public company in the United States, we are subject to the rules and regulations of the SEC and the 
listing requirements of the NYSE. As of June 30, 2024, we determined that we no longer qualify as a “foreign 
private issuer” as defined under the Exchange Act and, as a result, effective as of January 1, 2025, we were 
no longer eligible to use the rules designed for foreign private issuers and are required to comply with the 
reporting regime that applies to most US domestic public companies listed on the NYSE. Furthermore, our 
disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting are documented, tested and 
assessed for design and operating effectiveness in accordance with the US Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as 
amended (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”).
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BCIM, a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of Burford, serves as the investment adviser to all our private funds 
and is registered as an investment adviser with the SEC under the Investment Advisers Act. BCIM, as an 
investment adviser, is subject to the anti-fraud provisions of the Investment Advisers Act and to fiduciary 
duties derived from these provisions, which apply to our relationships with our advisory clients globally, 
including the private funds that we manage. These provisions and duties impose restrictions and obligations 
on us with respect to our dealings with our private fund investors and our legal finance assets, including for 
example limitations on agency cross and principal transactions between an adviser or its affiliates and 
advisory clients. BCIM is subject to periodic examinations by the SEC and other requirements under the 
Investment Advisers Act and related regulations primarily intended to benefit advisory clients. These 
additional requirements relate, among other things, to maintaining an effective and comprehensive 
compliance program and code of ethics, conflicts of interests, record-keeping and reporting requirements, 
advertising and custody requirements, political contributions and disclosure requirements. The Investment 
Advisers Act generally grants the SEC broad administrative powers, including the power to limit or restrict an 
investment adviser from conducting advisory activities in the event it fails to comply with federal securities 
laws. Additional sanctions that may be imposed for failure to comply with applicable requirements include 
the prohibition of individuals from associating with an investment adviser, the revocation of registrations and 
other censures and fines. 

United Kingdom

The UK Financial Conduct Authority (the “FCA”) and the London Stock Exchange regulate the trading of our 
ordinary shares on AIM in the United Kingdom. Deutsche Numis (the trading name used by Deutsche Bank AG, 
Numis Securities Limited and Numis Europe Limited for the combined UK and Ireland corporate finance 
business) is our nominated adviser under the AIM rules, in which capacity it advises and guides us with 
respect to our responsibilities and continuing obligations under the rules and regulations of the London Stock 
Exchange. The FCA also reviews debt prospectuses for our retail bonds traded on the Main Market of the 
London Stock Exchange. In addition, the FCA regulates our legacy UK insurance business and our UK insurance 
intermediation business with respect to Burford Worldwide Insurance Limited.

Guernsey

The Guernsey Financial Services Commission regulates our insurance business conducted through Burford 
Worldwide Insurance Limited, our wholly owned Guernsey insurer. Burford Worldwide Insurance Limited is 
licensed to carry on international, domestic and general insurance business under the Insurance Business 
(Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2002 (as amended). 

Other laws, rules and regulations 

We are also subject to various other laws, rules and regulations, ranging from the UK Bribery Act 2010, as 
amended, and the US Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, to anti-money laundering and 
know-your-customer regulations in numerous jurisdictions. In addition, we are subject to a range of US and 
international laws, rules and regulations relating to data privacy and protection, including the California 
Consumer Privacy Act, the California Privacy Rights Act, the UK General Data Protection Regulation, the UK 
Data Protection Act 2018, the EU General Data Protection Regulation and the DIFC Data Protection Law No. 5 
of 2020.

Legal finance industry 

We engage in a constant level of activity around monitoring of, and engagement with, regulatory initiatives 
relating to the legal finance industry. In the United States, some individual states and individual judicial 
districts have promulgated rules and regulations concerning matters such as disclosure of legal finance 
arrangements, and the US Government Accountability Office released a report on the legal finance industry 
in 2023 and a subsequent report on the patent legal finance industry in 2024. In general, we have not seen 
any indication that there is any groundswell of support for broad regulation of the legal finance industry, and 
ongoing discussion tends to focus on subsidiary issues, such as disclosure of the presence of litigation 
financing. As of the date of this 2024 Form 10-K, there are no new US state or federal regulations aimed at 
the commercial legal finance industry, although various US state and federal legislative proposals have been 
introduced and considered that, if passed, could potentially affect the legal finance industry.

In the United Kingdom, in July 2023, the Supreme Court held in R (PACCAR Inc) v. Competition Appeal 
Tribunal that litigation funding agreements that entitle funders to payments based on the amount of 
damages recovered should be classified as damages-based agreements which need to comply with the 
Damages-Based Agreements Regulations 2013 or risk being deemed unenforceable. In March 2024, the  
government proposed legislation to restore the law as it existed prior to the decision, however, the 
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legislation failed to pass ahead of the dissolution of Parliament in May 2024. While the new government has 
expressed support for a legislative fix, there is no legislation pending as of the date of this 2024 Form 10-K. 
In spring 2024, the then-Lord Chancellor called upon the Civil Justice Council to conduct a review of the 
litigation funding market, and its final report is due by summer 2025. In the European Union, following the 
passage of a European Parliamentary resolution in 2022, the European Commission has been conducting a 
“mapping study” to collect information on the litigation funding market and current practices in member 
states of the European Union. The results of the study could have an impact on potential future regulation by 
the European Union.

We are a founding member of the Association of Litigation Funders of England and Wales (“ALF”), an 
independent organization charged by the UK Ministry of Justice with self-regulation of litigation financing in 
England and Wales. The ALF’s Code of Conduct sets forth the standards by which all members must abide. We 
are also a founding member of the International Legal Finance Association (“ILFA”), a non-profit trade 
association and the only global organization that represents the commercial legal finance sector. ILFA 
promotes the highest standards of operation and service for the sector, including respecting duties to the 
courts, avoiding conflicts of interest and preserving confidentiality and legal privilege.

In newer markets, such as Singapore and Hong Kong, authorities have also enacted regulations largely 
focused on capital adequacy and constraining abusive behavior.

Compliance

Rigorous legal and compliance analysis of our businesses and legal finance arrangements is endemic to our 
culture and risk management. Our General Counsel supervises our legal and compliance personnel, who are 
responsible for addressing the regulatory and compliance matters that affect our operations. We strive to 
maintain a culture of compliance through the use of policies and procedures, including a code of ethics, 
electronic compliance systems, testing and monitoring, communication of compliance guidance and 
employee education and training. Our compliance policies and procedures address regulatory and compliance 
matters, such as the handling of material non-public information, personal securities trading, marketing 
practices, gifts and entertainment, anti-money laundering, anti-bribery and sanctions, privacy and data 
security, recordkeeping and potential conflicts of interest. Moreover, we are fundamentally a business run by 
experienced lawyers, including some who have functioned in senior legal roles in major global businesses. 
The challenge in many businesses is reining in individuals who take on unacceptable or ill-considered risks, 
and it is the function of the lawyers to hold those reins. At Burford, we have a business run by people 
accustomed to that role. 

In addition, disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting are documented, 
tested and assessed for design and operating effectiveness in accordance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The 
internal audit group, which reports directly to the audit committee of the Board of Directors (the “Audit 
Committee”), operates with a global mandate and is responsible for providing independent assessments 
whether our network of risk management, control and governance processes is adequate and effective.

Corporate responsibility

We believe that legal finance has a positive social impact and delivers two primary benefits. First, our 
financing increases access to justice and reinforces and strengthens the rule of law, both fundamental social 
goods. The global economy and modern society need strong, clear and efficient legal systems in order to 
function. Our legal finance solutions support these systems and improve them by creating a more level 
economic playing field in disputes, allocating capital to meritorious legal matters and facilitating access to 
justice for litigants, including those with meritorious claims for whom the expense of litigating a claim would 
be unaffordable without the use of third-party financing. 

Second, our legal finance helps to increase the efficient allocation of scarce economic resources, another 
social good. When companies and law firms finance litigation and arbitration with our capital, they preserve 
their own capital to invest in their businesses where and when doing so will have the greatest benefit, 
whether that means hiring employees, spending on research and development or simply easing liquidity 
pressures that would otherwise harm the enterprise. This benefits our clients, their stakeholders and the 
broader economy. 

We have led the institutionalization of our industry and have adopted corporate responsibility and best 
practices. The nominating and corporate governance committee of the Board of Directors assists the Board of 
Directors in its oversight of our management in defining and implementing our strategy relating to ESG 
matters.
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Human capital management 

We expend considerable effort towards human capital management, including recruitment of talented 
individuals, creating an appealing environment and continuing their development once employed. 
Competitive compensation is certainly an important part of that dynamic, but so too is a collaborative 
environment and mutual respect. The Management Committee regularly assesses our human capital strategy 
across each of our global offices, reviews our existing capabilities and performance and identifies any gaps to 
ensure that resources are appropriately allocated to realize our strategic and operational objectives as well 
as to support and develop our talent at each employee level.

We are a global company with a highly diverse footprint. As of December 31, 2024, we had a total of 160 full-
time employees across our offices in the United States, the United Kingdom, United Arab Emirates, Singapore 
and other jurisdictions around the world where we do not have formal offices. As of December 31, 2024, our 
employees included 47 lawyers qualified to practice in the United States, the United Kingdom, Argentina, 
Australia, Germany, India and Switzerland, as applicable.

The table below sets forth our full-time employees by office location based on the respective office 
affiliation of such full-time employees as of December 31, 2024.

Office location Number of employees
United States 107

United Kingdom 41

Rest of the world 12

Total 160

Compensation and benefits 

Our compensation structure is designed to attract and retain qualified employees as well as to incentivize 
and reward employee performance, and our goal is to provide competitive compensation in the markets 
where we compete for talent. Our basic compensation principles include, among others:

• Paying market levels of total cash compensation for individual functions that is tied to our overall 
performance and the performance of our portfolio 

• Enabling long-term employees to build equity in our company over time by providing each employee 
an award of our ordinary shares to align their overall compensation with our long-term performance 
and growth

• Weighting a more significant proportion of senior- and executive-level employee compensation 
toward performance-based compensation

In addition, we offer a range of competitive benefits to our eligible employees, including matching 
contributions to a defined contribution 401(k) retirement plan, contributions to health savings accounts and 
payments of premiums for life insurance and long-term disability insurance. 

Talent development 

We are committed to investing in employee learning and development. Our flagship training initiative, 
Burford University, provides instruction to all employees on topics including client services, company 
policies, technical tools and industry know-how. We also provide mandatory compliance and data security 
training and assessment for all employees. Furthermore, we encourage and support our employees in 
receiving external training to maintain their professional credentials and in seeking opportunities for 
professional development, including courses and professional certifications, and regularly pay for such 
training and opportunities.

Health and safety 

We are committed to ensuring the health, safety and well-being of our employees in each of our offices 
worldwide by complying with relevant laws and preventing health and occupational risks. In some of the 
jurisdictions where we have offices, the health and safety standards we operate may exceed local 
requirements.
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Organizational structure

The chart below sets forth our organizational structure as of December 31, 2024. The chart does not depict 
all our subsidiaries, including intermediate holding companies through which certain of the subsidiaries 
depicted are held. 

Available information, website and social media disclosure

We are subject to the reporting requirements under the Exchange Act and, accordingly, file certain reports 
with, and furnish other information to, the SEC. Such reports and other information may be inspected free of 
charge at a website maintained by the SEC at www.sec.gov. 

We maintain a website at www.burfordcapital.com and make available free of charge, on or through the 
Investor Relations section of our website, our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q 
and Current Reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to these reports filed or furnished pursuant to 
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports are 
electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC.

In addition, we use our website (investors.burfordcapital.com) and social media platforms including LinkedIn 
(www.linkedin.com/company/burford-capital), X (www.x.com/burfordcapital), Instagram 
(www.instagram.com/burford_capital) and YouTube (www.youtube.com/c/burfordcapital) as channels of 
distribution for documents and other information about our company. The documents and other information 
we make available through these channels may be deemed material. Accordingly, investors should monitor 
these channels in addition to following our press releases, SEC filings and public conference calls and 
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webcasts. Furthermore, investors may automatically receive email alerts and other information about our 
company upon submitting a request at the “Investor Email Alerts” section of our website at 
investors.burfordcapital.com. 

The information on, or that can be accessed through, our website, social media and any alerts is not 
incorporated by reference into, and does not form a part of, this 2024 Form 10-K.

Item 1A. Risk factors

Investing in our securities involves risk. Persons investing in our securities should carefully consider the risks 
set forth below and the other information contained in this 2024 Form 10-K and our other reports that we 
file with, or furnish to, the SEC from time to time, including our consolidated financial statements and 
accompanying notes. Any of the following risks could materially and adversely affect our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and/or liquidity. Our business, financial condition, results of operations 
and/or liquidity could also be materially and adversely affected by additional factors that apply to all 
companies generally as well as other risks that are not currently known to us or that we currently view to be 
immaterial. In any such case, the trading price of our securities could decline, and you may lose all or part 
of your investment in our securities. While we may attempt to mitigate known risks to the extent we 
believe to be practicable and reasonable, we can provide no assurance, and we make no representation, 
that our mitigation efforts, if any, will be successful. See “Forward-looking statements”, “Business" and 
"Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations" for additional 
information with respect to certain business, competitive, regulatory, market, economic and other 
conditions that may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations 
and/or liquidity.

Summary of risk factors

Risks relating to our business and industry
▪ Litigation outcomes are risky and difficult to predict, and a loss in a litigation matter may result in 

the total loss of our capital associated with that matter.
▪ Our revenues, earnings and cash flows can vary materially between periods as both the timing of 

resolution and the outcome of litigation matters are difficult to predict.
▪ Our success depends on our ability to identify and select suitable legal finance assets to finance, and 

our failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results 
of operations and/or liquidity.

▪ Our business and operations could suffer if we are not able to prevent improper use or disclosure of, 
or access to, privileged information under our control due to cybersecurity breaches, unauthorized 
use or theft.

▪ The inaccuracy or failure of the probabilistic model and decision science tools, including AI 
technologies, we use to predict the returns on our legal finance assets and in our operations could 
have a material adverse effect on our business.

▪ The laws relating to privileged information are complex and continue to evolve, and any adverse 
court rulings, changes in law or other developments could impair our ability to conduct effective due 
diligence on potential legal finance assets.

▪ The due diligence process that we undertake in connection with financing legal finance assets may 
not reveal all facts that may be relevant in connection with such financing.

▪ Investors will not have an opportunity to independently evaluate our legal finance assets.
▪ We are subject to credit risk relating to our various legal finance assets that could adversely affect 

our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.
▪ Our portfolio may be concentrated in cases likely to have correlated results, and we have a number 

of assets involving the same counterparty.
▪ The lack of liquidity of our legal finance assets may adversely affect our business, financial condition, 

results of operations and/or liquidity.
▪ We have commitments in excess of our available capital.
▪ Changes in market conditions may negatively impact our ability to obtain attractive external capital 

or to refinance our outstanding indebtedness and may increase the cost of such financing or 
refinancing if it is obtained.

▪ We face substantial competition for opportunities with respect to legal finance assets, which could 
delay commitment and/or deployment of our capital, reduce returns and result in losses.
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▪ If lawyers who prosecute and/or defend claims which we have financed fail to exercise due skill and 
care, or the interests of their clients do not align with ours, there may be a material adverse effect 
on the value of our legal finance assets.

▪ We may not earn asset management fees and/or performance fees from our private funds.
▪ A significant portion of our AUM is attributable to private funds with a single investor.
▪ Negative publicity or public perception of the legal finance industry or us could adversely affect our 

reputation, business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.
▪ We report our capital provision assets at fair value, which may result in us recognizing non-cash 

income that may never be realized.
▪ Legal, political and economic uncertainty surrounding the effects, severity and duration of public 

health threats could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or 
liquidity.

▪ Developments in AI technologies could disrupt the markets in which we operate and subject us to 
increased competition, legal and regulatory risks and compliance costs.

▪ Expectations relating to ESG considerations could expose us to potential liabilities, increased costs 
and reputational harm and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations 
and/or liquidity.

▪ There are inherent uncertainties involved in estimates, judgments and assumptions used in the 
preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

▪ Our past performance may not be indicative of our future results of operations.
▪ Litigation and legal proceedings against us could adversely impact our business, financial condition, 

results of operations and/or liquidity.
▪ Our success depends substantially on the continued retention of certain key personnel and our ability 

to hire and retain qualified personnel in the future to support our growth and execute our business 
strategies.

▪ Our international operations subject us to increased risks.
▪ We may face exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations and may hold unhedged 

securities positions.
▪ The tax treatment of our financing arrangements is subject to significant uncertainty.
▪ Changes in tax laws and regulations or unanticipated tax liabilities could affect our effective tax 

rate, business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.
Risks relating to regulation 

▪ The laws, regulations and rules relating to legal finance are evolving and may be uncertain, which 
may have negative consequences for the value or enforcement of our contractual agreements with 
our counterparties, our ability to do business in certain jurisdictions or our cost of doing business.

▪ Our asset management business is highly regulated, and changes in regulation or regulatory violations 
could adversely affect our business.

▪ We are subject to the risk of being deemed an investment company.
Risks relating to cybersecurity, third-party service providers, information systems and data privacy 
and protection

▪ Cybersecurity risks could result in the loss of data, interruptions in our business or damage to our 
reputation and subject us to regulatory actions, increased costs and financial losses, any of which 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and/
or liquidity.

▪ Catastrophic events could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and/or liquidity.

▪ The failure of our third-party service providers to fulfill their obligations, or misconduct by our third-
party service providers, may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, 
results of operations and/or liquidity.

▪ Our operations are dependent on the proper functioning of information systems.
▪ We are required to maintain the privacy and security of personal information and comply with 

applicable data privacy and protection laws and regulations.
Risks relating to our indebtedness

▪ We face certain risk relating to our indebtedness and our ability to incur additional indebtedness.
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Risks relating to our ordinary shares
▪ We face certain risks relating to our ordinary shares, including fluctuations in the trading price and 

volume of our ordinary shares, lack of assurance that we will pay dividends or distributions on our 
ordinary shares and declines in the market price of our ordinary shares as a result of future issuances 
or sales of our securities.

▪ We face certain risks relating to the requirements of being a US domestic public company.
▪ The material weakness identified in our internal control over financial reporting and the 

determination that our internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and 
procedures were not effective could impact investors’ views on the reliability of our consolidated 
financial statements.

Risks relating to our incorporation in Guernsey
▪ We face certain risks relating to our incorporation in Guernsey, including differences in rights and 

protections afforded to our shareholders under Guernsey law, insolvency laws of Guernsey being less 
favorable than US bankruptcy laws and complexities of effecting service of US court process or 
enforcement of US judgments.

Risk factors

Risks relating to our business and industry 

Litigation outcomes are risky and difficult to predict, and a loss in a litigation matter may result in the 
total loss of our capital associated with that matter.

It is difficult to predict the outcome of litigation, particularly complex commercial litigation of the type in 
which we specialize. We typically advance capital to our counterparties on a non-recourse basis and are 
therefore entirely dependent on a positive, cash-generative outcome in the underlying litigation matter in 
order to recover our principal and earn a return. If our counterparty is unsuccessful in the underlying 
litigation matter, if the damages awarded in favor of our counterparty are less than we expect or if it is not 
possible to successfully enforce a favorable judgment, we could suffer a variety of adverse consequences, 
including the total loss of our deployed capital and, in some jurisdictions, liability for the adverse costs of 
the successful party to the litigation. In addition, to the extent we have provided insurance coverage in 
respect of adverse cost risk in the matter, a loss resulting from an adverse outcome would be compounded 
with additional adverse cost loss. Unfavorable outcomes in litigation matters we have financed could, 
individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results 
of operations and/or liquidity.

Our revenues, earnings and cash flows can vary materially between periods as both the timing of 
resolution and the outcome of litigation matters are difficult to predict.

Our revenues, earnings and cash flows can vary materially from period to period due to the nature of our 
business, including the fact that litigation matters often take many years to resolve and the processes 
involved are subject to change and uncertainty. We are unable to control the progress and resolution of most 
of our assets because their timing depends upon parties working through the legal systems in various 
jurisdictions. As a result, the timelines for our receipt of any potential return on our assets and the related 
cash inflows can be long and are difficult to predict. Events or conditions that have not been anticipated may 
occur and may have a significant effect on the outcome or process of a litigation matter, which may reduce 
the actual rate of return on an asset. Moreover, the substantive or procedural law relevant to the litigation 
matters brought by our counterparties may change after we have committed capital. The time, complexity 
and expense involved in collecting returns on our assets, including the enforcement of judgments and the 
release of funds held in escrow pending the resolution of a litigation matter, also affect our cash flows. All 
these factors contribute to potentially significant volatility in our financial performance and the trading price 
of our securities. In addition, we cannot assure you that we will generate cash flows from the returns on our 
assets in an amount sufficient to enable us to meet all our obligations or to fund our working capital, asset 
and other business needs.

Our success depends on our ability to identify and select suitable legal finance assets to finance, and 
our failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and/or liquidity.

Our success depends on our ability to identify and select legal finance assets that will be successful and pay 
returns, which in turn depends upon the management, conclusion and realization of suitable financing 
opportunities. The Commitments Committee is primarily responsible for approving the opportunities that 
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have been identified for us to finance. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in sourcing 
suitable legal finance assets in a timely manner or at all or in sourcing a sufficient number of suitable legal 
finance assets to finance that meet our diversification, underwriting and other requirements. Our ability to 
select such legal finance assets depends on the availability of desirable financing opportunities, which is 
subject to market conditions, client demand, pricing, competition and other factors outside our control, 
including changes in regulations in various jurisdictions in which we operate and limitations on our ability to 
adequately investigate the merits of the matter or parties involved, among other things. A failure by us to 
identify and select suitable legal finance assets to finance could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

Our business and operations could suffer if we are not able to prevent improper use or disclosure of, or 
access to, privileged information under our control due to cybersecurity breaches, unauthorized use or 
theft.

We obtain privileged information as part of our analysis of potential legal finance assets and as part of our 
ongoing asset monitoring. When we receive privileged information, we are under a strict obligation to 
protect it. Among other things, this obligation requires us to tightly restrict access to the privileged 
information itself.

As described under “—Risks relating to cybersecurity, third-party service providers, information systems and 
data privacy and protection—Cybersecurity risks could result in the loss of data, interruptions in our 
business or damage to our reputation and subject us to regulatory actions, increased costs and financial 
losses, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and/or liquidity”, attempts to gain unauthorized access to our information systems have become 
increasingly sophisticated over time, and our efforts to detect and investigate all security incidents and to 
prevent their recurrence may be unsuccessful. In addition to the risk of a breach of confidentiality due to a 
cybersecurity incident, privileged information could be compromised in other ways. Although we have 
implemented controls to protect privileged information, there can be no assurance that such controls will be 
effective. If our employees, third-party service providers or counterparties engage in misconduct or fail to 
follow appropriate security measures, the improper release or use of privileged information could result.

The improper use or disclosure of, or access to, our intellectual property or litigation or business strategy or 
those of our clients due to a cybersecurity breach, unauthorized use or theft could harm our competitive 
position, reduce the value of our capital provision assets and have a negative impact on our reputation or 
otherwise adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity. In 
addition, if the courts were to find that we have improperly used or disclosed privileged information, there 
could be significant adverse consequences for the litigant, and we could be subject to complaints or lawsuits 
for damages or regulatory action as a result.

The inaccuracy or failure of the probabilistic model and decision science tools, including AI 
technologies, we use to predict the returns on our legal finance assets and in our operations could have 
a material adverse effect on our business.

We use internally developed probabilistic modeling and other decision science tools in our operations, 
including AI technologies, to assist us in underwriting and pricing potential legal finance assets, evaluating 
the expected lifetime returns on our legal finance assets and managing capital and liquidity. At the time we 
enter into a contract to finance a legal finance asset, however, we are likely to have imperfect information 
about the litigation matter in question and the likely future outcome. In addition, our historical information 
about cases or portfolios of cases may not be indicative of the characteristics of subsequent cases or 
portfolios of cases within the same industry or with comparable other characteristics, and our internal 
databases and external statistical data may not be as extensive as needed for comprehensive decision 
science. We disclose aggregate calculations derived from our probabilistic modeling of individual matters and 
our portfolio as a whole. The inherent volatility and unpredictability of legal finance assets precludes 
forecasting and limits the predictive nature of our probabilistic model. Furthermore, the inherent nature of 
the probabilistic model is that actual results will differ from the modeled results, and such differences could 
be material. If the probabilistic model and decision science tools we use are inaccurate or fail, including to 
accurately evaluate and predict the returns on our legal finance assets, there could be a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity. See “—Developments in AI 
technologies could disrupt the markets in which we operate and subject us to increased competition, legal 
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and regulatory risks and compliance costs” for additional information with respect to various risks associated 
with our use of AI technologies in our operations.

The laws relating to privileged information are complex and continue to evolve, and any adverse court 
rulings, changes in law or other developments could impair our ability to conduct effective due 
diligence on potential legal finance assets.

To make informed financing decisions, we often need access to information beyond that which is publicly 
available about a litigation matter and regularly seek and obtain privileged information, which is information 
that is protected from disclosure due to the application of a legal privilege or other doctrine, including 
attorney work product, depending on the laws of the relevant jurisdiction. Such privileged information can 
lose its protection and become accessible to a litigation opponent if it is used publicly (a concept called 
“waiver”), which could have significant adverse consequences for the litigant. The laws relating to privileged 
information are complex and continue to evolve, and we could be adversely affected by court rulings, 
changes in law or other developments. If a court in a particular jurisdiction were to find that disclosure to 
legal finance providers effected a waiver of applicable legal privileges, our access to such privileged 
information could become constrained in that jurisdiction. Any significant limitations on our ability to access 
such privileged information could adversely affect our ability to conduct due diligence and make informed 
financing decisions with respect to certain legal finance assets.

The due diligence process that we undertake in connection with financing legal finance assets may not 
reveal all facts that may be relevant in connection with such financing.

Before offering to finance legal finance assets on specified economic and other terms, we conduct due 
diligence based on the facts and circumstances applicable to the matter that may be the subject of such 
financing. As part of our due diligence, we may be required to evaluate important and complex business, 
financial, tax, accounting, technological, environmental, social, governance, ethical, political, legal and 
regulatory issues. When conducting due diligence and making an assessment regarding financing a legal 
finance asset, we rely on the information available to us, including information provided by the parties 
involved in the case we intend to finance. We have no control over the accuracy or sufficiency of information 
received from such third parties and, in some cases, we have limited experience or no prior dealings with 
such third parties and are unable to assess their integrity.

The due diligence investigation that we carry out with respect to any financing opportunity may not reveal or 
highlight all relevant facts (including, among others, bribery, fraud or other illegal activities) or risks that 
would be helpful in evaluating such opportunity. Particularly where we finance a case that is at an early 
stage, such as before the conclusion of the fact discovery stage in a US litigation, we may have limited ability 
to ascertain the facts that may have a material impact on the outcome of the litigation. In addition, although 
we regularly perform factual and legal research beyond what is provided to us by our prospective 
counterparties, we may underestimate the importance of a legal or factual risk of financing an asset that 
ends up being conclusive. There are also material factors that contribute to the outcome of financing a legal 
finance asset that are impossible to research or predict at the outset, such as a judge’s or jury’s positive or 
negative disposition towards a particular party, witness or lawyer.

Further, we may not identify or foresee future developments that could have a material adverse effect on 
our returns on a legal finance asset, such as the credit risk from our counterparty or from a party in a case. 
For example, we may not uncover the risk associated with poor management of general finances or the 
litigation itself by a counterparty or other party, any insolvency risk or potential key-person risk from a 
counterparty or other party or a misalignment of economic incentives between us and a counterparty 
because of the economics of our financing and developments in the litigation. In addition, financial fraud or 
other deceptive practices, failures by personnel at our counterparties to comply with anti-bribery, trade or 
economic sanctions or other legal and regulatory requirements or our counterparties being or becoming 
subject to trade or economic sanctions could cause significant legal, reputational and business harm to us.

Poor returns on our legal finance assets due to shortcomings or failures in our due diligence process or 
unforeseen developments could adversely affect our reputation and could materially and adversely affect our 
business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

Investors will not have an opportunity to independently evaluate our legal finance assets.

We generally do not disclose details of our existing or prospective legal finance assets (including their 
valuations for accounting purposes) on an individual basis because of restrictions applicable to privileged 
information and other relevant restrictions. As a result, investors will not have an opportunity to evaluate our 
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legal finance assets and will be dependent upon our judgment and ability in selecting, managing and valuing 
our assets.

We are subject to credit risk relating to our various legal finance assets that could adversely affect 
our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

Prior to the conclusion of a litigation matter, we are subject to the risk that a claimant who is our 
counterparty, a party against whom our counterparty is making a claim, a law firm, an insurance company or 
another relevant party will encounter financial difficulties or become insolvent, which could delay or prevent 
the litigation matter from being resolved and could adversely affect our ability to earn a return on the 
relevant legal finance asset. On becoming contractually entitled to proceeds after the conclusion of a 
litigation matter, depending on the structure of the particular legal finance asset, we could be a creditor of, 
or otherwise subject to credit risk from, a claimant, a party against whom our counterparty is making a 
claim, a law firm, an insurance company or another relevant party. Moreover, we may be indirectly subject 
to credit risk to the extent a defendant does not pay a claimant immediately, notwithstanding successful 
adjudication of a claim in the claimant’s favor. If the defendant is unable or unwilling to pay or perform or if 
any of the parties challenges the judgment or award, we may encounter difficulties in collection. 
Furthermore, although we occasionally procure judgment preservation insurance to protect judgments and 
awards, such insurance policies may not provide full protection for several reasons, including because the 
circumstance of a loss was not covered by the insurance policy. Finally, in addition to the credit risk 
associated with individual parties to a litigation matter, losses due to the credit exposures inherent in our 
business could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

Our portfolio may be concentrated in cases likely to have correlated results, and we have a number of 
assets involving the same counterparty.

Our portfolio includes certain related exposures where we have financed multiple different counterparties in 
relation to the same or very similar claims, such that outcomes on these related exposures are likely to be 
correlated. We estimate that the fair value of the assets underlying our largest correlated exposure 
(excluding the YPF-related assets) represented approximately 6% and 8% of the consolidated fair value of 
capital provision assets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and approximately 5% and 7% of the 
capital provision assets in the Principal Finance segment as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. An 
adverse litigation outcome in respect of any of these individual claims may result in, or increase the 
likelihood of, losses on the other related claims. 

In addition, we have several assets involving the same counterparty. See “Management's discussion and 
analysis of financial condition and results of operations—Segments—Principal Finance segment—Portfolio 
concentrations” for information with respect to our portfolio concentrations with a law firm and a corporate 
client. Accordingly, although our direct financial exposure to such law firm and/or corporate client is limited 
to matters in which such law firm or corporate client, as applicable, is our counterparty, if such law firm or 
corporate client were to encounter financial difficulties, dissolve or suffer a substantial loss of personnel, 
there could be a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or 
liquidity. Furthermore, we may enter into legal finance arrangements and hold legal finance assets with law 
firms that provide advice on transactions for which we or one of our counterparties is an underlying claimant, 
which may increase our direct or indirect overall exposure to the underlying claim.

Our exposure to cases likely to have correlated results or counterparty concentration could lead to increased 
volatility and could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations 
and/or liquidity.

The lack of liquidity of our legal finance assets may adversely affect our business, financial condition, 
results of operations and/or liquidity.

Our legal finance assets typically require significant advances of capital with no guarantee of return or 
repayment. It may be difficult or impossible to find willing buyers for these assets at prices we believe are 
representative of their underlying value or at all. Volatility in markets also could negatively impact the 
liquidity of our legal finance assets. Illiquid assets typically experience greater price volatility as a ready 
market does not exist and therefore they can be more difficult to value. In addition, the prices prospective 
buyers are willing to pay for illiquid assets may be more subjective than the prices for more liquid assets. 
The illiquidity of legal finance assets also is exacerbated by the fact that third parties may be limited in their 
ability to value these assets because they cannot perform full legal due diligence on an underlying matter 
due to the limitations imposed by applicable legal privileges and protections. The illiquidity of our legal 
finance assets may make it difficult for us to sell such assets if the need or desire arises. If we are required 
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to liquidate all or a portion of our portfolio quickly, we may realize significantly less than the value at which 
we have previously recorded our legal finance assets in our consolidated financial statements. As a result, 
our ability to change the makeup of our portfolio of legal finance assets in response to changes in economic 
and other conditions may be relatively limited, which could adversely affect our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

We have commitments in excess of our available capital.

We typically have commitments to finance legal finance assets that exceed our available capital. We seek to 
manage our available capital and our portfolio to minimize the risk of a mismatch between the timing of 
when our commitments will be drawn and available cash, and many of our capital provision agreements set 
forth timetables for draws or structure draws with reference to case events, which provides us with some 
control over the timing and amounts of capital we provide in respect of our commitments. However, as we 
do not control the timing of developments in the matters that we finance, it is possible that such a mismatch 
will occur, in which case we would need either to raise additional capital (which could include the potential 
sale of an interest in one or more of our existing legal finance assets) or to decline to meet a commitment. 
There can be no assurance that we will be able to raise capital on reasonable terms or at all, and our 
inability to do so could cause damage to our business and the potential loss of business and financial 
relationships. A failure by us to deploy capital on our definitive commitments may result in adverse 
consequences to our business such as a loss of entitlement to any returns with respect to such definitive 
commitments, a loss of capital we have already deployed or a claim by a counterparty for damages. Some of 
our private funds also have commitments in excess of capital available and, accordingly, have some of the 
foregoing risks.

Changes in market conditions may negatively impact our ability to obtain attractive external capital 
or to refinance our outstanding indebtedness and may increase the cost of such financing or refinancing 
if it is obtained.

Our strategy includes raising external capital to finance the growth of our business. If market conditions were 
to restrict our access to external capital, our growth prospects could be adversely affected, especially if 
cases resolve at a significantly slower than expected pace or if we are unable to attract new business due to 
the market conditions. In addition, to the extent that conditions in the credit markets impair our ability to 
refinance or extend maturities on our outstanding indebtedness, either on favorable terms or at all, our 
performance may be negatively impacted and may result in our inability to repay debt at maturity or pay 
interest when due. Any of the above factors, individually or in the aggregate, could adversely affect our 
growth prospects, business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

We face substantial competition for opportunities with respect to legal finance assets, which could 
delay commitment and/or deployment of our capital, reduce returns and result in losses.

Competition for attractive opportunities with respect to legal finance assets may affect our ability to finance 
on terms that we consider attractive. We compete to finance assets primarily with pure-play legal finance 
companies and multi-strategy firms that engage in legal finance as one of many investment strategies. Our 
competitors may have advantages relative to us that could include access to financial resources, technical 
capabilities, relationships, lower cost of capital, access to financing sources unavailable to us, smaller and 
more flexible businesses or alternative financial arrangements that are more effective or less susceptible to 
challenges than ours. Developments in and adoption of big data analytics and AI technologies by our 
competitors may negatively affect our returns if their technical capabilities outpace our own. In addition, 
some of our competitors may have higher risk tolerances, lower return expectations or different risk 
assessments than we have. Any of these factors could allow our competitors to consider a wider variety of 
legal finance assets, establish more relationships, offer better pricing and/or provide more flexible 
transaction structures. In addition to the pure-play legal finance companies and multi-strategy firms that 
engage in legal finance, we may also face competition from smaller industry participants or law firms using 
alternative financing models, insurance companies that may offer products to claimants and their counsel, as 
well as market entrants that have a regional-, industry- or specific claims-based approach and may offer 
more competitive terms or more tailored approaches. Furthermore, our ability to compete effectively in our 
businesses will depend on our ability to attract new qualified personnel and consultants and retain and 
motivate our existing personnel and consultants. We may lose financing opportunities if we do not match our 
competitors’ pricing, terms, structure and/or quality of service. If we are forced to match our competitors’ 
pricing, terms, structure and/or quality of service to commit and/or deploy our capital, we may not be able 
to achieve acceptable returns on our legal finance assets or may bear substantial risk of capital loss.  
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If lawyers who prosecute and/or defend claims which we have financed fail to exercise due skill and 
care, or the interests of their clients do not align with ours, there may be a material adverse effect on 
the value of our legal finance assets.

We are particularly reliant on lawyers to prosecute and/or defend claims which we have financed with due 
skill and care. If they are unable or unwilling to do this for any reason, it is likely to have a material adverse 
effect on the value of our legal finance assets. We typically evaluate the lawyers involved in any legal 
finance asset we underwrite, but we do not select such lawyers and/or we may have limited or no experience 
with such lawyers, and there can be no assurance that the outcome of a case will be in line with our or the 
lawyers’ assessment of the case or that such lawyers will perform with the expected skill and care. As a 
matter of legal ethics, in most jurisdictions, we are also unable to prevent our counterparties from 
discharging the lawyers who were originally in place in a case and replacing them with lawyers who may be 
less capable.

In addition, lawyers owe a duty to their clients as well as an overriding duty to the courts. We generally do 
not own or control a claim that we have financed and, as a result, we will not be the client of the law firm 
representing the claimant in a case that is the subject of our commitment or financing. Accordingly, that law 
firm may be required to act in accordance with its client’s instructions and interests rather than our own. If 
the interests of the claimants in the cases we have financed are not aligned with ours, the actions of the 
lawyers representing such claimants could have a material adverse effect on the value of our legal finance 
assets and, therefore, our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

We may not earn asset management fees and/or performance fees from our private funds.

Our income from our asset management business derives from fees earned from our management of our 
private funds and performance fees or carried interest with respect to those private funds. If the 
commitments we make on behalf of our private funds perform poorly, we may not earn performance fees. 
Further, if a private fund does not achieve certain returns over its life and carried interest that was 
previously distributed to us exceeds the amounts to which we are ultimately entitled, we may be required to 
repay such amounts under a “clawback” obligation. Moreover, to the extent we have deployed capital from 
our balance sheet in our private funds, we could experience losses on our own principal as a result of poor 
performance by our private funds or individual assets.

In addition, the asset management business is highly competitive and, if investors determine that our product 
offerings are not attractive or if the commitments we make on behalf of our private funds perform poorly, 
we may have difficulty securing additional investments in our existing private funds in the future. In order to 
attract capital, we may be required to structure investments for our private funds on terms that are less 
favorable to us or otherwise different from the terms that we have been able to obtain in the past. These 
risks could occur for reasons beyond our control, including general economic or market conditions, regulatory 
changes or increased competition. Our inability to maintain our asset management business could deter 
future investments in our private funds or cause investors to demand lower fees, resulting in a decrease in 
AUM, management fees and/or performance fees, in which case our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and/or liquidity may be adversely affected. 

A significant portion of our AUM is attributable to private funds with a single investor.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, BOF-C and one of our “sidecar” funds, both funds with a single investor 
which is a sovereign wealth fund, represented approximately 31% and 30%, respectively, of our AUM. While 
the sovereign wealth fund is contractually obligated to advance capital on its commitments to such private 
funds, if it fails to do so we will no longer have access to this capital and our cash flows from these private 
funds will decline. This could result in our inability to meet a commitment, which in turn could cause damage 
and potential loss to our business and financial relationships. See “—We have commitments in excess of our 
available capital”. 

Negative publicity or public perception of the legal finance industry or us could adversely affect our 
reputation, business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

Negative publicity about the legal finance industry in general or us specifically, even if inaccurate, could 
adversely affect our reputation and the confidence in our business model. For example, there is regular 
negative political and media activity in the United States with respect to the US consumer litigation finance 
industry. Although we do not participate in the US consumer litigation finance industry, negative publicity 
about that industry could adversely affect the public perception of the commercial legal finance industry or 
lead to overly broad regulation of legal finance in general. See “—Risks relating to regulation—The laws, 

19



regulations and rules relating to legal finance are evolving and may be uncertain, which may have negative 
consequences for the value or enforcement of our contractual agreements with our counterparties, our 
ability to do business in certain jurisdictions or our cost of doing business” for additional information with 
respect to the risks relating to regulation.

Failure to protect our reputation and brand in the face of negative publicity and ethical, legal or moral 
challenges could lead to a loss of trust and confidence. There are various factors that may cause litigants, 
law firms and other actual and potential clients to be more reluctant to pursue external financing, such as 
stories in online, print and broadcast media about us or the legal finance industry, including real or perceived 
abusive practices or regulatory investigations or enforcement actions in the legal finance industry. Online 
articles, blogs and social media posts may lead to the increasingly rapid dissemination of a story and increase 
our exposure to negative publicity. Alternatively, our employees may knowingly or inadvertently damage our 
reputation or our brand by using digital or social media platforms in ways that may not be aligned with our 
digital or social media strategy. Negative publicity relating to legal or regulatory violations by any of the 
third parties we engage, or negative publicity relating to the kind of matters we pursue, could also result in 
reputational damage. Our success in maintaining and enhancing our reputation and brand depends on our 
ability to adapt to this rapidly changing media environment. Adverse publicity or negative commentary from 
any media outlets could damage our reputation, require us to expend substantial resources to remedy the 
damage or reduce the demand for our products and services, any of which could adversely affect our 
business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

Negative publicity could jeopardize our relationships with existing clients, our ability to establish new 
relationships or our attractiveness to clients generally. Any of the foregoing could impact our ability to 
advance capital on our commitments, pursue our legal rights or collect amounts due to us and may materially 
and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

We report our capital provision assets at fair value, which may result in us recognizing non-cash 
income that may never be realized.

Our capital provision assets are classified as financial instruments and are accounted for at fair value in the 
consolidated statements of operations in accordance with US GAAP. See note 2 (Summary of significant 
accounting policies—Fair value of financial instruments), note 5 (Capital provision assets) and note 14 (Fair 
value of assets and liabilities) to our consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K and 
“Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations—Results of operations 
and financial condition—Fair value of capital provision assets” for additional information with respect to our 
valuation policy and fair value of our capital provision assets. In addition to using a discounted cash flow 
model that can be sensitive to changes in interest rates, duration and other traditional valuation factors, the 
valuation policy assigns an updated risk adjustment, in prescribed percentages, to the forecasted cash 
inflows based on the type of case (e.g., commercial litigation or patent), geography and case milestone. As a 
result, when there is an objective event in the underlying litigation that would cause a change in fair value, 
we reflect the positive or negative impact of such objective event through a fair value adjustment. Due to 
the illiquid nature of our capital provision assets, there is inherent valuation uncertainty in the assessment of 
fair value, and our valuation methodologies require us to make significant and complex judgments about 
legal and other matters that are intrinsically difficult to predict. As such, there is a risk that a case 
underlying one of our capital provision assets could experience a negative event even after a positive event 
that had previously resulted in a fair value adjustment in accordance with our valuation policy. This later 
event, in turn, could lower the value of such capital provision asset in our consolidated statements of 
financial condition and negatively impact related fair value adjustments recognized in our consolidated 
statements of operations in future periods.

Certain of our individual assets represent a significant portion of the fair value of our capital provision assets. 
We have one set of exposures on the YPF-related assets that accounted for approximately 42% and 41% of the 
fair value of our capital provision assets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The fair value of 
the YPF-related assets (both Petersen and Eton Park combined) on our consolidated statements of financial 
condition was $2.2 billion and $2.1 billion as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, with unrealized 
gains of $2.1 billion and $2.0 billion as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. See “Management's 
discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations—Results of operations and financial 
condition—Fair value of capital provision assets—Fair value of YPF-related assets” for additional information 
with respect to the YPF-related assets. 
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Accordingly, the application of fair value accounting to our capital provision assets may result in us 
recognizing non-cash income that may never be realized, which could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

Legal, political and economic uncertainty surrounding the effects, severity and duration of public 
health threats could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or 
liquidity.

Legal, political and economic uncertainty surrounding the effects, severity and duration of public health 
threats could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity. For 
example, the Covid-19 pandemic adversely affected the global economy, disrupted global supply chains and 
created significant volatility in the financial markets. In addition, the Covid-19 pandemic disrupted the 
operation of courts around the world, causing delays in, and elongation of the life of, a number of our 
existing matters and slowdowns in new litigation activity. In turn, this resulted in lower cash proceeds from 
litigation resolutions in affected periods as courts around the world worked through these issues.

In addition, in a period of constrained liquidity, litigation opponents may be less willing to settle litigation 
matters, extending the duration of our legal finance assets and therefore restricting our ability to recycle 
capital. There is also an increased risk that litigation opponents may encounter financial difficulties or 
become insolvent, which could impact the timing and quantum of realizations on our legal finance assets. To 
the extent that litigation opponents in our legal finance assets do become insolvent, the impact of their 
insolvency on pending litigation is difficult to predict as it is not only case specific but dependent on the 
insolvency process in the relevant jurisdiction. Our expected realizations may be delayed and could be 
reduced during the restructuring or liquidation process.

The counterparties to whom we provide capital may also encounter financial difficulties or become insolvent 
in a period of constrained liquidity. We typically provide capital to our counterparties on a non-recourse basis 
and receive a return only upon the successful conclusion of a claim. If our counterparties encounter financial 
difficulties or become insolvent before the final resolution of their claims and are otherwise unable or 
unwilling to continue with their claims, we may decide to advance additional capital to them on terms that 
are less favorable to us. If we decide not to advance additional capital to such counterparties, it is possible 
that they will not be able to pursue their claims and we may therefore not earn any returns from such 
counterparties. 

While it is not possible to ascertain the precise impact that public health threats may have on us from an 
economic, financial or regulatory perspective, individually or in the aggregate, public health threats could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

Developments in AI technologies could disrupt the markets in which we operate and subject us to 
increased competition, legal and regulatory risks and compliance costs.

In the legal finance industry as in other industries, developments in AI technologies are rapidly evolving and 
uncertain in relation to their current and potential future applications, cybersecurity and privacy and data 
protection and the legal and regulatory frameworks within which they operate. The use of AI technologies in 
the legal finance industry business remains in its infancy, though we believe that ongoing development could 
continue to grow in benefit for our business, including by augmenting and enhancing our origination and 
underwriting. The legal industry in general and our business in particular have made increasing use of 
technological innovations over the past decade. We believe that we are well positioned relative to current 
market players or potential market entrants in the use of AI technologies in legal finance given our extensive 
database of dispute economics and outcomes. However, as AI technologies become further integrated into 
our business, the full extent of current or future risks related to AI technologies cannot be predicted. AI 
technologies could significantly disrupt the markets in which we operate and subject us to increased 
competition, legal and regulatory risks, reputational harm and compliance costs, which could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

We intend to avail ourselves of the potential benefits, insights and efficiencies offered by the use of AI 
technologies, which present possible risks that cannot be fully mitigated. Data in models that AI technologies 
utilize may contain a degree of inaccuracy and error, which could result in flawed algorithms. This could 
reduce the effectiveness of AI technologies and adversely impact us and our operations to the extent we rely 
on the work product of such AI technologies in such operations. As is the case with any tool with which we 
share our data, there is also a risk that AI technologies may be misused or misappropriated by our employees 
and/or third parties engaged by us. For example, a user may input confidential information, including 
material nonpublic information or personally identifiable information, into AI technology applications, 
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resulting in such information becoming part of a dataset that is accessible by third-party AI technology 
applications and users, including our competitors. Such actions could subject us to legal and regulatory 
investigations and/or actions. Furthermore, we may not be able to control how third-party AI technologies 
that we choose to use are developed or maintained or how data we input is used or disclosed, even where we 
have sought contractual protections with respect to these matters. The misuse or misappropriation of our 
data could have an adverse impact on our reputation and could subject us to legal and regulatory 
investigations and/or actions. In addition, should we communicate externally our development and use of AI 
technologies, we risk being accused of making inaccurate or misleading statements regarding our ability to 
avail ourselves of the potential benefits of AI technologies.

Regulations related to AI technologies may also impose on us certain obligations and costs related to 
monitoring and compliance. For example, in April 2023, the Federal Trade Commission, the US Department of 
Justice, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau and the US Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 
released a joint statement on AI technologies demonstrating interest in monitoring the development and use 
of automated systems and enforcement of their respective laws and regulations. In October 2023, then-
President Biden signed an executive order that established new standards for AI safety and security. In 
addition to the regulatory framework in the United States, the European Union is in the process of 
introducing a new regulation applicable to certain AI technologies and the data used to train, test and deploy 
them, which, if enacted, could impose significant requirements on both the providers and deployers of AI 
technologies.

Expectations relating to ESG considerations could expose us to potential liabilities, increased costs 
and reputational harm and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations 
and/or liquidity.

Companies across industries face increasing scrutiny from clients, regulators, investors and other 
stakeholders related to their ESG practices and disclosures, and governments and regulators as well as 
investor advocacy groups, investment funds and influential investors are also increasingly focused on these 
issues, especially as they relate to the environment, health and safety, diversity, equity, inclusion, labor 
conditions and human and civil rights. Further, there is increased public awareness and concern regarding 
global climate change. As a result, our ESG practices or disclosure or the ESG practices or disclosure of any 
parties to whom we provide capital may be damaging to our business. In addition, increasing governmental 
and societal attention to ESG matters, including expanding mandatory and voluntary reporting, and 
disclosure topics such as climate change, sustainability, natural resources, waste reduction, energy, human 
capital and risk oversight, could expand the nature, scope and complexity of matters that we are required to 
control, assess and report. There are also increasingly competing views about these areas in different 
jurisdictions and it may prove to be difficult or impossible to reconcile those views in a way that is 
satisfactory to all stakeholders. Any failure or perceived failure to adhere to our public statements, comply 
with ESG laws and regulations or meet evolving and varied stakeholder expectations and standards could 
result in sales of our securities and declines in their market price, which could impact our ability to access 
capital markets and could in turn have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results 
of operations and/or liquidity.

There are inherent uncertainties involved in estimates, judgments and assumptions used in the 
preparation of our consolidated financial statements. 

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates, judgments and 
assumptions that affect the application of policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income 
and expenses. Estimates, judgments and assumptions are inherently subject to change in the future, and any 
such changes in these estimates, judgments or assumptions, including any changes due to modifications of 
accounting principles and guidance or their interpretation, could result in corresponding changes to the 
amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses and therefore unfavorable accounting charges or 
effects. Any errors or misstatements in our consolidated financial statements could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

Our past performance may not be indicative of our future results of operations.

Our past performance should not be considered indicative of our future results of operations. Our past 
returns have benefited from financing opportunities and general market conditions that may not continue or 
recur, and there can be no assurance that we or our private funds will be able to avail ourselves of 
comparable conditions. As the legal finance market matures, we may be subject to increased competition for 
talent and financing opportunities, and we may face new regulations in various jurisdictions. There can be no 
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assurance that any of the current or future legal finance assets will eventually be successful. Failure to 
achieve results of operations consistent with our historical performance could have a material adverse effect 
on our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

Litigation and legal proceedings against us could adversely impact our business, financial condition, 
results of operations and/or liquidity.

We are regularly subject to litigation and arbitration incidental to our business, including tactical litigation 
against us in the context of an ongoing legal finance asset. The types of claims made against us in lawsuits 
include claims for compensatory damages, punitive and consequential damages or injunctive relief. When we 
finance cases against sovereigns, there is the further risk of retaliatory criminal investigation or prosecution, 
and we have been the subject of such actions in the past. In general, purported securities class action 
litigation has been instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the overall market and in 
the price of a company’s securities, and we have previously been the subject of one purported class action 
litigation of this nature. Although that litigation was withdrawn, we may be subject to similar litigation in 
the future, which may divert management’s attention and cause us to incur significant expenses defending 
these lawsuits, even if they are unsuccessful. Any insurance or indemnification rights we have may be 
insufficient or unavailable to protect us against losses. Any of these developments could materially adversely 
affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

Our success depends substantially on the continued retention of certain key personnel and our ability 
to hire and retain qualified personnel in the future to support our growth and execute our business 
strategies.

Our performance largely depends upon the judgment and abilities of our management, including, in 
particular, our co-founders, Chief Executive Officer Christopher Bogart and Chief Investment Officer 
Jonathan Molot. We also rely on other key personnel, including the members of the Management Committee 
and the Commitments Committee. Our success is therefore contingent upon our ability to retain certain 
members of our management and other key personnel and to compensate them appropriately and 
competitively relative to the major law firms from which they have typically come and the potential 
pressures on such compensation levels from the public markets. The death, incapacity or loss of service of 
any of our management or other key personnel could have a material adverse impact on our business. In 
addition, our performance may be limited by our ability to employ and retain sufficiently qualified personnel 
and consultants. Such a failure to retain qualified personnel or consultants or recruit suitable replacements 
for significant numbers of qualified personnel or consultants could materially adversely affect our business 
and growth prospects.

Our international operations subject us to increased risks.

We operate internationally and, accordingly, our business is subject to risks resulting from differing legal and 
regulatory requirements, political, social and economic conditions and unforeseeable developments in a 
variety of jurisdictions. Our non-US operations are subject to the following risks, among others:

▪ Political instability

▪ International hostilities, military actions (including the Ukraine War and the conflict in Israel and 
Gaza), international terrorist or cyber-terrorist activities and infrastructure disruptions

▪ Differing economic cycles and adverse economic conditions

▪ Unexpected changes in regulatory and tax environments and government interference in the economy

▪ Changes to trade and economic sanctions laws and regulations

▪ Foreign exchange controls and restrictions on repatriation of capital

▪ Fluctuations in currency exchange rates

▪ Inability to collect payments or seek recourse under, or comply with, ambiguous or vague commercial 
or other laws

▪ Difficulties in attracting and retaining qualified management and/or personnel

▪ Difficulties in penetrating new markets due to entrenched competitors or lack of local acceptance of 
our services
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Our overall success as a global business depends, in part, on our ability to anticipate and effectively manage 
these risks, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to do so without incurring unexpected costs. 
If we are not able to manage the risks related to our non-US operations, our business, financial condition, 
results of operations and/or liquidity may be materially adversely affected.

The change in the US government to the Trump administration has resulted in uncertainty regarding potential 
changes in regulations, fiscal policy, social programs, domestic and foreign relations and international trade 
policies. Further, anti-American sentiment could harm the reputation and success of US companies doing 
business abroad. Our ability to respond to these developments or comply with any resulting new legal or 
regulatory requirements, including those involving economic sanctions, could increase our costs of doing 
business, reduce our financial flexibility and otherwise have material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

We may face exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations and may hold unhedged 
securities positions.

One of our five series of debt securities outstanding as of the date of this 2024 Form 10-K is denominated in 
pound sterling, and some of our legal finance contracts and intercompany loans are denominated in local 
currencies. Fluctuations in the value of the US dollar and foreign currencies, particularly pound sterling, may 
affect our results of operations when translated into US dollars. We do not currently engage in any currency-
hedging activities to seek to limit the risk of exchange rate fluctuations. However, in the future, we may use 
derivative instruments, such as foreign currency forward and option contracts, to seek to hedge certain 
exposures to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. The use of such hedging activities may not 
offset any or more than a portion of the adverse financial effects of unfavorable movements in foreign 
exchange rates over the limited time the hedges are in place. Moreover, the use of hedging instruments may 
introduce additional risks if we are unable to structure effective hedges.

In addition, we may from time to time take substantial positions in the securities of companies that are 
subject to a corporate or regulatory event or to litigation. While we may seek to hedge these positions, 
appropriate hedging may not be available at a cost we consider reasonable or at all. If the value of the 
underlying securities was to decline, we would experience losses, which may have a materially adverse effect 
on our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

The tax treatment of our financing arrangements is subject to significant uncertainty.

We structure our financings on a case-by-case basis in consultation with our professional advisers and seek to 
comply with applicable law. However, there is limited authority and significant uncertainty regarding the tax 
treatment of legal finance and/or the structures through which we provide our financings in the applicable 
taxing jurisdictions in which they are made. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that an applicable taxing 
authority will accept our position on the tax treatment of a particular financing arrangement or the 
structures we employ. If an applicable tax authority was to successfully maintain a different position, the 
value of our assets could be adversely affected, we could be subject to additional tax liability or both. In 
addition, tax laws and regulations are under constant development and often subject to change as a result of 
government policy or case law developments, frequently with retroactive effect, and such changes in 
applicable tax laws could adversely affect the taxation of us or our assets. 

Changes in tax laws and regulations or unanticipated tax liabilities could affect our effective tax rate, 
business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

The global nature of our business operations and counterparties subjects us to taxation in the United States 
and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Due to economic and political conditions, tax rates in various 
jurisdictions may be subject to significant change. Our future effective tax rates could be affected by 
changes in the mix of earnings in countries with differing statutory tax rates, changes in the valuation of 
deferred tax assets and liabilities or changes in tax laws and regulations or their interpretation.

The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (the “OECD”) has introduced a framework to 
implement a global minimum tax of 15% for certain multinational companies (referred to as “Pillar Two”). 
During the course of the year ended December 31, 2024, Guernsey and certain countries in which we 
historically report a portion of our earnings have enacted tax legislation consistent with the Pillar Two 
mandate. Pillar Two taxes are considered an alternative minimum tax accounted for as a period cost that will 
impact the effective tax rate in the year the Pillar Two tax obligation arises. Therefore, deferred taxes will 
not be recognized or adjusted for the estimated effects of future minimum taxes. Importantly, Pillar Two tax 
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obligation only arises as of the tax year following a period after a multinational enterprise has earned annual 
consolidated revenues of at least €750 million in at least two out of the prior four accounting periods.

Based on our annual consolidated total revenues over the past several years, we are not subject to the Pillar 
Two mandate as of the date of this 2024 Form 10-K. Notwithstanding this fact, we have assessed the 
potential impact of Pillar Two based on laws enacted as of the date of this 2024 Form 10-K, and there was no 
material effect on our current effective tax rate, business, financial condition, results of operations and/or 
liquidity for the year ended December 31, 2024. In addition, based on this assessment and the prospective 
nature of the effective date of the application of the Pillar Two rules, we also do not currently anticipate any 
material effect on our effective tax rate, business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity 
for the year ending December 31, 2025. Our analysis and monitoring of the Pillar Two mandate is ongoing as 
the OECD continues to release additional guidance and countries continue to enact and implement 
legislation. To the extent additional legislative changes take place in the countries in which we currently 
operate or report earnings, it is possible that these changes may result in an adverse impact on our future 
overall effective tax rate, business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

Risks relating to regulation 

The regulatory and legal requirements that apply to our business and operations are subject to periodic 
change and may become more restrictive, which may make compliance with applicable requirements more 
difficult, expensive or otherwise restrict our ability to conduct our business and operations as they are now 
conducted. Changes in applicable regulatory and legal requirements, including changes in their enforcement, 
could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity. 
As a matter of public policy, the regulatory bodies that regulate our business and operations are generally 
responsible for safeguarding the integrity of the securities and financial markets and protecting private fund 
investors who participate in those markets rather than protecting the interests of our shareholders.

The laws, regulations and rules relating to legal finance are evolving and may be uncertain, which may 
have negative consequences for the value or enforcement of our contractual agreements with our 
counterparties, our ability to do business in certain jurisdictions or our cost of doing business.

The laws, regulations and rules pertaining to the acquisition of or taking of a financial position or a 
commercial interest in legal claims and defenses is evolving and can be complex and uncertain in the United 
States and elsewhere. Our legal finance assets could be open to challenge, reduced in value or extinguished 
following changes in laws, rules or regulations. In various jurisdictions, there are prohibitions or restrictions 
in connection with financing claims (known in many common law jurisdictions as maintenance, and a form of 
maintenance, called champerty) or the assignment of, or other economic participation in, legal claims. For 
example, in the State of New York, Judiciary Law § 489 prohibits the assignment of a legal claim in certain 
circumstances, and certain other jurisdictions have similar laws. In the State of New York, the relevant case 
law provides as of the date of this 2024 Form 10-K that the contracts underlying our legal finance assets are 
valid. However, such case law may be overruled or the statutory and other laws in the State of New York or 
other jurisdictions could be amended to include additional prohibitions or restrictions, which may adversely 
affect our business. The ability to participate financially in a lawyer’s fees is also limited in certain 
jurisdictions (including by ethical rules prohibiting a lawyer from sharing fees with non-lawyers). Such 
prohibitions and restrictions are governed by the laws, regulations and rules of each relevant jurisdiction and 
vary in degrees of strength and enforcement in different state, federal or non-US jurisdictions. This is a 
complex issue that involves both substantive law and choice of law principles. However, in many 
jurisdictions, the relevant issues may not have been considered by the courts or addressed by statute, and 
thus obtaining legal advice or clarity is difficult. If we, our counterparties or the lawyers handling the 
matters underlying our legal finance assets were to be found to have violated prohibitions or restrictions in 
connection with these matters, there could be a materially adverse effect on the value of the affected legal 
finance assets, our ability to enforce the relevant contractual agreements with our counterparties and our 
recoveries from such matters, including our costs.

In addition, politicians, advocacy groups and media reports have, in the past, advocated action to restrict 
legal finance. Some jurisdictions have enacted or are considering enacting laws, regulations or rules requiring 
the disclosure of litigation financing or other non-prohibitory regulation. Such laws, regulations or rules or 
other future laws, regulations or rules may deter parties from engaging us, result in a reduction in the overall 
number of potential legal finance assets and/or adversely affect the value of legal finance assets already in 
existence in such jurisdictions.

25



The laws, regulations, rules and supervisory guidance and policies applicable to our business activities are 
subject to regular modification and change, including by institutions such as US state and federal 
legislatures, bar associations, courts and other US and non-US legislative, regulatory, judicial or advisory 
bodies. For example, in the United States, legislation has been introduced in the US Congress in multiple 
sessions that would require litigants to “produce for inspection and copying” any legal financing agreements 
creating contingent rights to payment in class actions and multidistrict litigations. Such legislation has not 
received consideration beyond introduction, but we expect that the same or similar legislation will be 
introduced again in the future. In addition, similar legislation is introduced in various US state legislatures 
from time to time. In addition, some newer entrants to the market, such as Singapore and Hong Kong, have 
also enacted regulatory regimes largely focused on capital adequacy and constraining abusive behavior. 
Further, recent case law in the United Kingdom held that certain litigation financing arrangements where the 
litigation finance provider is entitled to a percentage of any damages recovered are unenforceable if they do 
not comply with relevant legal requirements. 

Changes to laws, regulations or rules, including changes in interpretation or implementation of laws, 
regulations or rules, could affect us in substantial and unpredictable ways. Such changes could subject us to 
additional costs, delay new financing arrangements, limit the quantity and size of our financing 
arrangements, limit the types of products and services we may offer or our financing opportunities, decrease 
returns on our legal finance or other assets and allow certain clients to void our contracts with them. Any of 
these developments may have a materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and/or liquidity.

Our asset management business is highly regulated, and changes in regulation or regulatory violations 
could adversely affect our business.

Our asset management business is highly regulated, and the applicable regulations are subject to change. 
Compliance with these regulations requires a significant investment of management and financial resources, 
and any liability imposed on us for violations of existing or future regulations could adversely affect our asset 
management business. The SEC regulates our investment management activities and is empowered to 
conduct investigations and administrative proceedings that can potentially result in fines, suspensions of 
personnel, changes in policies, procedures or disclosure or other sanctions, including censure, the issuance of 
cease-and-desist orders, the suspension or expulsion of an investment adviser from registration or 
memberships or the commencement of a civil or criminal lawsuit against us or our personnel. Any SEC actions 
or initiatives against us could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and/or liquidity. Regardless of whether an investigation or proceeding resulted in a sanction or of 
the monetary size of any sanction imposed against us or our personnel, the adverse publicity relating to the 
investigation, proceeding or imposition of these sanctions could harm our reputation.

The SEC adopted amendments to existing rules under the Investment Advisers Act that will impact our asset 
management business. The first amended rule relates to the Form PF, which is a regulatory filing made to the 
SEC by investment advisers to private funds. The second amended rule imposes several new privacy-related 
protections for consumers of financial institutions, which includes investment advisers. In addition, the US 
Department of Treasury’s Financial Crimes Enforcement Network adopted a final rule that will require 
investment advisers to implement an anti-money laundering program. The amended rules will likely require 
investment of additional management and financial resources and otherwise have an impact on our asset 
management business, which may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and/or liquidity.

We are subject to the risk of being deemed an investment company.

If we were deemed an “investment company” under the US Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended 
(the “Investment Company Act”), applicable restrictions could make it impractical for us to continue our 
business as contemplated and could have a material adverse effect on our business. An entity will generally 
be deemed to be an “investment company” for purposes of the Investment Company Act if (i) it is or holds 
itself out as being engaged primarily, or proposes to engage primarily, in the business of investing, 
reinvesting or trading in securities (frequently referred to as an “orthodox” investment company) or (ii) 
absent an applicable exemption, it owns or proposes to acquire investment securities having a value 
exceeding 40% of the value of its total assets (exclusive of US government securities and cash items) on an 
unconsolidated basis (frequently referred to as an “inadvertent” investment company). Excluded from the 
term “investment securities”, among others, are US federal government securities and securities issued by 
majority-owned subsidiaries that are not themselves investment companies and are not relying on the 
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exception from the definition of investment company set forth in Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)(7) of the 
Investment Company Act.

We are and hold ourselves out as a leading global finance and asset management firm focused on law. We 
believe that, even if our legal finance assets were to be determined to constitute investment securities for 
purposes of the Investment Company Act, we should be exempt from registration as an investment company 
under Section 3(c)(5) of the Investment Company Act. Section 3(c)(5) of the Investment Company Act 
excludes from the definition of investment company “[a]ny person who is not engaged in the business of 
issuing redeemable securities, face-amount certificates of the installment type or periodic payment plan 
certificates, and who is primarily engaged in one or more of the following businesses: (A) [p]urchasing or 
otherwise acquiring notes, drafts, acceptances, open accounts receivable, and other obligations representing 
part or all of the sales price of merchandise, insurance, and services or (B) making loans to manufacturers, 
wholesalers, and retailers of, and to prospective purchasers of, specified merchandise, insurance, and 
services”. We and our subsidiaries that conduct our legal finance business are not in the business of issuing 
redeemable securities, face-amount certificates of the installment type or periodic payment plan certificates 
and are primarily engaged in the business of legal finance by way of financing and acquiring notes evidencing 
financing, for purposes of the Investment Company Act, to parties engaged in litigation or arbitration and 
their law firms. The purpose of such financing is to provide the counterparties with the capital necessary to 
finance the costs associated with litigation.

The Investment Company Act and the rules thereunder contain detailed parameters for the organization and 
operation of investment companies. Among others, the Investment Company Act and the rules thereunder 
limit or prohibit transactions with affiliates, impose limitations on the issuance of debt and equity securities, 
generally prohibit the issuance of options and impose certain governance requirements. We conduct our 
operations so that we will not be deemed an investment company under the Investment Company Act, which 
requires us to conduct our business in a manner that does not subject us to the registration and other 
requirements of the Investment Company Act. If we are deemed to be an investment company under the 
Investment Company Act, requirements imposed by the Investment Company Act, including limitations on our 
capital structure, ability to transact business with affiliates and ability to compensate key employees, could 
make it impractical for us to continue our business as currently conducted, impair the agreements and 
arrangements between and among us and our clients and materially adversely affect our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

Risks relating to cybersecurity, third-party service providers, information systems and data privacy and 
protection

Cybersecurity risks could result in the loss of data, interruptions in our business or damage to our 
reputation and subject us to regulatory actions, increased costs and financial losses, any of which 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or 
liquidity.

Our information systems may fail to operate properly or become disabled as a result of tampering or a breach 
of our network security systems or otherwise, or as a result of tampering or a breach of our third parties’ 
network security systems. In addition, our information systems and those of our third parties face ongoing 
cybersecurity threats and cyberattacks. Cyberattacks on our information systems and those of our third 
parties could involve, and in the past have involved, attempts to obtain unauthorized access to our 
proprietary information, destroy data or disable, degrade or sabotage our systems, or divert or otherwise 
steal funds, including through the introduction of computer viruses, “phishing” attempts and other forms of 
social engineering. Cyberattacks and other security threats could originate from a wide variety of external 
sources, including cyber criminals, nation state hackers, hacktivists and other outside parties. Cyberattacks 
and other security threats could also originate from the malicious or accidental acts of insiders, such as 
employees. In addition, there is an increased risk that we may experience cybersecurity-related incidents as 
a result of our employees, third-party service providers or other third parties working remotely on less secure 
systems and environments. Recent developments in the threat landscape that have heightened cybersecurity 
risk include use of AI technologies, as well as an increased number of cyber extortion and ransomware 
attacks, with higher financial ransom demand amounts and increasing sophistication and variety of 
ransomware techniques and methodology. Increasing socioeconomic and political instability in some countries 
has further heightened these risks. Retaliatory acts by foreign governments in response to Western sanctions 
could include cyberattacks that could directly or indirectly impact our business. We face increased frequency 
and sophistication of cybersecurity threats, with cyberattacks ranging from those common to businesses 
generally to those that are more advanced and persistent and that may target us and our third parties 
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because we hold significant privileged information about our legal finance assets. As a result, we and our 
third parties may face a heightened risk of a cybersecurity incident or disruption with respect to such 
privileged information. While we take significant efforts to protect our information systems and information, 
including establishing internal processes and implementing technological measures designed to provide 
multiple layers of security, our safety and security measures might be insufficient to prevent damage to, or 
interruption or breach of, our information systems, data (including personal data), and operations, especially 
because cyberattack techniques change frequently or are not recognized until successful. If our systems or 
those of our third parties are compromised, do not operate properly or are disabled, or if we fail to provide 
the appropriate regulatory or other notifications in a timely manner, we could suffer financial loss, a 
disruption of our business, liability to our shareholders and/or private funds and private fund investors, 
regulatory intervention or reputational damage. Furthermore, if we fail to comply with relevant laws, rules 
and regulations, it could result in regulatory investigations and penalties, which could lead to negative 
publicity and reputational harm and may cause our shareholders and/or private fund investors and 
counterparties to lose confidence in the effectiveness of our security measures.

Catastrophic events could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and/or liquidity.

A disruption or failure of our systems or operations in the event of a major earthquake, weather event 
(including those caused or exacerbated by the effects of climate change), fire, explosion, failure to contain 
hazardous materials, cyber-attack, terrorist attack, public health crisis, pandemic or other catastrophic 
event could cause delays in providing our products and services or performing other critical functions and 
operations. A catastrophic event that results in the destruction or disruption of any of our critical functions 
or operations, or of the capacity, reliability or security of our information technology systems, could harm 
our ability to conduct normal business operations, as well as expose us to claims, litigation and governmental 
investigations and fines.

Public health emergencies have in the past affected and may in the future adversely affect workforces, 
economies and financial markets globally, leading to an economic downturn. We remain focused on 
protecting the health and well-being of our employees while assuring the continuity of our business 
operations.

We may also face threats to our physical security, including to our facilities and the safety and well-being of 
our employees. In addition to the potential catastrophic events described above, these threats could involve 
insider threats, workplace violence or civil unrest, any of which could cause delays or other impacts that 
could adversely affect us and our ability to conduct our business operations. Our third-party partners and 
counterparties face similar risks that, if realized, could also adversely impact our business operations. We 
could also incur unanticipated costs to remediate such delays or other impacts.

If our backup and mitigation plans are not sufficient to minimize business disruptions, our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and/or liquidity could be adversely affected. We continuously monitor our 
operations and intend to take appropriate actions to mitigate the risks arising from catastrophic events, but 
there can be no assurances that we will be successful in doing so.

The failure of our third-party service providers to fulfill their obligations, or misconduct by our third-
party service providers, may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, 
results of operations and/or liquidity.

We depend on third-party service providers for, among other things, fund administration and provision of a 
variety of corporate services to manage our multi-jurisdictional structure. There can be no assurance that our 
internal controls and procedures will be effective in monitoring and managing such third-party service 
providers. The failure of our third-party service providers to fulfill their obligations to us, or misconduct by 
our third-party service providers, could disrupt our operations and lead to reputational harm, which may 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

Our operations are dependent on the proper functioning of information systems.

We rely on our information systems or those of our third parties to conduct our business, including case 
management and documentation, producing financial and management reports on a timely basis, maintaining 
accurate records and utilizing AI technologies. Our information technology processes and information systems 
or those of our third parties may not operate as expected, may not fulfil their intended purpose or may be 
damaged or interrupted by increases in usage, human error, unauthorized access, natural or man-made 
hazards or disasters or similarly disruptive events. Any disruption or failure of our information systems or 
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those of our third parties, including a disruption or failure involving electronic communications or other 
services used by us or our third-party service providers or affecting our cloud services providers, could lead 
to costs and disruptions that could adversely affect our reputation, prospects, business, financial condition, 
results of operations and/or liquidity. 

Information systems are susceptible to malfunctions and interruptions (including those due to equipment 
damage, power outages, computer viruses, natural or man-made hazards or disasters and a range of other 
hardware, software and network problems). A significant malfunction or interruption of one or more of our 
information systems, or those of our third parties, could adversely affect our ability to keep our operations 
running efficiently and affect service availability. In addition, it is possible that a malfunction of our data 
system security measures could enable unauthorized persons to access sensitive data, including information 
relating to our intellectual property or litigation or business strategy or those of our clients. Any such 
malfunction or disruptions could cause economic losses. A failure of our information systems, or those of our 
third parties, could also cause damage to our reputation which could harm our business. Any of these 
developments, alone or in combination, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

We are required to maintain the privacy and security of personal information and comply with 
applicable data privacy and protection laws and regulations.

We collect, store and process personal information about individuals, including employees, contractors and 
third-party service providers as well as suppliers, agents, clients, investors and counterparties. This 
information is increasingly subject to a range of international data privacy and protection laws and 
regulations, including the California Consumer Privacy Act, the California Privacy Rights Act, the UK General 
Data Protection Regulation, the UK Data Protection Act 2018, the Data Protection (Bailiwick of Guernsey) 
Law, 2017, the EU General Data Protection Regulation and the DIFC Data Protection Law No. 5 of 2020. 
Additional data privacy and protection laws and regulations may come into effect in the United States on a 
state-by-state basis or worldwide that could potentially impact our business. While we have invested and 
continue to invest resources to comply with data privacy and protection laws and regulations, many of these 
laws and regulations are new, complex and subject to interpretation. To maintain compliance with these 
laws and regulations, we may incur increased costs to continually evaluate and modify our policies and 
processes and to adapt to new legal and regulatory requirements. A failure to comply with data privacy and 
protection laws and regulations could result in negative publicity, damage to our reputation, regulatory 
investigations, penalties or significant legal liability. Furthermore, our business and operations could also be 
adversely affected if legislation or regulations are expanded to require changes in our business practices or if 
governing jurisdictions interpret or implement their legislation or regulations in ways that negatively affect 
our business.

Risks relating to our indebtedness

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service our indebtedness and may be forced to take 
other actions to meet our obligations under our indebtedness, which may not be successful.

We have significant debt service obligations. Our ability to make principal or interest payments when due on 
our indebtedness and to fund our ongoing operations will depend on our future performance and our ability 
to generate cash, which is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, legal, regulatory 
and other factors, many of which are beyond our control. In addition, our cash flows largely depend on the 
outcome of litigation matters to which we have made a capital commitment. Such outcomes are inherently 
uncertain, and it is difficult to accurately forecast our cash flows for any future period. While the interest 
payment dates on our debt obligations are fixed, the cash inflows from litigation matters fluctuate 
materially. In addition, the trust deeds and the indentures governing our indebtedness contain various 
covenants, including the requirement to maintain a certain leverage ratio in the case of the trust deeds. If 
we are unable to comply with these covenants, payment on our indebtedness may become due early. If we 
do not have sufficient cash at the required time, we may have difficulty meeting our payment obligations 
under our existing indebtedness. 

At the maturity of the obligations under our outstanding indebtedness and any other indebtedness that we 
may incur in the future, if we do not have sufficient cash flows from operations and other capital resources 
to pay our debt obligations or to fund our other liquidity needs, or if we are otherwise restricted from doing 
so due to corporate, tax or contractual limitations, we may be required to refinance our indebtedness. If we 
are unable to refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness or obtain such refinancing on terms acceptable to 
us, we may be forced to reduce or delay our business obligations, activities or capital expenditures, sell 
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assets, raise additional debt or equity financing in amounts that could be substantial or restructure or 
refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness, on or before maturity. There can be no assurance that we 
would be able to accomplish any of these alternatives on a timely basis or on satisfactory terms, if at all, or 
that those actions would secure sufficient capital to meet our obligations under our indebtedness.

In particular, our ability to restructure or refinance our indebtedness will depend in part on our financial 
condition at the time of restructuring or refinancing as well as on many factors outside our control, including 
then prevailing conditions in the international credit and capital markets. Any refinancing of our 
indebtedness could be at higher interest rates than our existing indebtedness and may require us to comply 
with more onerous covenants. The terms of our existing or future indebtedness may restrict us from adopting 
some of these alternatives. In addition, any failure to make payments of interest or principal on our 
outstanding indebtedness on a timely basis would likely result in a reduction of our credit rating, which could 
harm our ability to incur additional indebtedness. 

Despite our level of indebtedness, we may be able to incur substantial additional indebtedness, which 
could further exacerbate the risks associated with our existing indebtedness.

Despite our level of indebtedness, we may be able to incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future. 
Although the agreements governing our indebtedness contain restrictions on the incurrence of additional 
indebtedness, these restrictions are subject to a number of significant qualifications and exceptions and, 
under certain circumstances, the amount of indebtedness that could be incurred in compliance with these 
restrictions could be substantial. If additional indebtedness is added to our existing levels of indebtedness, 
the related risks that we now face would increase, and we may not be able to meet all the obligations under 
our existing indebtedness. In addition, our debt instruments do not prevent us from incurring obligations that 
do not constitute indebtedness.

Risks relating to our ordinary shares

Our ordinary shares are traded on more than one market, which may result in price and volume 
variations.

Our ordinary shares have traded on the NYSE since October 2020 and on AIM since 2009. Trading in our 
ordinary shares on these markets takes place in different currencies (US dollar on the NYSE and pound 
sterling on AIM) and at different times (resulting from different time zones, different trading days and 
different public holidays in the United States and the United Kingdom). The trading prices, volatility and 
liquidity of our ordinary shares on these two markets may differ due to these and other factors, including 
different custody and settlement arrangements that may affect cross-market trading. Any decrease in the 
price of our ordinary shares on AIM could cause a decrease in the trading price of our ordinary shares on the 
NYSE, and vice versa. Investors could seek to sell or buy our ordinary shares to take advantage of any price 
differences between the markets through a practice referred to as arbitrage. Any arbitrage activity could 
create unexpected volatility in the trading price of our ordinary shares.

The trading price of our ordinary shares may fluctuate significantly.

The market price of our ordinary shares has been highly volatile. For example, the market price of our 
ordinary shares has ranged on AIM from a high of £18.70 per ordinary share on March 14, 2019 (approximately 
$24.84 using the exchange rate of $1.3282 on March 14, 2019) to a low of £2.81 per ordinary share on March 
18, 2020 (approximately $3.31 using the exchange rate of $1.1763 on March 18, 2020). The market price of 
our ordinary shares on the NYSE and AIM could continue to be volatile due to the risks set forth in this 2024 
Form 10-K and others beyond our control, including:

▪ Regulatory actions or changes in laws with respect to legal finance or practices commonly used in the 
legal finance industry

▪ Actual or anticipated fluctuations in our financial condition and/or results of operations

▪ Increased competition and actual or anticipated changes in our growth rate relative to our 
competitors

▪ Announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint 
ventures, collaborations or capital commitments

▪ Failure to meet or exceed financial estimates and projections of the investment community or that 
we provide to the public
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▪ Issuance of research reports by securities analysts or other members of the financial community

▪ Fluctuations in the valuation of companies perceived by investors to be comparable to us

▪ Additions or departures of key management

▪ Sales or issuances of our ordinary shares by us, insiders or other shareholders

▪ General economic and market conditions

These and other market and industry factors may cause the market price and demand for our ordinary shares 
to fluctuate significantly regardless of our actual operating performance. In addition, the trading market for 
our ordinary shares is affected by the research and reports that equity research analysts publish about us and 
our business, over which we have no control. The price of our ordinary shares could fluctuate significantly if 
one or more equity analysts issue unfavorable commentary or cease publishing reports about us.

There can be no assurance that we will pay dividends or distributions.

The Board of Directors has declared a final cash dividend for the year ended December 31, 2024 of 6.25¢ (US 
cents) per ordinary share, payable on June 13, 2025, subject to shareholder approval at our upcoming annual 
general meeting in May 2025. In the past, the Board of Directors did not declare a cash dividend on a number 
of occasions, and we cannot provide assurance that we will declare dividends or distributions in the future. 
The declaration and payment of dividends and distributions, if any, will always be subject to the discretion of 
the Board of Directors and the requirements of Guernsey law (including, among others, satisfaction of a 
statutory solvency test). The timing and amount of any dividends or distributions declared will depend on, 
among other things, our cash flows from operations and available liquidity, our earnings and financial 
condition and any applicable contractual restrictions, including restrictions in the instruments governing our 
debt securities.

Given the demand for our capital and the tax inefficiency of dividend payments to certain shareholders, we 
anticipate continuing to pay a total annual dividend of 12.50¢ (US cents) per ordinary share, payable semi-
annually, but do not anticipate regular increases in our dividend per ordinary share level. However, the Board 
of Directors may review our dividend per ordinary share level from time to time.

In addition, we are a holding company with no material assets, other than the ownership of our subsidiaries, 
and no independent means of generating revenues. Accordingly, our ability to pay dividends or distributions 
will be subject to the ability of our subsidiaries to transfer funds to us.

Future issuances or sales of our securities may cause the market price of our ordinary shares to 
decline.

The market price of our ordinary shares could decline as a result of issuances of securities (including our 
ordinary shares) by us or sales by our existing shareholders of ordinary shares in the market, or the 
perception that such issuances or sales could occur. Sales of our ordinary shares by shareholders may make it 
more difficult for us to sell equity securities at a time and price that we deem appropriate. See note 18 
(Share-based and deferred compensation) to our consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 
Form 10-K for information with respect to our ordinary shares issued, and available for future grants, under 
the LTIP. Issuances or sales of substantial numbers of our ordinary shares, or the perception that such 
issuances or sales could occur, may adversely affect the market price of our ordinary shares.

The requirements of being a US domestic public company require significant resources and management 
attention, which increases our legal and financial compliance costs and could affect our ability to 
attract and retain key personnel and qualified senior management and members of the Board of 
Directors.

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank 
Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, as amended, the listing requirements of the NYSE 
and other applicable securities rules and regulations. In addition, as of June 30, 2024, we determined that 
we no longer qualify as a “foreign private issuer” as defined under the Exchange Act. As a result, effective as 
of January 1, 2025, we were no longer eligible to use the rules designed for foreign private issuers and are 
required to comply with the reporting regime that applies to US domestic public companies. In particular, we 
are required to file with the SEC periodic and current reports and registration statements on US domestic 
public company forms, which are generally more detailed and extensive than the forms available to foreign 
private issuers, are required to be filed within shorter time periods and are required to comply with, among 
other things, US proxy requirements and Regulation FD. In addition, our officers, directors and principal 
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shareholders are subject to the beneficial ownership reporting and short-swing profit recovery requirements 
under Section 16 of the Exchange Act. We are also no longer eligible to rely upon exemptions from corporate 
governance requirements that are available to foreign private issuers or to benefit from other 
accommodations for foreign private issuers under the rules of the SEC or the NYSE, as applicable, and have 
modified certain of our policies to comply with good governance practices applicable to US domestic public 
companies.

Compliance with these rules and regulations has increased and, following our loss of the foreign private issuer 
status has further increased, our legal and financial compliance costs, making certain activities more 
difficult, time-consuming and costly and increasing demand on our systems and resources. As a result of the 
complexity involved in complying with the rules and regulations applicable to US domestic public companies, 
our management’s attention may be diverted from other business concerns, which could adversely affect our 
reputation, prospects, business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity. These factors 
could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified senior management and members of 
the Board of Directors.

In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance, ESG matters and 
public disclosure are creating uncertainty for US domestic public companies, increasing legal and financial 
compliance costs and making certain activities more difficult, time-consuming and costly. These laws, 
regulations and standards are subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity 
and, as a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory 
and governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher 
costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. If our efforts to comply with 
new laws, regulations and standards differ from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due 
to ambiguities related to their application and practice, regulatory and governing bodies may initiate legal 
proceedings against us, which could have a material adverse effect our business, financial condition, results 
of operations and/or liquidity.

Furthermore, we expect the Trump administration will seek to implement a regulatory and legislative reform 
agenda that is significantly different than that of the Biden administration. We expect there will be changes 
in the rule-making and enforcement priorities of certain federal agencies as well as potential significant 
developments in jurisprudence. The evolving regulatory and legal environment and uncertainty about the 
timing and scope of future laws, judicial decisions, regulations and policies may contribute to decisions we 
may make with respect to our operations, whereas adverse developments affecting the general economic 
climate could have a material adverse effect our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or 
liquidity.

The material weakness identified in our internal control over financial reporting and the determination 
that our internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures were not 
effective could impact investors’ views on the reliability of our consolidated financial statements, 
resulting in loss of investor confidence, shareholder litigation or adverse regulatory consequences, any 
of which could cause the market value of our ordinary shares or debt securities to decline or impact 
our ability to access the capital markets.

The SEC rules implementing Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act require a company subject to the 
reporting requirements of the Exchange Act to complete a comprehensive evaluation of its internal control 
over financial reporting. To comply with these rules, we are required to assess, document and test our 
internal control procedures, and our management is required to assess and issue a report concerning our 
internal control over financial reporting. We also maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are 
designed, among other things, to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports we file or 
furnish under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods 
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to 
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow 
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In addition, we are subject to the independent auditor 
attestation requirements under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, pursuant to which our independent 
auditor is required to attest to and report on management’s assessment of our internal control over financial 
reporting.

Under the PCAOB auditing standards applicable to us as a reporting company under the Exchange Act, a 
“material weakness” is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial 
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reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our consolidated 
financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. 

As disclosed under “Controls and procedures”, a material weakness existed in our internal control over 
financial reporting as of December 31, 2024 as we have not yet fully remediated the material weakness in 
internal control over financial reporting previously disclosed in the Company’s annual report on Form 20-F for 
the year ended December 31, 2023 filed with the SEC on March 28, 2024 (the “2023 Form 20-F”) relating to 
a lack of available evidence to demonstrate the precision of our management’s review of the process to 
determine certain assumptions used in the measurement of the fair value of our capital provision assets. 
Furthermore, as previously disclosed in the 2023 Form 20-F, we revised our approach to determining the fair 
value of our capital provision assets in consideration of Accounting Standards Codification Topic 820—Fair 
Value Measurement (“ASC 820”). In connection with this revision in approach, our management determined, 
together with the Audit Committee, that our historical approach to fair value accounting did not comply with 
US GAAP and resulted in measurement errors requiring restatement of our historical audited consolidated 
financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 and the unaudited 
condensed consolidated financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2022. Under the PCAOB 
auditing standards, a restatement of financial statements is by definition evidence of a material weakness in 
internal controls. Thus, in connection with the identified material weakness in our internal control over 
financial reporting that failed to prevent or detect the identified misstatements requiring the restatement of 
our consolidated financial statements, we concluded that our internal control over financial reporting and 
disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.

There can be no assurance that the material weakness discussed above will be remediated on a timely basis 
or at all, or that additional material weaknesses will not be identified in the future. If we are unable to 
remediate the material weakness, if additional material weaknesses are identified in the future or if we are 
unable to successfully remediate any future material weaknesses or other deficiencies in our internal control 
over financial reporting or disclosure controls and procedures, our ability to record, process and report 
financial information accurately and to prepare consolidated financial statements within the time periods 
specified by the rules and regulations of the SEC could be adversely affected. This could in turn subject us to 
shareholder litigation or adverse regulatory consequences, including sanctions by the SEC or violations of the 
applicable listing rules of the NYSE, which may result in a breach of the covenants under our existing or 
future debt instruments. In addition, any failure to implement and maintain effective internal control over 
financial reporting could adversely affect the results of periodic management evaluations and the 
independent registered public accounting firm’s annual attestation reports regarding the effectiveness of our 
internal control over financial reporting. There could also be a negative reaction in the financial markets due 
to a loss of investor confidence in us and the reliability of our consolidated financial statements, which could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity, 
lead to a decline in the market price of our ordinary shares or debt securities or impact our ability to access 
capital markets.

If we are classified as a PFIC for US federal income tax purposes, such classification could result in 
adverse US federal income tax consequences to US investors.

If we are treated as a passive foreign investment company (“PFIC”) in any year during which a US Holder 
holds our ordinary shares, such US Holder could be subject to significant adverse US federal income tax 
consequences as a result of the ownership and disposition of our ordinary shares. See “Market for registrant's 
common equity, related stockholder matters and issuer purchases of equity securities—Tax considerations—
Material US federal income tax considerations” for additional information with respect to PFIC classification 
and consequences to US federal income tax consequences to US investors.

Risks relating to our incorporation in Guernsey

The rights and protections of our shareholders are governed by Guernsey law, which may differ in 
certain material respects from the rights and protections of shareholders under US law.

The rights and protections of our shareholders are governed principally by our memorandum of incorporation 
and articles of incorporation and by the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008, as amended (the “Guernsey 
Companies Law”). The Guernsey Companies Law differs in certain material respects from laws applicable to 
companies organized under the laws of the United States. As a result, the rights and protections of our 
shareholders may differ in certain material respects from the rights and protections of shareholders of 
companies organized under the laws of the United States. See exhibit 4.1 to this 2024 Form 10-K for 
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additional information with respect to the differences between the rights and protections of our shareholders 
and those of shareholders of companies organized under the laws of the United States. 

The Royal Court of Guernsey may require a party to litigation to reimburse the prevailing party for its 
costs associated with the litigation, and our articles of incorporation entitle us to require shareholders 
to provide security against any such costs awarded to us by the Royal Court of Guernsey.

The Royal Court of Guernsey may require a party to litigation to reimburse the prevailing party for its costs 
associated with the litigation. Accordingly, if a shareholder was to bring an action against us in the Royal 
Court of Guernsey and we prevail in the litigation, the Royal Court of Guernsey may order the shareholder to 
reimburse us for our fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with the defense of such action.

Article 38 of our articles of incorporation provides that we are entitled to security for costs in connection 
with any proceedings brought against us by a shareholder (which may include proceedings in jurisdictions 
outside Guernsey). This provision, for example, applies to any proceeding brought against us by a shareholder 
in its capacity as a shareholder under the Guernsey Companies Law or our articles of incorporation. Article 38 
of our articles of incorporation does not apply to any proceeding brought against any of our directors, officers 
or affiliates. This means that, if a shareholder brings an action against us in the Royal Court of Guernsey, we 
may request that the Royal Court of Guernsey order such shareholder to provide security (which will need to 
be in a form acceptable to the Royal Court of Guernsey and may be direct or through a third-party surety) to 
satisfy any award of costs the Royal Court of Guernsey may award to us.

The Royal Court of Guernsey’s ability to award costs to us, and the provision in our articles of incorporation 
requiring shareholders to provide security for any such award of costs to us, could discourage shareholders 
from bringing lawsuits that might otherwise benefit our shareholders.

The insolvency laws of Guernsey and other jurisdictions may not be as favorable to shareholders as the 
US bankruptcy laws.

We are incorporated under the laws of Guernsey. In the event of a bankruptcy, insolvency or similar event, 
proceedings could be initiated in Guernsey or another relevant jurisdiction. The bankruptcy, insolvency, 
administrative and other laws of our and our subsidiaries’ jurisdictions of organization or incorporation may 
be materially different from, or in conflict with, one another and those of the United States, including in the 
areas of rights of creditors, shareholders, priority of governmental and other creditors and timing and 
duration of the proceedings. The application of these laws, or any conflict among them, could call into 
question whether any particular jurisdiction’s law should apply, adversely affecting our shareholders’ ability 
to enforce their rights under the ordinary shares in those jurisdictions or limit any amounts that they may 
receive.

It may be complex or time-consuming to effect service of US court process or enforcement of US 
judgments against us or certain of our directors and officers.

We are incorporated under the laws of Guernsey, and certain of our directors and officers reside outside the 
United States. In addition, a substantial portion of our assets is located outside the United States. It may be 
more complex or time-consuming to serve US court process on us or our officers or directors or to enforce US 
court judgments against us than if we were a US company with all our officers and directors located in the 
United States, including judgments predicated upon civil liabilities under US federal securities laws. 

In Guernsey, foreign judgments may be recognized by the Royal Court of Guernsey either pursuant to the 
Judgments (Reciprocal Enforcement) (Guernsey) Law, 1957 (as amended), which provides an obligatory 
statutory framework for the enforcement of judgments from certain recognized jurisdictions, or pursuant to 
the principles of customary and common law. Guernsey is not party to any convention or bilateral treaty with 
the United States providing for the reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgments. As a result, a 
judgment obtained in a court in the United States against us or any of our officers and directors incorporated 
or located, as applicable, in Guernsey will not automatically be recognized or enforced in Guernsey but may 
be enforceable by separate action on the judgment in accordance with the Guernsey customary and common 
law rules. To obtain an enforceable judgment in Guernsey, the claimant would be required to bring new 
proceedings before the competent court in Guernsey (typically summary judgment proceedings). In such 
proceedings, the Guernsey court is unlikely to re-hear the case on its merits, except in accordance with 
principles of private international law. According to current practice, the Royal Court of Guernsey may 
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enforce the judgment of a court in the United States in a claim in personam if the following conditions, 
among other things, are satisfied:

▪ The judgment is for a debt or fixed or ascertainable sum of money (provided that the judgment does 
not relate to US penal, revenue or other public laws)

▪ The judgment is final and conclusive

▪ The court in the United States had, at the time when proceedings were served, jurisdiction over the 
judgment debtor in accordance with the principles of private international law, as applied by 
Guernsey law

▪ The judgment was not (i) procured by fraud or (ii) given in breach of principles of natural or 
substantial justice

▪ Recognition of the judgment would not be contrary to Guernsey public policy or natural justice

▪ The judgment is not a judgment on a matter previously determined by a Guernsey court, or another 
court whose judgment is entitled to recognition in Guernsey, or that conflicts with an earlier 
judgment of such court

▪ The judgment was not obtained in breach of an agreement for the settlement of disputes

▪ Enforcement proceedings are not time barred under the Guernsey Laws on Prescription/Limitation. If 
the Guernsey court gives judgment for the sum payable under a judgment of a US court, the 
Guernsey judgment would be enforceable by the methods generally available for the enforcement of 
Guernsey judgments

These conditions give the court discretion whether to allow enforcement by any particular method. In 
addition, it may not be possible to obtain a Guernsey judgment or to enforce a Guernsey judgment if the 
judgment debtor is subject to any administration, winding-up or similar proceedings, if there is delay, if an 
appeal is pending or anticipated against the Guernsey judgment in Guernsey or against the foreign judgment 
in the courts of the United States or if the judgment debtor has any set-off or counterclaim against the 
judgment creditor. 

Furthermore, any pre-existing security interest in Guernsey situs assets may affect both the enforcement of a 
judgment debt against the assets in which the interest has been created and the ability of any persons 
empowered under foreign insolvency law to act on behalf of an insolvent company, and recognized in 
Guernsey, to effect any recovery of such assets.

Item 1B. Unresolved staff comments
None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Cybersecurity risk management and strategy

We strive to create a pervasive culture of cybersecurity and information systems security, focusing 
particularly on the tone set by our senior management. We have developed and implemented a cybersecurity 
risk management program intended to protect the confidentiality, integrity and availability of our critical 
information systems and data. Our cybersecurity risk management program leverages certain practices from 
the National Institute of Standards and Technology Cybersecurity Framework, the Center for Internet Security 
Top 20 Critical Security Controls and the Control Objectives for Information and Related Technologies. This 
does not imply that we meet any particular technical standards, specifications or requirements, only that we 
use these frameworks and controls as a guide to help us identify, assess and manage cybersecurity risks 
relevant to our business.

Our cybersecurity risk management program is integrated into our overall enterprise risk management 
program and shares common methodologies, reporting channels and governance processes that apply across 
the enterprise risk management program to other legal, compliance, strategic, operational and financial risk 
areas. 
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To provide for the resilience of critical information systems and data, maintain legal and regulatory 
compliance, manage our material risks from cybersecurity threats and protect against, detect and respond to 
cybersecurity incidents, our cybersecurity risk management program includes the following key elements:

▪ 24x7x365 security operations monitoring of our information systems and services to detect and act on 
weaknesses and potential intrusions

▪ Cloud-based platform operations that allow us to store our data on the servers of technology 
companies, with built-in disaster recovery protection and regular backups

▪ Regular internal and external security audits, penetration tests and risk assessments designed to help 
identify significant cybersecurity risks to our critical information systems and data

▪ Collaboration with third-party service providers, where appropriate, to assess, test or otherwise 
assist with aspects of our security controls

▪ Testing of new products and services to identify potential security vulnerabilities before release

▪ Regular network and endpoint monitoring

▪ Business resiliency planning with disaster recovery and business continuity testing

▪ Role-based access controls to identify, authenticate and authorize individuals to access information 
systems based on their job responsibilities

▪ Protection, including encryption, for the secure communication of sensitive data

▪ Monitoring of emerging data protection laws and implementation of changes to our processes 
designed to comply therewith as well as regular review of best practices from both the legal and 
financial services industries and engaging in a program of continuous improvement

▪ Regular review of policies, procedures and standards related to cybersecurity

▪ Cybersecurity awareness training of our employees and senior management at regular intervals

▪ Cross-functional approach to addressing cybersecurity risk, involving senior representatives from all 
our offices in business, information technology, finance and legal and compliance functions

▪ Cybersecurity incident response plan that sets forth procedures for responding to cybersecurity 
incidents, including processes designed to triage, assess severity, escalate, contain, investigate and 
remediate such cybersecurity incidents, as well as to comply with potentially applicable legal and 
regulatory obligations and mitigate reputational damage

▪ Third-party risk management process for certain service providers based on our assessment of their 
criticality to our business and risk profile

▪ Strong access controls for platforms and devices, including multi-factor authentication and 
conditional access

As part of the above processes and procedures, we regularly engage with assessors, consultants and other 
third parties, including by having a third-party consultant review our cybersecurity risk management program 
on an annual basis to help identify areas for continued focus, improvement and compliance.

Our cybersecurity risk management program also addresses cybersecurity risks associated with our use of 
third-party service providers, including those who have access to our employee data or our information 
systems. Cybersecurity considerations affect the selection and oversight of our third-party service providers, 
and we perform diligence on third-party service providers that have access to our information systems, data 
or facilities that house such information systems or data. In addition, we distribute a cybersecurity survey to 
all major third-party service providers on an annual basis to assess their adherence to our cybersecurity 
requirements.

During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, we have not identified any material cybersecurity 
incidents and have not identified any material risks from cybersecurity threats that have materially affected 
or are reasonably likely to materially affect our business strategy, results of operations or financial condition, 
and the expenses we have incurred from any cybersecurity incidents were immaterial. There can be no 
assurance that our cybersecurity risk management program, including our policies, processes, controls and 
procedures, will be fully implemented, complied with or effective in protecting our systems and information. 
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See “Risk factors—Risks relating to cybersecurity, third-party service providers, information systems and 
data privacy and protection” for additional information with respect to cybersecurity risks. 

Cybersecurity governance

The Board of Directors considers cybersecurity risks as part of its risk management and oversight function and 
has oversight of our enterprise risk management program, including cybersecurity and other information 
systems risks. At each of its quarterly meetings, members of the Board of Directors receive a comprehensive 
risk presentation and review the key risks across the global enterprise focusing, among other things, on 
cybersecurity and other information systems risks. In addition, from time to time, the Board of Directors 
receives presentations on various cybersecurity topics from our Chief Information Officer, including relating 
to our efforts to improve our cybersecurity risk management program and comparison of our cybersecurity 
risk management program to those of other companies in the legal and financial services industries. 

The Chief Information Officer and the cybersecurity committee have the responsibility for our overall 
cybersecurity risk management program. Our Chief Information Officer has primary responsibility for 
assessing and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats, and has over 20 years of cybersecurity work 
experience, including at major financial institutions and consulting firms and involving the management of 
information security and the development of cybersecurity strategy, and who has relevant degrees and 
certifications, including a Bachelor’s degree in Computer Science from Cornell University. Our Chief 
Information Officer supervises both our internal information technology team and our external cybersecurity 
consultants and other third-party service providers. Our Chief Information Officer meets regularly with our 
internal cybersecurity committee, composed of senior representatives from all our offices in business, 
information technology, finance and legal and compliance functions, including, among others, our Chief 
Financial Officer and our Chief Compliance Officer. With assistance from our internal information technology 
team, our Chief Information Officer conducts cybersecurity and other information systems risk assessments 
on at least an annual basis and reports the results of these assessments, as well as any material cybersecurity 
and other information systems risks, to the cybersecurity committee. The cybersecurity committee focuses 
on assessing processes and procedures to assist with prevention and detection of cybersecurity incidents, 
whereas our Chief Information Officer, with assistance from our internal information technology team, is 
responsible for mitigation and remediation of cybersecurity incidents. In addition, we engage third-party 
vendors to (i) perform a yearly cybersecurity assessment to identify any weaknesses and address them, 
including performing yearly penetration tests to determine if there are any vulnerabilities, and (ii) monitor 
our cloud environment 24/7, identify threats and respond to them by shutting down any activity that is 
deemed potentially harmful.

Our cybersecurity policies specify escalation points for reporting potential cybersecurity incidents to our 
Chief Information Officer and our Chief Compliance Officer, and we have adopted a cybersecurity incident 
response plan that sets forth procedures for responding to cybersecurity incidents. If applicable, the Board of 
Directors receives briefings from management on our cybersecurity risk management program and any 
significant cybersecurity incidents.

Item 2. Properties

We do not own any real property, and we lease our principal office spaces from third parties. The table 
below sets forth the location, square footage and main use of our principal leased offices as of December 31, 
2024. 

Location Size (square footage) Main use

New York, New York, United States 19,516 Office space

London, United Kingdom 10,883 Office space

Chicago, Illinois, United States 7,113 Office space

Both our Principal Finance and Asset Management and Other Services segments operate from our New York, 
London and Chicago offices.

We consider these facilities to be suitable and adequate for the management and operation of our 
businesses.

Item 3. Legal proceedings

The information with respect to legal proceedings is set forth in note 20 (Financial commitments and 
contingent liabilities—Legal proceedings) to our consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 
Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 4. Mine safety disclosures

Not applicable.
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Part II

Item 5. Market for registrant's common equity, related stockholder matters and issuer 
purchases of equity securities

We have a single class of ordinary shares, which trade on the NYSE and AIM, in each case, under the symbol 
“BUR”.

As of January 31, 2025, there were 210 shareholders of record of our ordinary shares. Because many of our 
ordinary shares are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of shareholders, we are unable to 
estimate the total number of shareholders represented by these record holders.

Dividend policy

We anticipate continuing to pay a total annual dividend of 12.50¢ per ordinary share, payable semi-annually, 
but do not anticipate regular increases in our dividend per ordinary share level. The Board of Directors may 
review our dividend per ordinary share level from time to time. See “Risk factors—Risks relating to our 
ordinary shares—There can be no assurance that we will pay dividends or distributions” for additional 
information with respect to our declaration and payment of dividends.

Purchases of equity securities  

The table below sets forth information about purchases by us and our affiliated purchasers during the year 
ended December 31, 2024, of equity securities that are registered by us pursuant to Section 12 of the 
Exchange Act.

Period

Total number of 
ordinary shares 

purchased

Average price 
paid per 

ordinary share(1)

Total number of 
ordinary shares 

purchased as part 
of publicly 

announced plans or 
programs

Maximum number of 
ordinary shares that 

may yet be purchased 
under the plans or 

programs(2)

January 1, 2024 - January 31, 2024  — $ —  —  21,634,721 

February 1, 2024 - February 28, 2024  — $ —  —  21,634,721 

March 1, 2024 - March 31, 2024 291,591(3) $ 14.99  291,591  21,343,130 

April 1, 2024 - April 30, 2024 27,409(3) $ 15.74  27,409  21,315,721 

May 1, 2024 - May 31, 2024  — $ —  —  21,864,608 

June 1, 2024 - June 30, 2024 19,285(4) $ 14.50  19,285  21,845,323 

July 1, 2024 - July 31, 2024  — $ —  —  21,845,323 

August 1, 2024 - August 31, 2024  — $ —  —  21,845,323 

September 1, 2024 - September 30, 2024  — $ —  —  21,845,323 

October 1, 2024 - October 31, 2024  — $ —  —  21,845,323 

November 1, 2024 - November 30, 2024  — $ —  —  21,845,323 

December 1, 2024 - December 31, 2024  — $ —  —  21,845,323 

Total  338,285 $ 15.02  338,285  21,845,323 
1. Includes broker commissions. The average price of our ordinary shares purchased on AIM was converted into US dollars using the applicable 

exchange rate.
2. On July 5, 2023, our shareholders approved a resolution at our annual general meeting renewing our authorization to purchase up to 

21,895,721 ordinary shares on the open market, which authority is set to expire as of the close of our annual general meeting to be held in 
2024. On May 15, 2024, our shareholders approved a resolution at our annual general meeting renewing our authorization to purchase up to 
21,864,608 ordinary shares on the open market, which authority is set to expire the earlier of (i) the close of our annual general meeting to 
be held in 2025 and (ii) September 26, 2025.

3. Consists of ordinary shares purchased on the open market on AIM between March 19, 2024, and March 27, 2024.
4. Consists of ordinary shares purchased on the open market on AIM on June 4, 2024 to satisfy grants of awards under the NED Plan.

We use a variety of structures, including the purchases of our ordinary shares on the open market, to offset 
dilution from the issuance of new ordinary shares related to the equity-based or related compensation of our 
employees and directors.

Unregistered sales of equity securities and use of proceeds

There were no unregistered sales of equity securities during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 
2022.
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Five-year share performance graph 

The performance graph below depicts the total return to holders of our ordinary shares from the closing price 
on December 31, 2019, through December 31, 2024, relative to the performance of the Russell 2000 index 
and the S&P Small Cap 600 Financials index. The performance graph assumes $100 invested on December 31, 
2019, and dividends received reinvested in the security or index.
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The performance graph is not intended to be indicative of future performance. The performance graph shall 
not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange 
Act, or otherwise subject to the liabilities under Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and shall not be deemed to 
be incorporated by reference into any of our filings under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

Tax considerations

Guernsey tax considerations

The summary below is based on Guernsey law and published practice in Guernsey as of the date of this 2024 
Form 10-K, both of which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect. This summary is intended 
as a general guide related to certain Guernsey tax matters potentially applicable to the holders of our 
ordinary shares only and is not, is not intended to be nor should it be construed to be, legal or tax advice or a 
summary of all tax matters in Guernsey.

Shareholders, whether corporations or individuals, that are not residents of Guernsey for tax purposes and 
that do not carry on business in Guernsey through a permanent establishment situated in Guernsey, will not 
be subject to Guernsey income tax or Guernsey withholding tax. Any distributions made by us to non-
Guernsey tax resident shareholders will not be subject to Guernsey income tax or Guernsey withholding tax.

Individual shareholders who are residents of Guernsey for tax purposes will generally be subject to Guernsey 
income tax at the individual standard rate of 20% on distributions received from us.

Corporate shareholders that are residents of Guernsey for tax purposes (and that do not have exempt 
company status under the Income Tax (Exempt Bodies) (Guernsey) Ordinance, 1989, as amended) will 
generally be subject to Guernsey income tax at the company standard rate, which is currently 0%, on 
distributions received from us.

As of the date of this 2024 Form 10-K, Guernsey does not levy capital gains tax and, therefore, shareholders 
will not suffer capital gains tax in Guernsey on the sale or other disposition of our ordinary shares.

No stamp duty is chargeable in Guernsey on the issue, acquisition, transfer, conversion or redemption or 
other disposition of our ordinary shares (provided that we do not hold Guernsey real property).
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Guernsey has implemented through domestic legislation matters related to (i) the Foreign Account Tax 
Compliance Act (“FATCA”) contained in the US Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), 
and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder and (ii) the Organisation for Economic Co-operation 
and Development’s regime known as the Common Reporting Standard (“CRS”). Pursuant to FATCA and CRS, 
disclosure and reporting of information may be required, including disclosure of certain information about 
shareholders, their ultimate beneficial owners and/or controllers and their investment in us. Shareholders 
should consult their tax advisers regarding the possible implications of FATCA, CRS and other similar regimes 
that may be relevant to their ownership and disposition of our ordinary shares.

Shareholders, including any nominees, should inform themselves as to all legal and tax consequences, and 
any foreign exchange requirements, which may apply to them in their respective jurisdictions in connection 
with their purchase, holding or disposal of our ordinary shares.

Material US federal income tax considerations

General

The following is a discussion of the material US federal income tax considerations that may be relevant to US 
Holders (as defined below). This discussion is based upon provisions of the Code, the Treasury Regulations 
promulgated thereunder and administrative rulings and court decisions, all as in effect or existence on the 
date of this Annual Report and all of which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect. Changes 
in these authorities may cause the tax consequences of ownership of our ordinary shares to vary substantially 
from the consequences described below.

The following discussion applies only to beneficial owners of our ordinary shares that own ordinary shares as 
“capital assets” within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Code (i.e., generally, for investment purposes) 
and is not intended to be applicable to all categories of shareholders, such as shareholders subject to special 
tax rules (e.g., including, among others, banks or financial institutions, regulated investment companies, 
insurance companies, broker-dealers or traders in stocks and securities or currencies, tax-exempt 
organizations, real estate investment trusts, retirement plans or individual retirement accounts, US 
expatriates, persons who hold our ordinary shares as part of a straddle, hedge, conversion, constructive sale 
or other integrated transaction for US federal income tax purposes, traders in securities that have elected 
the mark-to-market method of accounting for their securities, persons liable for alternative minimum tax, 
persons who are investors in pass-through entities, persons that own (actually or constructively) 10% or more 
of our equity securities (by vote or value), persons who elect to receive dividends in a currency other than 
the US dollar or persons who have a functional currency other than the US dollar), each of whom may be 
subject to unique tax rules that differ significantly from those summarized below. If a partnership, or other 
entity classified as a partnership for US federal income tax purposes, holds our ordinary shares, the tax 
treatment of its partners generally will depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the 
partnership. Partners in a partnership holding our ordinary shares should consult their tax advisors regarding 
the tax consequences to them of the partnership’s ownership of our ordinary shares.

No ruling has been requested from the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”), nor is there any present 
intention to do so, in connection with any matter affecting us or our shareholders. The statements made 
herein may be challenged by the IRS and, if so challenged, may not be sustained upon review by a court of 
relevant taxing jurisdiction. This discussion does not contain any information regarding any US state, US local 
or US estate or gift tax considerations concerning the ownership or disposition of our ordinary shares. This 
discussion does not comment on all aspects of US federal income taxation that may be important to 
particular shareholders in light of their individual circumstances, and each shareholder is encouraged to 
consult its own tax advisor regarding the potential US federal, state, local and other tax consequences to 
such shareholder of the ownership or disposition of our ordinary shares.

As used herein, the term “US Holder” means a beneficial owner of our ordinary shares that is:

▪ An individual citizen or resident of the US
▪ A corporation (including any entity treated as a corporation for US federal income tax purposes) 

created or organized in or under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of 
Columbia

▪ An estate the income of which is subject to US federal income taxation regardless of its source or 
▪ A trust if (i) its administration is subject to the primary supervision of a court within the United 

States and one or more US persons, within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code, have the 
authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (ii) it has a valid election in effect under 
applicable Treasury Regulations to be treated as a US person for US federal income tax purposes.
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Distributions

Subject to the discussion below of the rules applicable to PFICs, any distributions to a US Holder made by us 
with respect to our ordinary shares generally will constitute dividends to the extent of our current and 
accumulated earnings and profits, as determined under US federal income tax principles. Distributions in 
excess of our earnings and profits will be treated first as a nontaxable return of capital to the extent of the 
US Holder’s tax basis in our ordinary shares held by the US Holder and thereafter as capital gain. While we do 
not maintain calculations of our earnings and profits under US federal income tax principles, US Holders 
should expect that distributions generally will be treated as dividends for US federal income tax purposes. US 
Holders that are corporations generally will not be entitled to claim a dividend received deduction, as such 
term is defined under US tax law, with respect to distributions they receive from us. Distributions on our 
ordinary shares to certain non-corporate US Holders that satisfy a minimum holding period requirement and 
other generally applicable requirements should generally be eligible for taxation at preferential rates as 
“qualified dividend income”. However, non-corporate holders who do not meet a minimum holding period 
requirement during which they are not protected from the risk of loss or who elect to treat the dividend 
income as “investment income” pursuant to Section 163(d)(4) of the Code, for purposes of the investment 
interest expense limitation rules, will not be eligible for the reduced rates of taxation otherwise available for 
dividend distributions. Shareholders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the application of these 
rules to their particular circumstances. Dividends received with respect to our ordinary shares generally will 
be treated as foreign source “passive category income” for purposes of computing allowable foreign tax 
credits for US federal income tax purposes. The US foreign tax credit rules are complex, and US Holders are 
urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding the availability of the US foreign tax credits and the 
application of the US foreign tax credit rules to their particular situation.

Sale, exchange or other disposition of our ordinary shares
Subject to the discussion below of the rules applicable to PFICs, a US Holder generally will recognize gain or 
loss upon a sale, exchange or other disposition of our ordinary shares in an amount equal to the difference 
between the amount realized by the US Holder from such sale, exchange or other disposition and the US 
Holder’s adjusted tax basis in such ordinary shares. The US Holder’s tax basis in our ordinary shares held by 
the US Holder generally will be the US Holder’s purchase price for our ordinary shares reduced by the amount 
of any distributions on our ordinary shares that are treated as non-taxable returns of capital (see “—
Distributions”). Such gain or loss will be treated as capital gain or loss and will be long-term capital gain or 
loss if the US Holder’s holding period attributable to the ordinary shares in question is greater than one year 
at the time of the sale, exchange or other disposition. Certain US Holders (including individuals) may be 
eligible for preferential rates of US federal income tax in respect of long-term capital gains. A US Holder’s 
ability to deduct capital losses is subject to several limitations as outlined under US tax laws. Any such 
capital gain or loss recognized on the sale, exchange or other disposition of our ordinary shares generally will 
be treated as US source gain or loss, as applicable, for US foreign tax credit purposes.

PFIC

In general, a foreign corporation will be treated as a PFIC under US tax laws if, in any tax year in which, after 
applying certain look-through rules, either (i) at least 75% of gross income for such taxable year consists of 
passive income (e.g., dividends, interest, rents, royalties and capital gains from the sale or exchange of 
investment property) or (ii) at least 50% of the average value of the assets held by it during such taxable year 
produce, or are held for the production of, passive income. If we were a PFIC for any year during which a US 
Holder holds our ordinary shares, we generally would continue to be treated as a PFIC with respect to that US 
Holder for all succeeding years during which that US Holder holds our ordinary shares, even if we otherwise 
ceased to meet the requirements for PFIC status in that year.

As of the date of this 2024 Form 10-K, there is substantial uncertainty regarding the tax treatment of our 
financing arrangements as well as the application of the PFIC rules to such financing arrangements and, in 
particular, whether all or some of our financing arrangements are passive assets or otherwise produce passive 
income under the applicable PFIC US tax rules. As a result, although we do not believe we are currently a 
PFIC or expect to be treated as a PFIC in the foreseeable future, there can be no assurance that the IRS will 
not successfully assert that we are or were a PFIC, that all or some portion of our financing arrangements are 
passive assets or otherwise produce passive income or that a change in law or interpretation of current law, 
possibly with retroactive effect, could cause us to be treated as a PFIC in a current, future or prior taxable 
year.
If we were treated as a PFIC, a US Holder could be subject to significant adverse US tax consequences, 
including our dividend distributions would not be eligible for preferential US tax rates (as discussed above), 
interest charges and additional taxes (including penalties), on certain excess distributions, sales, exchanges 
or other dispositions of our ordinary shares and certain transactions involving our subsidiaries that are 
themselves PFICs. A US Holder may mitigate certain, but not all, of these adverse consequences by making a 
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timely “mark-to-market” election with respect to our ordinary shares. In addition, certain information 
reporting requirements would apply with respect to the ownership of our ordinary shares. The US federal 
income tax rules relating to PFICs are very complex. Shareholders are strongly encouraged to consult their 
own tax advisor with respect to the impact of the PFIC US tax rules on the purchase, ownership and 
disposition of our ordinary shares.

Specified foreign financial assets

Individual US Holders that own “specified foreign financial assets” with an aggregate value in excess of (i) 
$50,000 on the last day of the tax year or (ii) $75,000 at any time during the tax year are generally required 
to report information relating to such assets. “Specified foreign financial assets” include any financial 
accounts held at a foreign financial institution, as well as securities issued by a foreign issuer (which would 
include our ordinary shares) that are not held in accounts maintained by financial institutions. Higher 
reporting thresholds apply to certain married individuals. The applicable Treasury Regulations extend this 
reporting requirement to certain entities that are treated as formed or availed of to hold direct or indirect 
interests in “specified foreign financial assets” based on certain objective criteria. US Holders who fail to 
report the required information could be subject to substantial penalties. Shareholders are encouraged to 
consult their own tax advisor regarding reporting obligations, if any, that would result from their purchase, 
ownership or disposition of our ordinary shares.

Backup withholding and information reporting

In general, US Holders will be subject to information reporting requirements on dividends received with 
respect to our ordinary shares and the proceeds of a disposition of our ordinary shares, unless a US Holder is 
an exempt recipient (such as a corporation). Backup withholding may apply to such amounts if the US Holder 
fails to provide an accurate taxpayer identification number (generally on an IRS Form W-9) or is otherwise 
subject to backup withholding. Backup withholding is not an additional tax. A US Holder generally may obtain 
a credit for any amount withheld against its liability for US federal income tax (and obtain a refund of any 
amounts withheld in excess of such liability), provided that certain required information is timely furnished 
to the IRS.

Item 6. [ Reserved ]

Item 7. Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of 
operations 

The following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is for the year ended 
December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. This discussion should be read in 
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes thereto contained 
elsewhere in this 2024 Form 10-K. 

Beginning for the year ended December 31, 2024, Burford renamed its capital provision segment to Principal 
Finance and allocated revenue, expenses and assets from other corporate to the two reportable segments, 
since the amounts relating to certain operating and non-operating activities previously presented as other 
corporate forms part of what is used internally to measure and evaluate the performance of the reportable 
segments. As a result of this change, we also recast certain previously reported amounts to conform with the 
change in allocation of revenue, expenses and assets to each reportable segment. As we did not consider this 
to be a material change and there was no change to our total segments (Burford-only) (as defined below) 
numbers, we did not deem it necessary to include herein any discussion and analysis of the financial 
condition and results of operations of Burford for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the 
year ended December 31, 2022. Certain information contained in the following discussion and analysis 
includes forward-looking statements that involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors. 
See “Forward-looking statements”.

The following discussion and analysis also contain a discussion of certain unaudited KPIs (as defined below) 
and non-GAAP financial measures that are used by management to monitor our financial condition and results 
of operations. These KPIs and non-GAAP financial measures are supplemental and should not be considered in 
isolation from, as substitutes for, or superior to, our consolidated financial condition or results of operations 
as reported under US GAAP. See “—Basis of presentation of financial information” and “—Reconciliations” 
for additional information with respect to KPIs and non-GAAP financial measures and the applicable 
reconciliations.

The discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations of Burford for the year ended 
December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2022, can be found in the “Operating and 
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financial review and prospects” section of our annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 
2023, which was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 28, 2024.

Economic and market conditions

Our portfolio returns are driven by judicial activity, and we believe these returns are generally uncorrelated 
to market conditions or the performance of the overall economy. The most direct impact of economic and 
market conditions on our business relates to our cost of debt and ease of access to corporate debt capital 
markets, as well as movements in market rates that cause adjustments to the discount rates applied in the 
fair value of our assets and impact our quarterly revenue recognition in accordance with US GAAP. We 
believe that we maintain healthy access to corporate debt capital markets, supported by a credit rating from 
S&P that was upgraded in the third quarter 2024, and a positive rating outlook status from Moody’s as of the 
date of this 2024 Form-10K. Overall, we believe our business model is particularly resilient to economic and 
market cycles due to the nature of the assets that drive our revenues and cash flow.

More broadly, economic conditions can have an impact on the amount and type of litigation that we may 
consider financing. For example, increased rates of corporate insolvencies can lead to opportunities to 
finance litigation relating to or arising out of insolvencies and bankruptcies; higher interest rates or other 
forms of economic stress can cause businesses to act illegally (such as to conspire to fix prices), leading to 
financeable claims; and pressure from shareholders and markets can lead to the commission of securities 
fraud and other such acts, again leading to financeable claims.

See “Risk factors—Risks relating to our business and industry—We are subject to credit risk relating to our 
various legal finance assets that could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and/or liquidity” and “Risk factors—Risks relating to our business and industry—Legal, political 
and economic uncertainty surrounding the effects, severity and duration of public health threats could 
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity”.

Covid-19 

Court systems and other forms of adjudication have returned to functionality in the aftermath of the 
Covid-19 pandemic. In general, court activity has continued to work through the backlog caused by the 
Covid-19 pandemic and, during the year ended December 31, 2024, we have observed continuing portfolio 
activity. Nevertheless, some court systems continue to face backlogs, delaying adjudication. Inevitably, some 
of our matters (and thus our cash realizations from them) in jurisdictions impacted by court backlogs have 
been slowed by these dynamics. We are often protected on duration risk, however, as many of our assets 
have time-based terms that increase our absolute returns as time passes, we consider delays to be deferral of 
income rather than its permanent diminution. We have not seen the discontinuance of any matters. 

See “Risk factors—Risks relating to our business and industry—Legal, political and economic uncertainty 
surrounding the effects, severity and duration of public health threats could adversely affect our business, 
financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity”.

Inflation

The effect of inflation on our revenues is mitigated to a significant extent by a number of factors, including 
the high returns generated by capital provision assets and their relatively short weighted average lives. 
Furthermore, inflationary increases in legal case fees and expenses can increase the size of commitments, 
deployments and damages sought. Because returns on most of our assets are at least partially based upon a 
multiple of those fees and expenses, our returns on successful cases should also increase in such 
circumstances. To the degree that inflation drives higher interest rates and to the extent that pre- and post-
judgment interest rates in a particular jurisdiction are tied to market interest rates, higher inflation would 
result in increases in awards by the relevant courts. The effect of inflation on our expenses would 
predominantly be through employee costs, which represent the majority of our operating expenses, although 
a significant portion of compensation-related expenses are performance-based. Our Principal Finance costs 
include interest expenses associated with our outstanding debt securities, although these are fixed coupon 
and non-adjustable, regardless of the rate of inflation.

Party solvency

Litigation outcomes stand apart from the remainder of the conventional credit universe because they do not 
arise as a result of a contractual relationship between the judgment debtor and creditor, unlike essentially 
all other forms of credit obligation. Thus, for example, for a debtholder to recover on a defaulted debt, 
there are many steps, typically involving notice, a cure period and usually a subsequent judicial or insolvency 
proceeding that will generally sweep in other creditors, resulting in a meaningful risk of the debt being 
impaired or compromised. By contrast, a judgment creditor has immediate and unfettered rights of action, 
for example, to seize assets and garnish cash flows, meaning that a judgment creditor often has substantial 
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leverage and ability to secure payment of a judgment against even a financially distressed judgment debtor 
as long as the judgment debtor does not seek protection from creditors in a formal insolvency proceeding.

To the extent that the claimant in a matter we are financing becomes insolvent, insolvency proceedings 
typically provide for the continued prosecution of claims given that the claim is a valuable contingent asset, 
the recovery of which is in the best interests of the claimant’s stakeholders, and we are often a secured 
creditor with respect to the litigation we are financing. Nevertheless, a claimant’s insolvency may introduce 
delay in the underlying litigation while the insolvency process unfolds. To the extent that the defendant in a 
matter we are financing becomes insolvent, judgment creditors are typically unsecured creditors and the risk 
to our recovery is dependent on the financial condition of the judgment debtor and the availability of assets 
for unsecured creditors.

International sanctions on Russian businesses and individuals 

The international sanctions imposed on Russian businesses and individuals continue to impact the legal 
industry. Our legal finance assets in jurisdictions outside Russia that involve claims against entities that might 
have an ultimate Russian parent or controller (regardless of sanction status) represented in the aggregate 
$115.0 million (or approximately 2% of total fair value for capital provision assets) as of December 31, 2024 
as compared to $111.5 million (or approximately 2% of total fair value for capital provision assets) as of 
December 31, 2023. There have been no significant changes or developments with respect to the impact of 
these international sanctions on our business. We are mindful of any sanctions or other issues and work 
regularly with specialist counsel in the sanctions area (as well as ensuring compliance with all legal 
requirements, such as anti-money laundering). Where we are required to enforce judgments or awards, even 
against sanctioned entities, such enforcement tends to be consistent with the goals of international sanctions 
regimes rather than running afoul of them, and the US Office of Foreign Assets Control and the UK Office of 
Financial Sanctions Implementation regularly grant licenses to do so. We do not anticipate any adverse 
material impact on our business from the sanctions regime.

Conflict in Israel and Gaza 

As of December 31, 2024, we did not have material assets in Israel and therefore we were not materially 
impacted, nor do we anticipate any adverse material impact, from the conflict in Israel and Gaza and its 
effect on neighboring regions.

Basis of presentation of financial information

We report our consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024, and 
comparative periods contained in this 2024 Form 10-K in accordance with US GAAP. Our consolidated 
financial statements are presented in US dollars.

Non-GAAP financial measures relating to our business structure 

US GAAP requires us to present financial statements that consolidate some of the limited partner interests in 
private funds we manage as well as assets held on our balance sheet where we have a partner or minority 
investor. See note 15 (Variable interest entities) to our consolidated financial statements contained in this
2024 Form 10-K for additional information. We refer to this presentation as “consolidated” which refers to 
assets, liabilities and activities that include those third-party interests, partially owned subsidiaries and 
special purpose vehicles that we are required to consolidate under US GAAP. As of the date of this 2024 Form 
10-K, the major entities where there is also a third-party partner in, or owner of, those entities include BOF-
C, the Advantage Fund, Colorado and several other entities in which we hold investments where there is also 
a third-party partner in, or owner of, those entities. 

Additionally, we believe it is useful to provide a view of Burford as a stand-alone business (i.e., eliminating 
the impact of these private funds) by furnishing information on a non-GAAP basis that eliminates the effect 
of this consolidation. We refer to this basis of presentation as “Burford-only”. Our segment reporting, which 
conveys the performance of our business across two reportable segments – Principal Finance and Asset 
Management and Other Services – is presented on a Burford-only basis. We refer to our segment reporting in 
the aggregate as “Total segments”. Note that we have introduced more prominent segment reporting in our 
disclosures with the issuance of this 2024 Form 10-K, as we transition to reporting as a US domestic issuer. 
Disclosures labeled as “Total segments (Burford-only)” in this 2024 Form 10-K are synonymous with similar 
disclosures labeled as “Burford-only” in prior reporting periods.      

In addition to presenting our results on a consolidated basis in accordance with US GAAP, we use Burford-only 
financial measures, which are calculated and presented using methodologies other than in accordance with 
US GAAP, to supplement analysis and discussion of our consolidated financial statements. Burford-only 
financial measures exclude the proportional assets, liabilities and operating results that are attributable to 
third-party limited partners in our private funds, partners and minority investors. The presentation of 
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Burford-only financial measures is consistent with how management measures and assesses the performance 
of our reportable segments. In addition, for deployments and realizations, we use adjusted Burford-only as a 
financial measure, which is calculated by adjusting Burford-only for certain items. Accordingly, we believe 
that Burford-only and adjusted Burford-only financial measures provide valuable and useful information to 
investors to aid in understanding our performance in addition to our consolidated financial statements 
prepared in accordance with US GAAP. These non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered in 
isolation from, as a substitute for, or superior to, financial measures calculated in accordance with US GAAP. 
See “—Reconciliations” for the reconciliations of these non-GAAP financial measures to our consolidated 
financial statements prepared in accordance with US GAAP.

KPIs and non-GAAP financial measures relating to our operating and financial performance

KPIs

This 2024 Form 10-K presents certain unaudited key performance indicators (“KPIs”). The KPIs are presented 
because (i) we use them to monitor our financial condition and results of operations and/or (ii) we believe 
they are useful to investors, securities analysts and other interested parties. The KPIs, as defined by us, may 
not be comparable to similarly titled measures as presented by other companies due to differences in the 
way the KPIs are calculated. Even though the KPIs are used to assess our financial condition and results of 
operations, and these types of measures are commonly used by investors, they have important limitations as 
analytical tools and should not be considered in isolation from, as substitutes for, or superior to, our 
consolidated financial condition or results of operations prepared in accordance with US GAAP. Consistent 
with how management assesses Burford’s business, we also present certain of these KPIs on both a segment 
and a group-wide bases.

The presentation of the KPIs is for informational purposes only and does not purport to present what our 
actual financial condition or results of operations would have been, nor does it project our financial 
condition as of any future date or our results of operations for any future period. The presentation of the 
KPIs is based on information available as of the date of this 2024 Form 10-K and certain assumptions and 
estimates that we believe are reasonable. Several of the KPIs measure certain performance of our assets to 
the end of the period and include concluded and partially concluded assets (as defined below).

In discussing cash returns and performance of our asset management business, we refer to several key 
performance indicators as set forth below:

▪ Assets under management 
Consistent with our status as an SEC-registered investment adviser, we report publicly on our asset 
management business on the basis of US regulatory assets under management (“AUM”). AUM, as we 
report it, means the fair value of the capital invested in private funds and individual capital vehicles 
plus the capital that we are entitled to call from investors in those private funds and vehicles 
pursuant to the terms of their respective capital commitments to those private funds and vehicles. 
Our AUM differs from our private funds’ contribution to our group-wide portfolio, which consists of 
deployed cost, fair value adjustments and undrawn commitments made on the legal finance assets 
those private funds have financed.

▪ Concluded and partially concluded assets 
A legal finance asset is “concluded” for our purposes when there is no longer any litigation risk 
remaining. We use the term to encompass (i) entirely concluded legal finance assets where we have 
received all proceeds to which we are entitled (net of any entirely concluded losses), (ii) partially 
concluded legal finance assets where we have received some proceeds (for example, from a 
settlement with one party in a multi-party case) but where the case is continuing with the possibility 
of receiving additional proceeds and (iii) legal finance assets where the underlying litigation has been 
resolved and there is a promise to pay proceeds in the future (for example, in a settlement that is to 
be paid over time).

▪ Deployed cost 
Deployed cost is the amount of financing we have provided for an asset at the applicable point in 
time.

For purposes of calculating returns, we must consider how to allocate the costs associated with an 
asset in the event of a partial conclusion. Our approach to cost allocation depends on the type of 
asset:
◦ When single case assets have partial resolutions along the way without the entire case being 

resolved, most commonly because one party settles and the remaining part(y)/(ies) continue to 
litigate, we report the partial resolution when agreed as a partial realization and allocate a 
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portion of the deployed cost to the partial resolution depending on the significance of the 
settling party to the overall claim.

◦ In portfolio assets when a case (or part of a case) resolves or generates cash proceeds, we report 
the partial resolution when agreed as a partial realization and allocate a portion of the deployed 
cost to the resolution. The allocation depends on the structure of the individual portfolio 
arrangement and the significance of the resolution to the overall portfolio, but it is in essence a 
method that mimics the way an investor would allocate cost basis across a portfolio of security 
purchases.

▪ Commitment 
A commitment is the amount of financing we agree to provide for a legal finance asset. Commitments 
can be definitive (requiring us to provide financing on a schedule or, more often, when certain 
expenses are incurred) or discretionary (allowing us to provide financing after reviewing and 
approving a future matter). Commitments for which we have not yet provided financing are unfunded 
commitments.

▪ Internal rate of return 
Internal rate of return (“IRR”) is a discount rate that makes the net present value of a series of cash 
flows equal to zero and is expressed as a percentage figure. We compute IRR on concluded (including 
partially concluded) legal finance assets by treating that entire portfolio (or, when noted, a subset 
thereof) as one undifferentiated pool of capital and measuring actual and, if necessary, estimated 
inflows and outflows from that pool, allocating costs appropriately. IRRs do not include unrealized 
gains or losses.

▪ Return on invested capital 
Return on invested capital (“ROIC”) from a concluded asset is the absolute amount of realizations 
from such asset in excess of the amount of expenditure incurred in financing such asset divided by 
the amount of expenditure incurred, expressed as a percentage figure. ROIC is a measure of our 
ability to generate absolute returns on our assets. Some industry participants express returns on a 
multiple of invested capital (“MOIC”) instead of a ROIC basis. MOIC includes the return of capital 
and, therefore, is 1x higher than ROIC. In other words, 70% ROIC is the same as 1.70x MOIC. 

▪ Weighted average life 
Weighted average life (“WAL”) of one of our legal finance assets represents the average length of 
time from deployment and/or cash outlay until we receive a cash realization (actual or, if necessary, 
estimated) from that asset weighted by the amount of that realization or deployment, as applicable. 
In other words, WAL is how long our asset is outstanding on average. 
Unlike our IRR and ROIC calculations, using the aggregate cash flows from the portfolio in making our 
portfolio level computations will not readily work with WAL computations because our assets are 
originated in different timeframes. Instead, in calculating a portfolio WAL, we compute a weighted 
average of the individual asset WALs. In doing this, we weight the individual WALs by the costs 
deployed on the asset and also, as a separate calculation, by the amount of realizations on the 
individual assets.

▪ Portfolio

Portfolio is defined as the fair value of capital provision assets plus the undrawn commitments to 
capital provision assets.

Non-GAAP financial measures

In addition to these measures of cash returns and performance of our asset management business, we also 
refer to cash receipts, tangible book value attributable to Burford Capital Limited and tangible book value 
attributable to Burford Capital Limited per ordinary share, which are non-GAAP financial measures: 

▪ Cash receipts 
Cash receipts provide a measure of the cash that our capital provision and other assets generate 
during a given period as well as cash from certain other fees and income. In particular, cash receipts 
represent the cash generated from capital provision and other assets, including cash proceeds from 
realized or concluded assets and any related hedging assets, and cash received from asset 
management income, services and/or other income, before any deployments into financing existing 
or new assets.

Cash receipts are a non-GAAP financial measure and should not be considered in isolation from, as a 
substitute for, or superior to, financial measures calculated in accordance with US GAAP. The most 
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directly comparable measure calculated in accordance with US GAAP is proceeds from capital 
provision assets as set forth in our consolidated statements of cash flows. We believe that cash 
receipts are an important measure of our operating and financial performance and are useful to 
management and investors when assessing the performance of our Burford-only capital provision 
assets. See “—Reconciliations—Cash receipts reconciliations” for a reconciliation of cash receipts to 
proceeds from capital provision assets, the most comparable measure calculated in accordance with 
US GAAP.

▪ Tangible book value attributable to Burford Capital Limited and tangible book value attributable 
to Burford Capital Limited per ordinary share
Tangible book value attributable to Burford Capital Limited is calculated by subtracting intangible 
assets (such as goodwill) from total Burford Capital Limited equity. Tangible book value attributable 
to Burford Capital Limited per ordinary share is calculated by dividing tangible book value 
attributable to Burford Capital Limited by the total number of outstanding ordinary shares.

Each of tangible book value attributable to Burford Capital Limited and tangible book value 
attributable to Burford Capital Limited per ordinary share is a non-GAAP financial measure and should 
not be considered in isolation from, as a substitute for, or superior to, financial measures calculated 
in accordance with US GAAP. The most directly comparable measure calculated in accordance with 
US GAAP is total Burford Capital Limited equity as set forth in our consolidated statements of 
financial condition. We believe that tangible book value attributable to Burford Capital Limited and 
tangible book value attributable to Burford Capital Limited per ordinary share are important 
measures of our financial condition and are useful to management and investors when assessing 
capital adequacy and our ability to generate earnings on tangible equity invested by our 
shareholders. See “—Reconciliations—Tangible book value attributable to Burford Capital Limited 
and tangible book value attributable to Burford Capital Limited per ordinary share reconciliations” 
for reconciliations of tangible book value attributable to Burford Capital Limited and tangible book 
value attributable to Burford Capital Limited per ordinary share to total Burford Capital Limited 
equity, the most comparable measure calculated in accordance with US GAAP.

Results of operations and financial condition

Set forth below is a discussion of our consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 
2024 and 2023, and our consolidated financial condition as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, in each case, on 
a consolidated basis, unless otherwise noted. 

In this section, any references to 2024 refers to the year ended December 31, 2024 and any references to 
2023 refers to the year ended December 31, 2023.

Consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to the year 
ended December 31, 2023 

Overview 

The table below sets forth a summary of our consolidated statements of operations for the periods indicated.
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Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change
Total revenues $ 546,087 $ 1,086,902 $ (540,815)  (50) %

Total operating expenses  155,485  271,236  (115,751)  (43) %

Operating income/(loss)  390,602  815,666  (425,064)  (52) %

Total other expenses  137,014  77,383  59,631  77 %

Income/(loss) before income taxes  253,588  738,283  (484,695)  (66) %

Provision for/(benefit from) income taxes  24,005  20,084  3,921  19.5 %

Net income/(loss)  229,583  718,199  (488,616)  (68) %

Net income attributable to non-controlling interests  83,099  107,677  (24,578)  (23) %

Net income/(loss) attributable to Burford Capital 
Limited shareholders  146,484  610,522  (464,038)  (76) %
Note: “NM” denotes not meaningful. Changes from negative to positive amounts and positive to negative amounts, increases or decreases from zero and 
changes greater than 700% are not considered meaningful.

Total revenues decreased 50% for the year ended December 31, 2024, mainly due to the absence of large fair 
value increases in capital provision income for the YPF-related assets, which occurred during 2023, arising 
from two separate milestone events, the March 2023 Ruling (as defined below) and the September 2023 Final 
Judgment (as defined below). However, realizations increased year-over-year, resulting in a 75% increase in 
net realized gains to $439.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The decrease in total revenues 
was partially offset by a decrease in operating expenses primarily due to a decrease in compensation-related 
accruals. The net result was $146.5 million in net income attributable to Burford Capital Limited 
shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to net income of $610.5 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2023.

Revenues 

The table below sets forth the components of our total revenues for the periods indicated.

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change
Capital provision income/(loss) $ 552,066 $ 1,341,923 $ (789,857)  (59) %

Plus/(Less): Third-party interests in capital provision assets  (42,384)  (279,263)  236,879  (85) %

Asset management income/(loss)  8,340  7,642  698  9 %

Marketable securities income/(loss) and interest  25,014  12,208  12,806  105 %

Other income/(loss)  3,051  4,392  (1,341)  (31) %

Total revenues  546,087  1,086,902  (540,815)  (50) %

Capital provision income/(loss)

The table below sets forth the components of our capital provision income for the periods indicated.

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change
Net realized gains/(losses) $ 439,665 $ 251,618 $ 188,047  75 %

Fair value adjustment during the period, net of previously 
recognized unrealized gains/(losses) transferred to realized 
gains/(losses)  127,981  1,081,644  (953,663)  (88) %

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)  (15,701)  8,012  (23,713) NM

Other  121  649  (528)  (81) %

Total capital provision income/(loss)  552,066  1,341,923  (789,857)  (59) %

For the year ended December 31, 2024, net realized gains were $439.7 million, comprising $476.1 million of 
gross realized gains, offset by gross realized losses of $41.9 million. For the year ended December 31, 2023, 
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net realized gains were $251.6 million, comprising $322.6 million of gross realized gains, offset by gross 
realized losses of $71.0 million. The increase in net realized gains is due to more case activity during 2024, 
which led to favorable conclusions and in higher amounts. The 75% increase in net realized gains includes 
three realizations that each individually exceeded $40.0 million in realized gains and together generated 
$170.6 million in realized gains in 2024. Overall, net realized gains resulted from $907.0 million in 
realizations for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to $708.3 million in realizations for the year 
ended December 31, 2023.

Fair value adjustments, net of previously recognized unrealized gains/(losses) transferred to realized gains, 
are affected by a number of factors, including changes in discount rate, duration and litigation risk premium, 
the reversal of previously recognized unrealized gains upon conclusion of a matter and its transfer to realized 
gains and actual performance of matters as they pass through milestones. All of those factors contributed to 
the unrealized gain of $128.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to an unrealized 
gain of $1.1 billion for the year ended December 31, 2023, which included $127.2 million and $820.0 million 
for YPF-related assets for 2024 and 2023, respectively. Excluding the fair value adjustments on the YPF-
related assets for both 2024 and 2023, fair value adjustments, net of previously recognized unrealized gains/
(losses) transferred to realized gains, decreased 100% year-over-year, largely impacted by the transfer of 
previously recognized unrealized gains to realized gains from the realizations of certain assets that occurred 
in 2024.

As part of our fair value methodology, we discount the expected future cash flows. If discount rates had 
remained unchanged from December 31, 2023, applying those same rates to the portfolio at December 31, 
2024 fair value would have been approximately $8.7 million higher than as reported. The weighted average 
discount rate across the portfolio slightly decreased to 6.9% as of December 31, 2024, from 7.0% as of 
December 31, 2023, and interest sensitivities of the portfolio to assumed basis point changes in rates at each 
period end are disclosed in “—Critical accounting estimates—Fair value of capital provision assets”. Fair 
value is also impacted by changes in the adjusted risk premium, which was slightly up at 31.4% as of 
December 31, 2024, from 30.2% as of December 31, 2023. The impact of the addition of newly acquired or 
originated capital provision assets during the period (which generally have higher risk premiums at the start 
of the capital provision asset’s life) was offset by net favorable developments across the rest of the portfolio.

Plus/(Less): Third-party interests in capital provision assets

Third-party interests in capital provision assets reduced capital provision income by $42.4 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2024, as compared to a $279.3 million reduction for the year ended December 31, 2023. 
While increases in the fair value of the YPF-related assets drive offsetting reductions due to the third-party 
interests in that matter, those increases were considerably smaller in 2024, given the absence of the 2023 
events that drove fair value increases in that year.

Asset management income/(loss)

Asset management income increased 9% for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to higher 
performance fee income earned during 2024. The timing of the recognition of performance fees is variable as 
they are recognized when a reliable estimate of the performance fees can be made, and it is probable that a 
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur. The maturity and the 
terms of the applicable distribution waterfall for each of our private funds impacts this timing. As BOF-C is a 
consolidated entity, asset management income from this private fund is eliminated on a consolidated basis 
and is not reflected here. See “—Asset Management and Other Services segment” for a discussion of our asset 
management income, reflecting the impact of the income from BOF-C.

Marketable securities income/(loss) and interest

Marketable securities income and interest increased 105% for the year ended December 31, 2024, mainly 
driven by higher income earned from our cash and cash equivalents, primarily due to larger average balances 
and higher interest rates throughout 2024, as compared to 2023.

Other income/(loss)

Other income decreased 31% for the year ended December 31, 2024, as there were more Burford Worldwide 
Insurance Limited matters closed in 2023 than in 2024.

Operating expenses

The table below sets forth the components of our total operating expenses for the periods indicated. 
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Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change
Salaries and benefits $ 42,418 $ 39,788 $ 2,630  7 %

Annual incentive compensation  29,210  32,697  (3,487)  (11) %

Share-based and deferred compensation  8,822  21,128  (12,306)  (58) %

Long-term incentive compensation including accruals  43,209  127,471  (84,262)  (66) %

Total compensation and benefits  123,659  221,084  (97,425)  (44) %

General, administrative and other  31,025  33,656  (2,631)  (8) %

Case-related expenditures ineligible for inclusion in asset cost  801  16,496  (15,695)  (95) %

Total operating expenses  155,485  271,236  (115,751)  (43) %

Total operating expenses decreased 43% for the year ended December 31, 2024, driven primarily by lower 
fair value driven compensation-related accruals and lower case-related expenditures ineligible for inclusion 
in asset cost due to the resolution of certain assets in 2023 and recoveries from an insurance policy in 2024.

The decrease in long-term incentive compensation including accruals is primarily attributable to the absence 
in the year ended December 31, 2024, of large fair value increases in the YPF-related assets as a result of the 
March 2023 Ruling (as defined below) and the September 2023 Final Judgment (as defined below).

Case-related expenditures ineligible for inclusion in asset cost significantly decreased for the year ended 
December 31, 2024, reflecting a decrease in the level of expenses and instances where we incur legal or 
other related expenses that are directly attributable to a capital provision asset but that do not form part of 
the deployed amount under a capital provision agreement, such as when we bear incremental legal expenses 
in cases. Examples of such expenses include fees paid to third parties when our management has sought its 
own legal advice or expert opinion with respect to matters related to a capital provision asset. These 
expenses are expected to fluctuate period-over-period and accounted for $2.7 million and $14.7 million of 
total case-related expenditures ineligible for inclusion in asset cost for the year ended December 31, 2024 
and 2023, respectively. During 2024, we also resolved a long-running coverage dispute with our insurance 
carrier over payment of some such expenditures in matters where claims had been made against us, resulting 
in a $3.8 million payment that reduced case-related expenditures for 2024.

Case-related expenditures ineligible for inclusion in asset cost also include some situations where we are 
effectively the claimant in a litigation matter either due to the acquisition of assets or the assignment of a 
claim. Such expenditures accounted for $1.9 million and $1.8 million of the total case-related expenditures 
ineligible for inclusion in asset cost for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. While we 
report these costs as expenses for accounting purposes, we treat them for return and performance purposes 
no differently than traditional legal finance arrangements.

Other expenses

The table below sets forth the components our total other expenses for the periods indicated.

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change
Finance costs $ 135,593 $ 99,135 $ 36,458  37 %

Foreign currency transactions (gains)/losses  1,421  (21,752)  23,173 NM

Total other expenses  137,014  77,383  59,631  77 %

Finance costs

Finance costs increased 37% for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to the inclusion in 2024 of 
interest expense related to the Additional 2031 Notes (as defined below) issued in January 2024 and to the 
2031 Notes issued in June 2023, partially offset by the early redemption of the 6.125% bonds due 2024 in July 
2023.

Foreign currency transactions (gains)/losses

Foreign currency transactions (gains)/losses were losses of $1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 
2024, as compared to gains of $21.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The year-over-year 
change was primarily driven by the absence of a $19.3 million foreign currency gain from a capital 
redemption between subsidiaries with different functional currencies that occurred during 2023.
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Provision for/(benefit from) income taxes

The table below sets forth our provision for/(benefit from) income taxes for the periods indicated. 

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change
Provision for/(benefit from) income taxes: $ 24,005 $ 20,084 $ 3,921  20 %

Provision for income taxes increased 20% for the year ended December 31, 2024, due primarily to limitations 
on deductions and use of net operating losses in various jurisdictions, as compared to 2023, as well as more 
of our reported net income before taxes having been earned in jurisdictions with higher statutory tax rates. 
Cash taxes paid were $19.5 million and $14.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively.

The OECD has introduced Pillar Two which is considered an alternative minimum tax accounted for as a 
period cost that would impact our future effective tax rate in the year in which the Pillar Two tax obligation 
arises. Guernsey as well as certain countries in which we operate have enacted legislation to implement 
Pillar Two. It is important to note, however, Pillar Two tax obligation only arises as of the tax year following 
a period after a multi-national enterprise has earned annual consolidated revenues of at least €750 million in 
at least two out of the prior four accounting periods.

Based on our annual consolidated revenues over the past several years, we are not currently subject to the 
OECD Pillar Two mandate. Notwithstanding this fact, we have assessed the potential impact of Pillar Two 
based on laws enacted as of the date of this 2024 Form 10-K and there was no material effect on our current 
effective tax rate, business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity for the year ended 
December 31, 2024. Based on this assessment and the prospective nature of the effective date of the 
application of the Pillar Two rules, we also do not currently anticipate any material effect on our effective 
tax rate, business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity for the year ending December 
31, 2025. See “Risk factors—Changes in tax laws and regulations or unanticipated tax liabilities could affect 
our effective tax rate, business, financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity” for additional 
information with respect to the risks relating to Pillar Two.

Net income/(loss) attributable to non-controlling interests

The table below sets forth our net income/(loss) attributable to non-controlling interests for the periods 
indicated.

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change
Net income/(loss) attributable to non-controlling interests: $ 83,099 $ 107,677 $ (24,578)  (23) %

We consolidate certain entities that have other shareholders and/or investors, including the Advantage Fund 
and BOF-C. The Advantage Fund does not have a traditional management and performance fee structure, but 
instead we retain any excess returns after the first 10% of annual simple returns are remitted to the 
Advantage Fund’s investors. With respect to BOF-C, under the co-investing arrangement with the sovereign 
wealth fund, we (in our capacity as the appointed investment adviser) receive reimbursement of expenses 
from BOF-C up to a certain level before we or the sovereign wealth fund, as applicable, receive a return of 
capital. After the repayment of capital, we then receive a portion of the return generated from the assets 
held by BOF-C. We include 100% of the Advantage Fund’s and BOF-C’s income and expenses in the applicable 
line items in our consolidated statements of operations (for example, 100% of the income on the Advantage 
Fund’s and BOF-C’s capital provision assets is included in capital provision income in our consolidated 
statements of operations), and the net amount of those income and expense line items that relate to third-
party interests is included in net income attributable to non-controlling interests. In turn, this net amount is 
deducted from net income to arrive at net income attributable to Burford Capital Limited shareholders in our 
consolidated statements of operations. Net income attributable to non-controlling interests does not include 
Colorado. See note 2 (Summary of significant accounting policies—Consolidation) to our consolidated 
financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K for additional information with respect to our 
consolidation policies.

Net income attributable to non-controlling interests decreased 23% for the year ended December 31, 2024, 
reflecting non-controlling interests’ share of income on capital provision assets, the majority of which relates 
to the decrease in the capital provision income for BOF-C.
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Consolidated statements of financial condition as of December 31, 2024 as compared to December 31, 
2023

The table below sets forth specified line items from our consolidated statements of financial condition as of 
the dates indicated.

December 31

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change
Cash and cash equivalents $ 469,930 $ 220,549 $ 249,381  113 %

Marketable securities  79,020  107,561  (28,541)  (27) %

Other assets  61,006  63,464  (2,458)  (4) %

Due from settlement of capital provision assets  183,858  265,540  (81,682)  (31) %

Capital provision assets  5,243,917  5,045,388  198,529  4 %

Cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities

Cash and cash equivalents increased 113% and marketable securities decreased 27% both as of December 31, 
2024. The net increase in cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities primarily reflects the proceeds 
received from capital provision assets and from the issuance of the Additional 2031 Notes (as defined below) 
in January 2024, partially offset by the funding of capital provision assets and the impact from third-party 
net distributions as well as from the partial redemption of the 6.125% bonds due 2025 and the payment of 
dividends.

Other assets 

Other assets was $61.0 million as of December 31, 2024, which remained relatively flat as compared to 
December 31, 2023.

Due from settlement of capital provision assets

Due from settlement of capital provision assets decreased 31% as of December 31, 2024, primarily as a result 
of collections of due from settlement receivables and the impact of realizations during 2024. Of the $265.5 
million of due from settlement receivables as of December 31, 2023, 97% was collected in cash during 2024.

Capital provision assets

Capital provision assets increased 4% as of December 31, 2024, primarily reflecting fair value gains generated 
in 2024, and continued deployments into capital provision assets, partially offset by the impact of 
realizations.

Fair value of capital provision assets

Valuation policy

See note 2 (Summary of significant accounting policies—Fair value of financial instruments) to our
consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K for a description of our valuation policy 
for capital provision assets.

Fair value of capital provision assets

The table below sets forth the fair value of capital provision assets, comprised of deployed cost and 
unrealized gains, for the YPF-related assets and other assets as of the dates indicated. 
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December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Total Total

Third-party segments Third-party segments

($ in thousands) Consolidated interests (Burford-only) Consolidated interests (Burford-only)

Capital provision assets $ 5,243,917 $ (1,672,693) $ 3,571,224 $ 5,045,388 $ (1,613,276) $ 3,432,112 

Deployed costs  2,341,377  (668,784)  1,672,593  2,280,563  (668,281)  1,612,282 

Deployed costs on YPF-
related assets  76,405  (6,829)  69,576  67,167  (6,829)  60,338 

Deployed costs on non-YPF-
related assets  2,264,972  (661,955)  1,603,017  2,213,396  (661,452)  1,551,944 

Unrealized gains  2,902,540  (1,003,909)  1,898,631  2,764,825  (944,995)  1,819,830 

Unrealized gains on YPF-
related assets  2,118,112  (722,213)  1,395,899  1,990,950  (679,631)  1,311,319 

Unrealized gains on non-YPF-
related assets  784,428  (281,696)  502,732  773,875  (265,364)  508,511 

On a consolidated basis, the aggregate fair value of our capital provision assets was $5.2 billion, the 
aggregate deployed cost was $2.3 billion and the aggregate unrealized gains were $2.9 billion each as of 
December 31, 2024. The increase of $60.8 million in deployed cost is a result of deployments during 2024, 
offset by the return of capital from realizations. See “—Consolidated statements of operations for the year 
ended December 31, 2024 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023—Revenues” above for 
additional information with respect to the change in unrealized gains, which is driven by this period’s fair 
value adjustment, net of previously recognized unrealized gains transferred to realized gains.

Within total segments (Burford-only), the aggregate fair value of our capital provision assets was $3.6 billion, 
the aggregate deployed cost was $1.7 billion and the aggregate unrealized gains were $1.9 billion each as of 
December 31, 2024. The increase of $60.3 million in deployed cost is a result of deployments during 2024, 
offset by the return of capital from realizations. See “—Segments—Principal Finance segment—Gains from 
capital provision asset portfolio” for additional information with respect to the change in unrealized gains, 
which is driven by this period’s fair value adjustment, net of previously recognized unrealized gains 
transferred to realized gains.

Fair value of YPF-related assets 

The determination of the fair value of the YPF-related assets—our financing of the Petersen and Eton Park 
claims (as described below)—is based on the same methodology that we use to value all our other capital 
provision assets. In June 2019, we sold a portion of the Petersen claim, constituting $100.0 million of a 
$148.0 million placement, to a number of institutional investors. Other third-party holders sold the remaining 
portion. Given the size of this sale and the participation of a meaningful number of third-party institutional 
investors, we concluded that this market evidence should be factored into our valuation process of the YPF-
related assets. As a result, we have utilized the implicit valuation of the Petersen claim to calibrate our 
model to determine the fair value of the YPF-related assets in subsequent periods through December 31, 
2024. Episodic subsequent trading of portions of the Petersen claim have not been factored into our valuation 
process of the YPF-related assets.

On March 31, 2023, the US District Court for the Southern District of New York (the “Court”) issued its 
opinion and order (the “March 2023 Ruling”) in connection with the summary judgment motions filed by the 
parties in the Petersen and Eton Park cases against the Republic of Argentina and YPF S.A. In summary, the 
Court decided that (i) Argentina was liable to Petersen and Eton Park for failing to make a tender offer for 
their YPF shares in 2012, (ii) YPF was not liable for failing to enforce its bylaws against Argentina, (iii) the 
various arguments Argentina had made to try to reduce its damages liability from the straightforward 
application of the formula in the bylaws were unavailing and (iv) an evidentiary hearing was needed to 
resolve two factual issues to enable the computation of damages, where those issues were (1) the date on 
which the Republic of Argentina should have made a tender offer for YPF S.A.’s shares and (2) the 
appropriate rate of pre-judgment interest to be applied.

On September 8, 2023, the Court issued its findings of fact and conclusions of law in connection with the 
Petersen and Eton Park cases against the Republic of Argentina and YPF S.A. In summary, the Court decided 
the issues raised at the evidentiary hearing in Petersen’s and Eton Park’s favor, holding that the appropriate 
date for the tender offer was April 16, 2012, and that pre-judgment interest should run from May 3, 2012, at 
a simple interest rate of 8%.
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On September 15, 2023, the Court issued a final judgment (the “September 2023 Final Judgment”) that 
resulted in a complete win by Petersen and Eton Park with respect to damages against the Republic of 
Argentina of $16.1 billion, comprised of $14.3 billion due to Petersen and $1.7 billion due to Eton Park. The 
September 2023 Final Judgment awards post-judgment interest at a rate of 5.42% per annum, computed daily 
to the date of payment and compounded annually. On October 10, 2023, the Republic of Argentina filed a 
notice of appeal with the US Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit and, on October 18, 2023, Petersen and 
Eton Park filed a notice a cross-appeal as to the dismissal of their claims against YPF S.A. On August 23, 2024, 
briefing on the appeal and cross-appeal was completed.

On a consolidated basis, the fair value of the YPF-related assets (both Petersen and Eton Park combined) was 
$2.2 billion as of December 31, 2024. Our cost basis and unrealized gains increased $9.2 million and $127.2 
million to $76.4 million and $2.1 billion, respectively, during 2024, due to the progression closer to our 
expected conclusion date.

Within total segments (Burford-only), the fair value of the YPF-related assets (both Petersen and Eton Park 
combined) was $1.5 billion as of December 31, 2024. Our cost basis and our unrealized gains increased $9.2 
million and $84.6 million to $69.6 million and $1.4 billion, respectively, during 2024, due to the progression 
closer to our expected conclusion date.

Undrawn commitments 

Undrawn commitments are unfunded commitments which are attributable to our capital provision asset 
portfolio and can be divided into two categories: definitive and discretionary.

▪ Definitive commitments are those where we are contractually obligated to advance incremental 
capital and failure to do so would typically result in adverse contractual consequences (such as a 
dilution in our returns or the loss of our deployed capital in a case). 

▪ Discretionary commitments are those where we retain a considerable degree of discretion over 
whether to advance capital and generally would not suffer an adverse financial consequence from 
not doing so

The table below sets forth the components of our total capital provision undrawn commitments as of the 
dates indicated.

December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change

Definitive $ 962,808 $ 839,973 $ 122,835  15 %

Discretionary  1,032,433  977,733  54,700  6 %

Legal risk (definitive)  41,318  55,583  (14,265)  (26) %

Total capital provision undrawn commitments  2,036,559  1,873,289  163,270  9 %

As of December 31, 2024 approximately 49% of our legal finance undrawn commitments related to definitive 
commitments and approximately 51% related to discretionary, as compared to 48% and 52%, respectively as 
of December 31, 2023.

Segments

We have two reportable segments through which we provide legal finance products and services to our 
clients: (i) Principal Finance and (ii) Asset Management and Other Services. 

Our Principal Finance segment funds capital to legal finance assets from Burford’s balance sheet, primarily as 
capital provision assets, and in limited scope through interests in private funds managed by Burford. These 
capital provision assets and private fund interests generate our capital provision income, which is the most 
significant driver of our total revenues. 

Our Asset Management and Other Services segment manages legal finance assets on behalf of third-party 
investors, and we provide other services to the legal industry for both of which we receive fees. These fees 
are primarily reflected as asset management income, which is a secondary contributor to our total revenues. 
As of December 31, 2024, we operated eight private funds and three “sidecar” funds as an investment 
adviser registered with and regulated by the SEC.

The Asset Management and Other Services segment may also reflect the financial impact of new initiatives in 
the legal services space, including initial diligence and start-up costs, which may impact segment-level 
profitability.
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Statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2023

The table below sets forth the components of our income/(loss) before income taxes by segment for the 
periods indicated. 

Reconciliation

($ in thousands)
Principal 
Finance

Asset 
Management and 

Other Services

Total 
segments 

(Burford-only)
Reconciling 

items(1) Consolidated
Year ended December 31, 2024

Total revenues $ 412,702 $ 47,678 $ 460,380 $ 85,707 $ 546,087 

Total operating expenses  125,713  27,341  153,054  2,431  155,485 

Total other expenses  136,837  —  136,837  177  137,014 

Income/(loss) before income taxes  150,152  20,337  170,489  83,099  253,588 

Year ended December 31, 2023

Total revenues  908,438  68,104  976,542  110,360  1,086,902 

Total operating expenses  240,513  28,025  268,538  2,698  271,236 

Total other expenses  77,399  —  77,399  (16)  77,383 

Income/(loss) before income taxes  590,526  40,079  630,605  107,678  738,283 

Change

Total revenues  (495,736)  (20,426)  (516,162)  (24,653)  (540,815) 

Total operating expenses  (114,800)  (684)  (115,484)  (267)  (115,751) 

Total other expenses  59,438  —  59,438  193  59,631 

Income/(loss) before income taxes  (440,374)  (19,742)  (460,116)  (24,579)  (484,695) 
1. Reconciling items include the proportional operating results that are attributable to third-party limited partners and minority investors in consolidated 
entities, including BOF-C, the Strategic Value Fund, the Advantage Fund and Colorado.

The absence of large fair value increases in capital provision income for the YPF-related assets, which 
occurred in 2023, was a significant driver of the decrease in income before income taxes for the year ended 
December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023 on both a consolidated and total 
segments (Burford-only) basis. However, an increase in realizations resulting in a 75% increase in net realized 
gains year-over-year, on both a consolidated and total segments (Burford-only) basis, helped to offset the 
absence of large fair value increases for the YPF-related assets. Additionally, a decrease in operating 
expenses, for both consolidated and total segments (Burford-only), in each case primarily due to a decrease 
in compensation-related accruals, helped to partially offset the decrease in income before income taxes. The 
net result was $253.6 million and $170.5 million in income before income taxes for the year ended 
December 31, 2024, on a consolidated and total segments (Burford-only) basis, respectively. For the year-
over-year discussion of each of the reportable segments, refer to the specific segment sections further 
below.
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The table below sets forth the components of our operating expenses by consolidated and total segments 
(Burford-only) for the periods indicated.

Reconciliation

($ in thousands)
Total segments 
(Burford-only)

Reconciling 
items(1) Consolidated

Year ended December 31, 2024

Compensation and benefits

Salaries and benefits $ 42,418 $ — $ 42,418 

Annual incentive compensation  29,210  —  29,210 

Share-based and deferred compensation  8,822  —  8,822 

Long-term incentive compensation including accruals  43,209  —  43,209 

General, administrative and other  30,452  573  31,025 

Case-related expenditures ineligible for inclusion in asset cost  (1,057)  1,858  801 

Total operating expenses  153,054  2,431  155,485 

Year ended December 31, 2023

Compensation and benefits

Salaries and benefits  39,788  —  39,788 

Annual incentive compensation  32,697  —  32,697 

Share-based and deferred compensation  21,128  —  21,128 

Long-term incentive compensation including accruals  127,471  —  127,471 

General, administrative and other  32,783  873  33,656 

Case-related expenditures ineligible for inclusion in asset cost  14,671  1,825  16,496 

Total operating expenses  268,538  2,698  271,236 

Change

Compensation and benefits

Salaries and benefits  2,630  —  2,630 

Annual incentive compensation  (3,487)  —  (3,487) 

Share-based and deferred compensation  (12,306)  —  (12,306) 

Long-term incentive compensation including accruals  (84,262)  —  (84,262) 

General, administrative and other  (2,331)  (300)  (2,631) 

Case-related expenditures ineligible for inclusion in asset cost  (15,728)  33  (15,695) 

Total operating expenses  (115,484)  (267)  (115,751) 
1. Adjusted for third-party interests in non-wholly owned consolidated entities, which included BOF-C, the Strategic Value Fund, the Advantage Fund, 
Colorado and several other entities in which the Company holds investments and there is a third-party partner in, or owner of, those entities.

Total operating expenses, for the year ended December 31, 2024, decreased $115.8 million for consolidated 
and decreased $115.5 million for total segments (Burford-only). In each case, the decrease in total operating 
expenses was driven primarily by lower long-term incentive compensation accruals, which was driven by the 
absence in 2024 of large fair value increases in the YPF-related assets, and lower case-related expenditures 
ineligible for inclusion in asset cost due to the resolution of certain assets in 2023 and recoveries from an 
insurance policy in 2024.
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Statements of financial condition as of December 31, 2024, as compared to December 31, 2023

The table below sets forth the components of our consolidated statements of financial condition by segment 
as of the dates indicated.

Reconciliation

($ in thousands)
Principal 
Finance

Asset 
Management and 

Other Services

Total 
segments 

(Burford-only)
Reconciling 

items(1) Consolidated
Year ended December 31, 2024

Cash and cash equivalents and marketable 
securities $ 508,031 $ 12,650 $ 520,681 $ 28,269 $ 548,950 

Other assets $ 23,711 $ 151,770 $ 175,481 $ (114,475) $ 61,006 

Due from settlement of capital provision assets $ 183,651 $ — $ 183,651 $ 207 $ 183,858 

Capital provision assets $ 3,571,224 $ — $ 3,571,224 $ 1,672,693 $ 5,243,917 

Total assets $ 4,397,954 $ 190,377 $ 4,588,331 $ 1,586,694 $ 6,175,025 

Year ended December 31, 2023

Cash and cash equivalents and marketable 
securities $ 291,386 $ 12,090 $ 303,476 $ 24,634 $ 328,110 

Other assets $ 26,165 $ 133,952 $ 160,117 $ (96,653) $ 63,464 

Due from settlement of capital provision assets $ 185,267 $ — $ 185,267 $ 80,273 $ 265,540 

Capital provision assets $ 3,432,112 $ — $ 3,432,112 $ 1,613,276 $ 5,045,388 

Total assets $ 4,043,848 $ 172,016 $ 4,215,864 $ 1,621,530 $ 5,837,394 

Change

Cash and cash equivalents and marketable 
securities $ 216,645 $ 560 $ 217,205 $ 3,635 $ 220,840 

Other assets $ (2,454) $ 17,818 $ 15,364 $ (17,822) $ (2,458) 

Due from settlement of capital provision assets $ (1,616) $ — $ (1,616) $ (80,066) $ (81,682) 

Capital provision assets $ 139,112 $ — $ 139,112 $ 59,417 $ 198,529 

Total assets $ 354,106 $ 18,361 $ 372,467 $ (34,836) $ 337,631 
1. Reconciling items include the proportional operating results that are attributable to third-party limited partners and minority investors in consolidated 
entities, including BOF-C, the Strategic Value Fund, the Advantage Fund and Colorado.

Total assets, as of December 31, 2024, increased $337.6 million for consolidated and increased $372.5 million 
for total segments (Burford-only). In each case, the increase in total assets can be attributable to increases 
in cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities and increases in capital provision assets. See “—
Consolidated statements of financial condition as of December 31, 2024, as compared to December 31, 
2023” above for additional information on the components of our consolidated statements of financial 
condition. For the year-over-year discussion of each of the reportable segments, refer to the specific 
segment sections further below.
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Group-wide portfolio

Group-wide portfolio refers to the totality of assets managed by us, which includes assets financed by our 
balance sheet through our Principal Finance segment and assets financed by third-party capital through our 
Asset Management and Other Services segment. The table below sets forth the components of our portfolio 
by segment as of the dates indicated.

December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change

Capital provision assets - Principal Finance segment

Fair value $ 3,571,224 $ 3,432,112 $ 139,112  4 %

Undrawn commitments  1,632,856  1,408,005  224,851  16 %

Total portfolio value - Principal Finance segment  5,204,080  4,840,117  363,963  8 %

Capital provision assets (funded by third parties) - Asset 
Management and Other Services segment

Fair value  1,353,893  1,385,958  (32,065)  (2) %

Undrawn commitments  491,186  582,924  (91,738)  (16) %

Total  1,845,079  1,968,882  (123,803)  (6) %

Post-settlement

Fair value  272,424  298,854  (26,430)  (9) %

Undrawn commitments  67,961  62,455  5,506  9 %

Total  340,385  361,309  (20,924)  (6) %

Total portfolio value - Asset Management and Other 
Services segment  2,185,464  2,330,191  (144,727)  (6) %

Capital provision assets - group-wide portfolio

Fair value  5,197,541  5,116,924  80,617  2 %

Undrawn commitments  2,192,003  2,053,384  138,619  7 %

Total group-wide portfolio  7,389,544  7,170,308  219,236  3 %

Group-wide portfolio increased 3% as of December 31, 2024, comprised of increases in the fair value of 
capital provision assets (driven largely by increases in financing) and increases in undrawn commitments for 
capital provision assets (driven by new commitments added during the year). For the year-over-year 
discussion of each of the reportable segments, refer to the specific segment sections further below.

Group-wide new commitments 

New commitments reflect new contractual financing agreements, which are inflows to the portfolio, and 
serve as one indicator for new business activity. When referring to new commitments for our combined 
business segments, we use the term “group-wide”, as opposed to total segments (Burford-only) which we use 
for our financial results, due to the third-party nature of the capital in our asset management business. The 
table below sets forth the components of our group-wide new commitments of capital provision assets by 
segment for the periods indicated.

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change

Principal Finance segment (Burford-only) $ 701,629 $ 724,211 $ (22,582)  (3) %

Asset Management and Other Services segment (funded by third-parties)  184,423  502,389  (317,966)  (63) %

Group-wide new commitments  886,052  1,226,600  (340,548)  (28) %

Group-wide new commitments, decreased 28% for the year ended December 31, 2024. The decrease in group-
wide new commitments was largely due to the absence of new commitments for the Advantage Fund, and to 
a lesser extent, lower new commitments related to post-settlement assets, during the year ended 
December 31, 2024. The structure of the Advantage Fund, with its simple 10% preferred return to investors, 
was appealing in a low interest rate environment but less so as interest rates rose, and we considered the 
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desires of the fund’s investors in avoiding the deployment of additional capital if premium returns for 
investors were not available in its final year.

Principal Finance segment

Our Principal Finance segment allocates capital to legal finance assets from Burford’s balance sheet, 
primarily as capital provision assets, and in limited scope through interests in private funds managed by 
Burford. These capital provision assets and private fund interests generate capital provision income, which is 
the most significant driver of our total revenues.

Given the direct balance sheet exposure in our Principal Finance segment, we generate capital provision 
income directly from the gross returns of the portfolio, which are driven by the outcomes of litigation and 
related legal activity. Recognition of capital provision income is based on our fair value methodology, see 
note 2 (Summary of significant accounting policies) to our consolidated financial statements contained in
this 2024 Form 10-K, for each asset in the portfolio, which we apply quarterly, and the resulting change in 
fair value across the Principal Finance segment portfolio. 

Statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2023

The table below sets forth the components of our income/(loss) before income taxes for our Principal 
Finance segment for the periods indicated.

Principal Finance segment Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change

Capital provision income/(loss) $ 388,124 $ 896,371 $ (508,247)  (57) %

Marketable securities income/(loss) and interest  24,578  12,067  12,511  104 %

Total revenues  412,702  908,438  (495,736)  (55) %

Compensation and benefits  101,758  196,623  (94,865)  (48) %

General, administrative and other  25,012  29,219  (4,207)  (14) %

Case-related expenditures ineligible for inclusion in asset cost  (1,057)  14,671  (15,728) NM

Total operating expenses  125,713  240,513  (114,800)  (48) %

Finance costs  135,593  99,136  36,457  37 %

Foreign currency transactions (gains)/losses  1,244  (21,737)  22,981 NM

Total other expenses  136,837  77,399  59,438  77 %

Income/(loss) before income taxes  150,152  590,526  (440,374)  (75) %

Total revenues decreased 55% for the year ended December 31, 2024, mainly due to the absence of large fair 
value increases in capital provision income for the YPF-related assets, which occurred during 2023, arising 
from two separate milestone events, the March 2023 Ruling and the September 2023 Final Judgment. The 
decrease in fair value was partially offset by a 75% increase in net realized gains to $327.2 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2024.

Total operating expenses decreased 48% for the year ended December 31, 2024, driven primarily by lower 
fair value driven compensation-related accruals and lower case-related expenditures ineligible for inclusion 
in asset cost due to the resolution of certain assets in 2023 and recoveries from an insurance policy in 2024.

Total other expenses increased 77% for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to the inclusion in 
2024 of interest expense related to the Additional 2031 Notes (as defined below) issued in January 2024 and 
to the 2031 Notes issued in June 2023, partially offset by the early redemption of the 6.125% bonds due 2024 
in July 2023. In addition, the increase in other expenses was also driven by the absence of a $19.3 million 
foreign currency gain from a capital redemption between subsidiaries with different functional currencies 
that occurred during 2023.

As a result of the factors described above, income/(loss) before income taxes decreased 75% for the year 
ended December 31, 2024.
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Gains from capital provision asset portfolio

The table below sets forth the components of our total capital provision income for the periods indicated.

Principal Finance segment December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change

Net realized gains/(losses) $ 327,174 $ 187,376 $ 139,798  75 %

Fair value adjustment during the period, net of previously recognized 
unrealized gains/(losses) transferred to realized gains/(losses)  76,001  700,838  (624,837)  (89) %

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)  (15,172)  7,507  (22,679) NM

Other  121  650  (529)  (81) %

Total capital provision income  388,124  896,371  (508,247)  (57) %

Realized gains

Net realized gains on capital provision assets increased 75% for the year ended December 31, 2024, which 
were comprised of $355.8 million in gross realized gains, offset by $34.1 million in gross realized losses. For 
the year ended December 31, 2023, net realized gains on capital provision assets were comprised of $242.1 
million in gross realized gains, offset by $54.7 million in gross realized losses. The increase in net realized 
gains is due to more case activity during the year ended December 31, 2024, which led to favorable 
conclusions and in higher amounts. The 75% increase in net realized gains is largely impacted by two 
realizations that each individually exceeded $50.0 million in realized gains and together generated $121.0 
million in realized gains during 2024, as well as due to the impact of smaller realized losses. As a percentage 
of average capital provision assets at cost during the year ended December 31, 2024, gross realized losses 
represented 2.8% as compared to 3.6% for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Unrealized gains

Unrealized gains consist of fair value adjustments during the period, which may be offset by the transfer of 
unrealized gains/(losses) to realized gains/(losses) upon realization of an asset. Fair value adjustments, net 
of previously recognized unrealized gains/(losses) transferred to realized gains, on capital provision assets 
decreased 89% for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to the absence of large fair value 
increases totaling $542.9 million for the YPF-related assets, which occurred during 2023, arising from the 
March 2023 Ruling and the September 2023 Final Judgment. Excluding the impact of the YPF-related assets, 
fair value adjustments, net of previously recognized unrealized gains/(losses) transferred to realized gains, 
decreased 105% for the year ended December 31, 2024, largely impacted by the transfer of previously 
recognized unrealized gains to realized gains from the realizations of certain deals that occurred during 2024. 
See “—Consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to the 
year ended December 31, 2023—Revenues—Capital provision income/(loss)” above for additional information 
with respect to the year-over-year change of fair value adjustment, net of previously recognized unrealized 
gains/(losses) transferred to realized gains/(losses). 

Statements of financial condition as of December 31, 2024 as compared to December 31, 2023

The table below sets forth the components of our consolidated statements of financial condition for our 
Principal Finance segment as of the dates indicated.

Principal Finance segment December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change
Cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities $ 508,031 $ 291,386 $ 216,645  74 %

Due from settlement of capital provision assets  183,651  185,267  (1,616)  (1) %

Capital provision assets  3,571,224  3,432,112  139,112  4 %

Total assets  4,397,954  4,043,848  354,106  9 %

Total assets increased 9% as of December 31, 2024, primarily due to increase in cash and cash equivalents 
and marketable securities and due to increase in capital provision assets. See “—Consolidated statements of 
financial condition as of December 31, 2024 as compared to December 31, 2023” above for additional 
information. 
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Portfolio value – Principal Finance segment

The table below sets forth the components of our portfolio for our Principal Finance segment as of the dates 
indicated.

Principal Finance segment December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change

Capital provision assets

Fair value $ 3,571,224 $ 3,432,112 $ 139,112  4 %

Undrawn commitments  1,632,856  1,408,005  224,851  16 %

Total portfolio  5,204,080  4,840,117  363,963  8 %

Total portfolio increased 8% as of December 31, 2024, driven by increases in fair value of capital provision 
assets resulting from increases in financing and increase in undrawn commitments driven by new 
commitments added during 2024. Capital provision assets include our investment in the Advantage Fund 
which makes up less than 1% of the total portfolio as of December 31, 2024. 

The table below sets forth our deployments and realizations for our Principal Finance segment for the periods 
indicated. 

Principal Finance segment Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change

Deployments $ 399,312 $ 411,793 $ (12,481)  (3) %

Realizations  646,876  512,655  134,221  26 %

The table below sets forth our deployments and realizations, for the periods indicated, adjusted primarily to 
(i) include case-related expenditures ineligible for inclusion in asset cost for our deployments and (ii) include 
(a) realizations arising from income on due from settlement of capital provision assets and (b) in cases where 
our interest is held through a private fund, adjust to reflect realizations based on the timing of occurrence 
with the capital provision asset and not when distributed out by the private fund for our realizations. See “—
Reconciliations—Deployments reconciliations” and “—Reconciliations—Realizations reconciliations” for 
additional information with respect to the difference between the Principal Finance segment and the 
Burford-only basis tables.

Adjusted Burford-only Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change

Deployments $ 400,714 $ 411,551 $ (10,837)  (3) %

Realizations  641,124  530,626  110,498  21 %

For both the Principal Finance segment and the adjusted Burford-only basis, total deployments slightly 
decreased by 3% for the year ended December 31, 2024. The decrease in deployments for both the Principal 
Finance segment and the adjusted Burford-only basis was primarily due to lower financing despite having 
more deployed assets, with the top three assets representing 28% of deployments in 2024, as compared to 
35% of deployments in 2023. 

We count each of our contractual relationships as an “asset”, although many such relationships are composed 
of multiple underlying litigation matters that are often cross collateralized rather than reliant on the 
performance of a single matter. As of December 31, 2024, our Principal Finance portfolio consisted of 227 
assets funded directly by our balance sheet and 9 additional assets held through the Advantage Fund. As of 
December 31, 2023, our Principal Finance portfolio consisted of 206 assets funded directly by our balance 
sheet and 11 additional assets held through the Advantage Fund.

Total realizations increased by 26% for the Principal Finance segment and by 21% for the adjusted Burford-
only basis for the year ended December 31, 2024. The increase in realizations for both the Principal Finance 
segment and the adjusted Burford-only basis was primarily due to robust realizations during 2024, which 
included a partial conclusion in a global antitrust portfolio that generated $114.5 million of realizations.
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Undrawn commitments – Principal Finance segment

The table below sets forth the components of our total capital provision undrawn commitments for our 
Principal Finance segment as of the dates indicated.

Principal Finance segment December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change

Definitive $ 773,673 $ 591,942 $ 181,731  31 %

Discretionary  817,865  766,537  51,328  7 %

Legal risk (definitive)  41,318  49,526  (8,208)  (17) %

Total capital provision undrawn commitments  1,632,856  1,408,005  224,851  16 %

As of December 31, 2024, approximately 50% of our legal finance undrawn commitments related to definitive 
commitments and approximately 50% related to discretionary, as compared to 46% and 54%, respectively as 
of December 31, 2023.

Portfolio concentrations

Our Principal Finance portfolio includes certain related exposures where we have financed multiple different 
counterparties in relation to the same or very similar claims, such that outcomes on these related exposures 
are likely to be correlated. We estimate that the fair value of the assets underlying our largest correlated 
exposure (excluding YPF-related assets) represented approximately 6% and 8% of the consolidated fair value 
of capital provision assets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and approximately 5% and 7% of 
the capital provision assets in the Principal Finance segment as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The claims underlying our capital provision assets are generally diverse, as are our relationships with 
corporate and law firm clients. The table below sets forth the respective percentages of our commitments to 
corporate, law firm and other clients as of the dates indicated.

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Corporates  55 %  55 %

Law firms  40 %  41 %

Other  5 %  4 %

Our largest commitment (including deployed capital and undrawn commitment) to a corporate client was 
$130.0 million, which accounted for 4% of our commitments, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Our largest relationship with a single law firm consisted of (i) financing arrangements between us and the law 
firm, where the law firm seeks to monetize the risk that the law firm has taken with some of its clients, (ii) 
direct financing arrangements with counterparties that elect to hire the law firm where we finance the law 
firm’s legal fees and (iii) direct financing arrangements with counterparties that have hired the law firm but 
where our financing is used for corporate purposes other than for financing the law firm’s legal fees. This law 
firm is one of the 50 largest law firms in the United States based on revenue according to The American 
Lawyer, with more than 500 lawyers and more than 20 offices around the world. Our portfolio of matters 
with this law firm included more than 20 different litigation matters as of December 31, 2024. Taken 
together, these arrangements accounted for approximately $130.5 million, or 4% of our commitments as of 
December 31, 2024, as compared to $141.7 million, or 5% of our commitments as of December 31, 2023.

Portfolio tenor

The timing of realizations is difficult to forecast and is rarely in our control. The reality of litigation is that 
most cases settle and pay proceeds in a relatively short period of time, and a minority of cases go on to 
adjudication, which takes longer. Adjudication timing is subject to a myriad of factors, including delaying 
tactics by litigation opponents and court dockets and schedules, and the Covid-19 pandemic has added to this 
uncertainty. However, we are now seeing the impacts from the Covid-19 pandemic begin to subside. We 
believe that the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic delaying trial dates also has caused a delay in settlement 
timing, as an impending trial often can be a catalyst for a settlement. We do not believe there is a 
correlation between asset life and asset quality and endeavor to structure our asset pricing to compensate us 
if assets take longer to resolve.

We provide extensive data about the WAL of our concluded portfolio, although this data may not be 
predictive of the ultimate WAL of our existing portfolio. The WAL of our concluded portfolio may lengthen 
over time if the longer-tenor assets in our existing portfolio account for a greater share of future concluded 
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cases. Conversely, if our larger, more recently originated cases conclude relatively quickly, the WAL of our 
concluded portfolio could decrease.

In calculating the WAL of our portfolio, we compute a weighted average of the WALs of individual assets. On 
that basis, we assess the weighted average lives (beginning at the point of average deployment) of the 
concluded portfolio, weighted both by deployed cost and realizations. Weighting by deployed cost provides a 
view on how long on average a dollar of capital is deployed, while weighting by realizations provides a view 
on how long on average it takes to recover a dollar of return.

The WALs of the 248 concluded assets as of December 31, 2024 slightly increased as compared to the WALs of 
the 226 concluded assets as of  December 31, 2023. As mentioned above, the impact from the Covid-19 
pandemic delaying settlement timing is expected to cause a slight increase in the WALs. The table below sets 
forth the WALs, weighted by deployed cost and realizations, of the concluded assets, excluding the impact of 
our interest in private funds, as of the dates indicated.

(in years) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

WAL weighted by deployed cost  2.5 2.2

WAL weighted by realizations  2.6 2.4

The age of our ongoing portfolio is reflected in the WAL of active deployed capital in the table below. 
Although we provide information for our portfolio by vintage years, the deployed costs for each vintage are 
generally financed across multiple years and the WAL of active deployed capital calculates the length of time 
our deployments have been outstanding based on the date when capital was deployed.

(in years) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

WAL of active deployed capital  3.1 2.9

Returns on concluded portfolio 

The table below sets forth our ROIC, IRR and cumulative realizations on concluded and partially concluded 
assets in our capital provision portfolio as of the dates indicated since inception on a Burford-only basis.

($ in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

ROIC  87 %  82 %

IRR  26 %  27 %

Cumulative realizations $ 3,331,356 $ 2,707,300 

As our older vintages conclude, we may see IRR decrease slightly as the impact from the Covid-19 pandemic 
caused delays in settlement timing. In addition to legal finance assets funded directly through our balance 
sheet, our Principal Finance segment also selectively allocates balance sheet capital through interests in 
select private funds, which tend to target a lower overall risk return profile. As of December 31, 2024, our 
balance sheet allocations through private funds accounted for approximately 1% of both current fair value 
and cumulative realizations from concluded or partially concluded assets. Returns from these concluded or 
partially concluded assets invested through private funds are not included in the ROICs and IRRs in the table 
above. If the concluded or partially concluded assets from the balance sheet’s interest in Advantage Fund 
were included the return calculations above, the ROIC would be 86% and the IRR would remain at 26%. 

We do not consider cases to be concluded (and therefore part of these return metrics on our concluded 
portfolio) until there is no longer any litigation risk remaining. Return metrics on our concluded portfolio do 
not include fair value adjustments, either positive or negative. As a result, these return figures do not 
include the positive or negative impact of developments on matters while they remain pending.

Portfolio by vintage

The table below sets forth a summary by vintage of every legal finance asset that we have funded directly by 
our balance sheet, as of the date indicated since inception. For a table with all the individual vintages, refer 
to our website.
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December 31, 2024

Number of Commitment Deployed Realized
Concluded (fully and 

partially)

($ in millions) assets amount(1)(2) costs(1) proceeds(1) ROIC IRR

Concluded  87  576  475  752  105 %  25 %

Partially realized - concluded  — (3)  33  28  276 

Partially realized - ongoing  6  223  124  — 

Ongoing  4  37  36  — 

Pre-2016 Total  97  869  663  1,028 

Concluded  71  779  601  1,111  88 %  26 %

Partially realized - concluded  — (3)  311  274  534 

Partially realized - ongoing  44  578  373  — 

Ongoing  51  596  347  — 

2016-2020 Total  166  2,264  1,595  1,645 

Concluded  7  31  22  26  61 %  29 %

Partially realized - concluded  — (3)  190  188  313 

Partially realized - ongoing  10  133  82  — 

Ongoing  20  187  118  — 

2021 Total  37  541  410  339 

Concluded  4  40  11  17  98 %  48 %

Partially realized - concluded  — (3)  53  51  106 

Partially realized - ongoing  11  245  153  — 

Ongoing  24  303  177  — 

2022 Total  39  641  392  123 

Concluded  3  213  128  172  45 %  43 %

Partially realized - concluded  — (3)  5  5  21 

Partially realized - ongoing  4  45  36  — 

Ongoing  17  409  58  — 

2023 Total  24  672  227  193 

Concluded  —  —  —  —  17 %  86 %

Partially realized - concluded  — (3)  3  3  3 

Partially realized - ongoing  1  38  3  — 

Ongoing  35  565  156  — 

2024 Total  36  606  162  3 

Total portfolio:

Concluded 172 1,639 1,237 2,078  87 %  26 %

Partially realized - concluded(4) 76 595 549 1253

Total concluded portion 248  2,234  1,786  3,331 

Partially realized – ongoing portion(4) 76  1,262 771 —

Ongoing 151  2,097 892 —

Total ongoing portion 227  3,359  1,663  — 

Total portfolio 399  5,593  3,449  3,331 
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1. Amounts in currencies other than US dollar are reported in this table at the foreign exchange rates in effect at the time of the historical transaction, 
i.e., when the commitment or deployment was made or when proceeds were realized, respectively. Amounts related to those transactions (such as 
undrawn commitments or deployed costs) reflected elsewhere in this “Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of 
operations” or in our consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K may be reported based on the foreign exchange rates in effect as 
of the end of the applicable period and, therefore, may differ from the amounts in this table.

2. A portion of certain ongoing assets’ undrawn commitments are no longer an obligation. This table presents an asset’s gross original commitments, so it 
does not reflect a reduction in commitment for the portion that is no longer an obligation. This will result in a difference when compared to undrawn 
commitments in note 20 (Financial commitments and contingent liabilities) to our consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K.

3. The number of assets for partially realized concluded transactions is listed under the number of assets for partially realized ongoing transactions as 
these are the concluded and ongoing portions of the same transactions.

4. As of December 31, 2024, there were 76 capital provision assets with partial realizations. We repeat the number with partial realizations in total 
concluded and total ongoing.

Asset Management and Other Services segment

Our Asset Management and Other Services segment manages legal finance assets on behalf of third-party 
investors, and we provide other services to the legal industry for both of which we receive fees. These fees 
are primarily reflected as asset management income, which is a secondary contributor to our total revenues. 
Our internal allocation policy strictly prescribes the allocation of third-party private fund capital by fund 
based on the risk/return profile of assets, thus removing any potential allocation conflicts of interest with 
our Principal Finance segment.

We generally conduct our private funds activities through limited partnerships. Each private fund that is a 
limited partnership has a Burford-owned general partner that is responsible for the management and 
operation of the private fund’s affairs and makes all policy and asset selection decisions relating to the 
conduct of the private fund’s business. Except as required by law or as specified in a private fund’s governing 
documents, the limited partners of the private funds take no part in the conduct or control of the business of 
the private funds, have no right or authority to act for or bind the private funds, have limited visibility and 
input into the actions and decisions of the general partner and have no influence over the voting or 
disposition of the securities or other assets held by the private funds. Each private fund engages an 
investment adviser. BCIM serves as the investment adviser for all of our private funds and is registered under 
the Investment Advisers Act.

In addition, we operate certain “sidecar” funds pertaining to specific assets and had three active “sidecar” 
funds as of December 31, 2024. A “sidecar” fund is a pooled investment vehicle through which certain 
investors co-invest directly in specific assets alongside our private funds. Except as required by law or as 
specified in a “sidecar” fund’s governing documents, the investors in the “sidecar” funds take no part in the 
conduct or control of the business of the “sidecar” funds, have no right or authority to act for or bind the 
“sidecar” funds, have limited visibility and input into the actions and decisions of the general partner or 
manager of the “sidecar” funds and have no influence over the voting or disposition of the securities or other 
assets held by the “sidecar” funds. Our interest in the “sidecar” funds is generally limited to the opportunity 
to earn incentive fees, if any. The discussion of our private funds ignores “sidecar” funds unless specifically 
included, and we collapse fund structures into overall strategies, ignoring, for example, onshore and offshore 
separations and parallel funds.
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Statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2023

The table below sets forth the components of our income/(loss) before income taxes for our Asset 
Management and Other Services segment for the periods indicated.

Asset Management and Other Services segment Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change

Asset management income/(loss) $ 44,627 $ 63,712 $ (19,085)  (30) %

Other income/(loss)  3,051  4,392  (1,341)  (31) %

Total revenues  47,678  68,104  (20,426)  (30) %

Compensation and benefits  21,901  24,461  (2,560)  (10) %

General, administrative and other  5,440  3,564  1,876  53 %

Total operating expenses  27,341  28,025  (684)  (2) %

Income/(loss) before income taxes  20,337  40,079  (19,742)  (49) %

Total revenues decreased 30% for the year ended December 31, 2024, reflecting a decrease in capital 
provision income earned by BOF-C and, therefore, less profit-sharing income from BOF-C contributing to asset 
management income for 2024.

Total operating expenses decreased 2% for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to a decrease in 
compensation and benefits costs.

As a result of the factors described above, income before income taxes decreased 49% for the year ended 
December 31, 2024.

Asset management income

Asset management income is generally categorized as either (i) management fees, which are recurring fees 
paid to Burford for investment management services and typically being a rate of 2% or less charged on the 
basis of some component of assets under management in each fund, (ii) performance fees, which are fees 
paid to Burford contingent on satisfying certain performance thresholds as designated by each fund waterfall, 
or (iii) profit sharing income, which represents income from bespoke profit-sharing agreements with third-
party investors, such as our strategic sovereign wealth fund partner.

The table below sets forth the components of our asset management income for the periods indicated.

Asset Management and Other Services segment Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change

Management fee income $ 6,840 $ 7,750 $ (910)  (12) %

Performance fee income  1,500  —  1,500 NM

Profit sharing income from private funds  36,287  55,962  (19,675)  (35) %

Total asset management income  44,627  63,712  (19,085)  (30) %

Asset management income decreased 30% for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily reflecting lower 
profit-sharing income from BOF-C, mainly from lower unrealized gains/(losses) related to BOF-C's capital 
provision assets. 

Statements of financial condition as of December 31, 2024 as compared to December 31, 2023

The table below sets forth the components of our consolidated statements of financial condition for our Asset 
Management and Other Services segment as of the dates indicated.

Asset Management and Other Services segment December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change
Cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities $ 12,650 $ 12,090 $ 560  5 %

Other assets  151,770  133,952  17,818  13 %

Total assets  190,377  172,016  18,361  11 %
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Total assets increased 11% as of December 31, 2024, primarily due to the unrealized income earned in BOF-C 
during the year, which increased the outstanding receivable from BOF-C within other assets.

Portfolio value – Asset Management and Other Services segment

The table below sets forth the components of our portfolio for our Asset Management and Other Services 
segment as of the dates indicated.

Asset Management and Other Services segment December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 Change % change

Capital provision assets - funded by third parties

Fair value $ 1,353,893 $ 1,385,958 $ (32,065)  (2) %

Undrawn commitments  491,186  582,924  (91,738)  (16) %

Total  1,845,079  1,968,882  (123,803)  (6) %

Post-settlement

Fair value  272,424  298,854  (26,430)  (9) %

Undrawn commitments  67,961  62,455  5,506  9 %

Total  340,385  361,309  (20,924)  (6) %

Total portfolio value  2,185,464  2,330,191  (144,727)  (6) %

Total portfolio value, funded by third parties, decreased 6% as of December 31, 2024. The decrease in our 
total portfolio was driven largely by the impact of robust realizations which occurred in 2024.

Private funds

As of December 31, 2024, we operated eight private funds and three “sidecar” funds as an investment 
adviser registered with, and regulated by, the SEC. The table below sets forth key statistics for each of our 
private funds as of December 31, 2024.

December 31, 2024

Investor Asset Asset Fee structure(1)

commitments commitments deployments (management/ Investment

($ in millions) Strategy(6) closed to date to date AUM performance) Waterfall period (end)

BCIM Partners II, LP(2) Core legal finance $ 260 $ 253 $ 186 $ 141 
Class A: 2%/20%; 
Class B: 0%/50% European 12/15/2015

BCIM Partners III, LP Core legal finance  412  447  331  413 2%/20% European 1/1/2020(3)

Burford Opportunity Fund 
LP & Burford Opportunity 
Fund B LP (BOF) Core legal finance  300  399  300  377 2%/20% European 12/31/2021(4)

BCIM Credit Opportunities, 
LP (COLP) Post-settlement  488  699  695  409 

1% on undrawn/ 2% 
on funded and 20% 

incentive European 9/30/2019(3)

Burford Alternative Income 
Fund LP (BAIF)(2) Post-settlement  327  677  662  268 1.5%/10% European 4/4/2022

Burford Alternative Income 
Fund II LP (BAIF II) Post-settlement  350  349  289  382 1.5%/12.5% European 9/11/2025

Burford Advantage Master 
Fund LP (Advantage Fund) Lower risk legal finance  360  370  366  410 Profit split(5) American 12/24/2024

Burford Opportunity Fund 
C LP (BOF-C)(2) Core legal finance  766  1,274  781  1,055 

Expense 
reimbursement + 

profit share Hybrid 12/31/2024

Total  3,263  4,468  3,610  3,455 
1. Management fees are paid to BCIM for investment management and advisory services provided to our private funds. The management fee rates set forth 
in the table above are annualized and applied to an asset or commitment base that typically varies between a private fund’s investment period and any 
subsequent periods in the fund term. We no longer earn any management fees from BCIM Partners II, LP, BCIM Partners III, LP, COLP and BAIF. 
Performance fees represent carried interest applied to distributions to a private fund’s limited partners after the return of capital contributions and 
preferred returns.

2. Includes amounts related to “sidecar” funds.

3. Ceased commitments to new legal finance assets in the fourth quarter of 2018 due to capacity.

4. Ceased commitments to new legal finance assets in the fourth quarter of 2020 due to capacity.

5. The Advantage Fund does not have a traditional management and performance fee structure, but instead provides the first 10% of annual simple returns 
to the fund investors while we retain any excess returns. However, if the Advantage Fund produces returns in excess of 18% (which are supranormal for 
this level of risk), a level of sharing with the fund investors would take effect, but we do not expect that to occur.

68



As of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, our total AUM was $3.5 billion and $3.4 billion 
respectively. AUM reflects the fair value of the capital invested in private funds and individual capital 
vehicles plus the capital that we are entitled to call from investors in those private funds and vehicles. The 
total portfolio value shown for our Asset Management & Other Services segment of $2.2 billion reflects the 
fair value of portfolio assets plus the undrawn commitments to portfolio assets, and also excludes the 
balance sheet’s interest in the Advantage Fund, which is reflected in the portfolio value for our Principal 
Finance segment. 

Liquidity and capital resources

Overview

The table below sets forth our cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities as of the dates indicated.

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Total Total

Third-party segments Third-party segments

($ in thousands) Consolidated interests (Burford-only) Consolidated interests (Burford-only)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 469,930 $ (28,269) $ 441,661 $ 220,549 $ (24,634) $ 195,915 

Marketable securities  79,020  —  79,020  107,561  —  107,561 

Total  548,950  (28,269)  520,681  328,110  —  (24,634)  303,476 

On a consolidated basis, our cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities increased 67% as of 
December 31, 2024, while on a total segments (Burford-only) basis, our cash and cash equivalents and 
marketable securities increased 72% as of December 31, 2024. The net increase in cash and cash equivalents 
and marketable securities for both the consolidated and total segments (Burford-only) basis, primarily 
reflects the net proceeds from capital provision assets and the impact from the issuance of the Additional 
2031 Notes (as defined below) in January 2024, partially offset by the impact of third-party net distribution, 
as well as by the impact from the partial redemption of the 6.125% bonds due 2025 and the payment of 
dividends.

Our marketable securities primarily consist of short-duration and generally investment-grade fixed income 
assets, the bulk of which are held in separately managed accounts, managed by a third-party asset manager 
that specializes in short-duration and money market investments.

Debt

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we issued an additional $275.0 million aggregate principal amount 
of the Additional 2031 Notes (as defined below) in January 2024 and purchased in open market transactions 
approximately $50.6 million in aggregate principal amount of the 2025 Bonds (as defined below). As of 
December 31, 2024, we had five series of debt securities outstanding, of which two series were listed on the 
Order Book for Retail Bonds of the London Stock Exchange and three series were issued through private 
placement transactions under Rule 144A and Regulation S under the Securities Act. See note 12 (Debt) to our 
consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K for additional information with respect to 
our outstanding debt securities.

We manage our business with relatively low levels of leverage and have laddered debt maturities with an 
overall weighted average maturity in excess of the expected weighted average life of our legal finance 
assets. As of December 31, 2024, the weighted average maturity of our outstanding debt securities of 4.5 
years continued to be longer than the weighted average life of our concluded assets, weighted by 
realizations, of 2.6 years.

Going forward, we expect to continue to be an opportunistic issuer of debt securities and may issue new debt 
securities from time to time to fund our growth or refinance future debt maturities, among other things. In 
addition, from time to time, we may acquire our debt securities through open market purchases, 
redemptions, privately negotiated transactions, tender offers, exchange offers or otherwise, upon such terms 
and at such prices as we may from time to time determine, for cash or other consideration.

Our debt securities that are listed on the Order Book for Retail Bonds of the London Stock Exchange as of the 
date of this 2024 Form 10-K contain one significant financial covenant, which is a leverage ratio requirement 
that we maintain a level of Group Net Debt (as defined in the trust deeds governing such debt securities, and 
generally equivalent to our consolidated net debt, or our total principal amount of debt outstanding less cash 
and cash equivalents and marketable securities) that is less than 50% of our Group Total Assets (as defined in 
the trust deeds governing such debt securities, and generally equivalent to our consolidated tangible assets, 

69



or our total assets less goodwill). As of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, our consolidated net 
debt to consolidated tangible assets ratio was 20% and 22%, respectively. In addition, the indentures 
governing the 2028 Notes and the 2030 Notes contain certain restrictive covenants that, among other things, 
require us to have a Consolidated Indebtedness to Net Tangible Equity Ratio (as defined in the indentures 
governing the 2028 Notes and the 2030 Notes, as applicable) of less than 1.50 to 1.00, 1.75 to 1.00 or 2.00 to 
1.00, as applicable, to use certain specified “baskets” in order to undertake specific actions, such as making 
restricted payments or permitted investments or incurring additional indebtedness. As of December 31, 2024, 
and December 31, 2023, our Consolidated Indebtedness to Net Tangible Equity Ratio was 0.8 to 1.00 and 0.7 
to 1.00, respectively. Furthermore, the indenture governing the 2031 Notes contains certain restrictive 
covenants that, among other things, require us to have a Consolidated Indebtedness to Consolidated Equity 
Ratio (as defined in the indenture governing the 2031 Notes) of less than 1.50 to 1.00, 1.75 to 1.00 or 2.00 to 
1.00, as applicable, to use certain specified “baskets” in order to undertake specific actions, such as making 
restricted payments or permitted investments or incurring additional indebtedness. As of December 31, 2024, 
and December 31, 2023, our Consolidated Indebtedness to Consolidated Equity Ratio was 0.7 to 1.00 and 0.6 
to 1.00, respectively. See “—Reconciliations—Debt leverage ratio calculations” for the calculations of our 
debt leverage ratios. As of December 31, 2024, we were in compliance with all of the covenants under the 
trust deeds and the indentures, as applicable.

We are required to provide certain information pursuant to the indentures governing the 2028 Notes, the 
2030 Notes and the 2031 Notes. The tables below set forth the total assets and third-party indebtedness as of 
the dates indicated and total revenues for the periods indicated, in each case, of (i) us and our Restricted 
Subsidiaries (as defined in the indentures governing the 2028 Notes, the 2030 Notes and the 2031 Notes, as 
applicable) and (ii) our Unrestricted Subsidiaries (as defined in the indentures governing the 2028 Notes, the 
2030 Notes and the 2031 Notes, as applicable).

December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

Burford Capital Limited and its Restricted Subsidiaries

Total assets $ 5,335,289 $ 4,922,451 

Third-party indebtedness  1,763,612  1,534,730 

Unrestricted Subsidiaries

Total assets  839,736  914,943 

Third-party indebtedness  —  — 

Years ended December 31,

(S in thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Burford Capital Limited and its Restricted Subsidiaries

Total revenues $ 460,352 $ 973,461 $ 245,383 

Unrestricted Subsidiaries

Total revenues  85,735  113,441  73,844 

Cash flows

We believe our available cash and cash from operations, which include proceeds from our capital provision 
assets, will be adequate to fund our operations and future growth, satisfy our working capital requirements, 
meet obligations under our debt securities, pay dividends and meet other liquidity requirements for the 
foreseeable future.

Set forth below is a discussion of our cash flows for the periods indicated on a consolidated basis, unless 
noted otherwise.

The table below sets forth the components of our cash flows for the periods indicated.
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Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities $ 216,725 $ (274,682) 

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  (661)  (3,212) 

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities  33,832  389,534 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  249,896  111,640 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

The table below sets forth the components of our net cash provided/(used) by operating activities for the 
periods indicated.

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities before proceeds/(funding) of operating 
activities $ (252,056) $ (186,488) 

Net proceeds from/(funding of) marketable securities  32,577  34,471 

Proceeds from capital provision assets  991,292  559,362 

Funding of capital provision assets  (555,088)  (682,027) 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  216,725  (274,682) 

Net cash provided by operating activities was $216.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The 
year-over-year change in net cash provided/(used) by operating activities reflects primarily an increase in 
proceeds received from capital provision assets to $991.3 million and a decrease in deployments on capital 
provision assets to $555.1 million.

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities

Net cash used by investing activities was $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The decrease in 
net cash used by investing activities is primarily due to lower capital expenditures in 2024, as there was 
spending on leasehold improvements for the London office move in 2023.

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $33.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The 
decrease in net cash provided by financing activities is primarily due to higher outflow from third-party net 
capital distributions and less debt issuance year-over-year, partially offset by lower debt extinguishments.

Cash receipts (non-GAAP financial measure)

Cash receipts represent cash generated during the reporting period from our capital provision assets, asset
management income and certain other items, before any deployments into financing existing or new assets. 
See “— Basis of presentation of financial information—KPIs and non-GAAP financial measures relating to our 
operating and financial performance—Non-GAAP financial measures—Cash receipts” for additional 
information with respect to our cash receipts. See “—Cash flows” for a discussion of our cash flows on a 
consolidated basis prepared in accordance with US GAAP.

The table below sets forth the components of our cash receipts for the periods indicated on a Burford-only 
basis.

Burford-only (non-GAAP) Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

Proceeds from capital provision assets $ 648,477 $ 442,066 

Proceeds from asset management income  26,491  32,321 

Proceeds from other items(1)  24,179  14,822 

Cash receipts  699,147  489,209 
1. See “—Reconciliations—Cash receipts reconciliations” for additional information with respect to the components of this line item.

On a Burford-only basis, our cash receipts increased 43% for the year ended December 31, 2024, reflecting 
primarily cash received from realizations during 2024 and collections on the due from settlement of capital 
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provision assets receivable that was outstanding as of December 31, 2023. Of the $185.3 million of due from 
settlement receivables as of December 31, 2023, 97% was collected in cash during 2024.

See “—Reconciliations—Cash receipts reconciliation” for a reconciliation of cash receipts to proceeds from 
capital provision assets, the most comparable measure calculated in accordance with US GAAP.

Dividends

The table below sets forth our dividend payments during the year ended December 31, 2024.

($ in cents)
Cash dividend per 

ordinary share Payment Date Record Date

2023 final dividend  6.25 June 14, 2024 May 24, 2024

2024 interim dividend  6.25 December 5, 2024 November 1, 2024

Total dividend payments made during the year ended 
December, 31, 2024  12.50 

On February 28, 2025, the Board of Directors has declared, subject to shareholder approval at the annual 
general meeting to be held on May 14, 2025, a final dividend of 6.25¢ per ordinary share to be paid on 
June 13, 2025 to shareholders of record on May 23, 2025. 

Off-balance sheet arrangements

As of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, we had off-balance sheet arrangements relating to legal 
finance assets with structured entities that aggregate claims from multiple parties in the amount of $4.8 
million and $2.8 million, respectively. See note 15 (Variable interest entities) to our consolidated financial 
statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K for additional information with respect to structured entities.

Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in accordance with US GAAP requires our
management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of capital 
provision assets. Our management bases these estimates and judgments on available information, historical 
experience and other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. However, these 
estimates, judgments and assumptions are often subjective and may be impacted negatively based on 
changing circumstances or changes in our analyses. We believe that our critical accounting policies could 
potentially produce materially different results if we were to change underlying estimates, judgments and/or 
assumptions.

Set forth below are certain aspects of our critical accounting policy. For a full discussion of this critical 
accounting policy and other significant accounting policies, see note 2 (Summary of significant accounting 
policies) to our consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K.

Fair value of capital provision assets

The determination of fair value for capital provision assets and financial liabilities relating to third-party 
interests in capital provision assets involves significant estimates and judgments. While the potential range of 
outcomes for the assets is wide, our fair value estimation is our best assessment of the current fair value of 
each asset or liability. Such an estimate is inherently subjective, being based largely on management’s 
estimate of forecasted cash flows, an assigned discount rate and an assessment of how individual events have 
changed the possible outcomes of the asset and their relative probabilities and hence the extent to which the 
fair value has altered. The aggregate of the fair values selected falls within a wide range of reasonably 
possible estimates. In our management’s opinion, there is no useful alternative valuation that would better 
quantify the market risk inherent in the portfolio and there are no inputs or variables to which the values of 
the assets are correlated other than interest rates that impact the discount rates applied. See note 14 (Fair 
value of assets and liabilities) to our consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K and 
“—Fair value of capital provision assets” for additional information with respect to fair value.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, should management’s estimate of the value of those instruments have 
been 10% higher or lower, as applicable, than provided for in our fair value estimates, while all other 
variables remained constant, our consolidated income and net assets would have increased and decreased, 
respectively, by $466.3 million and $458.7 million, respectively.

Furthermore, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, should interest rates have been 50 or 100 basis points lower 
or higher, as applicable, than the actual interest rates used in the fair value estimates, while all other 
variables remained constant, the Group’s consolidated income and net assets and the Principal Finance 
segment’s income and net assets would have increased or decreased, respectively, by the amounts set forth 
below.
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Consolidated December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

+100 bps interest rates $ (153,241) $ (161,110) 

+50 bps interest rates  (77,644)  (81,745) 

-50 bps interest rates  78,514  82,724 

-100 bps interest rates  159,169  167,944 

Principal Finance segment December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

+100 bps interest rates $ (109,132) $ (112,951) 

+50 bps interest rates  (55,276)  (57,283) 

-50 bps interest rates  56,046  58,124 

-100 bps interest rates  113,583  117,946 

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, should duration have been six or 12 months lower or higher, as 
applicable, than the actual duration used in the fair value estimates, while all other variables remained 
constant, the Group’s consolidated income and net assets and the Principal Finance segment’s income and 
net assets would have increased or decreased, respectively, by the amounts set forth below.

Consolidated December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

+12 months duration(1) $ (396,845) $ (363,901) 

+6 months duration(1)  (200,908)  (188,718) 

-6 months duration(1)  196,721  203,442 

-12 months duration(1)  405,926  393,248 

1. Duration refers to the expected timing of a favorable outcome. See note 2 (Summary of significant accounting policies—Fair value of financial 
instruments) to the Group’s consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K for additional information with respect to the valuation 
methodology for Level 3 assets.

Principal Finance segment December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

+12 months duration(1) $ (268,484) $ (244,518) 

+6 months duration(1)  (135,827)  (126,583) 

-6 months duration(1)  133,446  136,794 

-12 months duration(1)  280,636  266,701 
1. Duration refers to the expected timing of a favorable outcome. See note 2 (Summary of significant accounting policies—Fair value of financial 
instruments) to the Group’s consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K for additional information with respect to the valuation 
methodology for Level 3 assets.

The sensitivity impact has been provided on a pre-tax basis for both our consolidated income and net assets 
because the fluctuation in our effective tax rate from period to period could indicate changes in sensitivity 
not driven by the valuation that we consider difficult to follow and detract from the comparability of this 
information.

Contractual obligations

Our material contractual obligations consist of financial liabilities relating to (i) definitive commitments to 
financing arrangements, (ii) debt securities and related interest payments, (iii) operating leases and (iv) 
third-party interests in capital provision assets. See note 20 (Financial commitments and contingent 
liabilities) to our consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K for additional 
information with respect to our contractual obligations. See “—Segments—Principal Finance segment—
Undrawn commitments – Principal Finance segment” and “—Segments—Asset Management and Other Services 
segment—Portfolio value – Asset Management and Other Services segment” for information with respect to 
our undrawn commitments.
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Recent accounting standards updates

See note 2 (Summary of significant accounting policies—Recently issued or adopted accounting 
pronouncements) to our consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K for further 
information.

Reconciliations

The tables below set forth the reconciliations of the consolidated statements of financial condition to total 
segments (Burford-only) statements of financial condition as of the dates indicated. See “—Basis of 
presentation of financial information—Non-GAAP financial measures relating to our business structure” for 
additional information.

The first column in the tables below sets forth our results of operations on a consolidated basis as reported in 
our consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with US GAAP. These results of operations 
include investments in a number of entities that are not wholly owned subsidiaries of Burford Capital Limited 
and, therefore, contain third-party capital, including BOF-C, the Advantage Fund, Colorado and, prior to its 
liquidation in the fourth quarter of 2023, the Strategic Value Fund. The presentation of our results of 
operations on a consolidated basis requires a line-by-line consolidation of 100% of each non-wholly owned 
entity’s assets and liabilities. The portion of the net assets that is attributable to the third-party interests are 
then presented separately as single line items within the consolidated statements of financial condition. We 
believe it is helpful to exclude the interests of investors other than Burford in our discussion of our results of 
operations, and we have therefore, as an alternative presentation, excluded from our presentation of our 
results of operations the non-Burford portion of the individual assets and liabilities relating to such third-
party capital. The reconciliations eliminate the line-by-line consolidation of all the applicable entities’ 
individual assets and liabilities required by US GAAP to present Burford’s investment in the non-wholly owned 
entities and Burford’s share of the gain or loss earned on such investment.

Reconciliations of consolidated statements of financial condition to total segments (Burford-only) 
statements of financial condition

The tables below set forth the reconciliations of consolidated statements of financial condition to total 
segments (Burford-only) statements of financial condition as of the dates indicated.

December 31, 2024

($ in thousands) Consolidated
Third-party 

interests
Total segments 
(Burford-only)

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 469,930 $ (28,269) $ 441,661 

Marketable securities  79,020  —  79,020 

Other assets  61,006  114,475  175,481 

Due from settlement of capital provision assets  183,858  (207)  183,651 

Capital provision assets  5,243,917  (1,672,693)  3,571,224 

Goodwill  133,948  —  133,948 

Deferred tax asset  3,346  —  3,346 

Total assets  6,175,025  (1,586,694)  4,588,331 

Liabilities

Debt interest payable  12,097  —  12,097 

Other liabilities  141,973  (2,238)  139,735 

Long-term incentive compensation payable  217,552  —  217,552 

Debt payable  1,763,612  —  1,763,612 

Financial liabilities relating to third-party interests in capital provision 
assets  747,053  (747,053)  — 

Deferred tax liability  35,903  —  35,903 

Total liabilities  2,918,190  (749,291)  2,168,899 

Total shareholders' equity  3,256,835  (837,403)  2,419,432 
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December 31, 2023

($ in thousands) Consolidated
Third-party 

interests
Total segments 
(Burford-only)

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 220,549 $ (24,634) $ 195,915 

Marketable securities  107,561  —  107,561 

Other assets  63,464  96,653  160,117 

Due from settlement of capital provision assets  265,540  (80,273)  185,267 

Capital provision assets  5,045,388  (1,613,276)  3,432,112 

Goodwill  133,965  —  133,965 

Deferred tax asset  927  —  927 

Total assets  5,837,394  (1,621,530)  4,215,864 

Liabilities

Debt interest payable  34,416  —  34,416 

Other liabilities  122,199  (412)  121,787 

Long-term incentive compensation payable  183,134  —  183,134 

Debt payable  1,534,730  —  1,534,730 

Financial liabilities relating to third-party interests in capital provision 
assets  704,196  (704,196)  — 

Deferred tax liability  50,939  —  50,939 

Total liabilities  2,629,614  (704,608)  1,925,006 

Total shareholders' equity  3,207,780  (916,922)  2,290,858 

Reconciliations of capital provision assets

The tables below set forth the reconciliations of components of the consolidated capital provision assets as of 
the beginning and end of period and unrealized fair value as of the end of period to total segments (Burford-
only) capital provision assets as of the beginning and end of period and unrealized fair value as of the end of 
period, in each case, for the periods indicated.

Year ended December 31, 2024

($ in thousands) Consolidated
Third-party 

interests
Total segments 
(Burford-only)

Beginning of period $ 5,045,388 $ (1,613,276) $ 3,432,112 

Deployments  555,088  (155,776)  399,312 

Realizations  (907,042)  260,166  (646,876) 

Income for the period  567,646  (164,471)  403,175 

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)  (17,163)  664  (16,499) 

End of period  5,243,917  (1,672,693)  3,571,224 

Deployed cost, end of period  2,341,377  (668,784)  1,672,593 

Unrealized fair value, end of period  2,902,540  (1,003,909)  1,898,631 

Capital provision assets  5,243,917  (1,672,693)  3,571,224 
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Year ended December 31, 2023

($ in thousands) Consolidated
Third-party 

interests
Total segments 
(Burford-only)

Beginning of period $ 3,735,556 $ (1,099,116) $ 2,636,440 

Deployments  682,027  (270,234)  411,793 

Realizations  (708,293)  195,638  (512,655) 

Income for the period  1,333,262  (445,048)  888,214 

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)  2,836  5,484  8,320 

End of period  5,045,388  (1,613,276)  3,432,112 

Deployed cost, end of period  2,280,563  (668,281)  1,612,282 

Unrealized fair value, end of period  2,764,825  (944,995)  1,819,830 

Capital provision assets  5,045,388  (1,613,276)  3,432,112 

Reconciliations of capital provision income

The tables below set forth the reconciliations of components of the consolidated capital provision income to 
total segments (Burford-only) capital provision income for the periods indicated.

Year ended December 31, 2024

($ in thousands) Consolidated
Third-party 

interests
Total segments 
(Burford-only)

Net realized gains/(losses) $ 439,665 $ (112,491) $ 327,174 

Fair value adjustment during the period, net of previously recognized 
unrealized gains/(losses) transferred to realized gains/(losses)  127,981  (51,980)  76,001 

Income/(loss) on capital provision assets  567,646  (164,471)  403,175 

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)  (15,701)  529  (15,172) 

Net income/(loss) on due from settlement of capital provision assets  2,704  —  2,704 

Net gains/(losses) on financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
and loss  (2,583)  —  (2,583) 

Total capital provision income  552,066  (163,942)  388,124 

Year ended December 31, 2023

($ in thousands) Consolidated
Third-party 

interests
Total segments 
(Burford-only)

Net realized gains/(losses) $ 251,618 $ (64,242) $ 187,376 

Fair value adjustment during the period, net of previously recognized 
unrealized gains/(losses) transferred to realized gains/(losses)  1,081,644  (380,806)  700,838 

Income/(loss) on capital provision assets  1,333,262  (445,048)  888,214 

Interest and other income  650  —  650 

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)  8,012  (505)  7,507 

Net income/(loss) on due from settlement of capital provision assets  (1)  1  — 

Total capital provision income  1,341,923  (445,552)  896,371 
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Reconciliations of due from settlement of capital provision assets

The tables below set forth the reconciliations of components of the consolidated due from settlement of 
capital provision assets as of the beginning and end of period to total segments (Burford-only) due from 
settlement of capital provision assets as of the beginning and end of period for the periods indicated.

Year ended December 31, 2024

($ in thousands) Consolidated
Third-party 

interests
Total segments 
(Burford-only)

Beginning of period $ 265,540 $ (80,273) $ 185,267 

Transfer of realizations from capital provision assets  907,042  (260,166)  646,876 

Other income/(loss)  2,704  —  2,704 

Proceeds from capital provision assets  (991,292)  340,232  (651,060) 

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)  (136)  —  (136) 

End of period  183,858  (207)  183,651 

Year ended December 31, 2023

($ in thousands) Consolidated
Third-party 

interests
Total segments 
(Burford-only)

Beginning of period $ 116,582 $ (1,932) $ 114,650 

Transfer of realizations from capital provision assets  708,293  (195,638)  512,655 

Net realized gains/(losses)(1)
 (11,330)  11,330  — 

Unrealized gains/(losses) on due from settlement of capital provision 
assets, net of previously recognized unrealized gains/(losses) 
transferred to realized gains/(losses)  11,329  (11,329)  — 

Proceeds from capital provision assets  (559,362)  117,296  (442,066) 

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)  28  —  28 

End of period  265,540  (80,273)  185,267 
1. The net realized loss of $11.3 million represents the realization of a previously recognized $11.3 million unrealized loss as described in the 2023 Annual 
Report. The net impact for the year ended December 31, 2024, is $1,000 reported as net loss on due from settlement of capital provision assets in note 6 
(Capital provision assets).

Reconciliations of capital provision undrawn commitments 

The tables below set forth the reconciliations of the consolidated capital provision undrawn commitments to 
total segments (Burford-only) capital provision undrawn commitments as of the dates indicated.

December 31, 2024

($ in thousands) Consolidated
Third-party 

interests
Total segments 
(Burford-only)

Definitive $ 962,808 $ (189,135) $ 773,673 

Discretionary  1,032,433  (214,568)  817,865 

Legal risk (definitive)  41,318  —  41,318 

Total capital provision undrawn commitments  2,036,559  (403,703)  1,632,856 

December 31, 2023

($ in thousands) Consolidated
Third-party 

interests
Total segments 
(Burford-only)

Definitive $ 839,973 $ (248,031) $ 591,942 

Discretionary  977,733  (211,196)  766,537 

Legal risk (definitive)  55,583  (6,057)  49,526 

Total capital provision undrawn commitments  1,873,289  (465,284)  1,408,005 

Reconciliations of asset management income

The tables below set forth the reconciliations of components of the consolidated asset management income 
to total segments (Burford-only) asset management income for the periods indicated.
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Year ended December 31, 2024 Year ended December 31, 2023

($ in thousands) Consolidated
Third-party 

interests

Total 
segments 

(Burford-only) Consolidated
Third-party 

interests

Total 
segments 

(Burford-only)

Management fee income $ 6,840 $ — $ 6,840 $ 7,642 $ 108 $ 7,750 

Performance fee income  1,500  —  1,500  —  —  — 

Profit sharing income from funds  —  36,287  36,287  —  55,962  55,962 

Total asset management income  8,340  36,287  44,627  7,642  56,070  63,712 

Deployments reconciliations 

The table below sets forth the reconciliations of the components of consolidated deployments to Burford-only 
deployments for the periods indicated.

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

Consolidated deployments $ 555,088 $ 682,027 

Plus/(Less): Third-party interests  (155,776)  (270,234) 

Total segments (Burford-only) total deployments  399,312  411,793 

Plus/(Less): Capital deployed to fund level but not yet invested  (709)  (5,240) 

Plus/(Less): Capital deployed in prior years and invested in the current year  50  3,727 

Plus/(Less): Case-related expenditures ineligible for inclusion in asset cost  1,549  988 

Plus/(Less): Deployments on behalf of subparticipations  512  283 

Adjusted Burford-only total deployments  400,714  411,551 

See “—Basis of presentation of financial information—KPIs and non-GAAP financial measures relating to our 
operating and financial performance—KPIs” and “Certain terms used in this 2024 Form 10-K” for additional 
information with respect to certain terms useful for the understanding of our deployments information and 
“—Segments—Principal Finance segment—Portfolio value – Principal Finance segment” for additional 
information with respect to our deployments.

Realizations reconciliations

The table below sets forth the reconciliations of the components of consolidated realizations to Burford-only 
realizations for the periods indicated.

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

Consolidated realizations $ 907,042 $ 708,293 

Plus/(Less): Third-party interests  (260,166)  (195,638) 

Total segments (Burford-only) total realizations  646,876  512,655 

Plus/(Less): Realizations from other income on due from settlement of capital provision 
assets  2,704  — 

Plus/(Less):  Loss from financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  (2,583)  — 

Plus/(Less): Realizations from investment subparticipations  —  199 

Plus/(Less): Reported realizations held at joint venture and not yet distributed  6,520  10,702 

Plus/(Less): Reported realizations held at fund level and not yet distributed  840  7,070 

Plus/(Less): Prior period realizations held at fund level and distributed in the current 
period  (13,233)  — 

Adjusted Burford-only total realizations  641,124  530,626 

See “—Basis of presentation of financial information—KPIs and non-GAAP financial measures relating to our 
operating and financial performance—KPIs” and “Certain terms used in this 2024 Form 10-K” for additional 
information with respect to certain terms useful for the understanding of our realizations information and “—
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Segments—Principal Finance segment—Portfolio value – Principal Finance segment” for additional information 
with respect to our realizations.

Cash receipts reconciliations

The table below sets forth the reconciliations of Burford-only cash receipts to consolidated cash receipts, the 
most comparable measure calculated in accordance with US GAAP, for the periods indicated.

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

Consolidated proceeds from capital provision assets $ 991,292 $ 559,362 

Less: Third-party interests  (340,232)  (117,296) 

Total segments (Burford-only) proceeds from capital provision assets  651,060  442,066 

Plus: Loss on financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  (2,583)  — 

Burford-only proceeds from capital provision assets  648,477  442,066 

Consolidated asset management income  8,340  7,642 

Plus: Eliminated income from funds  36,287  56,070 

Total segments (Burford-only) asset management income  44,627  63,712 

Less: Non-cash adjustments(1)  (18,136)  (31,391) 

Burford-only proceeds from asset management income  26,491  32,321 

Burford-only proceeds from marketable securities interest and dividends  20,554  6,297 

Burford-only proceeds from other income  3,625  8,525 

Burford-only proceeds from other items  24,179  14,822 

Cash receipts  699,147  489,209 
1. Adjustments for the change in asset management receivables accrued during the applicable period but not yet received as of the end of such period.

See “—Basis of presentation of financial information—KPIs and non-GAAP financial measures relating to our 
operating and financial performance—Non-GAAP financial measures” and “—Liquidity and capital resources—
Cash receipts” for additional information with respect to cash receipts.

Tangible book value attributable to Burford Capital Limited and tangible book value attributable to 
Burford Capital Limited per ordinary share reconciliations

The table below sets forth the reconciliations of tangible book value attributable to Burford Capital Limited 
and tangible book value attributable to Burford Capital Limited per ordinary share to total Burford Capital 
Limited equity, the most comparable measure calculated in accordance with US GAAP, as of the dates 
indicated.

December 31,

($ in thousands, except share data) 2024 2023

Burford Capital Limited equity $ 2,419,432 $ 2,290,858 

   Less: Goodwill  (133,948)  (133,965) 

Tangible book value attributable to Burford Capital Limited  2,285,484  2,156,893 

Basic ordinary shares outstanding  219,421,904  218,962,441 

Tangible book value attributable to Burford Capital Limited per ordinary share  10.42  9.85 

See “—Basis of presentation of financial information—KPIs and non-GAAP financial measures relating to our 
operating and financial performance—Non-GAAP financial measures” for additional information with respect 
to tangible book value attributable to Burford Capital Limited and tangible book value attributable to Burford 
Capital Limited per ordinary share.

Debt leverage ratio calculations 

Consolidated net debt to consolidated tangible assets ratio calculation
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The table below sets forth the calculations of consolidated net debt to consolidated tangible assets ratio as 
of the dates indicated.

December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

Total principal amount of debt outstanding(1) $ 1,783,690 $ 1,563,073 

   Less: Cash and cash equivalents  (469,930)  (220,549) 

   Less: Marketable securities  (79,020)  (107,561) 

Consolidated net debt  1,234,740  1,234,963 

Total assets  6,175,025  5,837,394 

   Less: Goodwill  (133,948)  (133,965) 

Consolidated tangible assets  6,041,077  5,703,429 

Consolidated net debt to consolidated tangible assets ratio  20 %  22 %
1. Represents the total principal amount of debt outstanding as set forth in note 12 (Debt) to our condensed consolidated financial statements contained 
in this 2024 Form 10-K. Debt securities denominated in pound sterling have been converted to US dollar using GBP/USD exchange rates of $1.2529 and 
$1.2747 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

See “—Liquidity and capital resources—Debt” for additional information with respect to our debt securities.

Consolidated Indebtedness to Net Tangible Equity Ratio calculation 

The table below sets forth the calculations of Consolidated Indebtedness to Net Tangible Equity Ratio (as 
defined in the indentures governing the 2028 Notes and the 2030 Notes, as applicable) as of the dates 
indicated.

December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

Debt payable $ 1,763,612 $ 1,534,730 

Less: Debt attributable to Unrestricted Subsidiaries  —  — 

Consolidated Indebtedness  1,763,612  1,534,730 

Total equity  3,256,835  3,207,780 

Less: Equity attributable to Unrestricted Subsidiaries  (822,492)  (901,146) 

Less: Goodwill  (133,948)  (133,965) 

Net Tangible Equity  2,300,395  2,172,669 

Consolidated Indebtedness to Net Tangible Equity Ratio 0.77x 0.71x

See “—Liquidity and capital resources—Debt” for additional information with respect to our debt securities.

Consolidated Indebtedness to Consolidated Equity Ratio calculation

The table below sets forth the calculations of Consolidated Indebtedness to Consolidated Equity Ratio (as 
defined in the indenture governing the 2031 Notes) as of the dates indicated.
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December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

Debt payable $ 1,763,612 $ 1,534,730 

Less: Debt attributable to Unrestricted Subsidiaries  —  — 

Less: The lesser of specified cash and cash equivalents or $100 million  (100,000)  (100,000) 

Consolidated Indebtedness  1,663,612  1,434,730 

Total equity  3,256,835  3,207,780 

Less: Equity attributable to Unrestricted Subsidiaries  (822,492)  (901,146) 

Consolidated Equity  2,434,343  2,306,634 

Consolidated Indebtedness to Consolidated Equity Ratio 0.68x 0.62x

See “—Liquidity and capital resources—Debt” for additional information with respect to our debt securities.

Item 7A. Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk

Market and asset risk

We are exposed to market and asset risk with respect to our marketable securities, due from settlement of 
capital provision assets, capital provision assets and financial liabilities relating to third-party interests in 
capital provision assets. With respect to our marketable securities, which primarily consist of government 
securities, investment grade corporate bonds, asset-backed securities and mutual funds, market risk is the 
risk that the fair value of marketable securities will fluctuate due to changes in market variables, such as 
interest rates, credit risk, security and bond prices and foreign exchange rates. As of December 31, 2024 and 
2023, should the prices of the investments in corporate bonds and investment funds have been 10% higher or 
lower, while all other variables remained constant, our consolidated income and net assets would have 
increased or decreased, respectively, by $7.9 million and $10.8 million, respectively.

We only finance capital provision assets upon undertaking an in-house due diligence process. However, 
capital provision assets involve high risk, and there can be no assurance of a particular realization on any 
individual capital provision asset. Certain of our capital provision assets are comprised of a portfolio of assets 
thereby mitigating the impact of the outcome of any single capital provision asset. While the claims 
underlying our capital provision assets are generally diverse, we monitor and manage the portfolio for related 
exposures that finance different clients relative to the same or very similar claims, such that the outcomes 
on those related exposures are likely to be correlated. Capital provision assets include a portfolio with equity 
risk where the price of a listed equity security is a determinant of the ultimate amount of the realization 
upon the resolution of the litigation risk. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, should the prices of the due 
from settlement of capital provision assets, capital provision assets and financial liabilities relating to third-
party interests in capital provision assets have been 10% higher or lower, while all other variables remained 
constant, our consolidated income and net assets would have increased or decreased, respectively, by $468.1 
million and $460.7 million respectively.

The sensitivity impacts have been provided on a pre-tax basis for both our consolidated income and net 
assets as we consider the fluctuation in our effective tax rate from period to period could indicate changes in 
sensitivity not driven by the valuation that are difficult to follow and detract from the comparability of this 
information. 

Liquidity risk

We are exposed to liquidity risk. Our financing of capital provision assets requires capital to meet 
commitments, as described in note 20 (Financial commitments and contingent liabilities) to our consolidated 
financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K, and for settlement of operating liabilities. Our capital 
provision assets typically require significant capital contributions with little or no immediate return and no 
guarantee of return or repayment. To manage liquidity risk, we finance assets with a range of anticipated 
lives and hold marketable securities which can be readily realized to meet those liabilities and commitments.

Marketable securities primarily consist of government securities, investment grade corporate bonds, asset-
backed securities and mutual funds, all of which can be redeemed on short notice or be sold on an active 
trading market.
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As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had $1.8 billion and $1.6 billion aggregate principal amount of our 
debt securities outstanding, respectively, which were issued primarily for the purpose of raising sufficient 
capital to help mitigate liquidity risk. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the future interest payments on our 
outstanding debt securities amounted to $690.5 million and $625.3 million, respectively, until their 
respective maturities in August 2025, December 2026, April 2028, April 2030 and July 2031, at which point 
the respective aggregate principal amounts will be required to be repaid. See note 12 (Debt) and note 20 
(Financial commitments and contingent liabilities) to our consolidated financial statements contained in this 
2024 Form 10-K for additional information with respect to our debt securities, including a schedule of 
maturities.

Credit risk

We are exposed to credit risk in various asset structures as described in note 2 (Summary of significant 
accounting policies) to our consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K, most of which 
involve financing sums recoverable only out of successful capital provision assets with a concomitant risk of 
loss of deployed cost. Upon becoming contractually entitled to proceeds, depending on the structure of the 
particular capital provision asset, we could be a creditor of, and subject to direct or indirect credit risk from, 
a claimant, a defendant and/or other parties, or a combination thereof. Moreover, we may be indirectly 
subject to credit risk to the extent a defendant does not pay a claimant immediately, notwithstanding 
successful adjudication of a claim in the claimant’s favor. Our credit risk is uncertain given that our 
entitlement pursuant to our assets is generally not established until a successful resolution of claims, and our 
potential credit risk is mitigated by the diversity of our counterparties and indirect creditors, and due to a 
judgment creditor (in contrast to a conventional debtholder and in the absence of an actual bankruptcy of 
the counterparty) having immediate and unfettered rights of action to, for example, seize assets and garnish 
cash flows. See “Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations—
Economic and market conditions—Party solvency” for additional information with respect to when a claimant 
or defendant in a matter we are financing becomes insolvent. We are also exposed to credit risk in respect of 
the marketable securities and cash and cash equivalents. The credit risk of the cash and cash equivalents is 
mitigated as all cash is placed with reputable banks with a sound credit rating. Marketable securities 
primarily consist of government securities, investment grade corporate bonds, asset-backed securities and 
mutual funds, all of which can be redeemed on short notice or be sold on an active trading market.

The maximum credit risk exposure represented by cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, due 
from settlement of capital provision assets and capital provision assets is specified in our consolidated 
statements of financial condition.

In addition, we are exposed to credit risk on financial assets and receivables in other assets, all of which are 
held at amortized cost. The maximum credit exposure for such amounts was the carrying value of $17.1 
million and $17.8 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. We review the lifetime expected 
credit loss based on historical collection performance, the specific provisions of any settlement agreement 
and a forward-looking assessment of macroeconomic factors. Based on this review, we have not identified 
any material expected credit loss relating to the financial assets held at amortized cost. We recognized no 
impairments for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Currency risk

We hold assets denominated in currencies other than US dollar, our functional currency, including pound 
sterling, Euro and Australian dollar. In addition, we issued debt securities denominated in pound sterling in 
2017 that remained outstanding as of the date of this 2024 Form 10-K. We are therefore exposed to currency 
risk, as values of the assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies will fluctuate due to changes in 
exchange rates. We may use forward exchange contracts from time to time to mitigate currency risk.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, should pound sterling, Euro and Australian dollar have strengthened or 
weakened by 10% against US dollar, while all other variables remained constant, our capital provision assets 
and other assets/(liabilities) would have increased and decreased, respectively, as set forth in the tables 
below.
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December 31, 2024

($ in thousands)

Capital
provision

assets
Other assets/

(liabilities)
Currency risk

exposure of 10 %

US dollar  4,987,457  (1,828,220)  — 

Pound sterling  9,582  (178,431)  (16,885) 

Euro  192,988  14,659  20,765 

Australian dollar  22,558  50  2,261 

Canadian dollar  28,745  4,646  3,339 

Singapore dollar  2,587  214  280 

Total  5,243,917  (1,987,082)  9,760 

December 31, 2023

($ in thousands)

Capital
provision

assets
Other assets/

(liabilities)
Currency risk

exposure of 10 %

US dollar  4,846,759  (1,603,260)  — 

Pound sterling  10,921  (235,052)  (22,413) 

Euro  131,922  735  13,266 

Australian dollar  21,863  (150)  2,171 

Canadian dollar  31,376  119  3,150 

Singapore dollar  2,547  —  255 

Total  5,045,388  (1,837,608)  (3,571) 

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. Our exposure to market risk for changes in floating interest 
rates relates primarily to our cash and cash equivalents, capital provision assets and certain marketable 
securities. All cash and cash equivalents bear interest at floating rates. There are certain capital provision 
assets, due from settlement of capital provision assets and marketable securities that earn interest based on 
fixed rates, but those assets do not have interest rate risk as they are not exposed to changes in market 
interest rates. While not interest bearing, the fair value of our capital provision assets is sensitive to changes 
in interest rates that impact the discount rates applied in measuring fair value. See “Management's discussion 
and analysis of financial condition and results of operations—Critical accounting estimates—Fair value of 
capital provision assets” for additional information with respect to such interest rate sensitivity. Our 
outstanding debt securities incur interest at a fixed rate and, therefore, are not exposed to changes in 
market interest rates.

The interest-bearing floating rate assets and liabilities are denominated in both US dollar and pound sterling. 
If interest rates increased and decreased by 25 basis points while all other variables remained constant, the 
net income/(loss) for the year ended December 31, 2024 and net assets as of December 31, 2024, would 
increase and decrease by $1.2 million, the net income/(loss) for the year ended December 31, 2023 and net 
assets as of December 31, 2023, would increase and decrease by $0.7 million, and the net income for the 
year ended December 31, 2022 and net assets as of December 31, 2022, would increase and decrease by $0.3 
million. For fixed rate assets and liabilities, we estimated that there would be no material impact on net 
income or net assets. Fixed rate liabilities include our outstanding indebtedness as described in note 12 
(Debt) to our consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K.
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The tables below set forth respective maturity periods of our floating and fixed rate assets and liabilities as 
of the dates indicated.

December 31, 2024

($ in thousands) Floating Fixed Total

Assets

Less than 3 months  469,930  22,881  492,811 

3 to 6 months  —  23,057  23,057 

6 to 12 months  —  8,544  8,544 

1 to 2 years  —  12,009  12,009 

Greater than 2 years  —  678,110  678,110 

Liabilities

6 to 12 months  —  129,432  129,432 

1 to 2 years  —  219,257  219,257 

Greater than 2 years  —  1,435,000  1,435,000 

Net asset/(liabilities)  469,930  (1,039,088)  (569,158) 

December 31, 2023

($ in thousands) Floating Fixed Total

Assets

Less than 3 months  220,549  11,571  232,120 

3 to 6 months  —  16,795  16,795 

6 to 12 months  —  29,830  29,830 

1 to 2 years  —  12,272  12,272 

Greater than 2 years  76,887  163,296  240,183 

Liabilities

1 to 2 years  —  180,000  180,000 

Greater than 2 years  —  1,383,073  1,383,073 

Net asset/(liabilities)  297,436  (1,329,309)  (1,031,873) 
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Directors’ report
To our shareholders:

Each member of the Board of Directors (each, a “Director” and, collectively, “Directors”) presents the 
annual report to shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2024 (this “2024 Annual Report”) and the 
audited consolidated financial statements of Burford Capital Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively, 
“Burford”) for the financial year ended December 31, 2024.

Business activities and organization

Burford is a global firm that serves the industry of law by providing an array of financial products and 
services. Burford Capital Limited is incorporated under the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008, as amended 
(the “Guernsey Companies Law”). Burford Capital Limited’s ordinary shares were admitted to trading on 
AIM, a market operated by the London Stock Exchange (“AIM”), on October 21, 2009 and on the New York 
Stock Exchange on October 19, 2020.

Corporate governance

Burford Capital Limited has adopted the Finance Sector Code of Corporate Governance issued by the 
Guernsey Financial Services Commission (the “Guernsey Code of Corporate Governance”). Burford’s 
compliance with the Guernsey Code of Corporate Governance has been the subject of regular reporting to 
and oversight by the Directors. In addition, the Directors have adopted corporate governance guidelines (the 
“Corporate Governance Guidelines”) as a general framework to assist the Directors in carrying out their 
responsibility for Burford’s business and affairs. The Corporate Governance Guidelines outline important 
policies and practices regarding Burford’s governance, such as the size and composition, the structure and 
operations and the duties and responsibilities of the board of directors. Furthermore, Burford is subject to 
the applicable rules and regulations of the US Securities and Exchange Commission, the applicable listing 
standards of the New York Stock Exchange and the applicable AIM rules. 

Results of operations and dividends

Burford’s results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024 are set forth in the consolidated 
statements of operations included elsewhere in this 2024 Annual Report.

Burford Capital Limited paid an interim dividend for the year ended December 31, 2024 of 6.25 US cents per 
ordinary share on December 5, 2024. The Directors are proposing a final dividend for the year ended 
December 31, 2024 of 6.25 US cents per ordinary share to be paid, subject to shareholder approval at the 
annual general meeting to be held on May 14, 2025, on June 13, 2025 to the shareholders on the register as 
of the close of business on May 23, 2025.

Because Burford is a US dollar-denominated business, dividends are declared in US dollars. For shareholders 
electing to receive their dividends in pounds sterling, dividends are subsequently converted into pounds 
sterling based on the exchange rate determined on or about the record date and are paid in pounds sterling. 
UK shareholders who would like to receive dividends in US dollars instead of pounds sterling should contact 
the registrar. US shareholders will automatically receive dividends in US dollars unless they request 
otherwise.

Directors

The Directors of Burford Capital Limited who served during the year ended December 31, 2024 and to the 
date of this 2024 Annual Report are John Sievwright (Chair of the Board of Directors), Christopher Halmy 
(Vice Chair of the Board of Directors), Rukia Baruti Dames, Christopher Bogart, Pamela Corrie and Robert 
Gillespie. 

Interests of the Directors

The interests of the Directors, if any, are described in Burford’s proxy statement relating to the annual 
general meeting of shareholders to be held on May 14, 2025 in the sections titled “Resolutions 1 through 6—
Election of Directors—Corporate governance—Related party transactions”, “Resolutions 1 through 6—Election 
of Directors—Corporate governance—Director compensation” and “Security ownership of certain beneficial 
owners and management”.

Statement of the Directors’ responsibilities in relation to the consolidated financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing this 2024 Annual Report and the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with applicable Guernsey law and generally accepted accounting principles in the United 
States (“US GAAP”).
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Under the Guernsey Companies Law, the Directors must not approve the consolidated financial statements 
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the financial condition, results of operations 
and cash flows of Burford as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024. In preparing the consolidated 
financial statements, the Directors are required to:

▪ Select suitable accounting policies and apply such accounting policies consistently
▪ Present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, 

comparable and understandable information
▪ Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent

Burford is required to keep accounting records sufficient to show and explain its transactions, and which 
disclose with reasonable accuracy its financial position at any time and enable the Directors to ensure that 
any accounts prepared by Burford are prepared properly and in accordance with any relevant legislation.

Disclosure of information to auditors

So far as each of the Directors is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which Burford’s 
independent registered public accounting firm is unaware, and each of the Directors has taken all of the 
steps he or she ought to have taken as a director to make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that Burford’s Independent Auditor is aware of such information. 

Independent Auditor

KPMG LLP has expressed its willingness to continue in office and a resolution to re-appoint it will be proposed 
at the annual general meeting of shareholders to be held in 2025.

/s/ John Sievwright

John Sievwright
Chair
on behalf of the Board of Directors
March 3, 2025
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors
Burford Capital Limited:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of financial condition of Burford Capital Limited 
and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2024, the related consolidated statements of operations, 
comprehensive income/(loss), changes in equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related 
notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 
2024, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated March 3, 2025 expressed an 
adverse opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are 
a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the 
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audit included performing 
procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We 
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the 
consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit 
committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial 
statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The 
communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a 
separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Fair value of capital provision assets

As discussed in Notes 2, 5, and 14 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company had capital 
provisions assets (CPAs) totaling $5,244 million as of December 31, 2024, a substantial portion of which 
related to CPAs using unobservable inputs (Level 3 CPAs) totaling $5,227 million. CPAs are held at fair 
value determined using an income approach. The income approach estimates fair value based on 
estimated, risk-adjusted future cash flows, using a discount rate to reflect the funding risk of deploying 
capital for financing capital provision assets. This fair value methodology includes certain assumptions 
used in the valuation model, such as the discount rate, the timing and amount of expected cash flows, 
and a risk-adjustment factor reflecting the uncertainty inherent in the cash flows primarily driven by 
litigation risk, which changes as a result of observable litigation events.

We identified the assessment of the measurement of fair value of Level 3 CPAs as a critical audit matter. 
A high degree of effort, including specialized skills and knowledge, and subjective and complex auditor 
judgment was involved in the assessment of the Level 3 CPA fair values due to measurement uncertainty. 
Specifically, the assessment encompassed the evaluation of the fair value methodology utilized, including 
significant assumptions used in the valuation model to estimate fair value. Significant assumptions include 
the discount rate, the timing and amount of expected cash flows, and a risk-adjustment factor reflecting 
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the uncertainty inherent in the cash flows. In addition, auditor judgment was required to evaluate the 
sufficiency of audit evidence obtained.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter.

We involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in:  

• evaluating the Company’s fair value methodology for compliance with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles

• testing the mathematical accuracy of the valuation models in accordance with the Company’s 
valuation policy for a selection of Level 3 CPAs

• evaluating the reasonableness of the Company’s discount rates by comparing to an independently 
developed range of discount rates

• testing that the discount rate was applied correctly in the valuation model based on management’s 
discount rate determination for a selection of Level 3 CPAs.

We evaluated the knowledge, skills, and abilities of management’s external legal specialists, who were 
utilized to assess the reasonableness of percentage ranges to be applied against the risk-adjustment 
factor for observable litigation events based on their legal expertise. Additionally, we evaluated the 
sufficiency and appropriateness of the specialists' scope of work and report.

For a selection of Level 3 CPAs, we:

• confirmed the observable litigation events with external counterparties and compared to those 
identified by management

• evaluated the observable litigation events based on available court documents and other information 
in the public domain and compared to those identified by management

• agreed the cash outflows and inflows used in the valuation model to bank statements or 
confirmations with external counterparties

• recalculated the Company’s contractual entitlement based on the terms of the related capital 
provision agreements

• agreed estimated proceeds that were impacted by damages or settlements to court documents or 
inquired of management and inspected relevant supporting documentation to assess management’s 
proceeds determination

• evaluated the duration used in the valuation model by comparing to the Company’s duration policy, 
which was agreed to third-party data, or by inspecting relevant supporting documentation.

We evaluated the sufficiency of audit evidence obtained by assessing the results of the procedures 
performed, including the appropriateness of the nature and extent of such evidence.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2024.

New York, New York 
March 3, 2025
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors
Burford Capital Limited:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Burford Capital Limited and subsidiaries' (the Company) internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework 
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, 
because of the effect of the material weakness, described below, on the achievement of the objectives of 
the control criteria, the Company has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by 
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.   

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated statement of financial condition of the Company as of December 
31, 2024, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income/(loss), changes in 
equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated 
financial statements), and our report dated March 3, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion on those 
consolidated financial statements.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial 
reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual 
or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. A material weakness 
related to a lack of available evidence to demonstrate the precision of management’s review of the controls 
to determine certain assumptions used in the measurement of the fair value of capital provision assets has 
been identified and included in management’s assessment. The material weakness was considered in 
determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2024 consolidated 
financial statements, and this report does not affect our report on those consolidated financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting 
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the 
accompanying Management's annual report on internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a 
public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the 
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over 
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial 
reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk 
that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal 
control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over 
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records 
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of 
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk 
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that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP

New York, New York 
March 3, 2025
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Members Burford Capital Limited

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Burford Capital Limited and its subsidiaries 
(together “the Group”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial condition as of December 
31, 2024, consolidated statements of comprehensive income/(loss), consolidated statements of operations, 
consolidated statements of changes in equity, consolidated statements of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2024, and the results of its operations and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are required 
to be independent of the Group and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the 
relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Other Matter

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group as of December 31, 2023, and for the year 
then ended were audited by other auditors whose report thereon dated March 28, 2024, expressed an 
unmodified opinion on those financial statements.

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and for the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for one year after the date that the consolidated financial statements are issued.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a 
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a 
reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. 
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 
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• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 
period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters 
that we identified during the audit. 

Other Information included in the consolidated financial statements 

Management is responsible for the other information included in the consolidated financial statements. The 
other information comprises the information included in the annual report but does not include the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. Our opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements does not cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance 
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the financial 
statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 
performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are 
required to describe it in our report.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with section 262 of the Companies (Guernsey) Law 2008, in our opinion, the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2024, and the 
results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended;

• are in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; and 
• comply with the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008.

In addition, we have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies (Guernsey) 
Law, 2008 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

• Burford Capital Limited (“the Company”) has not kept proper accounting records; or
• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations, which to the best of our knowledge and 

belief are necessary for the purpose of our audit.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities 

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 262 of the 
Companies (Guernsey) Law 2008.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed.

/s/ KPMG LLP

London, United Kingdom, 
March 3, 2025
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  Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Burford Capital Limited 

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of financial condition of Burford Capital Limited 
(the "Company") as of December 31, 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash flows, for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2023, 
and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial statements"). In our opinion, the 
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial condition of the 
Company at December 31, 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years 
in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting 
firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are 
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws 
and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to 
assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and 
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, 
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We served as the Company's auditor from 2010 to 2024.

Guernsey, Channel Islands 
March 28, 2024, except for the paragraph “Reclassifications” within Note 2 and the 2023 and 2022 segment 
information within Note 4, as to which the date is March 3, 2025
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BURFORD CAPITAL LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

($ IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA) 

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Revenues

Capital provision income/(loss) $ 552,066 $ 1,341,923 $ 319,108 

Plus/(Less): Third-party interests in capital provision assets  (42,384)  (279,263)  (494) 

Asset management income/(loss)  8,340  7,642  9,116 

Marketable securities income/(loss) and interest  25,014  12,208  (7,744) 

Other income/(loss)  3,051  4,392  (759) 

Total revenues  546,087  1,086,902  319,227 

Operating expenses

Compensation and benefits

Salaries and benefits  42,418  39,788  34,207 

Annual incentive compensation  29,210  32,697  24,338 

Share-based and deferred compensation  8,822  21,128  11,201 

Long-term incentive compensation including accruals  43,209  127,471  16,600 

General, administrative and other  31,025  33,656  29,681 

Case-related expenditures ineligible for inclusion in asset cost  801  16,496  8,245 

Total operating expenses  155,485  271,236  124,272 

Operating income/(loss)  390,602  815,666  194,955 

Other expenses

Finance costs  135,593  99,135  78,264 

Foreign currency transactions (gains)/losses  1,421  (21,752)  7,674 

Total other expenses  137,014  77,383  85,938 

Income/(loss) before income taxes  253,588  738,283  109,017 

Provision for/(benefit from) income taxes  24,005  20,084  11,558 

Net income/(loss)  229,583  718,199  97,459 

Net income/(loss) attributable to non-controlling interests  83,099  107,677  66,953 

Net income/(loss) attributable to Burford Capital Limited shareholders  146,484  610,522  30,506 

Net income/(loss) attributable to Burford Capital Limited shareholders per 
ordinary share

Basic  $0.67  $2.79  $0.14 

Diluted  $0.66  $2.74  $0.14 

Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding

Basic 219,231,837 218,865,816 218,757,232

Diluted 223,231,672 223,014,890 221,802,486

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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BURFORD CAPITAL LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

($ IN THOUSANDS) 

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Net income/(loss) $ 229,583 $ 718,199 $ 97,459 

Other comprehensive income/(loss)

Foreign currency translation adjustment  2,808  (39,737)  44,089 

Comprehensive income/(loss)  232,391  678,462  141,548 

(Plus)/Less: Comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to non-controlling 
interests  83,099  107,677  66,953 

Comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to Burford Capital Limited 
shareholders  149,292  570,785  74,595 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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BURFORD CAPITAL LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

($ IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

December 31,

2024 2023
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 469,930 $ 220,549 

Marketable securities  79,020  107,561 

Other assets  61,006  63,464 

Due from settlement of capital provision assets  183,858  265,540 

Capital provision assets  5,243,917  5,045,388 

Goodwill  133,948  133,965 

Deferred tax asset  3,346  927 

Total assets  6,175,025  5,837,394 

Liabilities

Debt interest payable  12,097  34,416 

Other liabilities  141,973  122,199 

Long-term incentive compensation payable  217,552  183,134 

Debt payable  1,763,612  1,534,730 

Financial liabilities relating to third-party interests in capital provision assets  747,053  704,196 

Deferred tax liability  35,903  50,939 

Total liabilities  2,918,190  2,629,614 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 20)

Shareholders' equity

Ordinary shares, no par value; unlimited shares authorized; 220,091,851 ordinary shares issued 
and 219,421,904 ordinary shares outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 219,313,388 ordinary 
shares issued and 218,962,441 ordinary shares outstanding as of December 31, 2023  610,037  602,238 

Additional paid-in capital  42,409  36,545 

Accumulated other comprehensive income  10,120  7,312 

Treasury shares; 669,947 ordinary shares at $14.28 cost as of December 31, 2024, and 350,947 
ordinary shares at $12.76 cost as of December 31, 2023  (9,569)  (4,479) 

Retained earnings  1,766,435  1,649,242 

Total Burford Capital Limited equity  2,419,432  2,290,858 

Non-controlling interests  837,403  916,922 

Total shareholders' equity  3,256,835  3,207,780 

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity  6,175,025  5,837,394 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 95 to 141 of this 2024 Form 10-K were approved by the Board 
of Directors on March 3, 2025, and were signed on its behalf by: 

/s/ John Sievwright

John Sievwright
Chair of the Board of Directors
March 3, 2025
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BURFORD CAPITAL LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

($ IN THOUSANDS)

Years ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net income/(loss) $ 229,583 $ 718,199 $ 97,459 

Adjustments to reconcile net income/(loss) to net cash provided/(used) by 
Capital provision (income)/loss  (552,066)  (1,341,923)  (319,108) 

(Income)/loss on marketable securities  (4,069)  (5,599)  10,736 

Other (income)/loss  (3,051)  (4,392)  759 

Share-based and deferred compensation  8,686  8,747  7,782 

Deferred tax (benefit)/expense  (16,877)  5,863  9,356 

Other  8,331  (7,624)  17,991 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Proceeds from capital provision assets  991,292  559,362  387,786 

(Funding) of capital provision assets  (555,088)  (682,027)  (727,298) 

Net proceeds/(funding) of marketable securities  32,577  34,471  27,866 

Net proceeds/(funding) from financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss  (2,583)  —  3,333 

Proceeds from other income  3,625  7,875  3,186 

Proceeds from break fee income  —  650  — 
(Increase)/decrease in other assets  (1,502)  (3,613)  (5,511) 

Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities  35,010  156,338  19,088 

Net increase/(decrease) on financial liability to third-party investment  42,857  278,991  471 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  216,725  (274,682)  (466,104) 

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment  (661)  (3,212)  (407) 

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  (661)  (3,212)  (407) 

Cash flows from financing activities:
Debt issuance, including original issue premium  284,969  394,464  357,271 

Debt issuance costs  (6,283)  (8,461)  (7,912) 

Debt extinguishment  (49,819)  (129,970)  (79,911) 

Dividends paid on ordinary shares  (27,327)  (27,499)  (27,665) 

Acquisition of ordinary shares held in treasury  (5,090)  (3,759)  (3,749) 

Acquisition of ordinary shares to meet share-based payment obligations  —  —  (4,291) 

Third-party net capital contribution/(distribution)  (162,618)  164,759  165,388 

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities  33,832  389,534  399,131 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  249,896  111,640  (67,380) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  220,549  107,658  180,255 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (515)  1,251  (5,217) 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  469,930  220,549  107,658 

The table below sets forth supplemental disclosures to our statement of consolidated cash flows.

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Cash received from interest and dividend income $ 20,992 $ 6,438 $ 3,462 

Cash paid for debt interest  (154,093)  (77,210)  (70,781) 

Cash received from income tax refund  229  729  1,199 

Cash paid for income taxes  (19,504)  (14,050)  (1,840) 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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BURFORD CAPITAL LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

($ IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

Year ended December 31, 2024

Shares Amount

Ordinary
shares

Treasury
shares

Ordinary
shares

Treasury
shares

Additional
paid-in
capital

Retained
earnings

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income/(loss)

Total Burford
Capital 

Limited
equity

Non-
controlling

interests

Total
shareholders’

equity

At beginning of period 219,313,388 (350,947) $ 602,238 $ (4,479) $ 36,545 $ 1,649,242 $ 7,312 $ 2,290,858 $ 916,922 $ 3,207,780 

Net income/(loss)  —  —  —  —  —  146,484  —  146,484  83,099  229,583 

Foreign currency 
translation adjustment  —  —  —  —  —  —  2,808  2,808  —  2,808 

Issuance of new ordinary 
shares to satisfy vested 
share-based awards  569,772  —  4,786  —  (4,786)  —  —  —  —  — 

Issuance of new ordinary 
shares to satisfy 
distributions under the 
NQDC Plan  208,691  —  3,013  —  —  —  —  3,013  —  3,013 

Acquisition of ordinary 
shares held in treasury  —  (319,000)  —  (5,090)  —  —  —  (5,090)  —  (5,090) 

Transfer of share-based 
awards on vesting  —  —  —  —  (2,376)  (1,964)  —  (4,340)  —  (4,340) 

Share-based and 
deferred compensation  —  —  —  —  13,026  —  —  13,026  —  13,026 

Dividends paid  —  —  —  —  —  (27,327)  —  (27,327)  —  (27,327) 

Third-party net capital 
contribution/
(distribution)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (162,618)  (162,618) 

At end of period 220,091,851 (669,947) 610,037 (9,569) 42,409 1,766,435 10,120 2,419,432 837,403 3,256,835

Year ended December 31, 2023

Shares Amount

Ordinary
shares

Treasury
shares

Ordinary
shares

Treasury
shares

Additional
paid-in
capital

Retained
earnings

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income/(loss)

Total Burford
Capital 

Limited
equity

Non-
controlling

interests

Total
shareholders’

equity

At beginning of period 219,049,877  (468,000) $ 598,813 $ (3,749) $ 26,305 $ 1,074,166 $ 47,049 $ 1,742,584 $ 644,486 $ 2,387,070 

Net income/(loss)  —  —  —  —  —  610,522  —  610,522  107,677  718,199 

Foreign currency 
translation adjustment  —  —  —  —  —  —  (39,737)  (39,737)  —  (39,737) 

Issuance of new ordinary 
shares to satisfy vested 
share-based awards  263,511  —  3,425  —  (3,425)  —  —  —  —  — 

Acquisition of ordinary 
shares held in treasury  —  (261,000)  —  (3,759)  —  —  —  (3,759)  —  (3,759) 

Distribution of ordinary 
shares for vested share-
based awards  —  378,053  —  3,029  (3,029)  —  —  —  —  — 

Transfer of share-based 
awards on vesting  —  —  —  —  2,589  (7,947)  —  (5,358)  —  (5,358) 

Share-based and 
deferred compensation  —  —  —  —  14,105  —  —  14,105  —  14,105 

Dividends paid  —  —  —  —  —  (27,499)  —  (27,499)  —  (27,499) 

Third-party net capital 
contribution/
(distribution)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  164,759  164,759 

At end of period 219,313,388  (350,947)  602,238  (4,479)  36,545  1,649,242  7,312  2,290,858  916,922  3,207,780 

99



Year ended December 31, 2022

Shares Amount

Ordinary
shares

Treasury
shares

Ordinary
shares

Treasury
shares

Additional
paid-in
capital

Retained
earnings

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income/(loss)

Total Burford
Capital 

Limited
equity

Non-
controlling

interests

Total
shareholders’

equity

At beginning of period 219,049,877  — $ 598,813 $ — $ 26,366 $ 1,067,773 $ 2,920 $ 1,695,872 $ 412,145 $ 2,108,017 

Net income/(loss)  —  —  —  —  —  30,506  —  30,506  66,953  97,459 

Foreign currency 
translation adjustment  —  —  —  —  —  —  44,089  44,089  —  44,089 

Acquisition of ordinary 
shares held in treasury  —  (468,000)  —  (3,749)  —  —  —  (3,749)  —  (3,749) 

Ordinary shares 
purchased by the 
Burford Capital 
Employee Benefit Trust  —  —  —  —  (4,291)  —  —  (4,291)  —  (4,291) 

Ordinary shares 
distributed by the 
Burford Capital 
Employee Benefit Trust  —  —  —  —  —  (2,495)  —  (2,495)  —  (2,495) 

Transfer of share-based 
awards on vesting  —  —  —  —  (6,047)  6,047  —  —  —  — 

Share-based and 
deferred compensation  —  —  —  —  10,277  —  —  10,277  —  10,277 

Dividends paid  —  —  —  —  —  (27,665)  —  (27,665)  —  (27,665) 

Third-party net capital 
contribution/
(distribution)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  165,388  165,388 

Other  —  —  —  —  —  —  40  40  —  40 

At end of period 219,049,877  (468,000)  598,813  (3,749)  26,305  1,074,166  47,049  1,742,584  644,486  2,387,070 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization

Burford Capital Limited (the “Company”) and its consolidated subsidiaries (collectively with the Company, 
the “Group”) provide legal finance products and services and are engaged in the asset management business.

The Company was incorporated as a company limited by shares under the Guernsey Companies Law on 
September 11, 2009. The Company has a single class of ordinary shares, which commenced trading on AIM in 
October 2009 and on the NYSE in October 2020, in each case, under the symbol “BUR”. The Company’s 
subsidiaries have issued bonds that are traded on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange and 
unregistered senior notes in private placement transactions pursuant to Rule 144A and Regulation S under the 
Securities Act.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of presentation

The Group’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024, and 
comparative periods have been prepared in accordance with US GAAP.

Use of estimates

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities, in each case, as of the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Such estimates include, among others, the valuation of 
capital provision assets (which requires the use of Level 3 valuation inputs) and other financial instruments, 
the measurement of deferred tax balances (including valuation allowances) and the accounting for goodwill. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates, and such differences could be material.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of (i) the Company, (ii) its wholly owned or 
majority owned subsidiaries, (iii) the consolidated entities that are considered to be variable interest entities 
(“VIEs”) and for which the Company is considered the primary beneficiary and (iv) certain entities that are 
not considered VIEs but that the Company controls through a majority voting interest.

In connection with private funds and other related entities where the Group does not own 100% of the 
relevant entity, the Group makes judgments about whether it is required to consolidate such entities by 
applying the factors set forth in US GAAP for VIEs or voting interest entities under Accounting Standards 
Codification (“ASC”) 810—Consolidation.

VIEs are entities that, by design, either (i) lack sufficient equity to permit the entity to finance its activities 
without additional subordinated financial support from other parties, (ii) have equity investors that (A) do 
not have the ability to make significant decisions relating to the entity’s operations through voting rights, (B) 
do not have the obligation to absorb the expected losses or (C) do not have the right to receive the residual 
returns of the entity or (iii) have equity investors’ voting rights that are not proportional to the economics, 
and substantially all of the activities of the entity either involve or are conducted on behalf of an investor 
that has disproportionately few voting rights. An entity is deemed to be the primary beneficiary of the VIE if 
such entity has both (i) the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic 
performance and (ii) the right to receive benefits from the VIE or the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE 
that could be significant to the VIE.

In determining whether the Group is the primary beneficiary of a VIE, the Group considers both qualitative 
and quantitative factors regarding the nature, size and form of its involvement with the VIE, such as its role 
establishing the VIE and its ongoing rights and responsibilities, the design of the VIE, its economic interests, 
servicing fees and servicing responsibilities and certain other factors. The Group performs ongoing 
reassessments to evaluate whether changes in the entity’s capital structure or changes in the nature of the 
Group’s involvement with the entity result in a change to the VIE designation or a change to the Group’s 
consolidation conclusion.
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The most significant judgments relate to the assessment of the Group’s exposure or rights to variable returns 
in Burford Opportunity Fund C LP (“BOF-C”), Burford Advantage Master Fund LP (the “Advantage Fund”), 
Colorado Investments Limited (“Colorado”) and, prior to its liquidation in the fourth quarter of 2023, BCIM 
Strategic Value Master Fund, LP (the “Strategic Value Fund”). The Group has assessed that its economic 
interest in the income generated from BOF-C and its investment as a limited partner in the Strategic Value 
Fund and the Advantage Fund, coupled with its power over the relevant activities as the fund manager, 
require the consolidation of BOF-C, the Strategic Value Fund and the Advantage Fund in the consolidated 
financial statements. Similarly, the Group has assessed that its shareholding in Colorado, coupled with its 
power over the relevant activities of Colorado through contractual agreements, require the consolidation of 
Colorado in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group is deemed to have a controlling financial interest in VIEs in which it is the primary beneficiary and 
in other entities in which it owns more than 50% of the outstanding voting shares and other shareholders do 
not have substantive rights to participate in management. The assets of these consolidated VIEs are not 
available to the Company, and the creditors of these consolidated VIEs do not have recourse to the Company.

For entities the Group controls but does not wholly own, the Group generally records a non-controlling 
interest within shareholders’ equity for the portion of the entity’s equity attributed to the non-controlling 
ownership interests. Accordingly, third-party share of net income or loss relating to non-controlling interests 
in consolidated entities is treated as a reduction or increase, respectively, of net income or loss in the 
consolidated statements of operations. With respect to Colorado, an entity the Group controls but does not 
wholly own, the Group records a financial liability within financial liabilities relating to third-party interests 
in capital provision assets for the portion of Colorado’s equity held by third parties. The third-party share of 
income or loss is included in third-party interests in capital provision assets in the consolidated statements of 
operations. All significant intercompany balances, transactions and unrealized gains and losses on such 
transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

Third-party interests in capital provision assets

Third-party interests in capital provision assets include the financial liability relating to third-party interests 
in Colorado as well as financial liabilities relating to third-party interests resulting from capital provision 
asset subparticipations recognized at fair value. Colorado holds a single financial asset and does not have any 
other business activity. Accordingly, Colorado does not meet the definition of a business, and the third-party 
interests in Colorado are accounted for as a collateralized borrowing rather than non-controlling interests in 
shareholders’ equity. Amounts included in the consolidated statements of financial condition represent the 
fair value of the third-party interests in the related capital provision assets, and the amounts included in the 
consolidated statements of operations represent the third-party share of any gain or loss during the reporting 
period. Gains in the underlying capital provision asset result in increased financial liabilities to third-party 
interests in capital provision assets in the consolidated statement of financial condition and negative 
adjustments in the consolidated statement of operations, presented as “(Less): Third-party interests in 
capital provision assets”. Conversely, losses in the underlying capital provision asset result in decreased 
financial liabilities to third-party interests in capital provision assets in the consolidated statement of 
financial condition and positive adjustments in the consolidated statement of operations, presented as “Plus: 
Third-party interests in capital provision assets”. 

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group has renamed the line item in the consolidated 
statements of operations from “Gain/(loss) relating to third-party interests in capital provision assets” to 
“Plus/(Less): Third-party interests in capital provision assets” and has changed the order to include this line 
item directly beneath the line item “Capital provision income/(loss)”.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications of the amounts for the prior periods have been made to conform to the presentation 
of the current period, such as incorporating the “Legacy asset recovery incentive compensation including 
accruals” line item into the “Long-term incentive compensation including accruals” line item within the 
consolidated statements of operations and moving the legacy asset recovery incentive compensation payable 
out of the “Other liabilities” line item into the “Long-term incentive compensation payable” line item within 
the consolidated statements of financial condition. In addition, within the consolidated statements of 
operations, we also incorporated the deferred compensation expense from the "Salaries and benefits" line 
item into the "Share-based and deferred compensation" line item, the "(Gains)/losses on debt 
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extinguishment" line item into the "Finance costs" line item and combined the “Insurance income/(loss)” and 
“Services income/(loss)” line items under the “Other income/(loss)” line item. These reclassifications have 
no effect on previously reported results of operations or total shareholders’ equity. 

Covid-19 pandemic and global economic market conditions

The Covid-19 pandemic and restrictions on certain non-essential businesses have caused disruption in the 
United States and global economies. Although the clearing of court backlogs is underway, it continues to be 
gradual, uneven and characterized by meaningful dispersion across sectors and regions. The estimates and 
assumptions underlying the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and for the 
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, include judgments about the financial markets and 
economic conditions, which may change over time. Among estimates and assumptions, certain inputs to the 
valuation of the Group’s capital provision assets were impacted as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, 
including expected timing and amount of cash flows in the Group’s cash flow forecasts and applicable 
discount rates.

As a result of the Russian Federation’s invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 (the “Ukraine War”), various 
nations, including the United States, have instituted economic sanctions and other responsive measures, 
which have resulted in an increased level of global economic and political uncertainty. As of and for the 
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the effects of the Ukraine War, including international 
sanctions imposed on Russian businesses and individuals, have not had a material impact on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.

In addition, in October 2023, an armed conflict began in Israel, Gaza and surrounding areas, which has 
resulted in an increased level of global economic and political uncertainty. As of and for the year ended 
December 31, 2024, the effects of the conflict in Israel and Gaza have not had a material impact on the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include funds held by depository institutions, money market funds and government 
securities with original maturities of three months or less when purchased. Interest income from cash and 
cash equivalents is recorded in marketable securities income/(loss) and interest in the consolidated 
statements of operations. The fair values of the money market funds included in cash and cash equivalents 
were $319.9 million and $13.0 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, which represented 
their fair values due to their short-term nature and were categorized as Level 1 within the fair value 
hierarchy. Substantially all of the Group’s cash on deposit is in interest bearing accounts with major financial 
institutions that exceed insured limits.

Statement of cash flows

The core business purpose of the Group is the provision of capital and expertise, to clients or as a principal, 
in connection with (i) the underlying asset value of litigation claims and the enforcement of settlements, 
judgments and awards, (ii) the amount paid to law firms as legal fees and expenses and (iii) the value of 
assets affected by litigation. These contractual arrangements are presented as capital provision assets in the 
consolidated statements of financial condition, and the returns on those capital provision assets form the 
principal source of revenue earned by the Group. The cash flows associated with capital provision assets are 
reported within cash flows from operating activities because the ongoing management of the capital 
provision assets is a key operating activity for the Group.

Marketable securities

Marketable securities primarily consist of government securities, investment grade corporate bonds, asset-
backed securities and mutual funds. Marketable securities are recorded at fair value. Interest income on 
marketable securities is included in the overall change in fair value which is recognized in marketable 
securities income/(loss) and interest in the consolidated statements of operations.

Dividend and interest

Dividend and interest is recognized on an accruals basis and included in marketable securities income/(loss) 
and interest.
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Fair value of financial instruments

The Group’s capital provision assets meet the definition of a financial instrument under ASC 825—Financial 
instruments. Single case, portfolio, portfolio with equity risk and legal risk management capital provision 
assets meet the definition of a derivative instrument under ASC 815—Derivatives and hedging and are 
accounted for at fair value.

The Group has elected the fair value option for the Group’s equity method investments, marketable 
securities, due from settlement of capital provision assets and financial liabilities relating to third-party 
interests in capital provision assets to provide a consistent fair value measurement approach for all capital 
provision related activity. Such election is irrevocable and is applied to financial instruments on an individual 
basis at initial recognition.

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value. The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that 
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date under current market conditions.

Fair value hierarchy

US GAAP establishes a hierarchical disclosure framework that prioritizes and ranks the level of market price 
observability used in measuring financial instruments at fair value. Market price observability is affected by a 
number of factors, including the type of financial instrument, the characteristics specific to the financial 
instrument and the state of the marketplace, including the existence and transparency of transactions 
between market participants. Financial instruments with readily available quoted prices in active markets 
generally will have a higher degree of market price observability and a lesser degree of judgment used in 
measuring fair value.

Financial instruments measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed based on the 
observability of inputs used in the determination of fair values as follows:

▪ Level 1—quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
reporting entity can access at the measurement date

▪ Level 2—inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly

▪ Level 3—unobservable inputs for the asset or liability

All transfers into and out of these levels are recognized as if they have taken place as of the beginning of 
each reporting period.

Valuation processes

The Group’s senior professionals are responsible for developing the policies and procedures for fair value 
measurement of assets and liabilities. Following origination and as of each reporting date, the movements in 
the values of assets and liabilities are required to be reassessed in accordance with the Group’s accounting 
policies. For this analysis, the reasonableness of material estimates and assumptions underlying the valuation 
is discussed and the major inputs applied are verified by comparing the information in the valuation 
computation to contracts, asset status and progress information and other relevant documents.

Valuation methodology for Level 1 assets and liabilities

Level 1 assets and liabilities are comprised of listed instruments, including equities, fixed income securities 
and investment funds. All Level 1 assets and liabilities are valued at the quoted market price as of the 
reporting date.

Valuation methodology for Level 2 assets and liabilities

Level 2 assets and liabilities are comprised of debt and equity securities that are not actively traded and are 
generally valued at the last quoted or traded price as of the reporting date, provided there is evidence that 
the price is not assessed as significantly stale to warrant a Level 3 classification.
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Valuation methodology for Level 3 assets and liabilities

Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit 
price) in an orderly transaction between market participants based on unobservable inputs as of the 
measurement date.

The methods and procedures to determine fair value of assets and liabilities may include, among others, 
(i) obtaining information provided by third parties when available, (ii) obtaining valuation-related information 
from the issuers or counterparties (or their respective advisors), (iii) performing comparisons of comparable 
or similar assets or liabilities, as applicable, (iv) calculating the present value of future cash flows, 
(v) assessing other analytical data and information relating to the asset or liability, as applicable, that is an 
indication of value, (vi) evaluating financial information provided by or otherwise available with respect to 
the counterparties or other relevant entities and (vii) entering into a market transaction with an arm’s-length 
counterparty.

The material estimates and assumptions used in the analyses of fair value include the status and risk profile 
of the underlying asset or liability and, as applicable, the timing and expected amount of cash flows based on 
the structure and agreement of the asset or liability, the appropriateness of any discount rates used and the 
timing of and estimated minimum proceeds from a favorable outcome. Discount rates and a discounted cash 
flow basis for estimating fair value are applied to assets and liabilities measured at fair value, as applicable, 
most notably the Group’s capital provision assets. Significant judgment and estimation go into the 
assumptions that underlie the analyses, and the actual values realized with respect to assets or liabilities, as 
applicable, could be materially different from values obtained based on the use of those estimates.

Capital provision assets are fair valued using an income approach. The income approach estimates fair value 
based on estimated, risk-adjusted future cash flows, using a discount rate to reflect the funding risk of 
deploying capital for financing capital provision assets. The income approach requires management to make a 
series of assumptions, such as discount rate, the timing and amount of both expected cash inflows and 
additional financings and a risk-adjustment factor reflecting the uncertainty inherent in the cash flows 
primarily driven by litigation risk, which changes as a result of observable litigation events. These 
assumptions are considered unobservable Level 3 inputs that reflect the Company's own assumptions about 
the inputs that a market participant would use.

A cash flow forecast is developed for each capital provision asset based on the anticipated financing 
commitments, damages or settlement estimates and the Group’s contractual entitlement. Cash flow 
forecasts incorporate management’s assumptions related to creditworthiness of the counterparty and 
collectability. In cases where cash flows are denominated in a foreign currency, forecasts are developed in 
the applicable foreign currency and translated to US dollars.

Capital provision assets are recorded at initial fair value, which is equivalent to the initial transaction price 
for a given capital provision asset, based on an assessment that it is an arm’s-length transaction between 
independent third parties and an orderly transaction between market participants. Using the cash flow 
forecast and a discount rate, an appropriate risk-adjustment factor is calculated to be applied to the 
forecast cash inflows to calibrate the valuation model to the initial transaction price. Each reporting period, 
the cash flow forecast is updated based on the best available information on damages or settlement 
estimates and it is determined whether there has been an objective event in the underlying litigation 
process, which would change the litigation risk and thus the risk-adjustment factor associated with the 
capital provision asset. The risk-adjustment factor as adjusted for any objective events in the underlying 
litigation process is referred to as the adjusted risk premium. For example, assume the risk premium at 
inception is calculated to be 65%, which is held constant until there is a milestone event. Assuming there is a 
favorable trial court ruling one year later for which the applicable milestone factor is 50%, then the risk 
premium would be adjusted to 32.5%, effectively releasing 50% of the original 65% risk premium haircut that 
was applied. Conversely, assuming there is a negative event one year later for which the applicable 
milestone factor is (50%) then the risk premium would be adjusted to 82.5%, effectively closing the gap 
between the original risk premium of 65% and 100% by 50%. These objective events could include, among 
others:

▪ A significant positive ruling or other objective event prior to any trial court judgment 

▪ A favorable trial court judgment
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▪ A favorable judgment on the first appeal

▪ The exhaustion of as-of-right appeals

▪ In arbitration cases, where there are limited opportunities for appeal, issuance of a tribunal award

▪ An objective negative event at various stages in the litigation process

Each reporting period, the updated risk-adjusted cash flow forecast is discounted at the then current 
discount rate to measure fair value. See note 14 (Fair value of assets and liabilities) to our consolidated
financial statements for additional information.

In a small number of instances, the Group has the benefit of a secondary sale of a portion of an asset or 
liability. When this occurs, the market evidence is factored into the valuation process to maximize the use of 
relevant observable inputs. Secondary sales are evaluated for relevance, including whether such transactions 
are orderly, and weight is attributed to the market price accordingly, which may include calibrating the 
valuation model to observed market price.

Non-controlling interests

For entities that are consolidated, but not wholly owned, a portion of the income or loss and corresponding 
equity is allocated to owners other than the Company. The aggregate of the income or loss and corresponding 
equity that is not owned by the Company is included in non-controlling interests in the consolidated financial 
statements. Non-controlling interests also include ownership interests in certain consolidated private funds 
and VIEs. Non-controlling interests are presented as a separate component of shareholders’ equity in the 
consolidated statements of financial condition.

The primary components of non-controlling interests are separately presented in the consolidated statements 
of changes in equity to clearly distinguish the interest in the Group and other ownership interests in the 
consolidated entities. Net income/(loss) includes the net income/(loss) attributable to the holders of non-
controlling interests in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Profits and losses are 
allocated to non-controlling interests in proportion to their relative ownership interests regardless of their 
basis. Non-controlling interests exclude the third-party interests in Colorado as it represents a consolidated 
entity that holds a single financial asset and does not have any other business activity. 

Asset management income

Asset management income is derived from the governing agreements in place with the Group’s private funds. 
The rate or amount at which fees are charged, the basis on which such fees are calculated and the timing of 
payments vary across private funds and, as to a particular private fund, may also vary across investment 
options available to underlying investors in, or members of, the private fund. Management fees are generally 
based on an agreed percentage of a private fund’s commitments and/or amounts committed or deployed, 
depending on the private fund agreement. Management fees are recognized over time as the services are 
provided. In addition, the Group receives performance fees from its private funds, which are earned when 
contractually agreed performance levels are exceeded within specified performance measurement periods. 
The Group’s private funds (other than BOF-C and the Advantage Fund) use a so-called “European” structure 
for the payment of performance fees, whereby the manager is not paid any performance fees until private 
fund investors have had their entire capital investment repaid. This contrasts with a so-called “American” 
structure for the payment of performance fees, whereby the performance fees are paid on profitable 
resolutions as they occur. Performance fees are recognized when a reliable estimate of the performance fee 
can be made and it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized 
will not occur. The maturity and the terms of the applicable distribution waterfall for each of our private 
funds impacts this timing.

Insurance activities

The Group (i) acts as an administrator in the sale of legal expenses insurance policies issued in the name of 
Great Lakes Reinsurance (UK) plc, a subsidiary of MunichRe, under a binding authority agreement, and (ii) 
underwrites legal expenses insurance policies through its wholly owned Guernsey insurer, Burford Worldwide 
Insurance Limited. Income earned from acting as insurance administrator and underwriting legal expenses 
insurance policies is included in “Other income”.
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Leases

At the inception of any arrangement, the Group determines whether the arrangement is or contains a lease 
based on the unique facts and circumstances present in the arrangement. Leases are recognized as a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability as of the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the 
Group. The Group recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to be made 
over the lease term. In calculating the present value, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as of the 
lease commencement date as the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease agreements generally contain lease and non-lease components. Non-lease components primarily 
include payments for maintenance and utilities. The Group combines fixed payments for non-lease 
components with its lease payments and accounts for them together as a single lease component which 
increases the amount of its lease assets and liabilities. Payments under the lease arrangements are primarily 
fixed. Variable rents, if any, are expensed as incurred.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the 
consolidated statements of operations over the period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest 
on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the 
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The right-of-use asset and 
associated lease liability are derecognized upon the termination of a lease agreement.

The Group has elected to not recognize leases with an original term of one year or less in the consolidated 
statements of financial condition. The Group typically only includes an initial lease term in its assessment of 
a lease arrangement, whereas options to renew a lease are not included in this assessment unless there is a 
reasonable certainty that the lease will be renewed.

In the consolidated statements of financial condition, right-of-use assets are included within other assets, 
and lease liabilities are included in other liabilities.

Compensation and benefits 

Salaries and benefits

Salaries and benefits include base salaries and employee benefits.

Annual incentive compensation 

Annual incentive compensation includes discretionary and non-discretionary annual bonuses that are 
generally accrued over the related service period. Under certain non-discretionary arrangements, the 
Company may require that a portion of the incentive compensation distributed to its employees be allocated 
as RSUs under the LTIP. Such awards are recorded as share-based compensation expenses ratably over the 
relevant service period once granted. 

Share-based and deferred compensation

Share-based compensation consists of RSUs with service-based conditions and PSUs with service-based 
conditions as well as performance- and/or market-based conditions. The fair value of PSUs is estimated using 
the Monte-Carlo model as of the grant date while the fair value of RSUs is estimated based on the share price 
as of the grant date. The Group recognizes share-based compensation expenses ratably over the relevant 
service period and accounts for forfeitures based on its estimates. Forfeiture estimates are estimated at 
issuance and are trued up as of the end of the vesting period to ensure that share-based compensation 
expense is recognized only for those share-based awards that ultimately vest. Upon vesting of a share-based 
award, ordinary shares (which are either purchased on the open market or newly issued) are released to 
employees net of any applicable income tax withholding.

Deferred compensation relates to certain non-employee directors and a specified group of employees 
electing to defer a portion of their compensation until a future date. In addition, the Group may in its sole 
discretion make a matching contribution to the participant’s deferral account to the extent cash deferrals 
are notionally invested in the Group’s ordinary shares. The Group records the compensation deferred 
including its matching contribution as an expense and adjusts for any movement in the fair value of the cash 
compensation deferred.
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Long-term incentive compensation including accruals

Incentive compensation, which includes the “phantom carry pool” program, primarily consists of a portion of 
gains on capital provision assets or performance fees earned from certain of the Group’s private funds that 
are allocated to employees. Incentive compensation amounts are not paid until the related gains on capital 
provision assets or performance fees have been realized in cash by the Group. Incentive compensation 
amounts are recorded as the related fair value gains or losses on capital provision assets or performance fees 
are recognized. Accordingly, incentive compensation amounts can be reversed during periods when there is a 
decline in fair value or performance revenues that were previously recorded. 

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured 
as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at fair value on the acquisition date. 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in the consolidated statements of operations. 
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and 
pertinent conditions as of the acquisition date.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value as of the 
acquisition date. Subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as an asset or 
liability are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations. Contingent consideration classified as 
equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within shareholders’ equity.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises as a result of the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the purchase 
consideration over the fair value of the Group’s share of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed on 
the acquisition date. After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses. For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s reporting units that are expected to benefit from the 
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 
The Group tests goodwill acquired in a business combination for impairment on an annual basis on October 
1st.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and reporting currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which such entity operates (the “functional currency”). The 
functional currency of the Company, as determined in accordance with US GAAP, is the US dollar, because 
this is the currency that best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances of 
the Company. The consolidated financial statements are presented in US dollar (the “reporting currency”).

Certain subsidiaries operate and prepare financial statements denominated in pound sterling and Australian 
dollar. For the purposes of preparing consolidated financial statements, those subsidiaries’ assets and 
liabilities are translated at exchange rates prevailing as of each applicable reporting date. Income and 
expense items are translated at average exchange rates for the reporting period. Non-monetary items are 
measured using the exchange rate as of the date of the initial transaction. Any exchange rate-related 
differences are recognized in other comprehensive income/(loss). 

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing 
at the transaction date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies, including intragroup balances, are recognized in the consolidated statements of 
operations as part of the income or loss, as applicable, for the period. See note 5 (Capital provision assets) 
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K for additional information 
with respect to the treatment of capital provision assets.
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Expenses

All expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis.

Finance costs

Finance costs represent interest and issuance expenses of outstanding indebtedness calculated using the 
effective interest rate method recognized in the consolidated statements of operations.

Gain/(loss) on debt extinguishment

Gain/(loss) on debt extinguishment represents a gain or loss arising from the difference between the 
amortized cost and the cost of extinguishing the debt on the extinguishment date and is recognized in the 
consolidated statements of operations.

Income taxes

The Group computes income taxes using the asset and liability method, under which deferred income taxes 
are recognized based on the differences between the carrying amounts and the respective tax bases of the 
Group’s assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates 
expected to apply to taxable income in the periods in which the Group expects the temporary differences to 
reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred taxes is recognized in income/(loss) before income 
taxes in the consolidated statements of operations for the period that includes the enactment date.

The Group routinely evaluates the likelihood of realizing the benefit of its deferred tax assets and may 
record a valuation allowance if, based on all available evidence, it determines that a portion of the tax 
benefit will not be realized. In evaluating the Group’s ability to recover its deferred tax assets within the 
jurisdictions from which they arise, the Group considers all available positive and negative evidence, 
including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, tax-planning 
strategies and results of recent operations. If the Group determines that it would be able to realize its 
deferred tax assets in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, the Group would make an 
adjustment to the deferred tax asset valuation allowance, which would reduce the provision for income 
taxes.

The Group evaluates its exposures associated with its various tax filing positions and recognizes a tax benefit 
from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained upon 
examination by the relevant tax authorities, including resolutions of any related appeals or litigation 
processes, based on the technical merits of the Group’s tax filing position. The tax benefits recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements from a tax filing position are measured based on the largest benefit that 
has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The Group adjusts its 
unrecognized tax benefit liability and income tax expense in the period in which the uncertain tax position is 
effectively settled, the statute of limitations expires for the relevant tax authority to examine the tax 
position or when new information becomes available.

Interest and penalties related to income tax matters are recorded in other expenses in the consolidated 
statements of operations. Accrued interest and penalties are included within the related tax balances in the 
consolidated statements of financial condition.

Dividends

Dividends paid during the period are recorded as a reduction to retained earnings in the consolidated 
statements of changes in equity.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment 
and are included in other assets in the consolidated statements of financial condition. Depreciation is 
provided to write off the cost less estimated residual value in equal installments over the estimated useful 
lives of the assets. 
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The table below sets forth the expected useful lives of the Group’s various assets.

Property and equipment Useful life

Leasehold improvements Life of lease

Fixtures, fittings and equipment 5 years

Computer hardware and software 3 years

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the 
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in income/(loss) before income 
taxes in the consolidated statements of operations.

Prepayments and other payables

Prepayments and other payables are recognized at nominal value, are non-interest-bearing and are recorded 
in other assets and other liabilities, as applicable, in the consolidated statements of financial condition.

Shareholders’ equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity in shareholders’ equity. Contingent shares are classified as equity in 
shareholders’ equity, where contingent shares will be issued and converted to ordinary shares only after the 
specified conditions have been satisfied. Additional paid-in capital includes the obligation for the issuance of 
ordinary shares to the Group’s employees under the LTIP. Incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issuance of new ordinary shares are deducted from equity in shareholders’ equity.

Net income/(loss) per ordinary share

The Group presents basic and diluted net income/(loss) per ordinary share. Basic net income/(loss) per 
ordinary share excludes potential dilution and is computed by dividing net income/(loss) attributable to 
ordinary shares by the weighted average number of ordinary shares issued and outstanding during the period. 
Diluted income/(loss) per ordinary share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if ordinary shares 
were issued pursuant to the Group’s share-based awards. The potential dilution from share-based awards is 
computed using the treasury stock method based on the average market value of ordinary shares during the 
period. 

Recently issued or adopted accounting pronouncements

In October 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update 
2023-06, Disclosure Improvements (“ASU 2023-06”). ASU 2023-06 aims to clarify or improve disclosure and 
presentation requirements of a variety of topics and align the requirements in the FASB’s accounting 
standard codification with the SEC’s regulations. The amendments set forth in ASU 2023-06 will be effective 
on the date on which the related disclosures are removed from Regulation S-X or Regulation S-K by the SEC 
and will no longer be effective if the SEC has not removed the applicable disclosure requirement by June 30, 
2027. The Group has evaluated the impact of ASU 2023-06 and expects the impact on the consolidated 
financial statements to be immaterial.

In December 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740) (“ASU 
2023-09”). ASU 2023-09 relates to improvements in income tax disclosures to enhance their transparency 
and decision usefulness. ASU 2023-09 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early 
adoption is permitted for annual financial statements that have not yet been issued or made available for 
issuance. The Group is currently evaluating the impact of ASU 2023-09 and expects the impact on the 
consolidated financial statements to be immaterial. 

In March 2024, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2024-01, Compensation—Stock Compensation 
(“ASU 2024-01”). ASU 2024-01 aims to clarify how an entity determines whether it is required to account for 
profits interest awards (and similar awards) in accordance with ASC 718 or other guidance. ASU 2024-01 
provides specific examples on when a profits interest award should be accounted for as a share-based 
payment arrangement under ASC 718 or in a manner similar to a cash bonus or profit-sharing arrangement 
under ASC 710 or other ASC topics. ASU 2024-01 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2024, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted for both interim and annual 
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financial statements that have not yet been issued or made available for issuance. The Group has evaluated 
the impact of ASU 2024-01 and expects no impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

In November 2024, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2024-03, Income Statement—Reporting 
Comprehensive Income—Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (“ASU 2024-03”). ASU 2024-03 aims to improve 
disclosures related to expenses and provide more detailed information about the types of expenses. ASU 
2024-03 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods within fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2027. Early adoption is permitted. The Group is currently evaluating the 
impact of ASU 2024-03 on its consolidated financial statements.

In March 2024, the SEC adopted final rules under SEC Release No. 33-11275 and No. 34-99678, The 
Enhancement and Standardization of Climate-Related Disclosures for Investors (the “Final Rules”), which 
will require registrants to provide certain climate-related information in their registration statements and 
annual reports. The Final Rules will require, among other things, certain disclosures in the Group’s audited 
consolidated financial statements related to severe weather events and other natural conditions, subject to 
certain thresholds, as well as information related to carbon offsets and renewable energy credits. The 
financial statement disclosure requirements of the Final Rules will begin phasing in for the Group for the 
fiscal year ending December 31, 2025. In April 2024, the SEC stayed the effectiveness of the Final Rules. The 
Group is currently evaluating the impact of the Final Rules on its consolidated financial statements.

In November 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280) 
(“ASU 2023-07”). ASU 2023-07 relates to improvements in disclosures about a public entity’s reportable 
segments and provision of more detailed information about a reportable segment’s expenses. The Group 
adopted ASU 2023-07 on January 1, 2024, on a retrospective basis with immaterial impact to the consolidated 
financial statements upon adoption.

3. Income taxes

The Company qualifies for exemption from income tax in Guernsey under the Income Tax (Exempt Bodies) 
(Guernsey) Ordinance, 1989, as amended. This exemption has to be applied for annually and has been 
applied for, and granted, with respect to the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Company’s operating subsidiaries in Australia, Ireland, Singapore, the United Kingdom and the United 
States are subject to taxation in such jurisdictions as determined in accordance with relevant tax legislation. 
In certain cases, an operating subsidiary of the Company may elect a transaction structure that could be 
subject to income tax in a country related to the transaction creating the capital provision asset.

The Group's effective tax rate was 9%, 3% and 11% for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. The variability in the Group’s effective tax rate from period to period reflects the differing 
portions of the Group’s overall income and losses reported to each relevant taxing jurisdiction, and the 
differing tax rates in effect for such taxing jurisdictions at which such income and losses are taxed. During 
the year ended December 31, 2024, a substantial portion of the Group’s income was recognized in low tax 
jurisdictions. Another significant factor in the determination of the effective tax rate is the change in the 
Group’s valuation allowance against its deferred tax asset, largely arising from currently nondeductible 
interest expense.  

The table below sets forth the domestic and foreign income/(loss) before income taxes for the periods 
indicated.

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Domestic $ 26,717 $ 11,695 $ 10,735 

Foreign  226,871  726,588  98,282 

Income/(loss) before income taxes  253,588  738,283  109,017 
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The table below sets forth the components of the tax charge reconciling the domestic statutory tax rate to 
the provision for/(benefit from) income taxes for the periods indicated.

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Statutory rate $ — $ — $ — 

Foreign rate differential  (7,565)  4,800  10,916 

Compensation  9,295  23,848  5,245 

Valuation allowance  13,478  446  (3,918) 

Withholding tax  2,349  1,928  1,082 

Non-deductible taxes  —  —  (802) 

Prior period adjustments  6,413  (468)  129 

Impairment  —  —  — 

Non-taxable income  —  (1,984)  — 

Other, net  35  (8,486)  (1,094) 

Provision for/(benefit from) income taxes  24,005  20,084  11,558 

The table below sets forth a detailed analysis of the foreign tax differential for the periods indicated.

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
US subsidiaries at statutory tax rate $ (4,726) $ 1,884 $ 12,428 

Singapore subsidiaries at statutory tax rate  (590)  (570)  (586) 

Irish subsidiaries at statutory tax rate  (2)  6  (11) 

UK subsidiaries at statutory tax rate  (2,251)  3,487  (942) 

Other  4  (7)  27 

Total  (7,565)  4,800  10,916 

The table below sets forth the current and deferred components of the provision for/(benefit from) income 
taxes for the periods indicated. 

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Current:

Domestic (Guernsey) $ — $ — $ — 

Foreign - US federal and state  35,759  12,417  3,844 

Foreign - other and withholding  5,123  1,804  (1,642) 

Total current provision for/(benefit from) income taxes  40,882  14,221  2,202 

Deferred:

Domestic (Guernsey)  —  —  — 

Foreign - US federal and state  (15,033)  8,982  6,728 

Foreign - other  (1,844)  (3,119)  2,628 

Total deferred provision for/(benefit from) income taxes  (16,877)  5,863  9,356 

Total provision for/(benefit from) income taxes  24,005  20,084  11,558 
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The table below sets forth the tax effect of temporary tax-related differences and carryforwards that 
comprise significant portions of gross deferred tax assets and liabilities as of the dates indicated.

December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023
Deferred tax assets:

Compensation and benefit accruals $ 20,699 $ 22,443 

Net operating loss carryforwards  12,045  3,692 

Non-deductible and excess interest  37,655  32,260 

Unrealized loss  2,358  — 

Acquisition costs  359  411 

Capital lease  157  153 

Other  928  1,236 

Total deferred tax assets(1)
 74,201  60,195 

Deferred tax liabilities:

Compensation and benefit accruals  —  — 

Depreciation and amortization  (1,041)  (772) 

Goodwill  (15,333)  (12,873) 

Unrealized gain  (55,558)  (77,310) 

Total deferred tax liabilities(1)
 (71,932)  (90,955) 

Net deferred tax position  2,269  (30,760) 

Valuation allowance  (34,826)  (19,252) 

Net deferred tax liabilities  (32,557)  (50,012) 
1. Total deferred tax assets and liabilities in this table are shown on a gross basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities as shown in the consolidated 
statements of financial condition are offset within each tax jurisdiction, to the extent that they relate to the same taxable entity.

The table below sets forth the net operating loss carryforwards as of the dates indicated. US net operating 
loss carryforwards reported in the Group’s consolidated financial statements reflect the US federal statutory 
tax rate and an estimated blended state tax rate. The actual effective state tax rate in a particular year may 
differ from the estimated blended state tax rate.

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
US federal(1)

$ — $ — $ — 

US state(2)
 35,204  9,427  22,624 

Foreign(1)
 24,119  3,692  17,018 

1. US federal and foreign net operating losses have indefinite carryforward periods.

2. US state operating losses is comprised of amounts which will expire on various dates ranging from 2038 through 2042.

The table below sets forth the valuation allowances as of the dates indicated.
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December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023
US $ 18,805 $ 6,319 

UK  13,308  10,827 

Singapore  2,521  1,932 

Other  192  174 

Total  34,826  19,252 

The Group’s valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets primarily relates to interest expense, foreign 
net operating loss carryforwards and other deferred tax assets. In determining its valuation allowance for its 
deferred assets, the Group has performed an assessment of positive and negative evidence, including the 
nature, frequency and severity of cumulative financial reporting losses in recent years, the future reversal of 
existing temporary differences, predictability of future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary 
differences of the character necessary to realize the tax assets, relevant carryforward periods, taxable 
income in carryback periods if carryback is permitted under applicable tax laws and prudent and feasible tax 
planning strategies that would be implemented, if necessary, to protect against the loss of certain deferred 
tax assets that would otherwise expire (e.g., net operating losses). Although realization is not assured, based 
on the Group’s assessment, the Group has concluded that it is more likely than not that the remaining gross 
deferred tax assets will be realized and, as such, no additional valuation allowance has been provided.

The calculation of the Group’s global tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of 
case law, complex tax laws and regulations in a multitude of taxing jurisdictions across the Group’s global 
operations. ASC 740 states that a tax benefit from an uncertain tax position shall be recognized when it is 
more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including resolutions of any 
related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits. In accordance with the guidelines 
established by ASC 740, the Group believes it does not have any uncertain tax positions for either the 2024 
tax year or for any prior tax year which currently remains open under an applicable statute of limitations in 
the corresponding taxing jurisdiction. The Group continues to monitor its global tax positions and, if 
necessary, updates its position under ASC 740 regarding any uncertain tax positions based on any relevant 
case law, tax law and regulatory developments in an applicable taxing jurisdiction. The Group is not 
currently subject to audit by any tax authority. Certain affiliates of the Group file a US federal income tax 
return, along with various state and local income tax returns, which are subject to examination by the 
relevant taxing authorities for the years 2021 and onwards.

4. Segment reporting

ASC Subtopic 280-10, “Segment Reporting,” establishes standards for reporting information about operating 
segments. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial 
information is available. The chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), who is responsible for allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, collectively. 

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments based on segment income/(loss) before 
income taxes which consists of the significant measures of the reportable segments’ financial performance 
that includes segment revenues, consisting of capital provision income plus/ less third-party interests in 
capital provision income, asset management income, marketable securities income and interest and other 
income, less segment expenses, consisting of compensation and benefits, case related expenditures ineligible 
for inclusion in asset cost and general, administrative and other expenses. The CODM uses this metric to 
assess operating segment performance, for purposes of making operating decisions and assessing financial 
performance, which informs the CODMs allocation of resources. The Group excludes the proportional 
operating results that are attributable to third-party limited partners in our private funds, partners and 
minority investors, as the CODM does not consider them for the purposes of making decisions to allocate 
resources among segments or to assess segment performance. Although these amounts are excluded from 
segment income/(loss) before income taxes, they are included in reported consolidated income/(loss) before 
income taxes and are included in the reconciliation that follows. 

The Group’s computation of segment income/(loss) before income taxes may not be comparable to other 
similarly titled measures computed by other companies because all companies do not calculate segment 
income/(loss) before income taxes in the same fashion. 

114



Operating revenues directly associated with each segment are included in determining its operating results. 
Operating and other expenses that are not directly attributable to a particular segment are based upon 
allocation methodologies, including time estimates and other relevant usage measures. Due to the integrated 
structure of the Group’s business, certain costs incurred by one segment may benefit the other segment. A 
segment may use the information produced by another segment without incurring an intersegment charge or 
an intersegment income.

The CODM does not review information regarding total assets on an operating segment basis but rather on a 
total segments (Burford-only) basis. The accounting policies for segment reporting are the same as for the 
Group as a whole.

The Group has two operating segments which are also its reportable segments and provide legal finance 
products and services to its clients: (i) Principal Finance and (ii) Asset Management and Other Services. The 
Principal Finance segment allocates capital to legal finance assets from Burford’s balance sheet, primarily as 
capital provision assets, and in limited scope through interests in private funds managed by Burford. The 
Asset Management and Other Services segment manages legal finance assets on behalf of third-party 
investors, and Burford provides other services to the legal industry for both of which it receives fees.

Beginning for the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group renamed its Capital Provision segment to 
Principal Finance and allocated revenue, expenses and assets from other corporate to the Group’s two  
reportable segments with no change to the Group’s total segments (Burford-only) numbers. The change in our 
allocation methodology as of December 31, 2024, was due to the amounts relating to these operating and 
non-operating activities previously presented as other corporate forming part of what is used internally to 
measure and evaluate the performance of the reportable segments. As a result of this change, the Group also 
recast certain previously reported amounts to conform with the change in allocation of revenue, expenses 
and assets to each reportable segment as noted below.

The tables below set forth certain information with respect to the Group’s consolidated statements of 
operations by reportable segment for the periods indicated.

Year ended December 31, 2024

Reconciliation

($ in thousands)
Principal 
Finance

Asset
Management 

and Other 
Services

Total
segments

(Burford-only)
Reconciling 

items(1)
Total

consolidated
Capital provision income/(loss) $ 388,124 $ — $ 388,124 $ 163,942 $ 552,066 

Plus/(Less): Third-party interests in capital provision 
assets  —  —  —  (42,384)  (42,384) 

Asset management income/(loss)  —  44,627  44,627  (36,287)  8,340 

Marketable securities income/(loss) and interest  24,578  —  24,578  436  25,014 

Other income/(loss)  —  3,051  3,051  —  3,051 

Total revenues  412,702  47,678  460,380  85,707  546,087 

Compensation and benefits  101,758  21,901  123,659  —  123,659 

General, administrative and other  25,012  5,440  30,452  573  31,025 

Case-related expenditures ineligible for inclusion in 
asset cost  (1,057)  —  (1,057)  1,858  801 

Operating expenses  125,713  27,341  153,054  2,431  155,485 

Other expenses

Finance costs  135,593  —  135,593  —  135,593 

Foreign currency transactions (gains)/losses  1,244  —  1,244  177  1,421 

Total other expenses  136,837  —  136,837  177  137,014 

Income/(loss) before income taxes  150,152  20,337  170,489  83,099  253,588 
1. Reconciling items include the proportional operating results that are attributable to third-party limited partners and minority investors in consolidated 
entities, including BOF-C, the Strategic Value Fund, the Advantage Fund and Colorado.
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Year ended December 31, 2023

Reconciliation

($ in thousands)
Principal 
Finance

Asset
Management 

and Other 
Services

Total
segments

(Burford-only)
Reconciling 

items(1)
Total

consolidated
Capital provision income/(loss) $ 896,371 $ — $ 896,371 $ 445,552 $ 1,341,923 

Plus/(Less): Third-party interests in capital provision 
assets  —  —  —  (279,263)  (279,263) 

Asset management income/(loss)  —  63,712  63,712  (56,070)  7,642 

Marketable securities income/(loss) and interest  12,067  —  12,067  141  12,208 

Other income/(loss)  —  4,392  4,392  —  4,392 

Total revenues  908,438  68,104  976,542  110,360  1,086,902 

Compensation and benefits  196,623  24,461  221,084  —  221,084 

General, administrative and other  29,219  3,564  32,783  873  33,656 

Case-related expenditures ineligible for inclusion in 
asset cost  14,671  —  14,671  1,825  16,496 

Operating expenses  240,513  28,025  268,538  2,698  271,236 

Other expenses

Finance costs  99,136  —  99,136  (1)  99,135 

Foreign currency transactions (gains)/losses  (21,737)  —  (21,737)  (15)  (21,752) 

Total other expenses  77,399  —  77,399  (16)  77,383 

Income/(loss) before income taxes  590,526  40,079  630,605  107,678  738,283 
1. Reconciling items include the proportional operating results that are attributable to third-party limited partners and minority investors in consolidated 
entities, including BOF-C, the Strategic Value Fund, the Advantage Fund and Colorado.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group recast $12.1 million of marketable securities income/(loss) 
and interest, $43.0 million of operating expenses, $2.7 million of finance costs and $(21.7) million of foreign 
currency transactions (gains)/losses from other corporate to its Principal Finance segment. In addition, the 
Group also recast $9.3 million of operating expenses from other corporate to its Asset Management and Other 
Services segment and $1.8 million of finance costs from Asset Management and Other Services segment to its 
Principal Finance segment. 
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Year ended December 31, 2022

Reconciliation

($ in thousands)
Principal 
Finance

Asset
Management 

and Other 
Services

Total
segments

(Burford-only)
Reconciling 

items(1)
Total

consolidated
Capital provision income/(loss) $ 202,878 $ — $ 202,878 $ 116,230 $ 319,108 

Plus/(Less): Third-party interests in capital provision 
assets  —  —  —  (494)  (494) 

Asset management income/(loss)  —  56,080  56,080  (46,964)  9,116 

Marketable securities income/(loss) and interest  (7,594)  —  (7,594)  (150)  (7,744) 

Other income/(loss)  —  (759)  (759)  —  (759) 

Total revenues  195,284  55,321  250,605  68,622  319,227 

Compensation and benefits  62,659  23,687  86,346  —  86,346 

General, administrative and other  14,673  14,040  28,713  968  29,681 

Case-related expenditures ineligible for inclusion in 
asset cost  7,637  —  7,637  608  8,245 

Operating expenses  84,969  37,727  122,696  1,576  124,272 

Other expenses

Finance costs  78,264  —  78,264  —  78,264 

Foreign currency transactions (gains)/losses  7,581  —  7,581  93  7,674 

Total other expenses  85,845  —  85,845  93  85,938 

Income/(loss) before income taxes  24,470  17,594  42,064  66,953  109,017 
1. Reconciling items include the proportional operating results that are attributable to third-party limited partners and minority investors in consolidated 
entities, including BOF-C, the Strategic Value Fund, the Advantage Fund and Colorado.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group recast $(7.6) million of marketable securities income/
(loss) and interest, $12.5 million of operating expenses, $3.9 million of finance costs and $7.6 million of 
foreign currency transactions (gains)/losses from other Corporate to its Principal Finance segment. In 
addition, the Group also recast $9.8 million of operating expenses from other Corporate to its Asset 
Management and Other Services segment and $1.8 million of finance costs from Asset Management and Other 
Services segment to its Principal Finance segment.
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The table below sets forth specified line items with respect to the Group’s consolidated statements of 
financial condition by reportable segment as of the dates indicated.

Year ended December 31, 2024

Reconciliation

($ in thousands)
Principal 
Finance

Asset
Management 

and Other 
Services

Total
segments

(Burford-only)
Reconciling 

items(1)
Total

consolidated
Cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities $ 508,031 $ 12,650 $ 520,681 $ 28,269 $ 548,950 

Other assets $ 23,711 $ 151,770 $ 175,481 $ (114,475) $ 61,006 

Due from settlement of capital provision assets $ 183,651 $ — $ 183,651 $ 207 $ 183,858 

Capital provision assets $ 3,571,224 $ — $ 3,571,224 $ 1,672,693 $ 5,243,917 

Total assets $ 4,397,954 $ 190,377 $ 4,588,331 $ 1,586,694 $ 6,175,025 
1. Reconciling items include the proportional operating results that are attributable to third-party limited partners and minority investors in consolidated 
entities, including BOF-C, the Strategic Value Fund, the Advantage Fund and Colorado.

Year ended December 31, 2023

Reconciliation

($ in thousands)
Principal 
Finance

Asset
Management 

and Other 
Services

Total
segments

(Burford-only)
Reconciling 

items(1)
Total

consolidated
Cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities $ 291,386 $ 12,090 $ 303,476 $ 24,634 $ 328,110 

Other assets $ 26,165 $ 133,952 $ 160,117 $ (96,653) $ 63,464 

Due from settlement of capital provision assets $ 185,267 $ — $ 185,267 $ 80,273 $ 265,540 

Capital provision assets $ 3,432,112 $ — $ 3,432,112 $ 1,613,276 $ 5,045,388 

Total assets  4,043,848  172,016  4,215,864  1,621,530  5,837,394 
1. Reconciling items include the proportional operating results that are attributable to third-party limited partners and minority investors in consolidated 
entities, including BOF-C, the Strategic Value Fund, the Advantage Fund and Colorado.

As of December 31, 2023, the Group recast total assets of $114.4 million and $0.9 million from other 
Corporate to its Principal Finance and Asset Management and Other Services segments, respectively. In 
addition, the Group also recast total assets of $96.5 million from its Principal Finance segment to its Asset 
Management and Other Services segment.
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5. Capital provision assets

Capital provision assets are financial instruments that relate to the provision of capital in connection with 
legal finance, which include the Advantage Fund and, prior to its liquidation in the fourth quarter of 2023, 
equity securities and related claims in the Strategic Value Fund. 

The table below sets forth the changes in capital provision assets as of the beginning and end of the relevant 
reporting periods.

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023
Beginning of period $ 5,045,388 $ 3,735,556 

Deployments  555,088  682,027 

Realizations  (907,042)  (708,293) 

Income/(loss) for the period  567,646  1,333,262 

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)  (17,163)  2,836 

End of period  5,243,917  5,045,388 

Deployed cost, end of period  2,341,377  2,280,563 

Unrealized fair value, end of period  2,902,540  2,764,825 

Capital provision assets  5,243,917  5,045,388 

The table below sets forth the components of the capital provision income/(loss) for the periods indicated. 

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Net realized gains/(losses) $ 439,665 $ 251,618 $ 161,707 

Fair value adjustment during the period, net of previously recognized 
unrealized gains/(losses) transferred to realized gains/(losses)  127,981  1,081,644  169,104 

Income/(loss) on capital provision assets  567,646  1,333,262  330,811 

Interest and other income/(loss)  —  —  2,651 

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)  (15,701)  8,012  (6,357) 

Net income/(loss) from due from settlement of capital provision assets  2,704  (1)  (11,330) 

Net gains/(losses) on financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  (2,583)  —  3,333 

Break fee income  —  650  — 

Total capital provision income as reported in the consolidated 
statements of operations  552,066  1,341,923  319,108 

Exchange differences arising from capital provision assets denominated in a currency other than the 
functional currency of the entity in which such capital provision assets are held are recognized in capital 
provision income/(loss) in the consolidated statements of operations. All other foreign exchange translation 
differences arising from capital provision assets held by non-US dollar functional currency entities are 
recognized in other comprehensive income/(loss) in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. 
The currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group’s entity operates is referred to as the 
“functional currency” of the Group’s entity. 

6. Due from settlement of capital provision assets

Amounts due from settlement of capital provision assets relate to the realization of capital provision assets 
that have successfully concluded and where there is no longer any litigation risk remaining. The settlement 
terms and timing of realizations vary by capital provision asset. The majority of settlement balances are 
received shortly after the respective period ends in which the capital provision assets have concluded, and 
all settlement balances are generally expected to be received within 12 months after the capital provision 
assets have concluded.
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The table below sets forth the changes in due from settlement of capital provision assets and the breakdown 
between current and non-current due from settlement of capital provision assets as of the beginning and end 
of the relevant reporting periods.

Years ended December 31,
($ in thousands) 2024 2023
Beginning of period $ 265,540 $ 116,582 

Transfer of realizations from capital provision assets  907,042  708,293 

Net realized gains/(losses)(1)
 —  (11,330) 

Unrealized gains/(losses) on due from settlement of capital provision assets, net of previously 
recognized unrealized gains/(losses) transferred to realized gains/(losses)  —  11,329 

Other income/(loss)  2,704  — 

Proceeds from capital provision assets  (991,292)  (559,362) 

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)  (136)  28 

End of period  183,858  265,540 

Current assets  170,570  260,370 

Non-current assets  13,288  5,170 

Total due from settlement of capital provision assets  183,858  265,540 
1. The net realized loss of $11.3 million represents the realization of a previously recognized $11.3 million unrealized loss as described in the 2023 Annual 
Report. The net impact for the year ended December 31, 2024 is $1,000 reported as net loss on due from settlement of capital provision assets in note 5 
(Capital provision assets) to our consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K. 

7. Asset management income

The table below sets forth the components of the asset management income for the periods indicated.

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Management fee income $ 6,840 $ 7,642 $ 7,321 

Performance fee income  1,500  —  1,795 

Total asset management income(1)
 8,340  7,642  9,116 

1. Relates to revenue from contracts with customers for services transferred over time.

8. Long-term incentive compensation payable

The table below sets forth the changes in the long-term incentive compensation payable as of the beginning 
and end of the relevant reporting periods.

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023
Beginning of period $ 183,134 $ 71,412 

Long-term incentive compensation including accruals  43,209  127,471 

Transfer to short-term payable within general expenses payable  —  (3,656) 

Cash paid  (8,367)  (13,073) 

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)  (424)  980 

End of period  217,552  183,134 

Aggregate employee carried interest on cash proceeds from net realized gains on capital provision assets will 
be approximately 8% for the 2015 to 2017 vintage years, approximately 9% for the 2018 vintage year, 
approximately 10% for the 2019 vintage year, approximately 11% for the 2020 to 2021 vintage years, 
approximately 12% for the 2022 to 2023 vintage years and approximately 11% for the 2024 vintage year. 
These percentages reflect the new employment agreements entered into on January 1, 2024 for Mr. Bogart, 
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our Chief Executive Officer, and Mr. Molot, our Chief Investment Officer. Historically, Mr. Bogart’s and Mr. 
Molot’s annual incentive compensation was entirely formulaic and based solely on the generation of cash 
proceeds, the majority of which was paid as an annual bonus. Under the new employment agreements, the 
amount of their compensation that is formulaic and tied to our income, excluding the impact of any fair 
value adjustments, will now be paid entirely through the carry plan.

9. Marketable securities

The table below sets forth the changes in marketable securities as of the beginning and end of the relevant 
reporting periods.

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023
Beginning of period $ 107,561 $ 136,358 

Purchases  103,124  40,404 

Proceeds on disposal  (135,701)  (74,875) 

Net realized gains/(losses) on disposal  1,864  (415) 

Fair value movement  2,158  6,185 

Change in accrued interest  47  (171) 

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)  (33)  75 

End of period  79,020  107,561 

The table below sets forth the components of the total marketable securities income/(loss) and interest for 
the periods indicated. 

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Net realized gains/(losses) on disposal $ 1,864 $ (415) $ (1,647) 

Changes in fair value  2,158  6,185  (9,682) 

Interest and dividend income  2,986  2,453  2,812 

Bank interest(1)  18,006  3,985  773 

Total marketable securities income/(loss) and interest  25,014  12,208  (7,744) 
1. Bank interest is earned on cash and cash equivalents.

10. Other assets

The table below sets forth the components of total other assets as of the dates indicated.

December 31

($ in thousands) 2024 2023
Reinsurance assets $ 17,463 $ 15,371 

Right-of-use assets  12,796  13,851 

Property and equipment  3,426  3,561 

Prepayments  10,220  9,150 

Other receivables  17,101  21,531 

Total other assets  61,006  63,464 
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11. Other liabilities

The table below sets forth the components of total other liabilities as of the dates indicated.

December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023
General expenses payable $ 66,966 $ 74,527 

Insurance liabilities  21,991  22,465 

Lease liabilities  14,821  15,853 

Audit fees payable  2,996  2,163 

Tax payable  21,144  4,226 

Payable for capital provision assets  14,055  2,965 

Total other liabilities  141,973  122,199 

12. Debt

The table below sets forth certain information with respect to the Group’s debt securities outstanding as of 
the dates indicated. Debt securities denominated in pound sterling have been converted to US dollar using 
GBP/USD exchange rates of $1.2529 and $1.2747 as December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Outstanding at
Carrying value (at amortized 

cost) at Fair value(1) at

($ in thousands)
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023
Burford Capital PLC

5.000% Bonds due December 1, 2026(22)
$219,258 $ 218,640 $ 222,117 $ 212,706 $ 209,048 

Burford Capital Finance LLC

6.125% Bonds due August 12, 2025(3)
$129,432 $ 129,275 $ 179,432 $ 129,641 $ 175,797 

Burford Capital Global Finance LLC

6.250% Senior Notes due April 15, 2028 $ 400,000 $ 395,913 $ 394,672 $ 399,012 $ 384,228 

6.875% Senior Notes due April 15, 2030 $ 360,000 $ 352,961 $ 351,631 $ 360,220 $ 352,350 

9.250% Senior Notes due July 1, 2031(4)
$ 675,000 $ 666,823 $ 386,878 $ 717,748 $ 424,568 

Total debt  $1,783,690  $1,763,612 $ 1,534,730  $1,819,327  $1,545,991 
1. The Group’s outstanding indebtedness is held at amortized cost in the consolidated financial statements and these values represent the fair value 
equivalent amounts. The Group’s debt securities are classified as Level 2 with in the fair value hierarchy.

2. On June 1, 2017, Burford Capital PLC issued £175.0 million ($225.8 million) aggregate principal amount of 5.000% notes due 2026.

3. During the year ended December 31, 2024, Burford Capital Finance LLC purchased in open market transactions approximately $50.6 million of the 2025 
Bonds (as defined below). See “—Purchases of 2025 Bonds” for additional information with respect to the purchases of the 2025 Bonds.

4. On January 30, 2024, Burford Capital Global Finance LLC issued $275.0 million aggregate principal amount of the Additional 2031 Notes (as defined 
below). See “—Issuance of Additional 2031 Notes” for additional information with respect to the issuance of the 2031 Additional Notes.
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The table below sets forth a summary of the changes in the outstanding indebtedness due to cash flows and 
non-cash changes as of the beginning and end of the relevant reporting periods.

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023
Beginning of period $ 1,569,146 $ 1,269,085 

Debt issuance, including original issue premium  284,969  394,464 

Debt issuance costs  (6,283)  (8,461) 

Debt extinguishment  (49,819)  (129,970) 

Finance costs  135,717  99,135 

Interest paid  (154,093)  (77,210) 

Foreign exchange (gain)/loss  (3,928)  22,103 

End of period  1,775,709  1,569,146 

Debt payable  1,763,612  1,534,730 

Debt interest payable  12,097  34,416 

Total debt and interest payable  1,775,709  1,569,146 

The table below sets forth unamortized issuance costs of the outstanding debt securities as of the dates 
indicated.

December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

6.125% Bonds due 2025  157  568 

5.000% Bonds due 2026  618  956 

6.250% Senior Notes due 2028  4,087  5,328 

6.875% Senior Notes due 2030  5,234  6,223 

9.250% Senior Notes due 2031  12,319  7,932 

The table below sets forth the components of total finance costs of the outstanding indebtedness for the 
periods indicated.

Years ended December 31,

(S in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Debt interest expense(1)

$ 131,022 $ 94,605 $ 74,991 

Debt issuance costs incurred as finance costs  4,571  4,530  3,273 

Total finance costs  135,593  99,135  78,264 
1. Includes (gains)/losses on debt extinguishment of $(0.1) million, $nil million and $0.9 million, for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively.

Description of debt securities 

All of the Group’s outstanding debt securities have a fixed interest rate payable semi-annually in arrears and 
are unsecured, unsubordinated obligations of the respective issuer that are fully and unconditionally 
guaranteed by the Company and certain of its wholly owned indirect subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2024, 
the Group was in compliance with the covenants set forth in the respective agreements governing its debt 
securities. 

The Company is required to provide certain information pursuant to the indentures governing the 2028 Notes, 
the 2030 Notes and the 2031 Notes. The tables below set forth the total assets and third-party indebtedness 
as of the dates indicated and total revenues for the periods indicated, in each case, of (i) the Company and 
its Restricted Subsidiaries (as defined in the indentures governing the 2028 Notes, the 2030 Notes and the 
2031 Notes, as applicable) and (ii) the Company’s Unrestricted Subsidiaries (as defined in the indentures 
governing the 2028 Notes, the 2030 Notes and the 2031 Notes, as applicable).
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December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries

Total assets $ 5,335,289 $ 4,922,451 

Third-party indebtedness  1,763,612  1,534,730 

Unrestricted Subsidiaries

Total assets  839,736  914,943 

Third-party indebtedness  —  — 

Years ended December 31,

(S in thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries

Total revenues $ 460,352 $ 973,461 $ 245,383 

Unrestricted Subsidiaries

Total revenues  85,735  113,441  73,844 

Issuance of Additional 2031 Notes

On January 30, 2024, Burford Capital Global Finance LLC issued $275.0 million aggregate principal amount of 
additional 9.250% Senior Notes due 2031 (the “Additional 2031 Notes”) at an offering price equal to 
103.625% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest from January 1, 2024. The Additional 2031 
Notes were issued as “Additional Notes” under the indenture governing the $400.0 million aggregate principal 
amount of the 9.250% Senior Notes due 2031 (the “Initial 2031 Notes”), have identical terms to the Initial 
2031 Notes (other than with respect to the date of issuance, the issue price and the first interest payment 
date) and are treated as a single class for all purposes under the indenture governing the Initial 2031 Notes.

Purchases of 2025 Bonds 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, Burford Capital Finance LLC, a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of 
the Company, purchased in open market transactions and cancelled approximately $50.6 million in aggregate 
principal amount of the 6.125% Bonds due 2025 (the “2025 Bonds”), which resulted in a gain on early 
extinguishment of debt of $0.1 million.

13. Goodwill

Goodwill arises as a result of the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the purchase 
consideration over the fair value of the Group’s share of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed on 
the acquisition date. The Group’s goodwill primarily relates to the acquisition of BCIM Holdings LLC in 
December 2016.

The tables below set forth the allocation of the carrying value of goodwill to each of the Group’s reportable 
segments as of the beginning and end of the relevant reporting periods.

($ in thousands) Principal Finance

Asset
Management and

Other Services Total
December 31, 2022 $ 108,892 $ 25,020 $ 133,912 

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)  53  —  53 

December 31, 2023  108,945  25,020  133,965 

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)  (17)  —  (17) 

December 31, 2024  108,928  25,020  133,948 

Management has determined there was no evidence of goodwill impairment as of December 31, 2024 and 
2023.
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14. Fair value of assets and liabilities

The tables below set forth the fair value of financial instruments grouped by the fair value level as of the 
dates indicated.

December 31, 2024

($ in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:

Capital provision assets

Derivative financial assets

Single case $ — $ — $ 1,052,519 $ 1,052,519 

Portfolio  —  —  3,053,800  3,053,800 

Portfolio with equity risk  —  —  65,041  65,041 

Legal risk management  —  —  6,442  6,442 

Non-derivative financial assets

Joint ventures and equity method investments  —  —  154,220  154,220 

Single case with equity risk  8,711  —  —  8,711 

Assets of consolidated investment companies

Core legal finance (BOF-C)  8,581  —  705,315  713,896 

Lower risk legal finance (Advantage Fund)  —  —  189,288  189,288 

Due from settlement of capital provision assets  —  —  183,858  183,858 

Marketable securities

Government securities  —  40,405  —  40,405 

Corporate bonds  —  20,077  —  20,077 

Asset-backed securities  —  1,971  —  1,971 

Mutual funds  10,654  —  —  10,654 

Certificates of deposit  5,913  —  —  5,913 

Total assets  33,859  62,453  5,410,483  5,506,795 

Liabilities:

Financial liabilities relating to third-party interests in 
capital provision assets  —  —  747,053  747,053 

Total liabilities  —  —  747,053  747,053 

Net total  33,859  62,453  4,663,430  4,759,742 
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December 31, 2023

($ in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:

Capital provision assets

Derivative financial assets

Single case $ — $ — $ 934,131 $ 934,131 

Portfolio  —  —  2,875,881  2,875,881 

Portfolio with equity risk  —  —  142,659  142,659 

Legal risk management  —  —  3,523  3,523 

Non-derivative financial assets

Joint ventures and equity method investments  —  —  178,628  178,628 

Single case with equity risk  10,051  —  —  10,051 

Assets of consolidated investment companies

Core legal finance (BOF-C)  9,914  —  705,092  715,006 

Lower risk legal finance (Advantage Fund)  —  —  185,509  185,509 

Due from settlement of capital provision assets  —  —  265,540  265,540 

Marketable securities

Government securities  8,004  14,333  —  22,337 

Corporate bonds  —  53,001  —  53,001 

Asset-backed securities  —  20,047  —  20,047 

Mutual funds  6,529  —  —  6,529 

Certificates of deposit  5,647  —  —  5,647 

Total assets  40,145  87,381  5,290,963  5,418,489 

Liabilities:

Financial liabilities relating to third-party interests in 
capital provision assets  —  —  704,196  704,196 

Total liabilities  —  —  704,196  704,196 

Net total  40,145  87,381  4,586,767  4,714,293 

The Group has elected the fair value option for the Group’s equity method investments, marketable 
securities, due from settlement of capital provision assets and financial liabilities relating to third-party 
interests in capital provision assets to provide a consistent fair value measurement approach for all capital 
provision related activity. Realized gains and losses, unrealized gains and losses and interest and dividend 
income on these assets are recognized as income/(loss) and presented in the consolidated statements of 
operations when they are earned.

The key risk and sensitivity across all the capital provision assets relate to the underlying litigation associated 
with each case that is underwritten and financed. The sensitivity to this Level 3 input is therefore considered 
to be similar across the different types of capital provision assets and is expressed as a portfolio-wide stress.
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Movements in Level 3 fair value assets and liabilities

The tables below set forth the analysis of the movements in the Level 3 financial assets and liabilities for the 
periods indicated.

Year ended December 31, 2024

($ in thousands)
Beginning
of period

Transfers
into 

Level 3

Transfers
between

types Deployments Realizations

Income/
(loss)

for the
period

Foreign
exchange

gains/
(losses)

End of
period

Single case $ 934,131 $ — $ (4,132) $ 224,641 $ (258,797) $ 161,784 $ (5,108) $ 1,052,519 

Portfolio  2,875,881  —  4,132  153,251  (240,566)  265,675  (4,573)  3,053,800 

Portfolio with equity risk  142,659  —  —  363  (117,040)  39,059  —  65,041 

Legal risk management  3,523  —  —  —  —  3,275  (356)  6,442 

Joint ventures and equity 
method investments  178,628  —  —  9,667  (1,660)  (25,868)  (6,547)  154,220 

Core legal finance (BOF-C)  705,092  —  —  98,391  (180,406)  82,238  —  705,315 

Lower risk legal finance 
(Advantage Fund)  185,509  —  —  68,775  (99,196)  34,200  —  189,288 

Total capital provision 
assets  5,025,423  —  —  555,088  (897,665)  560,363  (16,584)  5,226,625 

Due from settlement of 
capital provision assets  265,540  —  —  907,042  (991,292)  2,704  (136)  183,858 

Total Level 3 assets  5,290,963  —  —  1,462,130  (1,888,957)  563,067  (16,720)  5,410,483 

Financial liabilities 
relating to third-party 
interests in capital 
provision assets  704,196  —  —  513  (40)  42,384  —  747,053 

Total Level 3 liabilities  704,196  —  —  513  (40)  42,384  —  747,053 
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Year ended December 31, 2023

($ in thousands)
Beginning
of period

Transfers
into 

Level 3

Transfers
between

types Deployments Realizations

Income/
(loss)

for the
period

Foreign
exchange

gains/
(losses)

End of
period

Single case $ 792,745 $ — $ (403) $ 111,958 $ (184,998) $ 215,707 $ (878) $ 934,131 

Portfolio  2,022,406  —  403  261,853  (301,610)  893,113  (284)  2,875,881 

Portfolio with equity risk  99,406  —  —  361  —  42,892  —  142,659 

Legal risk management  3,201  —  —  —  (944)  115  1,151  3,523 

Joint ventures and equity 
method investments  159,225  —  —  5,556  (10,440)  22,007  2,280  178,628 

Complex strategies 
(Strategic Value Fund)  12,657  —  —  —  (15,000)  2,343  —  — 

Core legal finance (BOF-C)  526,575  —  —  126,164  (66,499)  118,852  —  705,092 

Lower risk legal finance 
(Advantage Fund)  100,596  —  —  176,135  (128,802)  37,580  —  185,509 

Total capital provision 
assets  3,716,811  —  —  682,027  (708,293)  1,332,609  2,269  5,025,423 

Due from settlement of 
capital provision assets  116,582  —  —  708,293  (559,362)  (1)  28  265,540 

Total Level 3 assets  3,833,393  —  —  1,390,320  (1,267,655)  1,332,608  2,297  5,290,963 

Financial liabilities 
relating to third-party 
interests in capital 
provision assets  425,205  —  —  230  (502)  279,263  —  704,196 

Total Level 3 liabilities  425,205  —  —  230  (502)  279,263  —  704,196 

All transfers into and out of Level 3 are recognized as if they have taken place as of the beginning of each 
reporting period. There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the years ended December 31, 2024 
and 2023. 

Key unobservable inputs for Level 3 valuations 

The Group’s valuation policy for capital provision assets provides for ranges of percentages to be applied 
against the risk-adjustment factor to more than 70 discrete objective litigation events across five principal 
different types of litigation in order to calculate the adjusted risk premium. The range for each event is ten 
percentage points. The Company typically marks assets at the middle of that range unless there are specific 
factors that cause the Group’s valuation committee to select a different point in the range and, on an 
exceptional basis, the Group’s valuation committee may also select a point outside the range. To decide 
which percentage to apply to a given asset, the Group’s valuation committee considers the kind and degree 
of legal, procedural or other investment-specific circumstances that may be present. See note 2 (Summary of 
significant accounting policies—Fair value of financial instruments) to the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements for additional information with respect to the Group’s valuation approach.

The tables below set forth each of the key unobservable inputs used to value the Group’s capital provision 
assets and the applicable ranges and weighted average by relative fair value for such inputs as of the dates 
indicated.
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($ in thousands) December 31, 2024
Type: Single case, Portfolio, Joint ventures and equity method investments, Legal risk 

management, Core legal finance (BOF-C)(1), Financial liabilities relating to third 
party interests in capital provision assets

Principal value technique: Discounted cash flow
Unobservable input: Cost Unrealized Fair value Minimum Maximum Weighted average
Discount rate  4.8 %  7.6 %  6.9 %

Duration(2) (years) 0.2 14.0 2.9

Adjusted risk premium  0 %  100.0 %  31.4 %

Positive case milestone factor:

Significant ruling or other objective event 
prior to trial court judgment $ 184,540 $ 109,991 $ 294,531  5 %  50 %  23 %

Trial court judgment or tribunal award  86,880  98,453  185,333  25 %  60 %  54 %

Appeal judgment  61,192  67,177  128,369  69 %  80 %  70 %

Asset freeze  2,401  512  2,913  4 %  4 %  4 %

Exhaustion of all appeals  78,093  66,664  144,757  100 %  100 %  100 %

Settlement  1,911  4,889  6,800  40 %  80 %  60 %

Portfolios with multiple factors  555,828  424,005  979,833  0 %  100 %  23 %

Other  307  (165)  142  100 %  100 %  100 %

Negative case milestone factor:

Significant ruling or other objective event 
prior to trial court judgment  17,209  (16,343)  866  (50) %  (60) %  (57) %

Trial court judgment or tribunal award  44,973  (24,439)  20,534  (10) %  (60) %  (57) %

Appeal judgment  11,825  (11,506)  319  (80) %  (100) %  (80) %

Portfolios with multiple factors  59,877  (28,404)  31,473  (10) %  (60) %  (39) %

No case milestone:  924,530  28,112  952,642 

YPF-related assets:  69,576  1,395,899  1,465,475 

 2,099,142  2,114,845  4,213,987 

Type: Lower risk legal finance (Advantage Fund)
Principal value technique: Discounted cash flow
Unobservable input: Cost Unrealized Fair value Minimum Maximum Weighted average
Discount rate  159,816  29,472  189,288  12.1 %  21.0 %  17.2 %

Duration(2) (years) 0.2 4.0 1.3

Type: Portfolio with equity risk, Core legal finance (BOF-C)(1)

Principal value technique: Discounted cash flow
Unobservable input: Cost Unrealized Fair value Minimum Maximum Weighted average
Discount rate  45,741  30,556  76,297  14.0 %  14.0 %  14.0 %

Resolution timing (years) 0.8 3.8 1.4

Conversion ratio 1.0 1.0 1.0

Type: Due from settlement of capital provision assets
Principal value technique: Discounted cash flow
Unobservable input: Cost Unrealized Fair value Minimum Maximum Weighted average
Discount rate  182,657  1,201  183,858  6.8 %  6.8 %  6.8 %

Collection risk  0.0 %  0.0 %  0.0 %

Level 3 assets and liabilities, net  2,487,356  2,176,074  4,663,430 
1. Includes the proportional participation in these capital provision assets held by BOF-C.

2. Duration refers to the expected timing of a favorable outcome. See note 2 (Summary of significant accounting policies—Fair value of financial 
instruments) to the Group’s consolidated financial statements for additional information with respect to the valuation methodology for Level 3 assets.
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($ in thousands) December 31, 2023
Type: Single case, Portfolio, Joint ventures and equity method investments, Legal risk 

management, Core legal finance (BOF-C)(1), Financial liabilities relating to third 
party interests in capital provision assets

Principal value technique: Discounted cash flow
Unobservable input: Cost Unrealized Fair value Minimum Maximum Weighted average
Discount rate  5.3 %  7.3 %  7.0 %

Duration(2) (years)  0.5  7.2  3.4 

Adjusted risk premium  0.0 %  100.0 %  30.2 %

Positive case milestone factor:

Significant ruling or other objective event 
prior to trial court judgment  $81,244  $50,667  $131,911  5 %  40 %  23 %

Trial court judgment or tribunal award  130,529  61,175  191,704  25 %  60 %  54 %

Appeal judgment  60,402  57,472  117,874  71 %  80 %  72 %

Asset freeze  16,621  10,528  27,149  20 %  20 %  20 %

Exhaustion of as-of-right appeals  34,318  61,828  96,146  80 %  80 %  80 %

Exhaustion of all appeals  76,872  66,039  142,911  100 %  100 %  100 %

Settlement  5,877  17,380  23,257  40 %  80 %  49 %

Portfolios with multiple factors  498,296  405,078  903,374  1 %  100 %  22 %

Other  338  (171)  167  100 %  100 %  100 %

Negative case milestone factor:

Significant ruling or other objective event 
prior to trial court judgment  34,305  (28,057)  6,248  (10) %  (60) %  (43) %

Trial court judgment or tribunal award  41,950  (23,577)  18,373  (10) %  (60) %  (59) %

Appeal judgment  7,989  (7,989)  —  (100) %  (100) %  (100) %

Portfolios with multiple factors  29,636  (13,479)  16,157  (13) %  (60) %  (43) %

No case milestone:  865,568  55,868  921,436 

YPF-related assets:  60,338  1,311,319  1,371,657 

 1,944,283  2,024,081  3,968,364 

Type: Lower risk legal finance (Advantage Fund)
Principal value technique: Discounted cash flow
Unobservable input: Cost Unrealized Fair value Minimum Maximum Weighted average
Discount rate  164,259  21,250  185,509  12.4 %  21.4 %  17.5 %

Duration(2) (years) 1.0 2.7 1.9

Type: Portfolio with equity risk, Core legal finance (BOF-C)(2)

Principal value technique: Discounted cash flow
Unobservable input: Cost Unrealized Fair value Minimum Maximum Weighted average
Discount rate  123,069  44,285  167,354  15.0 %  15.0 %  15.0 %

Resolution timing (years) 0.8 4.8 1.7

Conversion ratio 2.6 2.6 2.6

Type: Due from settlement of capital provision assets
Principal value technique: Discounted cash flow
Unobservable input: Cost Unrealized Fair value Minimum Maximum Weighted average
Collection risk  265,540  —  265,540  0 %  100 %  0 %

Level 3 assets and liabilities, net  2,497,151  2,089,616  4,586,767 
1. Includes the proportional participation in these capital provision assets held by BOF-C.

2. Duration refers to the expected timing of a favorable outcome. See note 2 (Summary of significant accounting policies—Fair value of financial 
instruments) to the Group’s consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K for additional information with respect to the valuation 
methodology for Level 3 assets.
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Sensitivity of Level 3 valuations

Following origination, the Group engages in a review of each capital provision asset’s fair value in connection 
with the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Should the prices of the Level 3 due from 
settlement of capital provision assets, capital provision assets and financial liabilities relating to third-party 
interests in capital provision assets have been 10% higher or lower, while all other variables remained 
constant, the Group’s consolidated income and net assets would have increased or decreased, respectively, 
by $466.3 million and $458.7 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively (the comparative data 
as of December 31, 2023, has been amended for immaterial differences).

In addition, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, should interest rates have been 50 or 100 basis points lower 
or higher, as applicable, than the actual interest rates used in the fair value estimates, while all other 
variables remained constant, the Group’s consolidated income and net assets would have increased or 
decreased, respectively, by the following amounts.

December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

+100 bps interest rates $ (153,241) $ (161,110) 

+50 bps interest rates  (77,644)  (81,745) 

-50 bps interest rates  78,514  82,724 

-100 bps interest rates  159,169  167,944 

Furthermore, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, should duration have been six or 12 months shorter or 
longer, as applicable, than the actual durations used in the fair value estimates, while all other variables 
remained constant, the Group’s consolidated income and net assets would have decreased or increased, 
respectively, by the following amounts.

December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

+12 months duration(1) $ (396,845) $ (363,901) 

+6 months duration(1)  (200,908)  (188,718) 

-6 months duration(1)  196,721  203,442 

-12 months duration(1)  405,926  393,248 

1. Duration refers to the expected timing of a favorable outcome. See note 2 (Summary of significant accounting policies—Fair value of financial 
instruments) to the Group’s consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K for additional information with respect to the valuation 
methodology for Level 3 assets.

The sensitivity impact has been provided on a pre-tax basis for both the Group’s consolidated income and net 
assets as the Group considers the fluctuation in its effective tax rate from period to period could indicate 
changes in sensitivity not driven by the valuation that are difficult to follow and detract from the 
comparability of this information.

Reasonably possible alternative assumptions

The determination of fair value for capital provision assets, due from settlement of capital provision assets 
and financial liabilities relating to third-party interests in capital provision assets involves significant 
judgments and estimates. While the potential range of outcomes for the assets is wide, the Group’s fair value 
estimation is its best assessment of the current fair value of each asset or liability, as applicable. Such 
estimate is inherently subjective, being based largely on an assessment of how individual events have 
changed the possible outcomes of the asset or liability, as applicable, and their relative probabilities and 
hence the extent to which the fair value has altered. The aggregate of the fair values selected falls within a 
wide range of reasonably possible estimates. In the Group’s opinion, there is no useful alternative valuation 
that would better quantify the market risk inherent in the portfolio and there are no inputs or variables to 
which the values of the assets are correlated other than interest rates which impact the discount rates 
applied.
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15. Variable interest entities

Consolidated VIEs

Pursuant to US GAAP consolidation guidance, the Group consolidates certain VIEs for which it is considered 
the primary beneficiary, either directly or indirectly, through a consolidated entity or affiliate. See note 2 
(Summary of significant accounting policies) to the Group’s consolidated financial statements contained in 
this 2024 Form 10-K for additional information with respect to the Group’s consolidation.

Consolidated VIEs include entities relating to the Group’s private funds (e.g., BOF-C, the Advantage Fund 
and, prior to its liquidation in the fourth quarter of 2023, the Strategic Value Fund), investment vehicles for 
sale and resale of the participation interests (e.g., Colorado) and acquisition of interests in secured 
promissory notes (e.g., Mellor Investments LLC, formerly known as Forest Hills Investments LLC).

The purpose of the private funds is to provide strategy-specific investment opportunities for investors in 
exchange for management-based and performance-based fees. The investment strategies of the private funds 
differ by product, but the fundamental risks are similar.

Colorado is an exempted company established to receive a portion of the Group’s interest in the YPF-related 
Petersen claims and provide a vehicle for the sale and resale of the participation interests.

The Group, together with BCIM Partners III, LP and COLP, acquired interest in certain secured promissory 
notes through Mellor Investments LLC. The secured promissory notes are legal finance investments with 
proceeds payable out of two underlying litigation matters. This structure provides for the sharing of the 
economics, interest payments and settlement cash flows among the Group, BCIM Partners III, LP and COLP.

The Group provides revolving credit facilities to certain of its private funds for capital calls as required. 
These revolving credit facilities are entirely discretionary insofar as the Group is not obligated to fund under 
the revolving credit facilities. There were no amounts outstanding under the revolving credit facilities as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The table below sets forth assets and liabilities of the consolidated VIEs as of the dates indicated.

December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

Total assets $ 1,833,592 $ 1,865,344 

Total liabilities  8,711  4,716 

The table below sets forth the total revenues and certain information relating to cash flows of the 
consolidated VIEs for the periods indicated. 

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Total revenues $ 141,994 $ 470,216 $ 73,480 

Cash flows

Proceeds  369,144  150,775  92,080 

(Funding)  (170,358)  (304,348)  (291,046) 

Cash balance as of period end  30,828  24,613  32,966 

Unconsolidated VIEs

The Group’s maximum exposure to loss from the unconsolidated VIEs is the sum of capital provision assets, 
fee receivables, accrued income and loans to the unconsolidated VIEs.
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The table below sets forth the Group’s maximum exposure to loss from the unconsolidated VIEs as of the 
dates indicated.

December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

On-balance sheet exposure $ 26,603 $ 22,426 

Off-balance sheet exposure - undrawn commitments  4,788  2,768 

Maximum exposure to loss  31,391  25,194 

16. Joint ventures and equity method investments

The Group holds certain of its capital provision assets through joint ventures that are accounted for at fair 
value through profit or loss. See note 14 (Fair value of assets and liabilities) to the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K for additional information with respect to the Group’s 
valuation of its capital provision assets.

The table below sets forth the fair value of the Group’s interest in joint ventures and equity method 
investments, which are included in capital provision assets in the Group’s consolidated statements of 
financial condition as of the dates indicated. 

December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

Interest in joint ventures $ 152,347 $ 172,958 

Interest in equity method investments  —  468 

None of these joint ventures or equity method investments is individually material to the Group, and there 
are no significant restrictions on the ability of the joint ventures to make cash distributions or repayment of 
advances to the Group.

The table below sets forth the fair value of the Group’s share of commitments for the joint ventures and 
equity method investments, which are included in the commitment amounts relating to asset agreements, as 
of the dates indicated. See note 20 (Financial commitments and contingent liabilities) to the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K for additional information with respect to 
the Group’s commitments and contingencies.

December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

Commitments for joint ventures $ 112,679 $ 139,753 

Commitments for equity method investments  15,248  15,513 

17. Shareholders' equity

Shareholder rights

All the Company’s issued and outstanding ordinary shares are fully paid. Holders of the Company’s ordinary 
shares do not have conversion or redemption rights. There are no provisions in the Company’s memorandum 
of incorporation or articles of incorporation discriminating against a shareholder as a result of such 
shareholder’s ownership of a particular number of the Company’s ordinary shares.

Each holder of the Company’s ordinary shares who is present in person (including any corporation by its duly 
authorized representative) or by proxy at a general meeting will have one vote on a show of hands and, on a 
poll, if present in person or by proxy, will have one vote for every ordinary share held by such holder. 
Ordinary resolutions require approval by a simple majority of the votes at a general meeting at which a 
quorum is present.

The Board of Directors may provide for classes of shares other than ordinary shares, including series of 
preferred shares. If any preferred shares are issued, the rights, preferences and privileges of the Company’s 
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ordinary shares will be subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of holders of the Company’s 
preferred shares.

The rights attached to any class of shares may be varied only with the consent in writing of the holders of a 
majority of the issued shares of such class or with the sanction of an ordinary resolution passed by a majority 
of the votes cast at a separate meeting of the holders of the shares of such class.

If the Company is liquidated, the liquidator may, with the authority of a special resolution, divide among the 
shareholders, in the form specified, the whole or any part of the Company’s assets. For such purpose, the 
liquidator may set the value of any assets and determine how the division will be carried out between the 
shareholders or different classes of shareholders.

The Company’s memorandum of incorporation and articles of incorporation do not impose limitations on the 
rights of persons to own the Company’s securities, including rights of non-resident or foreign shareholders to 
hold or exercise voting rights with respect to the Company’s securities.

There are no provisions in the Company’s memorandum of incorporation or articles of incorporation that 
would have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of the Company and that 
would operate only with respect to a merger, acquisition or corporate restructuring involving the Company or 
any of its subsidiaries.

Share repurchases

On July 5, 2023, the Group's shareholders approved a resolution for the purchase of up to 21,895,721 ordinary 
shares of the Company on the open market, which authority expired as of the close of the Group's annual 
general meeting held on May 15, 2024. The Group's shareholders approved a new resolution on May 15, 2024 
for the purchase of up to 21,864,608 ordinary shares of the Company on the open market, which authority is 
set to expire the earlier of (i) the close of the Group's annual general meeting to be held in 2025 and (ii) 
September 26, 2025. As of December 31, 2024, there were 21,845,323 ordinary shares of available 
authorization remaining.

Dividends

Dividends on the Company’s issued and outstanding ordinary shares are payable at the discretion of the Board 
of Directors. Each year, once the prior year’s results of operations are known, the Board of Directors reviews 
the Company’s revenues, net income/(loss), cash generation and cash needs and recommends a dividend 
level to shareholders for consideration at the Company’s annual general meeting. The Company may declare 
dividends by ordinary resolution at a general meeting in accordance with the respective rights of any class of 
shares. No dividend may exceed the amount recommended by the Board of Directors. Subject to the 
provisions of the Guernsey Companies Law, the Board of Directors may, if it thinks fit, from time to time pay 
interim dividends if it appears to the Board of Directors they are justified by the assets of the Company. 
Subject to rights which may attach to any other class of shares, holders of the Company’s ordinary shares are 
entitled to receive ratably all dividends, if any, that are declared. Dividends may be paid in any currency 
that the Board of Directors determines. The declaration and payment of dividends and distributions, if any, is 
subject to the discretion of the Board of Directors and the requirements of Guernsey law (including, among 
others, satisfaction of a statutory solvency test). The timing and amount of any dividends or distributions 
declared depends on, among others, the Company’s cash flows from operations and available liquidity, its 
results of operations and financial condition and any applicable contractual restrictions. Any dividend that 
has not been claimed after a period of 12 years from the date it became due for payment will, if the Board of 
Directors so resolves, be forfeited.
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The table below sets forth dividends and their respective record dates for the periods indicated.

($ in cents)
Cash dividend per 

ordinary share Record date
2024 year

First half $ 6.25 November 1, 2024

Second half  6.25 May 23, 2025

Total for the year ended December 31, 2024  12.50 

2023 year

First half  6.25 November 10, 2023

Second half  6.25 May 24, 2024

Total for the year ended December 31, 2023  12.50 

2022 year

First half  6.25 November 4, 2022

Second half  6.25 May 26, 2023

Total for the year ended December 31, 2022  12.50 

On February 28, 2025, the Board of Directors has declared, subject to shareholder approval at the annual 
general meeting to be held on May 14, 2025, a final dividend of 6.25¢ per ordinary share to be paid on 
June 13, 2025 to shareholders of record on May 23, 2025.

Burford Capital Employee Benefit Trust

The Burford Capital Employee Benefit Trust was established for the purpose of holding the Company’s 
ordinary shares in connection with the LTIP. It was treated as being controlled by the Group for accounting 
purposes and, therefore, was consolidated. The Company’s ordinary shares held in the Burford Capital 
Employee Benefit Trust as of the period end were included in issued and outstanding share capital and were 
deducted from shareholders’ equity. No gain or loss was recognized on the purchase, sale, cancellation or 
issue of such ordinary shares and any consideration paid or received was recognized directly in shareholders’ 
equity. As of December 31, 2024, the Company no longer used the Burford Capital Employee Benefit Trust in 
connection with administration of the LTIP, and the Burford Capital Employee Benefit Trust was liquidated on 
May 2, 2024.

Contingent share capital

The acquisition of BCIM Holdings LLC in December 2016 included contingent equity consideration. 2,461,682 
ordinary shares will be issued after BCIM Holdings LLC’s private funds contribute more than $100.0 million in 
performance fee income (and, in certain instances, fee income from new private funds or other capital 
provision income) to the Group. If the $100.0 million income target is not achieved, no contingent equity 
consideration will be payable.

18. Share-based and deferred compensation

Share-based awards granted to the employees as compensation consist of RSUs with service-based conditions 
and PSUs with service-based conditions as well as performance- and/or market-based conditions. All share-
based awards are measured based on the grant date fair value of the award. Share-based awards that do not 
require future service are expensed immediately. Share-based awards subject to service- or performance-
based conditions are expensed over the relevant service period to the extent the performance conditions are 
met or deemed probable to be met. PSUs with service-based and market-based conditions are expensed over 
the relevant service period regardless of whether the market condition is met.

LTIP

In 2016, the Company’s shareholders approved the LTIP, which was amended and extended by shareholder 
approval on May 13, 2020. The LTIP creates alignment between participants in the LTIP and public 
shareholders and creates a long-term retention vehicle. All of the Group’s employees may be granted awards 
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under the LTIP, and the Group typically makes an initial grant to each new employee and periodic grants 
thereafter.

The LTIP is administered by the compensation committee of the Board of Directors (the “Compensation 
Committee”). The Compensation Committee has discretion to select plan participants, determine the type 
and the number of awards and set the performance targets or adjust them, in certain circumstances; 
provided that, in the period from 2016 to 2030, awards may not be granted under the LTIP if such grant 
(together with any other grant made at the same time) would cause the number of ordinary shares that have 
been issued or could be issued under the LTIP or any other equity-based plan adopted by the Group to exceed 
10% of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital at the proposed date of grant.

Awards under the LTIP are granted in the form of share-based awards, which are treated as phantom awards 
for tax and legal purposes. Both RSU and PSU awards are subject to satisfaction of service-based conditions, 
requiring that the participant remains employed by the Group through the date of vesting, and PSUs also 
require satisfaction of performance-based conditions determined by the Compensation Committee at the 
time of grant, including total shareholder return over different measuring periods. Share-based awards 
granted prior to January 1, 2021 included both service-based and performance-based conditions. Share-based 
awards granted on and after January 1, 2021, have continued to have service-based conditions, while at least 
50% of share-based awards granted to the Company’s senior management must also have a performance-
based condition. Share-based awards generally vest in full on the third anniversary of the grant date (which is 
the maximum contractual term), and for PSUs, each performance-based condition (as applicable) is measured 
over the three individual financial years beginning with the financial year in which the relevant PSUs were 
granted as well as over the entire three financial years as a whole.

In the event of a participant’s termination of employment for any reason prior to vesting, other than death, 
disability or retirement, all outstanding share-based awards will be forfeited. In the event of the 
participant’s death, disability, retirement or, in certain circumstances, at the discretion of the Compensation 
Committee (e.g., good leavers), outstanding share-based awards will continue to be eligible to vest as of the 
end of the service period and, if applicable, the performance period and may be prorated (other than in the 
case of retirement) based on the number of full months the participant was employed during the service and, 
if applicable, performance period. In special circumstances, the Compensation Committee has the discretion 
to accelerate vesting of awards or alter proration or performance targets for outstanding awards.

Certain awards granted under the LTIP are subject to clawback provisions in accordance with applicable law 
and pursuant to, and in accordance with, the Company’s clawback policy for incentive-based executive 
compensation, effective October 2, 2023, which is intended to meet the scope of the SEC Rule 10D-1 and the 
associated NYSE listing exchange rules. Awards granted under the LTIP are also subject to clawback at the 
discretion of the Compensation Committee in accordance with the terms of the LTIP for up to five years from 
the vesting date in the following circumstances: (i) a material financial misstatement or miscalculation of the 
Group’s audited financial statements; (ii) the assessment of any performance-based condition on vesting 
which was based on error, misleading information or inaccurate assumptions; or (iii) the gross misconduct of 
a participant.

During the period since the LTIP’s inception through December 31, 2024, the Group has issued share-based 
awards in respect of approximately 4.2% of the Company’s issued and outstanding ordinary share capital and, 
as of December 31, 2024, there was a total of approximately 9.3 million share-based awards issued under the 
LTIP since its inception. Share-based awards may be satisfied with newly issued ordinary shares, a transfer of 
treasury shares or ordinary shares purchased on the open market. As of December 31, 2024, approximately 
13.8 million ordinary shares remained available for future grants under the LTIP through 2030.

The table below sets forth the grant, vesting and forfeiture of share-based awards for the year ended 
December 31, 2024, and the number of unvested share-based awards as of the beginning and end of the 
relevant period. 
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(Ordinary shares in thousands)

Number of
ordinary

shares

Weighted average
grant date fair value

per ordinary share

Unvested share-based awards as of December 31, 2023 4,672 $ 8.09 

Granted(1) 1,077 $ 14.34 

Vested(2) (1,684) $ 8.66 

Forfeited (413) $ 8.49 

Unvested share-based awards as of December 31, 2024 3,652 $ 9.61 

1. The aggregate grant date fair value of share-based awards granted during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $15.4 million, $11.9 
million and $12.2 million, respectively. The associated weighted average grant date fair value per ordinary share for share-based awards granted 
during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, was $14.34, $6.89 and $8.90, respectively.

2. The aggregate fair value of share-based awards that vested during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, was $14.6 million, $6.9 million 
and $9.9 million, respectively.

The Group used the Monte-Carlo model to estimate the fair value of PSUs granted during the years ended 
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. If applicable, the Group would adjust the grant date fair value of PSUs 
for material nonpublic information existing at the grant date that could affect the fair value of PSUs, 
consistent with ASC 718 and the SEC staff guidance in SAB 120. The weighted average remaining contractual 
term of the unvested share-based awards was 1.2 years and 1.3 years as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. The compensation cost related to the unvested share-based awards not yet recognized was 
$17.0 million, $15.4 million and $16.5 million as of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The table below separately sets forth the key assumptions used for valuing PSUs as well as share-based 
awards granted as of the dates indicated.

December 31,

2024 2023 2022

PSUs

Dividend yield  0.82 %  0.72 %  0.72 %

Expected volatility  25.35 %  46.70 %  52.90 %

Risk-free interest rate  4.36 %  3.67 %  2.65 %

Expected term (years) 3.0 3.0 3.0

Share-based awards

Weighted average fair value per ordinary share ($)  14.34  6.89  8.90 

Weighted average price per ordinary share ($) 15.05  7.19  9.37 

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility over a period similar to the life 
of PSUs is indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily be the actual outcome.

NQDC Plan 

In 2021, the Group established the NQDC Plan, under which the non-employee directors and a specified group 
of employees can elect to defer a portion of their compensation until a future date. Participants may elect to 
defer base salary, bonuses, payments under the “phantom carry pools” program and share-based awards 
granted under the LTIP. The deferral period is a minimum of three years (five years following grant in the 
case of share-based awards granted under the LTIP), and deferral distributions may be elected to be received 
in a lump sum or in annual installments. During the deferral period, the participant elects for their deferral 
account to be notionally invested in various mutual funds or the Company’s ordinary shares. In addition, the 
Company may in its sole discretion make a matching contribution to the participant’s deferral account to the 
extent cash deferrals are notionally invested in the Company’s ordinary shares. The Company’s matching 
contribution is accounted for as share-based compensation and vests after a two-year service period. 
Distributions from the NQDC Plan will be made in accordance with the timing and form selected by the 
individual participant when the deferral is first elected. The NQDC Plan is administered and maintained by an 
independent third party.

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group granted 127,193 matching contributions of 
notional shares at a weighted average grant date fair value of $15.13 per ordinary share and 77,281 matching 
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contributions of notional shares at a weighted average grant date fair value of $13.14 per ordinary share, 
respectively. The weighted average remaining contractual term of matched notional shares under the NQDC 
Plan was 0.6 years and 0.8 years as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The compensation cost 
related to matched notional shares under the NQDC Plan not yet recognized was $1.5 million and $1.0 million 
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. From time to time, we may purchase mutual fund 
investments or the Company’s ordinary shares to minimize our exposure resulting from the elections of the 
participants in the NQDC Plan.

The outstanding deferred compensation liability to participants was $24.4 million and $19.4 million as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The outstanding deferred compensation liability includes amounts 
notionally invested in the Company’s ordinary shares from both employee deferrals and matching 
contributions by the Company.

NED Plan

In 2021, the Group established the NED Plan, under which non-executive directors are eligible to receive 
grants of the Company’s ordinary shares in connection with their service on the Board of Directors, subject to 
transfer and sale restrictions until the earlier of (i) the third anniversary of the grant date or (ii) the date on 
which the director no longer serves as a member of the Board of Directors. Employee directors are not 
eligible for grants under the NED Plan. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Group 
purchased on the open market on AIM 19,285, 17,403 and 23,066, respectively of the Company's ordinary 
shares to satisfy grants of awards under the NED Plan.

19. Earnings per ordinary share

Basic earnings per ordinary share is computed by dividing net income/(loss) attributable to Burford Capital 
Limited shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares issued and outstanding during the 
period. Diluted earnings per ordinary share was computed using the treasury stock method which reflects the 
assumed conversion of all dilutive securities, including, when applicable, RSUs and PSUs. There were 
358,199, 17,631 and 88,330 potential ordinary shares related to the Company’s share-based awards excluded 
from diluted weighted average ordinary shares for each of the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 
2022, respectively, as their inclusion would have had an anti-dilutive effect.

The table below sets forth the computation for basic and diluted net income/(loss) attributable to Burford 
Capital Limited per ordinary share for the periods indicated. 

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands, except share data) 2024 2023 2022

Net income/(loss) attributable to Burford Capital Limited shareholders $ 146,484 $ 610,522 $ 30,506 

Net income/(loss) attributable to Burford Capital Limited shareholders per 
ordinary share:

Basic  $0.67  $2.79  $0.14 

Diluted  $0.66  $2.74  $0.14 

Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding:

Basic 219,231,837 218,865,816 218,757,232

Dilutive effect of share-based awards 3,999,835 4,149,074  3,045,254 

Diluted 223,231,672 223,014,890 221,802,486
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20. Financial commitments and contingent liabilities

The table below sets forth the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual 
undiscounted payments as of the date indicated.

December 31, 2024

($ in thousands) Leases
Debt 

payable

Debt 
interest 
payable

Other 
liabilities

Long-term 
incentive

compensation 
payable

Financial 
liabilities relating 

to third-party 
interests in 

capital provision 
assets

2025 $ 3,011 $ 129,432 $ 131,078 $ 83,822 $ — $ — 

2026  2,913  219,258  123,150  8,611  —  — 

2027  1,862  —  112,188  4,761  —  — 

2028  1,743  400,000  99,688  5,506  —  — 

2029  1,751  —  87,188  804  —  — 

Thereafter  4,137  1,035,000  137,250  1,657  —  — 

No contractual maturity date  —  —  —  —  217,552  747,053 

Total undiscounted cash flows  15,417  1,783,690  690,542  105,161  217,552  747,053 

Lease present value adjustment  (596) 

Lease liabilities  14,821 

Commitments to financing arrangements

As a normal part of its business, the Group routinely enters into financing agreements that may require the 
Group to provide continuing financing over time, whereas other financing agreements provide for immediate 
financing of the total commitment. The terms of the former type of financing agreements vary widely—e.g., 
in cases of discretionary commitments, the Group is not contractually obligated to advance capital and 
generally would not suffer adverse financial consequences from not doing so and, therefore, has broad 
discretion as to each incremental financing of a continuing capital provision asset, while in cases of definitive 
commitments, the Group is contractually obligated to advance incremental capital and failure to do so would 
typically result in adverse contractual consequences (such as a dilution in the Group’s returns or the loss of 
the Group’s deployed capital in a case).

The Group’s commitments are capped at a fixed amount in its financing agreements. In addition, as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group had exposure to assets where the Group provided some form of legal 
risk arrangement pursuant to which the Group does not generally expect to deploy the full committed capital 
unless there is a failure of the claim, such as providing an indemnity for adverse legal costs. The table below 
sets forth the components of undrawn commitments as of the dates indicated (assuming the GBP/USD 
exchange rate of $1.2529 and $1.2747 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively). 

December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

Definitive $ 962,808 $ 839,973 

Discretionary  1,032,433  977,733 

Legal risk (definitive)  41,318  55,583 

Total capital provision undrawn commitments  2,036,559  1,873,289 

Leases

Leases consist primarily of the Group’s leased office space in (i) New York, New York, United States, (ii) 
Chicago, Illinois, United States, (iii) London, United Kingdom, (iv) Dubai, United Arab Emirates and (v) 
Singapore, Singapore, which the Group has determined to be operating leases under US GAAP.

139



The table below sets forth the components of lease costs for the periods indicated. 

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Operating lease cost $ 2,678 $ 2,729 $ 2,280 

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities  2,564  2,175  2,384 

The table below sets forth right-of-use assets, lease liabilities, weighted average remaining lease term and 
weighted average discount rate for the operating leases as of the dates indicated.

December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023

Right-of-use assets $ 12,796 $ 13,851 

Operating lease liabilities  14,821  15,853 

Weighted average remaining lease term (years) 6.7 7.8

Weighted average discount rate  6.6%  6.7% 

The Group’s leases have remaining lease terms of up to approximately 8 years. None of these leases have 
options to extend. One of these leases has an option for early termination which, if exercised, would shorten 
the remaining lease term by up to 3 years. The Group does not currently intend to early terminate this lease.

Legal proceedings

From time to time, the Group may be involved in various legal (including judicial, regulatory, administrative 
or arbitration) proceedings, lawsuits and claims incidental to the conduct of its business. Some of these 
proceedings, lawsuits or claims may be material and involve highly complex issues that are subject to 
substantial uncertainties and could result in damages, fines, penalties, non-monetary sanctions or relief. In 
addition, the Group’s business and operations are subject to extensive regulation, which may result in 
regulatory proceedings against the Group.

At the date of this 2024 Form 10-K, having considered the legal merits of any relevant proceedings, lawsuits 
or claims and having received relevant legal advice (including any legal advice from outside counsel), the 
Group considers there to be no material contingent liability in respect of any such proceedings, lawsuits or 
claims requiring disclosure in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. However, given the potentially 
large and/or indeterminate relief that may be sought and the inherent unpredictability of legal proceedings, 
lawsuits or claims, it is possible that an adverse outcome in certain matters could have a material adverse 
effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity in any future period. In 
addition, there can be no assurance that material losses will not be incurred from claims that have not yet 
been asserted or those where potential losses have not yet been determined to be probable or possible and 
reasonably estimable.

21. Related party transactions

The Group has interests in joint ventures and equity method investments. See note 16 (Joint ventures and 
equity method investments) to the Group’s consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-
K for additional information with respect to the balances held with joint ventures and equity method 
investments. 

The table below sets forth the fundings and proceeds from joint ventures and equity method investments for 
the periods indicated.

Years ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Fundings of joint ventures and equity method investments $ 9,717 $ 9,285 $ 7,864 

Proceeds from joint ventures and equity method investments  7,164  16,141  5,917 
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22. Credit risk from financial instruments

The Group is exposed to credit risk in various asset structures that are set forth in note 2 (Summary of 
significant accounting policies) to the Group’s consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 
10-K, most of which involve financing sums recoverable only out of successful capital provision assets with a 
concomitant risk of loss of deployed cost. Upon becoming contractually entitled to proceeds, depending on 
the structure of the particular capital provision asset, the Group could be a creditor of, and subject to direct 
or indirect credit risk from, a claimant, a defendant and/or other parties, or a combination thereof. 
Moreover, the Group may be indirectly subject to credit risk to the extent a defendant does not pay a 
claimant immediately, notwithstanding successful adjudication of a claim in the claimant’s favor. The 
Group’s credit risk is uncertain given that its entitlement pursuant to its assets is generally not established 
until a successful resolution of claims, and its potential credit risk is mitigated by the parties and indirect 
creditors, and due to a judgment creditor (in contrast to a conventional debtholder and in the absence of an 
actual bankruptcy of the counterparty) having immediate and unfettered rights of action to, for example, 
seize assets and garnish cash flows. The Group is also exposed to credit risk in respect of the cash and cash 
equivalents and marketable securities. The credit risk of the cash and cash equivalents is mitigated as all 
cash is placed with reputable banks with a sound credit rating. Marketable securities primarily consist of 
government securities, investment grade corporate bonds, asset-backed securities and mutual funds, all of 
which can be redeemed on short notice or be sold on an active trading market. 

The maximum credit risk exposure represented by cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities, due from 
settlement of capital provision assets and capital provision assets is specified in the consolidated statements 
of financial condition.

In addition, the Group is exposed to credit risk on financial assets and receivables in other assets, all of 
which are held at amortized cost. The maximum credit exposure for such amounts was the carrying value of 
$17.1 million and $17.8 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The Group reviews the 
lifetime expected credit loss based on historical collection performance, the specific provisions of any 
settlement agreement and a forward-looking assessment of macroeconomic factors. Based on this review, the 
Group has not identified any material expected credit loss relating to the financial assets held at amortized 
cost. The Group recognized no impairment for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.
The Group is not exposed to concentration of credit risk from a particular region or customer.

23. Subsequent events

There have been no events since December 31, 2024 to the date of this 2024 Form 10-K that require 
recognition or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements.
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Item 9. Changes in and disagreements with accountants on accounting and financial 
disclosure

On July 1, 2024, the Audit Committee approved, and the Board of Directors ratified, the dismissal of Ernst & 
Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm, effective immediately following the 
issuance of our condensed consolidated financial statements for the three and six months ended June 30, 
2024. In addition, on and effective as of July 1, 2024, the Audit Committee approved, and the Board of 
Directors ratified, the appointment of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the 
three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024. 

See our report on Form 6-K furnished to the SEC on July 9, 2024, for additional information with respect to 
the change in accountants.

Item 9A. Controls and procedures

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the 
Exchange Act, that are designed to ensure that the information required to be disclosed in the reports we file 
or furnish under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods 
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to 
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow 
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 

In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, our management necessarily is required 
to apply its judgment. The design of our disclosure controls and procedures also is based in part upon certain 
assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will 
succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Thus, in designing and evaluating 
our disclosure controls and procedures, our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer, recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, 
can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance of achieving the desired objectives of the disclosure 
controls and procedures.

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has 
evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) under the 
Exchange Act as of December 31, 2024. Based on such evaluation, including third-party input from industry 
professionals, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of 
December 31, 2024, we have not yet fully remediated the material weakness previously disclosed in our 2023 
Form 20-F relating to a lack of available evidence to demonstrate the precision of management’s review of 
the controls to determine certain assumptions used in the measurement of the fair value of capital provision 
assets and thus our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective. This material weakness did not 
result in misstatements to our consolidated financial statements for any of the periods presented. As outlined 
below, as of December 31, 2024, certain remediation measures were implemented and operating but were 
not in place for a sufficient amount of time for the material weakness to be considered remediated. See “—
Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting” for additional information with 
respect to such material weakness.

Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting. Internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the 
Exchange Act, is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, a company’s principal executive officer 
and principal financial officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:

▪ Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company

▪ Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts 
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and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 
management and directors of the company

▪ Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, 
use or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial 
statements

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. In addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the 
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2024. In conducting this assessment, our management used the criteria set 
forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework (2013). Based on such assessment, including third-party input from industry 
professionals, our management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2024, we have not yet fully 
remediated the material weakness previously disclosed in our 2023 Form 20-F relating to a lack of available 
evidence to demonstrate the precision of management’s review of the controls to determine certain 
assumptions used in the measurement of the fair value of capital provision assets and thus the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting was not effective. This ongoing material weakness did not result in 
misstatements to our consolidated financial statements for any of the periods presented.

Remediation efforts to address the material weakness  

The aforementioned material weakness was previously disclosed in our 2023 Form 20-F. While the Company 
has improved its policies and procedures with respect to evidencing the precision of management’s review of 
the controls to determine certain assumptions used in the measurement of the fair value of capital provision 
assets, the material weakness will not be considered remediated until management designs and implements 
controls that operate for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that 
these controls are operating effectively. Accordingly, the Company will continue to assess its remediation 
measures during the year ending December 31, 2025, to confirm effective remediation of the identified 
material weakness.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, management engaged in implementing the following remedial 
actions:

• Adopted new policies relating to the precision of management’s review controls 

• Implemented new procedures to retain documentary evidence of the operation of that review in 
accordance with the new policies

• Provided training and guidance to the control operators on the new policies and procedures to 
enhance the evidence of management review

The remediation steps we are implementing are subject to ongoing management review and Audit Committee 
oversight to ensure they remain in place and continue to operate in order to be deemed effective.

Attestation report of independent registered public accounting firm

KPMG LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm that audited our consolidated financial 
statements included in this 2024 Form 10-K, has issued its attestation report included in this 2024 Form 10-K 
on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

Other than with respect to the material weakness referenced above, there were no changes in our internal 
control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act, during 
the year ended December 31, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially 
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other information 
No “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangements” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangements” (each, as defined by Item 
408(a) and Item 408(c), respectively, of Regulation S-K) were adopted, modified or terminated by our 
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directors or officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Exchange Act) during the three months ended 
December 31, 2024.

The information required for insider trading policies and procedures (as defined by Item 408(b) of Regulation 
S-K) is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive proxy statement relating to the annual general 
meeting of shareholders to be held in 2025, which definitive proxy statement shall be filed with the US 
Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of December 31, 2024 (the “2025 Proxy Statement”).

Item 9C. Disclosure regarding foreign jurisdictions that prevent inspections

None.
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Part III

Item 10. Directors, executive officers and corporate governance

The information required by this Item 10 is incorporated herein by reference to the 2025 Proxy Statement.

Item 11. Executive compensation

The information required by this Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference to the 2025 Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and related 
stockholder matters

The table below sets forth information with respect to our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 
2024. 

Plan category

Number of securities 
to be issued upon 

exercise of 
outstanding options, 
warrants and rights

(a)

Weighted-
average exercise 

price of 
outstanding 

options, warrants 
and rights(2)

(b)

Number of securities 
remaining available for 
future issuance under 
equity compensation 

plans (excluding securities 
reflected in column (a))(3)

(c)
Equity compensation plans approved by security 
holders(1)

LTIP

RSUs  2,814,140 N/A

PSUs(4)  837,675 N/A

Total LTIP  3,651,815 N/A  13,780,081 

NED Plan  — N/A  176,459 

Equity compensation plans not approved by security 
holders(5)  1,912,473 N/A  — 

Total  5,564,288 N/A  13,956,540 
1. Reflects the aggregate number of outstanding securities as of December 31, 2024 granted under (i) the LTIP, which was approved by our shareholders at 
the annual general meeting on May 13, 2020 and (ii) the NED Plan, which was approved by our shareholders at the annual general meeting on May 18, 
2021.

2. The securities included in column (a) do not have an exercise price.

3. See note 18 (Share-based and deferred compensation) to our consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K for information related 
to the LTIP, the NED Plan and the NQDC Plan.

4. The numbers included for PSUs in column (a) reflect the maximum payout upon satisfaction of certain conditions.

5. The amount shown includes 733,904 ordinary shares held as notional investments by participants, 140,074 vested and 204,474 unvested notional shares 
related to our matching contribution and 834,021 vested share-based awards, all of which have been deferred under our NQDC Plan. See note 18 (Share-
based and deferred compensation) to our consolidated financial statements contained in this 2024 Form 10-K for additional information of our NQDC Plan.

The remaining information required by this Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference to the 2025 Proxy
Statement.

Item 13. Certain relationships and related transactions, and director independence

The information required by this Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to the 2025 Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal accounting fees and services

The information required by this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to the 2025 Proxy Statement.

145



Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits and financial statement schedules

(a)(1) Financial statements

The consolidated financial statements are provided under Part II, Item 8. “Financial statements and 
supplementary data” of this 2024 Form 10-K.

(a)(2) Financial statement schedules

No financial statement schedules are provided because the information called for is not applicable or not 
required or is included in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto provided under Part II, 
Item 8. “Financial statements and supplementary data” of this 2024 Form 10-K. 

(a)(3) Exhibits

The information required by this Item is set forth below.

3.1 Memorandum of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.2 to the Registration 
Statement on Form 20-F of Burford Capital Limited (File No. 001-39511) as filed with the SEC 
on September 11, 2020 (the “Registration Statement”)).

3.2* Articles of Incorporation, adopted by special resolution dated August 20, 2024.
4.1* Description of Securities.
4.2 Trust Deed, dated as of June 1, 2017, by and among Burford Capital PLC, as issuer, Burford 

Capital Limited, Burford Capital Finance LLC and Burford Capital Global Finance LLC, as 
guarantors, and U.S. Bank Trustees Limited, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
4.2 to the Registration Statement).

4.3 Trust Deed, dated as of February 12, 2018, by and among Burford Capital Finance LLC, as 
issuer, Burford Capital Limited, Burford Capital PLC and Burford Capital Global Finance LLC, as 
guarantors, and U.S. Bank Trustees Limited, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
4.1 to the Registration Statement).

4.4 Indenture, dated as of April 5, 2021, by and among Burford Capital Global Finance LLC, as 
issuer, Burford Capital Limited, as parent guarantor, the other guarantors party thereto from 
time to time and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as successor to U.S. Bank 
National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Report on 
Form 6-K of Burford Capital Limited (File No. 001-39511) as filed with the SEC on April 6, 
2021).

4.5 Indenture, dated as of April 11, 2022, by and among Burford Capital Global Finance LLC, as 
issuer, Burford Capital Limited, as parent guarantor, the other guarantors party thereto from 
time to time and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Report on Form 6-K of Burford Capital Limited (File No. 
001-39511) as filed with the SEC on April 12, 2022).

4.6 Indenture, dated as of June 26, 2023, by and among Burford Capital Global Finance LLC, as 
issuer, Burford Capital Limited, as parent guarantor, the other guarantors party thereto from 
time to time and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Report on Form 6-K of Burford Capital Limited (File No. 
001-39511) as filed with the SEC on June 26, 2023).

10.1‡ Burford Capital 2016 Long Term Incentive Plan, as amended and renewed on May 13, 2020 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Registration Statement).

10.2*‡ Form of Burford Capital LLC Service-Based Restricted Share Unit Award Grant Letter and 
Certificate.

10.3*‡ Form of Burford Capital (UK) Limited Service-Based Restricted Share Unit Award Grant Letter 
and Certificate.

10.4*‡ Form of Service-Based and Performance-Based Restricted Share Unit Award Grant Letter and 
Certificate.

10.5*‡ Burford Capital Deferred Compensation Plan, effective as of February 1, 2021 and as amended 
and restated as of November 26, 2024.

10.6*‡ Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Burford Capital Deferred Compensation Plan, 
effective as of November 27, 2024.

Exhibit
No. Description
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10.7‡ Burford Capital Limited 2021 Non-Employee Directors’ Share Plan (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 of Burford Capital Limited (File No. 
333-259493) as filed with the SEC on September 13, 2021).

10.8*‡ Form of Ordinary Share Award Agreement.
10.9*‡ Employment Agreement, effective as of January 1, 2024, by and between Burford Capital LLC 

and Christopher P. Bogart.
10.10*‡ Employment Agreement, effective as of January 1, 2024, by and between Burford Capital LLC 

and Jonathan T. Molot.
10.11*‡ Offer Letter, dated August 22, 2022, by and between Burford Capital LLC and Jordan D. Licht.
10.12*‡ Employment Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2016, by and between Burford Capital LLC and 

Aviva O. Will. 
10.13*‡ Agreement, effective as of January 1, 2020, by and between Burford Capital LLC and Elizabeth 

O'Connell.
10.14*‡ Offer Letter, dated September 6, 2017, by and between Burford Capital LLC and Mark N. Klein.
10.15*‡ Offer Letter, dated April 23, 2018, by and between Burford Capital LLC and David M. Perla.
10.16*‡ Contract of Employment, Statement of Working Practices and Formal Procedures, dated as of 

May 18, 2021, by and between Burford Capital Services Limited and Craig Arnott.
10.17*‡ Contract of Employment, Statement of Working Practices and Formal Procedures, dated as of 

July 22, 2024, by and between Burford Capital (UK) Limited and Travis D. Lenkner.
19.1* Insider Trading Policy.
21.1* Significant subsidiaries of Burford Capital Limited.
23.1* Consent of KPMG LLP.
23.2* Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
31.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 

of 2002.
31.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 

2002.
32.1** Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 

of 2002.
32.2** Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 

2002.
97.1 Incentive Compensation Recovery Policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 97.1 to the 

Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2023 of Burford Capital Limited 
(File No. 001-39511) as filed with the SEC on March 28, 2024). 

101.INS* XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File 
because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
* Filed herewith.

** Furnished herewith.

‡ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement in which executive officers or directors are eligible to 
participate.

Exhibit
No. Description

The agreements and other documents filed as exhibits to this 2024 Form 10-K are not intended to provide 
factual information or other disclosures other than with respect to the terms of the agreements or other 
documents themselves, and you should not rely on them for that purpose. In particular, any representations 
and warranties made by us in these agreements or other documents were made solely within the specific 
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context of the relevant agreement or document and may not describe the actual state of affairs as of the 
date they were made or at any other time.

Item 16. Form 10-K summary

None.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the registrant has duly caused this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

BURFORD CAPITAL LIMITED

By: /s/ Jordan D. Licht
Name: Jordan D. Licht
Title: Principal Financial Officer

Dated: March 3, 2025

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed below by 
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Christopher P. Bogart Principal Executive Officer and Director March 3, 2025
Christopher P. Bogart

/s/ Jordan D. Licht Principal Financial Officer March 3, 2025
Jordan D. Licht

/s/ Charles E. Utley Principal Accounting Officer March 3, 2025
Charles E. Utley

/s/ John Sievwright Chair of the Board of Directors March 3, 2025
John Sievwright

/s/ Christopher Halmy Vice Chair of the Board of Directors March 3, 2025
Christopher Halmy

/s/ Rukia Baruti Dames Director March 3, 2025
Rukia Baruti Dames

/s/ Pamela Corrie Director March 3, 2025
Pamela Corrie

/s/ Robert Gillespie Director March 3, 2025
Robert Gillespie
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